
MEETING: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

DATE: 9 September 2020

TIME: 14:00

VENUE: Microsoft Teams Remote Meeting

Member

Councillor
Cllr. Ian Moncur (Chair)
Cllr. Paul Cummins
Cllr. John Joseph Kelly
Vicky Buchanan
Deborah Butcher
Dr. Rob Caudwell
Dr Craig Gillespie
Fiona Taylor
Richard Freeman
Maureen Kelly
Gary Oakford
Superintendent Graeme Robson
Steve Warburton
Lorraine Webb
Andrew Booth
Angela White
Louise Shepherd

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Amy Dyson, Democratic Services Officer
Telephone: 0151 934 2045
E-mail: amy.dyson@sefton.gov.uk

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8)

3.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

4.  Sub Group Summary (Pages 9 - 16)
Report of the Director of Public Health

5.  Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board - Annual 
Report 2019/20

(Pages 17 - 44)

Annual Report of the Sefton Local Safeguarding Children 
Board to be introduced by Paula St Aubyn, the Board’s 
Independent Chair

6.  NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport and Formby 
CCG - Annual Reports 2019/20

(Pages 45 - 394)

The annual reports of the NHS South Sefton CCG, and NHS 
Southport and Formby CCG to be presented by Fiona Taylor, 
Chief Officer of NHS South Sefton CCG, and NHS Southport 
and Formby CCG

7.  Sefton Outbreak Plan (Pages 395 - 398)
Report of the Director of Public Health

8.  The Direct and Indirect Impacts of COVID-19 on the 
Health and Wellbeing of our Local Population

(To Follow)



9.  Children and Young Peoples Plan Update (Pages 399 - 404)
Report of the Executive Director of Children's Social Care 
and Education

10.  SEND Continuous Improvement Plan Update (Pages 405 - 414)
Report of the Executive Director of Children's Social Care 
and Education



This page is intentionally left blank



THE “CALL IN” PERIOD FOR THIS SET OF MINUTES ENDS AT 12 NOON ON 
DAY DATE MONTH, 2015.

1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MEETING HELD AT THE MICROSOFT TEAMS MEETING (REMOTE 
MEETING)

ON WEDNESDAY 17TH JUNE, 2020

PRESENT: Councillor Moncur (in the Chair)
Councillor Cummins, Vicky Buchanan, 
Deborah Butcher, Dr. Rob Caudwell, Fiona Taylor, 
Maureen Kelly, Lorraine Webb, Andrew Booth, 
Angela White and Louise Shepherd

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor John Joseph Kelly, 
Richard Freeman, Craig Gillespie, and Graeme Robson.

2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 March, 2020 be confirmed
as a correct record.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

4. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD SUB GROUPS UPDATE REPORT. 

The Board considered the report of the Director of Public Health that
provided an update and a summary of activity from the five identified 
subgroups:

1. Update from Health Protection Forum, the forum has not met since the 
last meeting on account of the COVID response.

2. Health and Wellbeing Executive, the Executive has met once since the 
last update on the 30th April.

3. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Continuous
Improvement Board (SEND CIB), the Board has continued to meet 
virtually during the COVID 19 pandemic.

4. Children’s and Young People’s Partnership Board, the Board has met 
twice since the last report, on the 21st April and the 19th May.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 17TH JUNE, 2020

2

5. The Adults Forum, the group has not met since the last report.

There were also updates on: 

1. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments (PNA) 
2. Communications Sub Group

RESOLVED: 

That the report be noted. 

5. SEND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT PLAN UPDATE 

The Board considered the report of the Executive Director of Children’s 
Social Care and Education that updated members on the progress made 
against the actions taken and progress made with regard to the SEND 
Continuous Improvement Plan. It also updated the board on the impact of 
the COVID 19 pandemic. 

The report detailed the delivery of the Improvement Plan: 

 The continuance of SENDCIB and its subgroups meeting remotely
 The recognition by the Local Area of the stress and concern the 

COVID 19 pandemic is causing families and the continuance of 
support from the Local Area and all partners

 The continued performance monitoring and impact assessment of 
the COVID 19 pandemic by the Performance Management sub 
group and Assessment & Provision

 The presentation of a report on progress made to date, 
recommended developments and timing changes by the Co-
production, Communication and engagement sub group

 The Joint Commissioning sub group’s review of the Joint 
Commissioning Action plan in light of the COVID 19 pandemic

The report also detailed the risks involved in delivering the Improvement 
Plan including what is being done to monitor and overcome them. 

RESOLVED: That

1) the performance information at Appendix A in conjunction with the 
information within the report be approved;

2) it be noted that changes have now been introduced, meaning that 
many of the action plan objectives were being met plus where 
required appropriate remedial actions were in place;

3) it be noted that challenge was offered to the SENDCIB;

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 17TH JUNE, 2020

3

4) it be noted that there is risk as the neurodevelopmental diagnostic 
pathway has been impacted by the pandemic and the remedial 
actions being taken by the provider be approved; 

5) it be noted that the approaches have been taken to maintain a safe 
level of service for children requiring ASD/ADHD assessment and 
diagnosis;

6) it be noted that the completion of reviews remains a risk and the 
remedial action taken in respect of Year 6 and 11 reviews which 
have been supported by the DfE Advisor be approved, as well as 
the approach

7) confirmation of the level of risk being effectively managed is 
approved. 

6. NHS COVID-19 AND RECOVERY RELATED UPDATE 

The Board received the report of the NHS CCG Director of Strategy and 
Outcomes (interim). 

The report is a hospital and out of hospital based report which summarised 
current NHS related activity to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The report 
detailed the following: 

 Urgent and emergency care and community services
 COVID-19 testing – Test, track and trace
 Antibody Testing
 Care Homes
 Primary care
 Mental health care
 Elective care
 Cancer services 
 Children and young people 
 CAHMS and specialist mental health services 
 SEND specific health services 
 Data and modelling
 CCGs’ finances

RESOLVED That: 

1) the report be noted. 

7. INTEGRATED CARE TEAMS UPDATE REPORT SEFTON HEALTH & 
WELLBEING BOARD JUNE 2020 

The Board considered the report of Pat McGuinness, Deputy Director of 
Integration, Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust. The report was 
presented by Pat McGuiness, Alisa Nile, Deputy Head of Service, Adult 
Social Care and Deborah Butcher, Director of Social Care at the meeting. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 17TH JUNE, 2020

4

The report and presentation gave an update on Integrated Care Teams, 
the presentation outlined: 

 Defining Integrated Care Teams as well as their aims and priorities
 A timeline of COVID Drivers and Response 
 A care home plan for COVID-19 and beyond (Liverpool and Sefton 

Model) 
o A proactive approach
o Care home clinical leadership
o Advanced Care Plans and Check in

 A joint aspiration by working together

The report informed members of the board of: 

 the work programme to support development and delivery of 
Integrated Care Teams across South Sefton pre COVID-19

 an update on service changes made to support COVID 19 
response, particularly in respect of support for vulnerable people 

 a performance update against expected trajectory for Phase 1 
 an outline of high level next steps for 2020/21 Phase 2

RESOLVED That: 

1) the contents of the report and progress made be noted; 
2) the key next steps in planning for 2020/21 be noted.  

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 9 
September 2020

Subject: Sub Group Summary

Report of: Director of Public 
Health

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 
Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

This report is to present to the Health and Wellbeing Board a summary of activity from
the five identified sub groups. This is activity since the last report received by the board 
on the 17th June 2020. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) The updates are received and noted by the Board.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Board is asked to routinely receive and note updates to ensure compliance with
required governance standards.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Not applicable 

(B) Capital Costs

Not applicable 

Implications of the Proposals:

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no resource implications 
Legal Implications:

There are no legal implications 
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has
oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact.

Commission, broker and provide core services: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has
oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact.

Place – leadership and influencer: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has
oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact.

Drivers of change and reform: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has
oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Not applicable 
Greater income for social investment: 
Not applicable 
Cleaner Greener
Not applicable 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6023/29.....) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4285/20....) have been consulted and 
any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable  
Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Board meeting.

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

` 1.1  As agreed at the December 2019 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing board the 
Board has agreed to receive a standard agenda item of summarised activity of its 
formal sub groups.

1.2  The subgroups are identified as:  the SEND Continuous Improvement
Board, the Children & Young People Partnership Board, the Adults Forum, the Health 
and Wellbeing Board Executive and the Health Protection Forum

2. Updates

2.1 The SEND Continuous Improvement Board;

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Continuous Improvement (SEND CIB)
The Board has continued to meet virtually and has met twice since the last report on 
9th June 2020 and 7th July 2020.  Regular sub groups also continue to meet virtually 
in order to keep the focus on this area of work.

The Improvement Plan progress continues to be provided at each meeting and, 
where appropriate, regular reports on areas where targets are not being met are 
presented with mitigating actions.  Some areas have changed how they operate due 
to the pandemic and these are reported together with any recovery plans as 
necessary to return the function as soon as possible.  

On 9th June the board met and discussed the following items: 
Schools and Co-production and Communication group update.

For the School report the Board noted that Headteacher representatives, Inclusion 
team, Head of Education Excellence meet with Parent/Carer Forum on a regular 
basis.  Inclusion Consultants undertake deep dives into a sample of EHCPs with 
schools to ensure that the support meets the needs of the child and the day in the life 
of a young person was recommended to be included as part of the deep dive.  

The Co-production Sub Group report was an update on the work that had taken place 
since the last report in March 2020.  The board noted the progress being made, 
approved a change of date for a short parent/ carer survey and the procurement of 
the refresh of the Local Offer website.

On 7th July 2020 the board met and discussed the following items:
HEE England Project, Reviews of EHCPs, ASD Pathway and received a Joint 
Commissioning Group update.  It was also noted that no date as yet has been set for 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



the next scheduled meeting by Officials to Sefton to meet with the Board and 
consider progress.  This was originally expected to be July 2020 but face to face 
meetings are not taking place as yet due to the pandemic.

The Health England report was a revision to timescales of this learning project due to 
the pandemic and also noted the greater focus on sustainability of learning of this 
project.

The Review of EHCPs report noted that targets had not been met for Other Reviews 
due to prioritisation of EHCP timescales and quality improvement and transition 
reviews.  The report outlined the measures being taken to bring all other reviews back 
into target and were agreed by the Board.

The ASD Pathway report updated the Board on the NICE compliant assessment and 
diagnostic pathways for ASD and ADHS within Alder Hey. Again, as with other areas 
of work Covid has impacted on timescales and an extension of three months was 
agreed for the waiting list as a large number of staff in Alder Hey had been 
redeployed as a result.  This will be monitored and reported regularly to the Board.  
One positive to note is a change to how services are delivered has been the online 
medication and prescription service which is proving effective.

The Joint Commissioning Sub Group report noted that the key action to have a Joint 
Commissioning Strategy in place is complete and was agreed by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, there is an associated action plan which has also been agreed.  
The action plan was presented showing progress against each of the items over 
recent months.  

There is no meeting in August with the next scheduled meeting as 8th September 
2020.

2.2 Children and Young People Partnership Board (CYPPB):

The Board has met twice since the last report, 16th June 2020 and 14th July 2020.

On 16th June the board met and discussed the following items: 
Quality Assurance Early Help; Child Exploitation, Educational Attainment, and RAG 
Rating for Looked after Children and Child Protection

The Quality Assurance Early Help report noted that following the appointment of a 
Quality Assurance Manager a QA Framework and Practice Standards have been 
produced.  A number of cases and plans had been audited and the report outlined the 
strengths and areas of development.

Child Exploitation was to inform the Board of the work on Criminal and Sexual 
Exploitation in Sefton over the last year.  

The report on Educational Attainment was around the Post 16 cohort and noted what 
work is taking place in this area of work. 

A report on Looked After Children and Child Protection was to update the Board on 
the actions undertaken in light of Covid.  This was a RAG rated risk assessment 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



process for what type of visit should be undertaken based on the needs of the child.  
The list is reviewed weekly by manager and has been shared across partners.

On 14th July 2020 the board met and discussed the following items:
Educational Attainment Primary and Secondary; Principal Social Worker Annual 
Report; Care Leavers; BAME; JTAI Progress Report and also an Interim Review of 
the Partnership Board. 

The Educational Attainment report covered primary and secondary and it was noted 
that the data is 12 months old as it is issued annually.  It was noted that the biggest 
challenge in September will be a whole cohort of children will have missed critical 
education and that schools are aware of this and will be concentrating on health and 
wellbeing and easing children back into the idea of learning.

The Principal Social Worker Annual Report highlighted the work that had taken place 
by the two PSWs who have been key in driving improvement and the report on Care 
Leavers outlined the work that takes place with Care Leavers around education and 
employment as well as accommodation.  The report also noted the work around 
support during Covid where some care leavers have coped very well but others have 
needed additional packages of support.  
A report on BAME was received which provided information from two recent audits on 
BAME and other European young people.

A report on JTAI progress against the action plan was presented and it highlighted 
updates from each partner which included the Police, Health, LSCB, YOT and Local 
Authority Children’s Services.  The report noted the impact of Covid on the delivery of 
the action plan, not all of which had been negative, and it was agreed a further 
update would be provided in December 2020.

The CYPPB also had a conversation around the role of the board and whether it was 
achieving what it had been set up to do which is a partnership approach around work 
with and for children and young people.  It was agreed that as a fairly new board with 
new partners time has been spent on relationship building to date and a focus on the 
key strategic themes and link to outcomes in the Terms of Reference will be 
considered at the next meeting.  

The Board also receives notes from the following groups for information if they had 
met:
SEND CIB
Early Help
Emotional health and Wellbeing Group
Community Safety Partnership
Provider Alliance

At the time of writing this report a further meeting is due to be held on 18th August 
2020 and details will be provided in the next update.

2.3 Health and Wellbeing Board Executive 

The Executive has met once since the last report on the 18th June 2020. The meeting 
received a financial overview for both CCGs and the Council. The group received the 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



latest financial information overview for the Better Care Fund. An update on CCG 
accommodation plans and an overview of the integrated commissioning program. 

2.4  Adults Forum

The Forum held its first virtual meeting in July.

There has been a lot of valuable work undertaken by members of the Forum to 
support our communities during the Covid-19 Pandemic across all sectors.  
Everybody has been working together to support our most vulnerable people 
during this period.

The Older People’s Forums have been meeting virtually throughout the lockdown 
period.  Whilst not everybody has access to or is au fait with doing things digitally, 
people have been supported to be able to do this.  A survey of forum members 
has revealed that 2/3 of them are already using digital in some way and this 
challenges the pre-conception that older people don’t access services in this way.  
Work is also underway on preparing the winter information packs. 

Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens has also been meeting virtually with a 
meeting in June and one planned for September.  SPOC have been ringing and 
writing to their members to make sure that they are well and to see if they need 
any support.

Sefton Advocacy have been working with the Carers Centre and have spoken to 
over 600 older carers.  

They have been working remotely and looking at face to face contact on a case by 
case basis.  There is a lot of anxiety for vulnerable people and more people have 
been requesting help.  

Now looking at what will happen post-lockdown and sustainability of funds going 
forward and how to support more people with limited resources.  

October 1st 2020 is the International Day of Older People.  Sefton CVS will be 
running a campaign called “Do you See me?” which will take a similar format to 
the “Sefton in Mind” Campaign.

CVS have also been supporting our most vulnerable people during the lockdown 
with shopping support, etc.  

Work is also being done to address the “digital divide” and funding for 32 
packages of support to help vulnerable people get access to IT equipment and 
internet access has been secured.

Sefton@work have been supporting people with making Universal Credit Claims 
as their client group changed early in the lockdown as many people weren’t 
getting any pay.  This has to be done on line and again there are some people 
who don’t have the ability to do this, either because they don’t have the equipment 
or they can’t afford broadband or to charge up things like smart phones.

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



A virtual “jobs fair” was held with the DWP which was attended by 25-30 people 
who found this useful and there are jobs starting to come through now.  33% of 
those registered with the service are 29 and under.

The Carers Centre have been supporting people with shopping services and 
providing pre-paid cards so that other people can do shopping for carers.  They 
have also been providing letters for carers to enable them to access early hours 
shopping at supermarkets.  The Centre is now working in areas that they haven’t 
done so before.  

Work has also taken place to help carers and people on direct payments to 
access PPE.  As a Council Sefton seems to have been at the forefront of this work 
with the Council making sure that those that needed access to PPE could get it.

The Centre is open but not for face to face meetings.  A bid has been submitted to 
purchase some tablets to enable virtual meetings to take place.

Now working on an emergency planning form for carers in case they become ill so 
that what is needed to support the person they care for is highlighted early on.  

The Centre has also been working with Sefton@work to help young carers in 
transition into work.

Adult Social Care teams are being aligned to area teams to fit in with the Primary 
Care Networks.  Staff have been checking with care homes to make sure things 
are ok and that they have enough PPE.  They have also made sure that care 
homes have access to IT systems to enable GP consultations to take place and 
for residents to keep in touch with families.

The CCGs in Sefton have moved into command control with regard to the 
pandemic.  A lot of work has been undertaken to enable services to be offered 
digitally.  This has been done very quickly and has been received well.

Sefton Housing Service has been focussing on getting rough sleepers under 
cover during the pandemic.  At the peak there were 117 people in temporary 
accommodation.  Since the housing market has opened up again they have been 
able to move some people on to more permanent accommodation but there are 
still 75 people in temporary accommodation.

Boscoe has been commissioned to provide support for people and there has been 
some success in getting people in to treatment services.  Also co-ordinated testing 
service for staff and people in temporary accommodation with all coming back 
negative.

Work is underway on the “End of Life Strategy” for South Sefton CCG with a 
similar Strategy for Southport and Formby CCGs.  Cabinet Member is part of the 
steering group developing this work.

Dementia Friendly Sefton held a virtual meeting.  The pandemic has raised lots of 
issues for people living with dementia and their carers.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Liverpool City Region Health and Social Care portfolio holders have been meeting 
fortnightly to share information around testing and PPE and keeping track of 
developments around the pandemic.

The Adults Forum is also developing a work plan to inform its work for the future.

2.5 Health Protection forum 

The health protection forum’s work has been superseded during this time by the 
outbreak board and the Health and Wellbeing board will receive a sperate update 
on the outbreak plan later in the Agenda

3. Conclusion

The Board is asked to receive and note the contents of the report and to await
further updates as part of the standard agenda going forward.

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



01/09/2020

Dear Health and Wellbeing Board Member, 

Re: Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board - Annual Report 2019/20 

Please see enclosed the Annual report to the Board from Paula St Aubyn, the Board’s 
Independent Chair. The report is for information purposes only and not for decision making. 
The report will be presented by Paula St Aubyn at the meeting. 

Kind Regards, 

Eleanor Moulton. 

Integrated Social Care and Health Manager. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

Sefton LSCB Annual Report 
2019–2020 

 
CONTENTS 

 

 Section Page 

1 Introduction 1 

2 Governance and Leadership 1 

3 Funding and Support 3 

4 The Priorities for the LSCB 2019/20 4 

5 Evidence of activities that have support safeguarding priorities 2019/20 4 

6 Supporting Statement for the Business Priority 2019/20 9 

7 Partnership Evaluation of Practice 9 

8 Performance Management and Monitoring 13 

9 Learning and Development 17 

10 Key Priorities for 2020/21 23 

11 Independent Scrutineer Conclusion 24 

 

1 Introduction 

  
Sefton LSCB remains steadfastly committed to ensuring that the whole partnership works together to 
safeguard its children and young people. Below are details of the work we have undertaken together in the 
time period April 2019-March 2020. This report has been independently scrutinised prior to publication, 
falling within the roles and responsibilities of our Boards Independent Chair. Throughout the report you will 
see the Chairs’ (acting as independent scrutineer) written reflection of board activity, progress and suggested 
developments moving forward.  
 

 

2 Governance and Leadership 

 Sefton LSCB is well supported by senior leaders across the partnership and is one of the few boards in the 
country which has a membership broader than the expected key statutory agencies. In Sefton, members are 
vocal in their belief that this extended inclusion of membership is what brings added strength to our board 
and partnership working relationships. Agreement to maintain this level of participation at the highest level 
was cemented when we published our MASA arrangements in 2019 and the board has continued to benefit 
from the active involvement of the wider partnership. 
 

“The recently implemented and revised multi-agency safeguarding arrangements have maintained an 
independent chair. Members of the LSCB are very proud to have a wide representation of partners that is 

broader than the expectations of key statutory agencies, and this now includes representation from schools. 
There have been recent challenges in progressing the work of the LSCB due to capacity within the board’s 

business unit. Positively, partners have taken responsibility to rectify this and have invested in the recruitment 
of two posts to progress the work of the LSCB.” 

Joint targeted area inspection of the multi-agency response to children’s mental health in Sefton. 
September 2019 

 
The LSCB has a clear internal structure designed to manage and respond to the business areas of the Board 
and this is available to see on our website and can be accessed on the link below. 
 
Sefton LSCB Structure - https://seftonlscb.org.uk/lscb/about-us/lscb-governance-and-structure  
 
The structure of the board is only one element of the governance and leadership and includes an agreed 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) in keeping with Working Together 2018 guidance which states: 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

https://seftonlscb.org.uk/lscb/about-us/lscb-governance-and-structure


2 | P a g e  
 

  
To be effective, these arrangements should link to other strategic partnership work happening locally to 

support children and families. This will include other public boards including Health and wellbeing boards, 
Adult Safeguarding Boards, Channel Panels, Improvement Boards, Community Safety Partnerships, the Local 

Family Justice Board and MAPPAs. (p73) 
 
Whilst this MoU has been in place for some time it was previously covered on the main board agenda under 
‘any other business’ and often, information exchange of this nature was not readily forthcoming. As a result, 
we have now raised the profile of this expectation and have this activity as a standing item on the agenda of 
the LSCB Main Board meetings, giving strategic leaders a dedicated time slot to share connecting work from 
other boards they sit on that links into our safeguarding children agenda. 
 

 
 

Board Member Annual Appraisals 
LSCB Member Appraisal conversations were held by LSCB Chair with individual LSCB Main Board members 
(undertaken between January-March 2020). The LSCB Chair summarised the outcomes and findings which 
included the following areas identified for further action/consideration: 
 

• Name plates for board meetings 

• Referral forms for services be located and downloadable in a central place on LSCB website 

• Embed LSCB executive minutes and all sub group minutes in main board agenda for information. 

• Provide a list of membership of sub groups and MASH steering group to evidence the significant 
engagement from all agencies and services and to support the identification of any potential gaps  

• Health providers forum – is it sufficiently explicit where and when issues are escalated? Suggestion of 
an annual report to main board?  

• Seeking assurance how learning has been taken forward, translated into actions, improved practice 
and how this is or will be evidenced? 

• From the Serious Case Reviews (SCR’s) – an audit request to members that asks a) can you detail 3 
actions taken as a result of the learning. b) what impact has this had on practice and c) how can you 
evidence this. 

• Increase awareness of board members roles by introducing a table of members pen pictures 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



3 | P a g e  
 

• Board members to undertake frontline visits to increase their visibility around the partnership 
services 

• To support a greater understanding of the community (voluntary) services through presentation at 
main board  

• How can the faith community have stronger links?  Scope and recommend  
 
Feedback from members in relation to the Independent Chairs scrutiny role were: 
 

• Suggestion this role is enhanced by undertaking ‘temperature checks’ at points across the system in 
order to check operational practice against strategic information.   

• Chair to meet with Designated safeguarding leads (schools). A key group of professionals who will 
have direct experience of practice and issues.  

• Consideration to be given to combining CCG quality visits and Section 11 visits to permit further 
triangulation of findings for Health agencies. 

• Deep dive a cross section of action plans arising from sec 11 audits.  

• From Community Rehabilitation company and the National Probation Service - receive summary 
report from their respective QA audit processes. 

• To seek views from the INNOVATE social work company (manager) on effectiveness of partnership 
working in CIN cases.  

• Chair to meet with Independent Reviewing Officers and Child Protection Chairs as they have detailed 
operational roles with oversight of the effectiveness of multi-agency working for children.  

 
All of the above will be addressed through LSCB work flow. 
 

 Independent Scrutineer Comments: 

 The clear structure supports a positively developing culture within a wide partnership. All of whom remain 
committed to work together with transparency and energy to focus on continuous improvement. 
Membership has been stable, attendance is very good thus relationships are strong, mutually supportive and 
appropriately challenging.  

The process sitting behind the board to support delivery of core business is robust. For example, the 
consistent reporting up from sub groups to exec to main board (by exception) means that work flow is 
reviewed regularly. The Chairing of subgroups is appropriately owned and shared by the partnership.  

The Head of Communities with responsibility for the Local Authority’s Early Help Offer has joined the 
membership of LSCB Main and Executive Board.  Their active representation across the board has allowed for 
an improved coordinated response and provided clarity in relation to the Early Help Offer. 

Regular feedback from leaders represented on other boards and forums requires strengthening. Although 
Memorandum of Understandings are in place (MoU) opportunities to share information may have been 
missed.  The change to the main board agendas to have specific standing items is welcomed and it is 
expected will strengthen regular contribution. 
 

 

3 Funding and Support 

 In March 2020, the 3 key strategic leads met to consider the funding for the LSCB for the next financial year. 
Agreement was reached to retain the level of funding equal to that in 2019/20 for 2020/21. The strategic 
leads will meet quarterly to review the arrangements with a plan to transfer any underspend back to the 
contributing organisations. Due to financial pressures, the 3 key strategic leads who have financial 
responsibility to fund the local safeguarding arrangements were not able to commit financially to the LSCB, 
beyond 31st March 2021.   
 
Sefton schools have agreed to financially contribute to Sefton LSCB for a further 3 years.  

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



4 | P a g e  
 

 

Income from Agencies for 2019-20  

Sefton Council Children’s Services  North West Boroughs Health (NWBH) 

Merseyside Police Sefton Schools 
HM Prison & Probation Service (HMPPS) Independent Schools/Colleges 
Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) Income from LSCB Training  
Southport & Formby/South Sefton CCG(s)  Contributions from agencies towards SCR Learning 

Events 
CAFCASS  
 Total Income: £238,942 

 

LSCB Expenditure 2019-20   

LSCB Business Unit Staffing Costs Contribution towards Merseyside Child Death Overview 
Panel (CDOP) 

Independent Chair Fees  Independent Services & Fees  

Training and Development  Expenses 

Marketing and Public Relations  Miscellaneous 

Facilities Hire   

  

 Total Expenditure: £218,985 

 

 Independent Scrutineer Comments: 

 Whilst acknowledging there is no national funding formula it is hoped that the current funding level can be 
sustained and agreed on a longer-term basis. The year on year financial discussions create inherent risks in 
driving the key business and priority work at pace.  
 
The education sector is commended for their financial commitment being agreed for three years. 
 
I would wish to highlight the significant contributions of support ‘in kind’ from across the partnership 
evidenced in the membership of sub groups, training pool, the overall responsiveness to LSCB business, 
particularly the multi-agency audits and case reviews.   
 

 

4 The priorities for the LSCB 2019/20 were: 

 Safeguarding Priorities: 
1. To ensure the partnership drives impact and outcome focused practice which will be evidenced through 

single agency and a partnership Performance Management  
2. Evidencing the response to the voice of the child and the community and the impact this is having within 

safeguarding  
3. To continually support and contribute to staff development through training and audit activities by 

increasing the learning across the partnership through training and audit activities. 

 Business Priority: 
4. To ensure a controlled and formal transition from the LSCB to the renewed safeguarding arrangements. 
 

 

5 Evidence of activities that have supported safeguarding priorities 2019/20 

  
S11 Audit undertaken (in partnership with St Helens, Knowsley and Liverpool) and analysed  
Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 places duties on a range of organisations, agencies and individuals to ensure 
their functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged having regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  Sefton LSCB has evaluated agencies’ safeguarding 
arrangements against Section 11 standards by means of an annual section 11 audit. Detailed information is 
further on in the report. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



5 | P a g e  
 

 
S175 Audit undertaken and analysed by LSCB  
Section 175 of the 2002 Education Act requires local education authorities and the governing bodies of 
maintained schools and FE colleges plan to ensure that their functions are carried out with a view to 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. (Section 157 of the 2002 Education Act and the 
Independent School Regulations 2003 convey the same responsibilities on all other non-maintained settings.) 
 
Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board facilitates an annual school’s safeguarding S175 audit.  The audit is 
an online self-assessment which supports schools / education settings to demonstrate that their functions 
are carried out with a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. Audit findings can be 
found further on in this report. 
 
Driving the Multi-Agency Model of Practice requirement  
In 2018 Sefton LSCB commissioned a report to review children subject to a child protection plan for a second 
or subsequent time.  One of the recommendations contained within that report reflected on the practice 
model used across the children’s partnership and to consider the progress made so far through the 
implementation of Signs of Safety.  
 
A further report was then presented to the LSCB Executive in March 2019 that specifically looked at how well 
we had adopted Signs of Safety and considered what would be the benefits and costs of implementing it 
fully. In addition, this included a summary of pros and cons of other accredited practice models used across 
other Local Authority areas and explored whether adoption of one or more of these, would be beneficial to 
us locally in Sefton.  The Board considered the report and whether to invest further in the Signs of Safety 
Model which has been partially implemented or whether a ‘mix and match’ model would be preferable. 
 
In May 2019, the Board received a paper from the Interim DCS reflecting on the current safeguarding practice 
model used across the children’s partnership. The paper recommended the development of a “mix and 
match” model of practice in acknowledgement of the absence of a model of practice common to the whole 
partnership. Consequently, a working group was convened to:  
 

1. Commit to the implementation of an agreed mix and match model 
2. Commit to the shared cost of purchase both in cash and kind. 

 
Other influencing factors have emerged since the task and finish group convened, namely the Strengthening 
Families Protecting Children Programme bid and the opportunities to bid for training funds from the 
Merseyside Violence Reduction Unit both of which demonstrate a commitment to finding resource to 
support the introduction of an agreed multi-agency model of practice. This will be governed through the 
Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board, the LSCB Board remains committed to support the 
partnership in their endeavours. 

 
Completion of three Serious Case Reviews within the time frame 
What is a Serious Case Review (SCR)?  
LSCBs are required to undertake reviews of serious cases and extract lessons to be learned.  A serious case is 
one where abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected; and either a child has died or been seriously 
harmed and there is cause for concern as to the way in which agencies have worked together to safeguard 
the child. 
 
During the year, the LSCB have published 3 Serious Case Reviews. 
 
Two innovative learning events for the entire children’s workforce were delivered in June and November 
2019 using AFTA Thought (bringing training to life through drama) www.aftathought.co.uk and delivered the 
learning from SCRs. The event was titled ‘going forward without fear’ used as a supportive focus to 
professionals who are often working in an emotive and challenging environment. All of the resources on the 
day were sensitively designed through a task and finish group of the LSCB and feedback on their powerful 
impact was relayed back to the board by those who attended. The learning event was a reminder to all staff 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

http://www.aftathought.co.uk/


6 | P a g e  
 

about the importance of hearing the voice of the child and considering the child’s lived experiences from the 
child’s perspective. Approximately 1000 participants from across the partnership attended the sessions 
which included frontline staff, a wide range of senior leaders and a member of the national Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. There was a further repeat event commissioned from our education 
sector to approximately 200 staff members within schools. 
 
The impact of these events was evidenced via Sefton LSCB newsletters (Special Edition Newsletters (July & 
December 2019) 
 
Materials produced for the Learning Events are available CLICK HERE   
 
Formby Learning in Partnership (Schools) commissioned the event on 18 March 2020 
 
Established a Child Sexual Abuse in the Family Environment (CSAFE) Task and Finish Group 
In response to findings from a multi-agency audit Sefton LSCB agreed that Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) in the 
Family Environment is a partnership themed priority for 2020-22. To progress this, work a task and finish 
group developed a strategy and an associated work plan. Having achieved this, the LSCB partnership will 
progress activity across five strands:   
 

• Improving Prevention  

• Improving Awareness, Recognition and Response 

• Improving Information Sharing and Decision Making 

• Supporting Children, Young People and Families 

• Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
Multi-Agency Audit – Children Living with Mental Ill Health 
Sefton LSCB evaluated safeguarding practice in respect of Children Living with Mental Ill Health. This area was 
selected to align with the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI), undertaken by Ofsted (September 2019), of 
the multi-agency response to children’s mental health in Sefton. The LSCB used a new reporting template 
that embraces the boards vision that all of our activity is centred around our understanding of the child’s 
lived experiences and how, upon reflection, we can improve our understanding of the impact this is having 
on a child and the services we offer in response. This exemplar is now be used for future audits a model of 
good practice. 
 
Review of the Escalation Procedure  
The LSCB has had an escalation policy in place for a considerable amount of time but what became apparent 
through SCR findings and conversations during the Joint Targeted Area Inspection was that whilst we had a 
policy in place, we did not understand enough about how this policy was being used to support practice and 
successfully resolve safeguarding concerns. To address this, the policy has been simplified and promoted, 
providing the workforce with a clear step by step chart of expectation. Escalation was also a strong focus in 
the content of the SCR learning events. In addition, we have introduced a feedback mechanism in order that 
we can understand if the escalation process is effectively used. This is now monitored through the 
Performance and Quality Assurance sub group which in turn is fed up to the executive group for a required 
action.   
 
Refresh of Level of Need Guidance 
 
Sefton ‘Level of Need’ Guidance sets out an agreed approach to provide timely support for children and 
families.  It is the local framework to assist everyone working with children.  It provides information with 
examples to support all practitioners from all agencies so that you can identify when it will be appropriate to 
work individually with a child and family and when it will be better to coordinate skills and call upon other 
agencies to work together to support children. 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5

https://seftonlscb.org.uk/lscb/news/sefton-lscb-newsletters
https://indd.adobe.com/view/27c3b568-3106-4a73-bb90-b4c90c7d2072


7 | P a g e  
 

The guidance details some of the most common indications of additional needs and risks for vulnerable 
children.  For each level there are identified planning responses and a range of possible services. 
 
Sefton LSCB held an open consultation event for contribution to the refresh of the level of need guidance.  
The session was extremely well attended and there was representation from all corners of the partnership.  
Not only is this approach good practice, but staff tell us that they felt heard and valued by the invitation to 
contribute to such important guidance. This will be launched in July 2020. 
 
Information Sharing from the Board 
 
The board continues to regularly supply the children’s workforce with a relevant stream of safeguarding 
resources. We utilise all communication streams available to us which includes: 

• LSCB website 

• LSCB twitter account @seftonlscb  

• LSCB newsletters 

• LSCB 7-minute briefings 

• LSCB training materials which includes practice and research materials from other places 

• LSCB practice guidance 
 
The board has long benefitted from the positive support and praise from across the workforce in relation to 
the communication we provide and below is a small sample of what we receive: 
 
 

I just want to drop you a quick email to register with you and the LSCB team, my sincere gratitude for  
producing and distributing what I can only describe as an enormously informative and helpful  

newsletter.  As a member of Merseyside Army Cadet Force (MACF) based in the Sefton area, this  
newsletter is exactly what we need to keep up with the ever-developing issues surrounding children’s  

welfare and safeguarding across the Sefton area and beyond.   
The newsletter offers a plethora of different subjects and topics and helps tremendously to keep our 

organisation better informed when working with young Cadets. 
The newsletter documents news and updates coupled with the very helpful links, it not only serves as a 

newsletter but also a portal to many various high-profile topics across the safeguarding universe. 
(Merseyside Army Cadet Force) 

 
The level of communication from the LSCB, particularly the newsletters and 7 minute briefings 

is very positively received by the education sector in Sefton.  The newsletter is truly multi-agency and 
appropriate for a wider audience eg circulation to governors. 

(Sefton Primary & Secondary Headteachers) 
 

I found the LSCB newsletter very informative and useful to know what areas  
you’re looking at / partners you’re working with. 

(Police staff) 
 

https://seftonlscb.org.uk/lscb/news/sefton-lscb-newsletters 
 
Working Together to Safeguard Children Training 
A significant amount of work has gone into the refresh of materials and training approaches to this two day 
course and the participant feedback is telling us that we have the right formula. We have shifted the focus to 
include the wealth of learning we received from the Serious Case Reviews, as well as incorporating key 
messages from the findings of our multi-agency audits, national reviews and associated activities. We have 
also strengthened the coverage of child protection conference roles, responsibilities and expected 
contributions. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5

https://seftonlscb.org.uk/lscb/news/sefton-lscb-newsletters


8 | P a g e  
 

The consistency of delivery of Working Together training is starting to show clear impact on those professionals 
who attend Child Protection Conferences. Their feedback is that they feel more confident and better equipped 
to contribute from a child’s perspective and to challenge as a professional:   
 
Early Help Practitioner- ‘I will definitely be more child focused and ensure that the child’s voice is always 
represented by me at meetings’  
 
Further Education College Safeguarding Co Coordinator – ‘I will now feel a lot more confident to put my 
opinion of how I believe a child is being impacted on by what may be going on at home’ 
 
Young Person and Family Support Co-ordinator Specialist Education- ‘I will be share training with 
safeguarding team and explore how to raise/gain Voice of the child in annual reviews/family work/referrals 
etc’ 
 
Adult Caseworker ‘Resources will help me work with parents to tune in more with their child’s experience and 
see the child’s perspective’ 
 
Primary Headteacher ‘Include Rights of Child on referrals, make voice much more powerful’ 
Safeguarding Officer/Merseyside Police’ Continue to challenge in ICPC’S when my gut/Voice of the Child says 
different to the consensus…’  
 
Paediatric Doctor ‘Will use more: In my opinion based on developmental stage of child they are likely to be 
saying….. and then articulate the voice of the child better’ 
School Nurse/NWBHS ‘I think as a new school nurse this training will benefit my assessments and 
engagement with children’ 
 
Moving forward LSCB will continue to develop ways to support professionals in adopting a robust cascading 
model back to their organisation. 
 
Introduction of a Working Together Forum for professionals 
Having analysed the impact of the LSCB training we have recently introduced a new forum-Working Together 
Forum. The forum’s main aim is to empower the workforce with confidence and includes learning 
opportunities as well as hearing professionals, sharing their knowledge and expertise. Impact of training, and 
in response to feedback from SCR Learning events, we wanted to be more proactive in supporting the multi-
agency workforce. It is intended that the Working Together Forum will provide a platform to engage further 
and to embed the principals and expectations of Working Together (2018) in ensuring safeguarding practice 
across the partnership is robust. This will also give a further opportunity for practitioners to share their 
perspectives of safeguarding practices that can then in turn feed into the relevant board meetings for 
consideration. This flow of communication is in its infancy, there is an intention to adopt a model which 
demonstrates that consultation with the frontline workforce has took place. This will continue to happen at 
all training events but there is now greater scope to formalise this during Working Together Forums. Here 
information and feedback can be gathered, analysed and presented up though the structure of the 
partnership via LSCB Training Pool and LSCB Learning and Development Subgroup to ensure we appreciate 
and adopt any new approaches or lessons learnt for future learning and then via LSCB Executive Group to 
Main board to ensure the workforce and their voice can influence and shape decisions that need to be made 
at a leadership level to benefit the partnership. 
 
Supporting trauma informed practice 
The LSCB Learning and Development sub group continues to oversee the promotion of the Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) programme through the inclusion of ACE awareness into routine safeguarding 
training and identification and sharing of best practice, e.g. the Recovery Toolkit. ACE’s has enabled the 
partnership to understand and promote the importance of ‘Trauma Informed Practice’ which continues to be 
an area of priority for the children’s workforce. 
 
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5



9 | P a g e  
 

 Independent Scrutineer Section Comments: 

 A Model of Practice has been rightly recognised as key in supporting practitioners to effectively work 
together and deliver interventions and support to children and families.  The Children and Young Peoples 
Board has responsibility to oversee this work. It has stalled and requires renewed focus and pace.  The LSCB 
should remain committed to actively support this. The learning events linked to the Serious Case Reviews 
have proved to be an excellent model to deliver learning. I have heard directly from practitioners the impact 
this had had on their practice and examples are amply evidenced in LSCB newsletters. 
 
The refreshed level of need guidance is significant and although delayed as a result of COVID19, this has 
provided an opportunity to strengthen the descriptors which are so important to front line staff.  
 
The LSCB has demonstrated a responsive and can-do attitude when specific safeguarding issues require 
increased attention. For example, as a result of findings in a multi-agency audit concerning Child Sexual 
Abuse in the family a task and finish group completed in a timely way a comprehensive plan to drive forward 
work in this area. 
 
I recommend the LSCB considers further use of the task and finish model but ensures it has in place clear 
governance to take forward the associated work.   
 
The communications from the LSCB are of a high standard, consistent and welcomed by practitioners and 
good links have been made to ensure LSCB safeguarding messages are disseminated through a wide range of 
forums. For example, during COVID 19 the LSCB has provided the council lead in Education with information 
to disseminate though daily communications with all educational settings. 
 
The training and development offer through a dynamic officer and training pool has been a demonstrable 
improvement from the LSCB. Set against the ever-increasing demands on practitioners it is essential strategic 
leaders continue to support and develop their staff. This is a key strength for the partnership. Notably the 
working together forum provides a new opportunity where the partnership can learn from frontline practice 
which in turn can strengthen how we gather evidence when practice has improved and give further 
confidence in challenging and escalating concerns. The forum is intended to scaffold and strengthen the 
principals of multi-agency working together practices.  
 

 

6 Supporting statement for the business priority 2019/20 

 Sefton LSCB strategic leaders made clear their intention for the board to remain as uninterrupted as possible 
during the transition into the new MASA arrangements and this has been achieved. To some extent, this was 
because the board had taken a stepped approach starting in 2017 in preparedness for the new legislation and 
had clear priorities set for this to be accomplished. We also proudly maintained our name and brand so were 
not distracted in a whole sale re-branding strategy. The board, just prior to the changes, had also re-aligned 
its statutory focus and safely redirected the operational responsibilities back to the strategic owners and 
accountable forums allowing the LSCB to concentrate on its core strategic aims. Whilst agency leaders 
recognised the need for the partnership to continue to work better together across a multi-agency footprint, 
rather than lose the development of cross agency operational relationships, a decision was made to create a 
practitioner forum and continue to work together in a direct way that resolves any operational blockages.  
 

 

7 Partnership Evaluation of Practice 

  
   “….the LSCB has appropriately prioritised the dissemination of learning from recent serious case and    
learning reviews. A strength is the development and publication of ‘7-minute’ briefings. The briefings identify 
key learning from serious case and learning reviews and they are distributed across the partnership, providing 
key information for staff in an easily accessible and concise format. Staff report that they read the briefings 
and find them useful to their practice. To correlate and support the briefings, the safeguarding board 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



10 | P a g e  
 

promoted the use of a theatre company to deliver the messages learned from serious case reviews. The 
sessions were performed from the child’s perspective and had a powerful impact on staff. 
 

(Joint targeted area inspection of the multi-agency response to children’s mental health in Sefton. 
September 2019) 

 
SCR JANET (published April 2019) 
 
Key Findings: 
1. The partnership needs to be robust in identifying Early Help provision for families who would benefit 

from it.  

2. Information sharing and risk assessment needed to be more effective.  

3. Co-ordination between nursing and GPs needed to be more joined up.  

4. When transferring information between GP surgeries, identified safeguarding risks were not highlighted.  
5. Lack of systems and processes in place within hospital Emergency Departments that support accurate 

assessments and responses to safeguarding risk. 
6. The partnership lacked professional curiosity when accessing information.  
7.  Risk factors around ‘hidden males’ was not fully considered.  
8. Systems and processes within some agencies that support staff to accurately assess, record and respond 

to safeguarding risk needed to improve.  
9. Lack of joined up IT systems between health professionals to communicate effectively.  

10. There was no evidence of any independent structured review process being undertaken by the Police as 
part of the investigation into the unexpected death of a child that may have enhanced the investigation.  

11. Agencies lacked sufficient detailed recording of decisions made as well as the rationale behind them on 
the case records. 
 

SCR MATILDA (published October 2019) 
 
Key Findings: 
1. There was a negative impact for professionals through parents’ attempt to conceal information.  

2. There were a number of gaps in information sharing within the partnership.  

3. Understanding individuals and family circumstances could have been explored further by professionals.  
4. The children within families need to be fully understood by offender management organisations who are 

working with the parent(s). 
5. The recording and management of information within Children's Social Care relating to individuals who 

may pose a risk to children needs to be reviewed to ensure it is effective. Within this, clarity needs to be 
given around the processes for risk assessments and the alert system currently in place.  

6. The strategy meeting did not include all relevant staff missing an opportunity for those agencies to 
positively contribute to planning.  

7. Practitioners across the partnership recognised the competing demands for professional attention was 
impacting on their quality of practice 

 
SCR BEATRICE (published March 2020) 
 
Key Findings: 
1. In general, it would be good practice for local authorities to liaise around support to care leavers living 

across boundaries. 
2.  Where risk factors are evident the importance of full information cannot be over-emphasised.  While 

the self-disclosure of information is positive it cannot be assumed that this is complete, and 
confirmation should be sought where possible.  Specifically, where there is a history as a care leaver 
background information should be sought from the responsible authority. 

3.  It is important for the police to take a more holistic view of a persons’ circumstances and, although not 
yet a parent, to consider information sharing to protect a child, albeit not yet born. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



11 | P a g e  
 

4.  Mother’s parenting capacity needed to be specifically assessed taking account of relevant research re 
parenting and Emotional Unstable Personality Disorders. 

5. Little information was obtained in respect of father – this is commonly reflecting in reviews where the 
male partner is almost the invisible male. The absence of more professional curiosity resulted in a lost 
opportunity. 

6.  It cannot be assumed that all services hold all relevant information so particular care should be taken to 
check this out and adopt a “think family”1 approach 

7.  An effective pre-birth assessment is key to the development of an appropriate plan to support and 
safeguarded the well-being of children.  Where this is allocated to a student social worker it is important 
that they are fully supported and supervised and that there are good quality control mechanisms in 
place. 

8.  Where a number of agencies are involved, it is important that there is good information sharing.  This 
may be via the Child Protection planning processes, Child in Need frameworks or via an Early Help offer.  
It is important that a lead professional is identified and that they take on the responsibility of 
coordination and information sharing 

9. Decision making about the outcome of an assessment should be communicated to all relevant parties 
and should be subject of professional challenge if not agreed or seen as inappropriate.  

 
Illustration of actions taken across the LSCB partnership in response to learning from SCR’s 

• LSCB policies and procedures updated in light of learning from our reviews. Eg. Pre-Birth Protocol has 
been developed (pan Merseyside), Concealed Pregnancy protocol has been developed (Pan Mersey), 
updated LSCB Escalation Procedure and Child Protection standards 

• Child Protection Standards have been reviewed and practice expectation has been strengthened in 
the detail 

• Early Help practice standards have been developed in the period and are now completed for 
introduction along with the development of assessment and referral processes  

• High profile SCR learning events undertaken across the partnership 

• LSCB Escalation Procedure has been reviewed and simplified alongside a multi-layered 
communication drive 

• MASH Information Sharing Agreement agreed and implemented 

• Early Help Strategy has been introduced 

• Early Help Partnership group has been established 

• Early help practitioners have been allocated to schools for identification of single points of contact 
purposes 

• Alder hey Children’s Hospital have undertaken a review of their safeguarding assessment processes 
and have a training plan in place to raise awareness of professional curiosity, information sharing and 
holistic assessments 

• Production of guidance on ‘Hidden Males’ for practitioners 

• 7-minute briefings swiftly published in relation to learning themes drawn out from the reviews 

• Multi-agency Sudden Unexpected Death in Childhood (SUDiC) protocol has been refreshed 

• Community Rehabilitation Company and National Probation Service have jointly devised and 
introduced enquiry forms for both Children’s Social Care and Early Help to improve the quality of 
their ‘safeguarding checks’ 

• Public Health have commissioned a campaign with partner agencies to raise the awareness of the 
impact of shaking a baby 

• LSCB has made representation to the Department of Health concerning the feasibility of developing 
and implementing a national information technology system that provides greater connectivity 
between health professionals 

                                                           
1 SCIE: At a glance 9: Think child, think parent, think family - Published: May 2012; Key messages 

Think child, think parent, think family in order to develop new solutions to improve outcomes for parents with mental health 

problems and their families.  Take a multi-agency approach, with senior level commitment to implement a think family strategy.  

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



12 | P a g e  
 

• All agencies are self-satisfied that they have robust arrangements in place to accurately record case 

details, with supporting information, including a rationale for the decisions made. 

•  LSCB has provided advice, guidance and resources, to the partnership that focuses on parental 

mental health and parenting  

• LSCB have revised their training materials to ensure that learning from reviews is clearly illustrated 
and addressed during multi agency training events  

• The board has continued to build the suite of good practice guidance for frontline staff which 
includes learning from SCR’s 
 

Rapid Reviews 
 
When a serious incident becomes known to the safeguarding partners, they must consider whether the case meets the 
criteria for a local review.  The safeguarding partners promptly undertake a rapid review of the case, in line with any 
guidance published by the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (15 working day timescale for the completion of 
rapid reviews). The aim of this rapid review is to enable safeguarding partners to:  
• gather the facts about the case, as far as they can be readily established at the time  
• discuss whether there is any immediate action needed to ensure children’s safety and share any learning appropriately  
• consider the potential for identifying improvements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children  
• decide what steps they should take next, including whether or not to undertake a child safeguarding practice review  

 
Sefton LSCB undertook a rapid review in 2019-20 that resulted in a local practice learning review. Reviews are 
led by a member of the LSCB with identified support. 
 
GEORGE  
 
The review brought practitioners involved in the case together to reflect on practice and extract learning and 
good practice.  The rapid review analysis report showed that there were some strengths in the practice 
including parents having received a lot of support, particularly from early help service, having attended 
parenting programmes and the children experiencing some direct work.  On the other hand, some features of 
the case were identified in the recent serious case reviews, particularly in relation to; - 
 
1. Information sharing and poor communication between professionals 

2. Decision making not taking account of a family’s history  

3. Engagement with appointments: children not being brought and adult non-attendance 

4. Cross local area issues 

5. Lack of use of the escalation policy 

 
Review Conclusions/Recommendations 
It was acknowledged by the Early Help service that in complex cases, where for example the service 
involvement had spanned a significant period, that joint working should be considered with agencies known 
to be involved with the child and family.  Furthermore, the importance of good supervision and established 
mechanisms for ensuring Management Oversight were needed.  The Early Help service advised that these 
processes were being established.  The review also recommended the need to consider all cases when open 
for 12 months and commented upon the usefulness of a ‘huddle’ (a meeting for multi-agency workers to 
come together) where ‘stuck’ cases can be considered.  
 
At the time of writing this report early help have provided assurance to the LSCB that they have since 
developed documents to support Early Help Quality and performance:  Quality Assurance Framework, 
Practice Standards, 12-month Audit schedule and Quality assurance schedule to include ‘focus on practice 
‘weeks in alignment with Children Social Care.  A new audit tool and guidance has been developed to ensure 
they are capturing the quality of Early Help assessments, plans and reviews.   
A Quality Assurance briefing has been shared with Family Wellbeing Centre staff and the intention is to 
broaden this to all Early Help Partners to further embed the culture of sharing practice and improvement. 
Early Help plan, assess, review training has been refreshed and updated.  
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 5



13 | P a g e  
 

 Independent Scrutineer Section Comments: 

 The LSCB has undertaken a significant amount of work in the year about SCR’s and, as identified by the JTAI 
inspection report, the sharing of the learning from this work has been well-received by the partnership.  
Through the work of the board there has been effort to encourage agencies and individuals to ‘hear the voice 
of the child’ in all that they do and that that is starting to take shape through, for example, case recording, 
auditing practice and report formatting. Whilst there is evidence that this is now starting to become a 
working focus across the partnership there is still limited evidence of understanding the journey of the child 
and how services influence their life journey.  This requires a focus on evidencing that what the child 
communicates to professionals is responded to in a way that enables a child to thrive and: 

• to feel involved in decisions about their life and their future 

• understands the purpose of those services who are involved in decisions about them 

• has the right services at the right time delivered responsively to the needs of the individual child 
based on their developmental needs 

 

8 Performance Management and Monitoring 

 Through the work of its Performance and Quality Assurance Sub Group the LSCB continues its drive to ensure 
that the partnership focuses on how it evidences the impact and outcomes of practice on children and 
families. Work in this area during 2019/20 was limited interrupted? due to staffing vacancies. Appointment 
to a quality assurance officer post has allowed important work in these areas to recommence.  
 
For some years the LSCB operated a dataset that was significant in scope and accumulated to over 100 
performance indicators. In recognition that it was no longer fit for purpose the LSCB agreed to a new dataset 
of 33 high level indicators, relevant to the remit of the safeguarding board. The success of the new dataset 
was always dependent upon agency own analysis and commentary of their performance. Since its inception, 
the renewed dataset has not provided the analysis we had hoped because the commentary of agencies own 
analysis was either lacking in detail for safeguarding purposes or absent with just the submission of data 
figures which in themselves told us very little. 
 
The Board has recently approved a revised approach to evaluation and monitoring of safeguarding 
performance. It is anticipated revisions to performance reporting and monitoring will enable the LSCB 
partnership to:   
 

• Have clear lines of oversight and communication with statutory and key agencies.   

• Be sighted on positive single and multi-agency work being undertaken by partners to safeguard 

children in Sefton.   

• Be alerted at the earliest opportunity to areas of concern or risk in relation to safeguarding. 

• Enable the partnership to improve safeguarding practice through rigorous monitoring of 

performance against LSCB child protection standards.  

• Enable the partnership to better hold partners to account for their performance and contribution to 

effective safeguarding 

 
Quarterly reports, in relation to safeguarding performance with accompanying data relevant to the LSCB, will 
be received from safeguarding partners and key service areas with responsibility for safeguarding across the 
continuum. Settings will report on; Performance assurance / Areas of concern (internal or external) and 
actions taken / Positive areas of safeguarding practice / Child and family views of services received. 
Additionally, biannual reports will be sought from LSCB agencies and the views of front-line staff will be 
sought on how well the safeguarding system is working from their perspective.   
 
Through monitoring, scrutiny and challenge by the LSCB through the Performance and Quality Assurance sub 
group it is expected that this revised approach to performance monitoring will provide a more reflective and 
meaningful analysis of agencies’ and service areas’ analysis of safeguarding practice.  
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



14 | P a g e  
 

Further work to improve self-reflection, monitoring and scrutiny will take place. This accounts for the views 
of children and families on services and improvement in how (singularly and collectively) agencies evidence 
that the services offered to have an impact on the daily lived experience of children and their long-term 
outcomes, will ensure the development and delivery of more effective safeguarding services in Sefton.  
 
Sefton LSCB Audit Activity 
 
Section 175: It is imperative that education settings can demonstrate that they are meeting key statutory 
safeguarding duties and are following current statutory safeguarding guidance.   
Evaluation of the 2019/20 Section 175 self-assessment returns tell us that:  
 

• Education settings in Sefton actively engage with self-evaluation requirements so that standards for 
safeguarding are maintained and that actions are regularly taken to review and update practice 
against standards 

• Settings are alert to children’s needs and have due regard for the welfare of their pupils and students 
and will, when necessary, refer concerns to Sefton Children’s Services 

• Education settings are proactive in identifying and progressing actions for monitoring, reviewing and 
updating their safeguarding policies and procedures 

• Settings ensure that staff are appropriately trained to discharge their statutory responsibilities in 
respect of safeguarding. 

 
All education settings have: A child protection policy in accordance with LSCB procedures, Keeping Safe in 
Education and Further Education statutory guidance; A Designated Safeguarding Lead or Deputy is available 
during term time, for staff to discuss safeguarding and welfare concerns and; a coordinated response for 
students missing or for following up student absences. 
 
The S175 evaluation also tells us that further work is required to support education settings so that staff are 
understanding of early help and processes and can identify children’s emerging needs and are proactive 
active in supporting children and families through coordinated early help assessments. Work is also required, 
by way of additional training, which will assist Governors to quality assure safeguarding practice and to 
support their scrutiny of setting’s safeguarding practice.   
 
Section 11 Audit – Coordinated Findings 
As several agencies, with responsibilities for safeguarding, deliver services across different local authority 
areas in Merseyside the 2019/20 section 11 audit was coordinated across several local authority areas 
through the respective safeguarding partnerships of Sefton, Liverpool, Knowsley and St Helens. Coordination 
of the section 11 audit reduced the burden on agencies to complete and submit multiple S11 audit 
submission to differing safeguarding partnerships for, in turn, differing evaluation. 
 
Agencies subject to cross partner scrutiny for 2019/20 were: Liverpool Women’s Hospital; National Probation 
Service, Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company; NSPCC; St Helens and Knowsley Health Trust; 
Mersey Care NHS; North West Borough Health; NPS Merseyside; Alder Hey; Aintree Hospital and Merseyside 
Police. 
 
Through completion of an online self-evaluation audit agencies evaluated performance against standards 
relating to: Policies, Procedures & Thresholds / Skilled Workforce (Training) / Skilled Workforce (Recruitment, 
Complaints, Escalation, Whistleblowing and Allegations Management).  
 
Self-assessment returns were scrutinised and evaluated by a multi-agency panel comprising of senior 
managers and quality assurance officers, representative of Sefton, Liverpool and St Helens local authority 
areas. Front line visits to settings were undertaken to validate self-assessment returns. (A number of front-
line visits were unable to take place during the period of review due to Covid-19 restrictions)  
 
Evaluation of the Section 11 self-assessment returns tell us that: 
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



15 | P a g e  
 

• Agencies have been able to demonstrate compliance with the standards measured in the Section 11 
process. 

• Audit and Front-Line Visits have provided appropriate assurance on agencies’ compliance with 
standards. 

• Although all standards have been met where individual areas for improvement are identified 
agencies have committed to undertaking necessary actions.    

• Although demonstrating compliance Adult-facing organisations with less familiarity with the Working 
Together 2018 legislation struggled to answer some of the questions in the standards. 
 

From the S11 audit agencies should ensure that staff:  
 

• Are understanding of levels and descriptions of need.  

• Are competent to carry out their duties for safeguarding in an environment where staff feel able to 
raise concerns and feel supported in their safeguarding role. 

• Receive a mandatory induction, which includes familiarisation with child protection responsibilities 
and the procedures to be followed if anyone has any concerns about a child’s safety or welfare 

• Have regular reviews of their own practice to ensure they have knowledge, skills and expertise that 
improve over time.  
 

Section 11 Audit – Sefton  
Agencies outside of the coordinated section 11 approach delivering services within Sefton that completed a 
section 11 return for 2019/20 were; Southport and Ormskirk NHS Trust (Lancashire Safeguarding Children / 
Adults audit), South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group, Youth Offending Team and Children’s Social Care.  
Self-evaluation against Section 11 standards for these agencies tell us that agencies are:  
 

• Fully compliant with safeguarding standards 

• Proactive in their review of standards and implementing actions to maintain compliance with 
standards.  

 
Agencies have identified and implemented actions to ensure compliance in respect of the following areas:  
 

• Training / Safer Recruitment: To ensure all relevant staff receive necessary safeguarding training, 
including safer recruitment training, and that attendance at training is routinely monitored.  

• Polices / Procedures: To ensure that safeguarding policies are accessible to the children, young 
people and families accessing the service. 

 

Multi-Agency Thematic Audit Activity 
Sefton LSCB undertakes multi-agency audit to evaluate the safeguarding practice in response to areas of 
concern whether nationally or locally. And identify good practice   
 
Child Sexual Abuse in the Family Environment  
In response to Sefton LSCB’s initial CSAFE multi-agency audit (2019), in which it was found that; the voices of 
child victims of sexual abuse within the family environment were largely absent, there was a lack of 
professional curiosity in many of the cases, that information sharing and coordination between agencies was 
inadequate and that allegations of child sexual abuse in the family environment were not being dealt with as 
robustly as they should LSCB, a multi-agency CSAFE task and finish group was established to develop a 
partnership strategy to strengthen Sefton’s multi agency response to CSAFE.       
 
A further CSAFE audit has been recently undertaken and initial findings from this audit, to be made available 
to the LSCB, indicate that: 
 

• Practice was good in many areas audited.   

• In a majority of cases risk was identified, responded to and reduced in a timely way. 

• Coordination between agencies was effective. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



16 | P a g e  
 

• Practice was generally considered to have improved outcomes for the child or young person. 

• All agencies considered that children, young people & families are appropriately involved in assessment, 

planning and intervention.  

• Further work is needed to ensure that support for children affected is made available, that planning for 

children is consistent in its aims and clear in its outcomes and that multi-agency monitoring of the 

effectiveness of multi-agency interventions is robust.  

 
Taking into consideration the OFSTED findings from their published report ‘The Multi Agency Response to Child 
Sexual Abuse in the Family Environment (2020), Sefton LSCB has agreed that CSAFE will be one of the areas for 
greater focus as within its priorities for 2020/21.  Development of the multi-agency CSAFE strategy an 
accompanying action plan will coordinate a more effective partnership response to CSAFE.  
 
Work to be undertaken in 2020/21 will include: 
 

• The capture and analysis of relevant data which will provide a more accurate picture of the nature and 
extent of CSA in Sefton 

• Development and delivery of multi-agency CSAFE training 

• Partners and agencies prioritising professional’s attendance at multi-agency CSAFE meetings to 
improve effective decision making.   

 
Children Living with Mental Ill-Health Audit Findings 
 
Completed as part of the Joint Targeted Area Inspection in September 2019. 
Audit showed that: 

• The Sefton LSCB partnership demonstrated good inter-agency working.  

• Multi-agency professionals had a clear understanding of each other’s roles.  

• Education settings responded well and quickly to the special educational needs of children with 

mental ill health and provided high quality education provision.  

• Children’s mental ill health is understood and there is evidence of professional sensitivity relating to 

this in decision making. 

 

Further work is needed to: 
• Strengthen the LSCB Level of Need Guidance in relation to Asylum Seekers. 

• Ensure agencies provide effective challenge to support decision making and planning.  

• Develop greater collaborative working, through a Think Family Approach, with adult services to 

improve child and family outcomes. 

• Support professionals to identify and respond to Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).  

 
In response to the audit, actions taken have included: 

• Revised and re issued the LSCB Escalation procedures to better support effective challenge 

• Established within escalation procedures requirements for agencies to record low level escalations and 
return reports to the LSCB for monitoring.  

• Revised the LSCB level of need guidance   
 

Improving the capture of the child’s voice and experience  
As part of its multi-agency audits LSCB seeks to identify how agencies have improved safeguarding services in 
response to feedback from children and their families. Although audits have found that agencies are generally 
good at providing opportunities for the voice of children and their families to be heard, LSCB acknowledges 
that more needs to be done. To this end, as part of a new and ambitious performance reporting structure, 
LSCB now requires agencies and services to specifically evidence what it is that children and families are saying 
about the services they receive and what the agencies or services have done in response to that feedback. It is 
expected, that by requesting this directly from agencies and challenging where it is not evident, will serve to 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5



17 | P a g e  
 

improve greater and more meaningful engagement with children and their families and led to more effective 
service improvement.     
 
SCHOOL INSPECTIONS (SAFEGUARDING – OFSTED JUDGEMENTS) 
 
Safeguarding training specific to the education sector on behalf of the LSCB provides advice, information and 
guidance to education settings on their safeguarding arrangements and practice. Up to date training is 
delivered to the Designated Safeguarding Leads.  
 
From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, the 21 schools that have been inspected were judged as having effective 
arrangements for safeguarding in place which met statutory requirements.  All of the reports state leaders 
have ensured that all members of staff have received appropriate and up-to-date training and understand their 
responsibilities for ensuring the safety and well-being of all pupils. 
 
In those 21 schools, leaders and managers have created a culture of vigilance where welfare is promoted and 
where timely and appropriate safeguarding action is taken for those who need extra help or may be suffering 
from harm. 
 

 Independent Scrutineer Section Comments: 

 Auditing activity plays a significant role in the board being able to evidence how practice is co-ordinated and 
how it responds to safeguarding children. Due to lengthy staff vacancy on the board during the year this has 
resulted in a reduction of the expected auditing schedule. Whilst efforts have been made to get this work 
back on track and the accomplishments listed above have been illustrated, there is a risk that quality 
assurance and performance monitoring cannot be confidently planned post March 2020 whilst the future 
delivery model remains unconfirmed.  The Partnership has recognised it requires a step change in its 
approach to data and performance information.  The new approach, if proactively embraced, will provide 
clearer outcome focused evidence. This in turn will support senior leaders to be proactive in responding to 
shortfalls in practice. I recommend within this a greater focus on identifying good practice and sharing this 
across agencies. 

 

9 Learning and Development 

 The LSCB in Sefton is in a privileged position because we are offering training and development opportunities 
to a children’s workforce who have self-drive and commitment to improve their own development with a 
strong appetite to develop their practice through our training offer. Consequently, the board regularly has 
training courses that are oversubscribed because of the high demand. 
 
Significant opportunities have been explored and developed to ensure the LSCB priorities are weaved 
through all areas of learning and development activity and through the delivery of a diverse range of training 
opportunities. These are modelled and delivered to support professionals in cascading priorities back to the 
wider workforce to ensure there is a clear and shared understanding that ‘Safeguarding is Everybody’s 
Responsibility’. 

 

Establishing and building on existing relationships and partnerships was of paramount importance to develop 
an overwhelming sense of ownership where professionals develop confidence in their safeguarding 
responsibilities and practice This has been the underpinning aim and has set the foundations for stronger 
partnership working. This has been reinforced and supported by the LSCB Training Pool through past, present 
and future activity. 
 
New Impact and Evaluation forms have been developed to gather clearer feedback three months after 
attendance of Working Together to Safeguard Children Two-day training and includes questions and prompts 
to support effective completion of the form ‘How has the training influenced, supported or changed your 
practice’?  and ‘Are you able to share any examples of how the training has had direct impact for a child’? It is 
expected that the board will be able to better evidence the relationship between training for staff and 
changes in practice that responds to the needs of children and improves our practice as a result.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



18 | P a g e  
 

Evidence of post training evaluation feedback tells us: 
 

‘Having just taken over the role, I had a lot to learn.  I now know how to make a referral and which other 
agencies are available to support me. I haven’t had to use this information yet, but I know where to go if I 

need support or to report an issue’. (Primary School SENCO Safeguarding Lead) 
 

‘I have included a ‘Voice of the Child’ Workshop in our next Every Child Matters Forum that is focusing on Early 
Help. The training made it clear how important the role of the voluntary sector is as ‘eyes and ears’ on the 

ground.  I share this with the organisations I work with’. (Sefton CVS) 
 

‘It’s helped myself when talking to Young People enabling me to see things from their point of view’. - Missing 
persons / Care Home Single Point of Contact (SPOC)(Police) 

 
‘I have held a staff meeting with the employees of the organisation and discussed the processes in which all staff 

must follow. The staff have been asked to refresh their own knowledge and have been given a copy of the 
safeguarding policy. During the staff meeting, we have discussed how to escalate any concerns if the staff 
do not feel management is escalating the concern, they know who to contact further. The senior staff were 
enrolled to attend the serious case review learning event, the feedback from the staff was very positive and 

they took away a lot from the training, which the seniors have team meetings and have discussed the 
importance of responding, recording and reporting concerns. -Youth provision, Voluntary Sector’. 

 
‘I have recently made a referral due to a disclosure made by a child, I arranged a meeting with the parent to 

discuss that a referral had been made. From the discussion, mum disclosed events which had been 
happening within the home. From this conversation, it opened the channel for conversation and what the 

wishes of the parents were for their children. Working with the family and constantly phoning social workers 
to see what services were being offered to the family, this has helped the family to seek support’. ‘I now 
believe the family is accessing early help services and how improved within their situation. This has only 

been affected due to the positive communication and relationship building, the parent is happy to talk to 
myself or the senior of the club if they have any concerns or issues they need to discuss. - Young Person 

Practitioner, Voluntary Sector’. 
 

‘I have reviewed Merseyside Army Cadet Force Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy and held a briefing 

morning to Permanent Support Staff.  I am more confident to ask questions to gain more information.  I no 

longer carryout any actions in isolation. 7-minute briefings are used at any safeguarding update and at my 

weekly meeting’.  – DSL, Merseyside Army Cadet Force  

 
Feedback from the SCR Learning Events were overwhelming and extremely positive: 
 

Just wanted to say that the SCR event today was fabulous – I can’t stop thinking about it.   
I appreciate how much work went into organising it and wanted to thank you.   

I think the handout is fabulous too – I love the Hear My Voice one in particular and  
I will be using it in work.   

Thank you (Sefton Independent Reviewing Officer) 
 

I thought the training was fantastic, very powerful and everyone  
I have seen since was talking about it. I definitely think it has made an impact with staff.  

(Sefton Council Manager) 
 

Training was amazing. 
Great session and so emotive 

Fantastic thought provoking production and so much more powerful than  
the usual power point training.  Well done. 

Very powerful, some staff were crying  
Best safeguarding training I’ve ever been on 

(comments by Sefton MASH staff)   
 
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



19 | P a g e  
 

Training was fantastically received 
All the posters were excellent with really powerful messages. 

Well done this event took significant preparation and planning.  Fantastic 
(Assistant Director, North West Borough Health NHS) 

 
The venue was welcoming and provided a relaxed atmosphere. 

The event did not apportion blame.  The actors brought the children’s stories  
to life in a such a powerful way.  This was an excellent way to reinforce learning. 

I was touched by all of the stories; each made me reflect on my own experiences and practice. 
The event gave everyone the space to do this in a supportive setting which did not feel  

pressured and did not stigmatise any particular agency. 
(Sefton Independent Reviewing Officer) 

 
Learning materials CLICK HERE  Special Edition Newsletters (July & December 2019) 
 
7 Minute Briefings Feedback 

 
‘The 7 minute briefings produced by Sefton LSCB are positively received 

by Sefton GP practices in order to share learning and discuss practice issues.’ 
(CCG) 

 
‘The level of communication from the LSCB, particularly the newsletters and 7-minute briefings 

is very positively received by the education sector in Sefton.’ 
(Sefton Primary & Secondary Headteachers) 

 
LSCB Training Programme 
Training Courses included below have been analysed to provide evidence of impact. The LSCB Learning and 
Development Officer post was vacant for a significant period of time and has caused significant disruption to 
this being implemented across all training. Learning aims and objectives have been reviewed to ensure 
professionals appreciate and understand the importance of: Confidence in practice is key, use Escalation if 
needed, be an advocate of the child, bring the child’s voice to the forefront, and for every professional to have 
a shared responsibility in their contributions in multi-agency meetings and in decisions making. Ongoing 
communication with the children’s workforce who have attended training is indicating progress is being made, 
however more evidence is needed to demonstrate this is making a difference to children and young people’s 
outcomes.  
 
We recognise that it is crucial that a cycle of improvement is used to review learning. There is evidence to 
suggest that this is developing with principals of honesty and reflection underpinning evaluation feedback 
from multi agency partners. This has provided opportunities to develop new learning materials e.g. SCR 
Learning events provided a pathway to engage with the workforce further and lead to the development of a 
suite of resources and learning materials including the development of a new course ‘Hear my Voice’ (child’s 
voice). 

 
Feedback includes: 
 

 ‘The training has allowed us to develop our safeguarding policies and procedures and ensure that 
our staff feel confident in handling safeguarding disclosures, feel confident to challenge and use 

professional curiosity. The voice of the child model allows us to explore any concerns/disclosures, in an 
attempt to understand the child’s lived experience and the impact to them and other family members. 
The training allowed us to share best practice and local trends/concerns with professionals from many 

different sectors, including health and probation – giving us an extra insight into how we can work multi-
agency to safeguarding and protect children.  We have developed new links with new organisations and 

professionals we can contact for advice and support’. 
(Further Education) 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

https://indd.adobe.com/view/27c3b568-3106-4a73-bb90-b4c90c7d2072
https://seftonlscb.org.uk/lscb/news/sefton-lscb-newsletters


20 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Designated Safeguarding Lead Training -Education  
The LSCB responds to the demands of the children’s workforce, impact of this is an increased offer to 
Designated Safeguarding Leads in Education settings, enabling professionals in this role to retain confidence 
and knowledge. This has contributed to many schools reaching a successful outcome at inspection 
 
Hear My Voice -Newly developed multi-agency training course 
This new course was in response to the lessons and recommendations of SCR activity and to reflect LSCB 
2019/20 priorities. The course was significantly over subscribed, LSCB are committed to facilitating this course 
in the future to meet the demand and requests made from across the whole partnership. Evaluation feedback 
from training activity included the following comments …… 

 
‘Bens Shoes’ linked to SCR was really powerful’. 

 North West Health Boroughs (NWHB), school nurse. 
 
‘Reinforced the importance of children’s voice, thinking how as a therapist we could support other agencies 

in how to do this or be used in direct work with clients and service users’  
(Children and Young People’s Therapist) 

 
‘I will change the way I make a referral, taking into account the voice of the child’. 

(Primary Headteacher) 
 
The plan for offering this training three times a year is on hold due to COVID.  
 
Overwhelming majority of attendees rated this course as excellent using descriptors such as ‘educational’, 
‘informative’, ‘thought provoking’, which provides the board with assurance that the course design and 
content is having an impact on participants and will have a positive impact on practice which will be 
monitored within the LSCB Learning and Development Subgroup.  

 
Further evidence of impact following attendance at LSCB training events is collated three months after 
course delivery. This is captured through a newly developed ‘Impact and Engagement’ proforma form which 
is shared across the partnership. Feedback on various training courses includes:  
 

‘…It was great training and I found it very useful, I’m keeping an eye out for more dates as I would like my 
whole safeguarding team to attend’. 

Hugh Baird College 
 

‘Since attending the training we discussed the content, including detail regarding ‘the voice of the child’, 
professional curiosity and escalation with our designated safeguarding team. This information was 
also cascaded within our fortnightly safeguarding group. The learning has been used to update our 

college staff training ….and will be used to update our policies and procedures’. 
Southport College and King George V College (KGV) 

 
‘We are currently redesigning our staff development to encompass some of the new learning, including 

advice from the recent serious case reviews and 7-minute briefings. This will include case studies and 
assessment to ensure learning has taken place’. 

 Southport College and King George V College (KGV) 
 

‘We are updating our policies and procedures to reflect this learning. We will continue to discuss the voice of 
the child, professional curiosity and escalation within our daily practice and within our formal 

safeguarding meetings. We will continue to work closely with our most vulnerable learners and 
families using these skills and seeking expert advice as needed. We will continue to make timely 

referrals, using the voice of the child model’.  
Southport College and King George V College (KGV)  

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



21 | P a g e  
 

 
 

‘How Serious is Serious’ Training 
How Serious is Serious was commissioned was funded by Merseyside Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) to 
promote confidence in the children’s workforce to enable them to raise the subject of suicide with children 
and young people that they were concerned about, in a calm and supportive manner. It came about as a 
consequence of Merseyside Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) experiencing a significant rise in the number 
of suicides of young people being reported. The rise reflected the increase in numbers nationally.  The SERIOUS 
materials, developed by Merseyside Youth Association, were compiled with the benefit of input from young 
people and parents bereaved through suicide. Due to the sensitive subject area and course content the training 
is delivered to only small numbers of staff and consequently remains oversubscribed.  
 
Those who have attended the training tell us:  
 

‘I feel more confident in helping children and families by asking direct questions and spotting the signs for 
self-harm and suicide’.  Health care professional, Alder Hey Children’s Hospital 

 
‘This training has enabled me to see where I need to make a change in policies. Secondary Headteacher 

 
‘I am more confident in my ability to respond appropriately to the difficult topic of suicide and distress’ 

Community Adolescent Service (CAS). 
 

‘I will be more direct in questions and will use strategies learnt today in my practice’ Associate Practitioner, 
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) or Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) Children’s 

Service, Alder Hey Children’s Hospital 
 

‘Will be open and ask direct questions. I now know how to respond’ Case manager, Community Restorative 
Centre (CRC). 

 
Public Health in Sefton have supported this area of work and have funded resource packs. This will continue as 
a priority piece of work with plans in place to expand the team of trained facilitators from within the LSCB 
training pool. 
 
KOOTH offers a safe and anonymous online counselling service that provides an emotional well-being platform 

to support children and young people with mental health concerns. Briefing booked in response to recent JTAI, 
which took place March 2020. This was the last training event before COVID lockdown and attendance 
reflected the growing move to social distancing. Analysis of feedback indicated further scope to offer this 
briefing in the future. Following the recent COVID pandemic it is yet to be realised how much this has impacted 
on the emotional health and well-being of families and what increased demand may arise as a result. This will 
need to be factored in when planning for future briefings. 
 
Child Exploitation Briefings  
Child Exploitation training is a priority for the LSCB. The delivery has been interrupted as a result of the 
pandemic. The aim remains to provide the local and national picture to support all professionals to identify, 
intervene and respond in safeguarding and protecting children at risk of exploitation.  
 
Analysis and Impact of LSCB Training attendance  
As stated, the analysis and scrutiny of the impact of training is taking shape. Early evidence indicates some 
impact is being made but more needs to be captured. This feedback from across the partnership provides an 
insight to some of its findings which will influence and shape future content and delivery and address gaps in 
attendance from partners. There has been an overwhelming demand for courses to be repeated which 
suggests the content of revised training and new developed courses is appropriate and effective in response 
to previous professional feedback.  Overall, engagement data suggests LSCB has made an impact with an 
increase in professionals attending LSCB training. 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



22 | P a g e  
 

The absence of a Learning and Development Officer for the first six months of the reporting period has had a 
substantial impact on the workforce experiencing a delay in receiving training. The LSCB is now in a much-
improved position with an increased training offer and a system in place to evidence the impact that training 
is having on practice to the benefit of our children and families. 
 
Quality, Evaluation and Impact on Practice 
LSCB Learning and Development Officer has prioritised and developed a process to monitor the quality and 
effectiveness of training initially through observation of engagement as the training is facilitated. Course 
content has been reviewed and revised to ensure all learners can fully engage, share best practice and find 
solutions e.g. existing case activity was reviewed and changed to focus on contextual safeguarding. Activity 
was changed to focus on the daily lived experience of a young person vulnerable to child exploitation. Agencies 
now must fully engage and find a solution to improving the outcomes of this young person and consider how 
their service can contribute to improvements to the child lived experience.  
 
Working Together to Safeguard Children training has been updated, each change has been tracked to show 
direction of travel and enable future reflection and to ensure there is future impact for the effectiveness of 
delivery. Neighbouring Local Authorities have expressed interest in the revised content and delivery of Sefton’s 
approach. 
 
LSCB Training Pool 
LSCB Training Pool has developed there is now wider representation from across the partnership and 
includes Children’s Social Care Principal Social Worker. Strengthening and developing relationships is a 
priority to ensure all partners have a shared responsibility in the delivery of the LSCB training programme. 
Extensive plans are needed to build on inspection findings across the partnership e.g. JTAI, changes in 
legislation, learning from multi agency audits. The LSCB Learning and Development Officer will continue to 
coordinate and ensure the implementation of the training programme is responsive to this and in line with 
future LSCB priorities.  
 
Through the training pool, training presentations/sessions are under development with Sefton Young 
Advisors which will be shared across the partnership to support the capture of the voices of children and 
young people. It is intended this presentation is shared widely to offer supportive challenge to the workforce 
to consider and review how they: 
 

• engage in practice with children and young people 

• to hear and respond to what they are telling them (directly and indirectly) about their lived 
experience and  

• Collectively explore how services can then be shaped to better respond to the needs of children and 
young people and result in better outcomes  
 

Challenges 
Impact is evident across Learning and Development activity. Although a robust plan is in place to support 
multi agency engagement across the partnership this will not correlate without longer term investment. 
Further risks are evident as the post of Learning and Development Officer is a temporary position for 18 
months.  
 
Moving Forward 
At the end of the reporting period 19/20 COVID-19 lockdown prompted a swift response to meet the needs of 
the Children’s workforce. A diverse programme of support was brought together to ensure professionals could 
have access to a wide range of online learning and resources. A programme of learning has been researched, 
developed and presented on the LSCB website. Online tools/resources for supporting ‘Parental Mental Health 
and Emotional Wellbeing’ have also been collated in response to SCR-Beatrice. 
 
It was essential the details of this was shared widely to ensure those who need it most could access it. Via the 
Training Pool and through communications details have been shared to support a varying level of need e.g. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



23 | P a g e  
 

professionals new to safeguarding, Designated Safeguarding Leads who may need further information to 
cascade to a team or for induction purposes.  
 
Unfortunately, several events are on hold due to COVID restrictions this includes, ‘Briefing on Listening to the 
Voice of Young Carers’ (Sefton Carers Venue), ‘Supporting Children and families facing substance misuse’ 
(Bootle Life Rooms), Professional Curiosity and Coercion (Marsh Lane Police Station) and briefings on ‘Child 
Exploitation’.  Other training is on hold but will be ready to deliver, this includes delivery of ‘Two Day Working 
Together to Safeguard Children’, ‘Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)’, Hear My Voice’, Rollout of ‘How Serious 
is Serious’ and ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children Forum’. 
 

 Independent Scrutineer Section Comments: 

 Sefton LSCB has set a very high standard in innovation around learning which is exemplified in the work 
undertaken in learning from case reviews.    
 
Linked to longer term funding there is a risk that training cannot be confidently planned post March 2020 
whilst the budget is unconfirmed.  The board benefits from a strong training pool that creates and commits 
to training required for the coming year and is responsive to the actions from the Learning & Development 
sub group.  The training pool, most of whom are frontline practitioners, has also been instrumental in the 
design of training materials and content that are reflective of the needs of the staff on the frontline of 
practice. 
 
There has been the recent introduction of a training impact evaluation process but that now needs to 
concentrate on capturing how professional training impacts on their service delivery to the benefit of 
children and families. 

 

10 Key Priorities for 2020/21 

 1. The partnership will ensure it holds the child’s lived experience at the centre of all that they do, and the 
impact and outcomes of multi-agency services and support are well understood. The board undertook a 
significant amount of work in 19/20 to raise the importance of hearing the voice of the child and this 
specific focus is now embedded in all performance feedback that is returned to the board. The 
development of this approach moves the partnership to now focus on how they evidence that the delivery 
of their services is predicated on their understanding of the child’s lived experiences. It is acknowledged 
across the partnership that by seeking out, and tailoring services to meet the individual needs of the child 
in response to their life experiences to date, there is an increased opportunity to successfully support 
children in the right way and improve their long- term life chances.  

2. To support the partnerships development of a multi-agency model of practice. The partnership fully 
acknowledges the absence of a working model of practice common to the whole partnership and are 
strongly committed to the introduction of a model of practice across the children’s workforce. This is under 
the governance of Sefton’s Children and Young People Partnership Board.  The LSCB have committed to 
support the implementation of a model of practice. 

3. We will continue to support staff development through the delivery of identified multi-agency training 
needs.  Training will remain a strong element of the board’s activity. Senior leaders across the partnership 
recognise and encourage the continuous development of their staff and the importance of delivering 
training from a multi-agency perspective. Our selected training courses for the coming year will be those 
that concentrate on the learning we have uncovered through board activities such as thematic auditing, 
case reviews, professional feedback and quality assurance highlights. 

4. A greater focus on specific groups of children where increased safeguarding vulnerabilities are identified. 

For example, Children Sexually Abused in the Family Environment. This work will complement the themed 

audit activity undertaken by the board throughout the year and take additional steps to deep dive into 

specific groups of children whose additional safeguarding vulnerabilities may be less understood. This will 

include case reviews, auditing, policy and procedure strengthening as well as staff training and 

development. The current board structure does not have a specific sub group dedicated to this area of 

practice and will require consideration. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



24 | P a g e  
 

 Independent Scrutineer Section Comments: 

 These priorities are broad but are well informed form the work undertaken throughout the year and build on 
improvements to date.   

 
 

11 Independent Scrutineer Conclusion: 

 At the time of writing this report, the world is experiencing a pandemic. It is important to record the 
significant collective efforts across the partnership to prioritise safeguarding children. In these challenging 
times, great leadership across our public services has never been more important. Practitioners look to 
leaders for support, guidance and direction. I have, through discussions with senior leaders, gained an 
appreciation of the tough challenges. I have heard of the continued commitment and hard work of key 
workers and community services. The response and adjustments have been exceptional, and I have been 
advised frontline workers continue to step up and adapt. Many practitioners speak of improved relationships, 
greater understanding of roles and improved information sharing. This must be retained and continually 
improved.  The partnership will look now  to a ‘resetting phase’ and no doubt there will be new effective 
ways of working, Whilst I am sure that agencies will retain a lot of the benefits, they have experienced over 
the last few months of virtual meetings (both single agency and multi-agency as appropriate) this can be an 
additional vehicle for engaging more with children and young people but is not a replacement, will always 
need face to face contact, to be seen and heard.  
 
The partnerships shared commitment to continuous improvement has been evidenced in the achievements 
highlighted in this report.   I recommend the key partners consider and acknowledge the impact of the work 
undertaken via these safeguarding arrangements and mitigate the risks of the current short-term funding 
arrangements. The question is how will you better achieve and strengthen the statutory responsibilities you 
hold for children without the key functions undertaken by the LSCB business team?   If an alternative is 
agreed, then a clear plan of delivery and business management to deliver on the priorities will be required 
this year. 
 
Across the partnership there are examples of how agencies are capturing the voice of children but there now 
needs to be a gathering of clear evidence that demonstrates that agencies are actively listening and where 
necessary, changing their practices in response. I recommend a shift in focus to making a judgement about 
what practice with children and families tells you about leadership. This looks less at strategic intent, and 
more at the quality and impact of leadership on the ground. 
 
In turn, the board concentrates on how the partnership involves service users but i recommend you 
strengthen your practice to engage directly with children to hear first-hand what their views are in relation to 
safeguarding locally. 
 
It is commendable the LSCB has been responsive to emerging issues as well as retaining their focus on core 
business. For example, the response and detailed work undertaken regarding child sexual abuse in the family 
environment.  
 
In light of the pandemic however, there will be a need to prioritise the preparation, resourcing, 
responsiveness and delivery of high standard safeguarding services for what is expected to be a significant 
surge in demand.  I recommend the partnership is ambitious but realistic in what can be achieved and 
suggest a focus on 2/3 key safeguarding issues relevant to the local communities.  It will be important to 
continue to foster the culture of high support and critical challenge as it is a necessary ingredient for 
partnerships to work better together to improve the lived experiences of children and families.   
 

 
 
 
 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



25 | P a g e  
 

Paula St Aubyn, the Independent Chair, undertook the independent review of the annual report and observations 
have been informed by regular meetings with the following; 
 

• Chief Executive of Sefton Council  
• Executive Director of Children’s Services and Education (Sefton Council) 
• Head of Children’s Social Care (Sefton Council) 
• Detective Chief Inspector Police (Merseyside Police) 
• Designated Nurse for Safeguarding (Southport & Formby / South Sefton CCG) 
• Service Manager, Quality Assurance Unit (Sefton Council) 
• Throughout the year the chair reports to the board on her scrutiny activity in order that it is an informed 

view and not a one-off activity 
 

Key strengths of the LSCB 
 

• The Safeguarding arrangements (retained the name LSCB) is a recognised and valued brand.  

• The LSCB business team are very responsive, they drive and consistently deliver on the core business. 

• The delivery of high-quality training valued by practitioners. 

• Education has been explicitly recognised as the 4th partner evidenced by active contributors in sub groups.  

• Learning from case reviews swiftly and innovatively disseminated. This has been valued by practitioners. The 
partnership is able to evidence practice improvements. 

• The partnership demonstrates a commitment to work together, to problem solve, scrutinise and be 
scrutinised.  

 

Areas for Development for the LSCB 
 

• Resolve longer term funding or agree alternative delivery and service management in order to deliver on the 
statutory core business and seek innovation. 

• Consider agreeing two/three specific areas of safeguarding to focus, drive and subsequently evidence the 
impact on front line practice, for example building on and embedding the contextual safeguarding 
approaches. 

•  A realistic work plan in order to measure progress and impact aligned to specific areas of work  

• Draw out more good practice and share, share, share. 

• Greater connectivity with Safeguarding Adult Board and the Community Safety Partnership   
 

Confirmation of Report share:  
 

• Presentation to Sefton LSCB Main Board for agreement 

• Circulation from Main Board members into their organisations 

• Public facing access store onto the Sefton LSCB website 

• Presentation of the Annual Report by the Independent Chair to Merseyside Police & Crime Commissioner 
(PCC), Corporate Parenting Board (CPB), Health & Well Being Board (HWBB), Sefton Council Chief Executive 
and Leader of Sefton Council.  

 

Signature of 3 Key Safeguarding Partners 
 

Name/Role Signature 

Vicky Buchanan 
Director of Children’s Social Care (Sefton Council)  
Jane Lunt 
Chief Nurse 
Southport & Formby CCG & South Sefton CCG  

Richie Jones 
Detective Chief Inspector 
Merseyside Police 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



01/09/2020

Dear Health and Wellbeing Board Member, 

Re: NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport and Formby CCG - Annual Reports 
2019/20 

Please see enclosed the Annual reports to the Board from Fiona Taylor, Chief Officer NHS 
South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport and Formby CCG. The report is for information 
purposes only and not for decision making. The report will be presented by Fiona Taylor at 
the meeting. 

Kind Regards, 

Eleanor Moulton. 

Integrated Social Care and Health Manager. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report and Accounts 

2019 – 2020 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



Contents  

 

Performance report 
 

 

 Performance overview 4 

 Performance analysis  17 

 Involving our residents 56 

 Equality and diversity 65 

 Working towards a sustainable NHS 76 

  
Accountability report 

 
 

Corporate governance report  

 Members report 79 

 Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities 84 

 Governance statement 86 

  
Remuneration and staff report  

 Remuneration report 113 

 Staff report 120 

  
Parliamentary accountability and audit report  128 

  
Accounts  
 

134 

  

Page 2 of 173
Page 48

Agenda Item 6



About our annual report and accounts 

We produce our annual report and accounts in line with national reporting requirements.  

These requirements are set out in a ‘manual’ that we follow, which asks us to report 

information relating to our work in three main sections as follows:  

 Performance report - including an overview, performance analysis and performance 
measures 

 Accountability report - including the members report, corporate governance report, 
annual governance statement, remuneration and staff report 

 Annual accounts 

  

Page 3 of 173
Page 49

Agenda Item 6



Performance overview 

Introduction

Welcome to our Annual Report and Accounts 2019-2020. This document is a guide to the 

work we have done over the last year, setting out our key achievements and the challenges 

we have faced along the way. 

We could not begin this introduction however, without recognising the unprecedented 

circumstances we find ourselves in at the end of this financial year. At the time of writing this, 

we are experiencing what are arguably the biggest changes in the way we live our personal 

and professional lives ever, due to the national measures put in place to stem the spread of 

coronavirus, COVID-19. We are focusing all our efforts on responding to the pandemic and

you will read more about this later in the report.  

Across the year we have been making good progress in improving the quality of the services

we commission, whilst at the same time ensuring that we are making the best use of the 

financial resources available to us.   

An important milestone for us was the development of our borough wide plan for the local 

NHS called Sefton2gether. We developed this plan together with our partners across health

and care and it has also been informed by your views - our residents. It responds to the 

requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan and builds on our earlier Shaping Sefton strategy 

that set out a vision for more integrated health and care, wrapped around you and your 

community. 

Our member GP practices are playing an increasingly central role in helping us to transform 

your care. This year practices have further strengthened their joint working arrangements 

through their membership of one of four primary care networks (PCNs) across the CCG, so 

together they can achieve more across these bigger areas. As a result, patients are

benefiting from new services including an innovative pharmacy ‘hub’ and access to social 

prescribing link workers through a collaboration with voluntary sector organisations.   

You will read more examples throughout this report of the work we are doing with our 

partners to achieve more for you. We are particularly proud of the work we did with Sefton 

Council to change the model of supported living for people with mental health conditions or a 

learning disability to an Individual Service Fund (ISF) model. This is where an individual or 

their representative decides how to spend their personal budget to better meet their 

assessed care and support needs, improving their experience of these services. The pilot

scheme was shortlisted for the prestigious Local Government Award in 2020. 

Finally, we understand all too well the great strain coronavirus has placed on all our lives, 

and we would like to praise our colleagues across health and care in Sefton for their tireless

work and to you, our residents for the support and patience you have shown your local NHS. 

In particular, we would like to thank you for playing your part in helping to respond to COVID-

19 and for making changes to the way your live your lives to help protect us all. 

Dr Rob Caudwell Fiona Taylor

Chair Chief officer 

Page 4 of 173
Page 50

Agenda Item 6



Purpose of this performance overview 

The performance overview section of this report highlights our approach and achievements 

during the financial year 2019-2020.  

It gives a snapshot of who we are, what we do, the challenges we have faced and what we 

have done as a result. 

  

Page 5 of 173
Page 51

Agenda Item 6



Our journey in 2019-2020 

We made some good progress as we journeyed through 2019-2020 during an increasingly 

demanding period for the NHS nationally and locally.  

Here is a roadmap of some of the significant achievements and challenges from our journey 

in 2019-2020 that you will read more about later in this report. 

April 2019 

We have ‘full delegation’ status from 1 April, taking on responsibility for the commissioning of 

general practice medical services from NHS England and Improvement.  

The third phase of our review of local health policies begins with Sefton residents invited to 

give views on policies including insulin pumps and continuous glucose monitoring devices.  

May 2019 

International Nurses Day gave us the opportunity to celebrate the importance of nursing and 

support the ‘We are the NHS campaign’, encouraging more people to join the profession.   

We gave our support to the ‘Let’s talk about dementia’ campaign which encourages people 

to help improve the lives of those affected by dementia. 

June 2019 

Our ‘Diabetes and You’ and ‘Diabetes and More’ education programmes gain national 

accreditation from QISMET as we were supporting National Diabetes Week. 

With partners we launch a rapid response plan to the Sefton re-inspection of systems and 

services for children and young people with special educational needs and disability (SEND). 

July 2019 

Trans Health Sefton was named a winner in this year’s Healthcare Transformation Awards 

2019, which recognise the very best in innovation and improvement across the NHS. 

With Sefton Council we launched Kooth, an online counselling and emotional wellbeing 

platform for children and young people. 

August 2019 

Amidst a challenging year, we retain our ‘requires improvement’ rating in the NHS England 

annual assessment of our performance. 

We rank amongst some of the best performing CCGs in key areas including talking 

therapies, dementia diagnosis, patient experience of GP services and public involvement. 

September 2019 

The first ever national World Patient Safety Day gave us a great opportunity to highlight and 

celebrate the great work that we’re doing to improve the safety of patients. 

Our ‘Big Chat 11’ combines our Annual General Meeting to update residents on our work 

and invite their views about our future developments. 

Page 6 of 173
Page 52

Agenda Item 6



October 2019 

We call for resident’s views to help finalise our 5 year strategy, Sefton2gether that responds 

to the NHS Long Term plan and works alongside Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Our innovative ‘pharmacy hub’ is rolled out following a successful three month pilot, 

providing GP practices, their patients and community pharmacies with support.  

November 2019 

‘Self-Care Week’ was our opportunity to launch a series of short videos showcasing some of 

the free support available to Sefton residents to improve their health and wellbeing. 

We encourage residents to get involved with their local NHS by joining their GP practice’s 

patient group, holding an event with Healthwatch Sefton for people to find out more.  

December 2019 

Our Christmas campaign reminds people of the range of local services that can help them 

should they become ill over the holiday period. 

We encourage our residents to share views on a number of involvement exercises such as 

local SEND services, regional hospital based eye care and the national cancer survey. 

 January 2020 

The development of our 5 year plan, Sefton 2gether is completed and work is ongoing with 

Sefton Council and other partners to progress our combined vision for health and care. 

Our work with Sefton Council on Supported Living Services is judged a finalist in the Health 

and Social Care category of the 2019 Local Government Association Awards. 

February 2020 

Our governing body begins to consider whether the CCG may come together in a formal 

merger with counterparts in Sefton, Liverpool and Knowsley.  

We support the CQC’s #DeclareYourCare campaign, encouraging people with a learning 

disability their family, carers and advocates to feedback on their experience of healthcare. 

March 2020  

We remind residents that all GP practices in the borough are fully linked up with the NHS 

App, so they can book and manage appointments, order repeat prescriptions and more. 

Our response to the coronavirus pandemic rapidly gathers pace, as national guidance on 

social distancing is put in place to stem the spread of COVID-19.  

  

  

Page 7 of 173
Page 53

Agenda Item 6



Who we are and what we do  

We are NHS Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and we have 

been responsible for planning and buying – or ‘commissioning’ – nearly all local health 

services since 1 April 2013. In 2019-2020 we had a budget of £213 million to spend on 

commissioning the following health services for our 125,000 residents:  

 Community based services, such as district nursing and blood testing  

 Hospital care, including routine operations, outpatient clinics, maternity and accident 

and emergency services  

 GP out of hours services, giving people access to a doctor when their surgery is 

closed in the evenings, weekends and bank holidays  

 Nearly all mental health services  

Our CCG is a membership organisation made up of doctors, nurses, lay representatives and 

other health professionals. They represent all 19 local doctor’s surgeries. We support 

practices to be actively involved in the work of the CCG. Much of this work is carried out in 

‘localities’, covering four geographical areas, so practices can really focus on addressing the 

health needs of their individual communities .  

A Governing Body of elected GPs, practice staff, lay representatives and other professionals 

makes decisions about our CCG on behalf of the wider membership. Whilst we support 

people’s right to choose where they are treated, the majority of the services we 

commissioned in 2019-2020 were commissioned from the following providers:  

 Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust – where the majority of our residents 

receive any general hospital care they may need  

 Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust – our provider for the majority of community 

services  

 Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust – providing a small number of community 

services in addition to many of the mental health services we commission  

 North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust – providers of patient transport services 

as well as its network of emergency response vehicles  

 Other NHS organisations – including Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust, Liverpool Women’s NHS Foundation Trust, Alder Hey Children’s NHS 

Foundation Trust, The Walton Centre and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust  

 Community and voluntary sector organisations – like Sefton Carers Centre and the 

Alzheimer’s Society  

 Independent and private sector providers – including Go To Doc that is led by 

doctors and provides our GP out of hours service  

 Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit – which provides many of our 

administrative and operational functions like procurement and human resources  

So we can make the right commissioning decisions for our patients’ needs, we continually 

review and monitor local services to make sure they meet the standards and quality we 

expect. Alongside this, we routinely assess all the information and medical evidence we 

have about current health and health services in Southport and Formby, to inform what more 

we need to do.  

Page 8 of 173
Page 54

Agenda Item 6



Our strategic approach to commissioning services is set out in our new strategy that was 

developed during 2019-2020, Sefton2gether. A number of other CCG and partnership plans, 

strategies and targets inform our work too. This includes the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA) and Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Living Well in Sefton, 

which we co-produced with Sefton Council during 2019-2020. We also have a joint strategy 

for integration with the council called ‘Making Integration Happen’1.  

Our plans also have to meet a number of nationally set standards and requirements like the 

NHS planning and contracting guidance, the NHS Long Term Plan, Oversight Framework for 

CCGs and the NHS Constitution2, which also sets out the legal rights of our patients’ and 

staff and what is expected from them in return – so we can all get the best from the NHS and 

the resources it has at its disposal.  

We have an annual operational plan, called ‘Highway to Health’ in 2019-2020, produced 

jointly with NHS South Sefton CCG and which explains the work we are doing towards our 

Sefton2gether strategy.  

Our residents also play an important role in helping us to shape our work and oversee 

services, and we involve them in our work in a number of different ways – from routinely 

gaining their views and experiences, to inviting representatives to join some of our most 

important groups and committees.  

You will read more about all these different aspects of our work throughout this report and 

you will also find a range of further information on our website: 

www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk  

  

                                                           
1 Find all of these on Sefton Council website - https://www.sefton.gov.uk/17872 
2 NHS Constitution - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england 

Page 9 of 173
Page 55

Agenda Item 6



Our local challenges  

The NHS continues to face real challenges across all sectors including funding constraints, 

increased service demand, and workforce pressures. These national challenges are 

mirrored in Southport and Formby. 

The continued focus in 2019-20 is on ensuring continued quality of services while amongst 

these mounting challenges. 

In addition to these challenges, Southport and Formby has a number of environmental and 

social elements that need to be factored in when planning and commissioning health 

services for the population. 

These include the following: 

 The demographic makeup of our population shows a higher proportion of residents 

65 years and over, approximately 26%, compared with a national rate of closer to 

18%. Projections over the next 10 years indicate this age group will increase by close 

to 20%. 

 Whilst our residents aged 85 years and over is our smallest age group, the growth 

over the next 10 years is projected to exceed 18%. 

 Our residents live in economically diverse communities, with areas of affluence and 

pockets of deprivation  

 The areas of highest income deprivation affecting older people are mainly 

concentrated in central Southport.  

 

Although health is improving in a number of areas there remains unacceptable inequalities in 

health in different parts of the borough and these present clear areas for improvement: 

 Although life expectancy overall is close to the national levels unacceptable variation 

still exists within the least affluent areas.   

 Levels of long term health conditions are much higher than the national average 

especially cardiovascular related diseases. Other factors such as obesity, respiratory 

diseases and mental health disorders are higher in Sefton than nationally along with 

Dementia. 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) supports the strategic development and 

service planning by examining health and social variations and inequalities that exist within 

Sefton. The information outlined in the JSNA supports commissioning plans and joint 

working with our health and social care partners. This is done in a number of ways such as 

the Health and Wellbeing Board for Sefton.  

You can find out more about local health and wellbeing from Sefton’s JSNA3 , Sefton Public 

Health Annual Report and RightCare Health Inequalities data pack4 for Southport and 

Formby. 

 

 
                                                           
3 Sefton JSNA - https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488605/jsna-highlight-report-2018.pdf  
4 NHS Rightcare Equality and Health Inequalities pack - https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-nw-southport_and_formby-ccg-dec18.pdf  

Page 10 of 173
Page 56

Agenda Item 6



Our strategy for health, care and wellbeing  

The CCG’s strategy has been guided by the NHS England Long Term Plan.  Building on the 

2014 original Shaping Sefton Strategy and working in a partnership approach the new five 

year plan, Sefton2gether has been agreed.  The plan looks at the Sefton requirements and 

has been developed by the NHS, Sefton Council, the voluntary, community and faith (VCF) 

sector and the people of Sefton.  It underpins elements of the Sefton Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy and our aim is to continually improve health and wellbeing for all in Sefton. 

The ambitions and priorities will be implemented over the next five years and importantly this 

plan is a ‘system’ based plan for the whole of Sefton.  A lot of work has been carried out, 

especially in the last 12 months, by the Sefton Health and Care Transformation Partnership.  

We agree we cannot “jointly” deliver everything together. However, we are committed to 

working closely wherever possible to link up where our ambitions align. This will all be 

carried out under the umbrella of Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy and working within 

the finances available. 

We also aim to cut delays, improve the quality of care, bring care closer to everyone’s 

homes and reduce both A&E attendance and hospital admissions. 

In line with the ambitions of the national NHS Long Term Plan, we want to refocus our efforts 

and increase our investment in prevention rather than cure – this represents a significant 

change in the way we have prioritised our resources in the past. 

We also know, from developing this plan with our partners and the public, we will not be able 

to change everything within five years. Some of the foundations we are building on will still 

take many more years to show their results. Delivering greater health and care results can 

take generations but that will not stop us planning and working now to make a positive 

change for the future.  This includes things like increasing vaccination and immunisation 

rates as well as identifying when we can intervene earlier to stop or reduce ill health getting 

worse. This will help people live longer, healthier lives and reduce the need for traditional 

medical services in the future.  By encouraging people to live a healthier lifestyle; such as 

eating and drinking more healthily, taking more exercise and not smoking, will hopefully not 

have to rely on health and care services as much as people go through life. 

We also want to help address some of the structural / wider determinants of health, to see 

how best we can work together with partners on things like poverty, housing, education, 

transport, skills, and employment.  This includes looking at “social value”; which describes 

the social benefits achieved from public services. It considers more than just people’s wages 

and income and includes things like wellbeing, health, inclusion and many other benefits of 

being employed and active in the community. 

There are though some stark health and care issues in Sefton which need to be addressed 

for the benefit of everyone.  We need to prevent and reduce existing conditions like diabetes, 

heart disease, cancer and mental health conditions across all ages; reduce the time people 

wait for surgery and urgent care and provide value for money to taxpayers. We can do this 

by thinking more strategically about our future commissioning arrangements with all 

providers, including the VCF sector. 

 

Page 11 of 173
Page 57

Agenda Item 6



We are all committed to delivering the key aims of this strategy for Sefton and helping 

people start well, live well, age well, die well.  We want to ensure that health and care across 

Sefton considers the entire life-cycle so that we can help and support whether a new born 

baby or coming towards the end of life. 

There will be one implementation plan combining the joint actions of the NHS and Council 

from the Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Children’s and Young People Plan and 

this Plan to ensure consistent messaging around local strategic aims and priorities. 

Working with partners across the region this plan also contributes to the Cheshire and 

Mersey Health & Care Partnership’s NHS Five Year Plan.  There are now four agreed 

priorities within the Cheshire and Merseyside Programme, these are: 

 CVD Disease: Zero Stroke – reinforcing the importance of prevention, given that 
diseases of the circulatory system are the second biggest killer in Sefton. 

 Mental Health and Wellbeing: Zero Suicide – mental health is a priority across the life-
course in Sefton. The suicide rate exceeds the national average (and doubled in the 
period to 2016/17). Hospital admissions for self-harm are also rising 

 No more harm from alcohol – Sefton is an outlier for alcohol admissions and mortality. 
Drinking too much can have numerous impacts on health as well as raising the chances 
of other related health issues, such as violence, or increased risk of having an accident 

 No more harm from violence – this work will focus on reducing violence from a Public 
Health and behavioural science perspective.  Building on work from the UK and abroad, 
it is anticipated that a big difference can be made to people’s quality of life if violence can 
be reduced. It will also have an impact on hospital admissions and the other burdens on 
public services 
 

Our ambitions 

A healthy balance 

There is a 12-year difference between the life expectancy in the poorest parts of Sefton 

compared to the richest parts.  Our goal is to reduce that gap through targeted advice, 

information and support with health care when it is needed, helping people to live longer. 

Great expectations 

We want to make sure that people are able to live their best life by helping them choose to 

live longer, healthier.  We want to help everyone increase the amount of years they live free 

from any major health conditions. 

Early intervention 

If people need help, the sooner we step in the better it is. That’s why we are promoting early 

intervention through our health care system, making sure that any worries that people have 

are seen to as quickly as possible before they turn into major problems. 

Prevention 

Prevention and intervention go hand in hand.  This is why we are encouraging people to stay 

healthy and active to prevent health and wellbeing problems later on in life. 

 

 

Page 12 of 173
Page 58

Agenda Item 6



 

Empowering self-care 

Helping people to care for themselves is very important to us. Self-care and lifestyle 

changes; such as not smoking, doing more exercise and eating and drinking healthily can 

make a big difference to everyone – from weight loss to managing existing mental health 

conditions.  This also includes helping those people with long term conditions, eg. diabetes, 

or recovering from cancer to maintain as healthy a life as possible. After all, real change can 

only come from within. 

Access to high quality services 

We want to make sure that everyone’s health and care systems are the best that they can 

be, meet required quality standards and are located where people need them most. We are 

constantly looking for new ways to improve and meet everyone’s needs efficiently and 

effectively. 

Planning ahead 

There are long-term NHS goals that we have to meet to make sure that everyone are well 

looked after. These goals include; reducing waiting times, supporting maternity services, 

reducing health inequalities and tackling diabetes, improving outcomes from cancer and 

supporting people with mental health problems at a local and national level. 

Sustainability 

We currently spend more money than we get. We want our health and care system to be 

financially sound. We have to understand how we can manage our money in a way that 

meets all of everyone’s needs. We also want to be able to maintain the high quality of care 

available, no matter what happens politically and economically.  Because of this we have to 

make sure that we are prepared for all circumstances and have the services in place when 

and where they are most effective. 

Social value 

We want the NHS and other public sectors to be of value to the local population. We want to 

create a service that is trusted, an employer who is fair and loyal and a pillar that the 

community can depend on. We aim to do this through constant communication and 

transparency about what we are doing and why.  This includes the five main things which 

make the NHS an “Anchor Institution”: 

• Purchasing more locally and for social benefit 

• Using buildings and spaces to support communities 

• Widening access to quality work 

• Working more closely with local partners 

• Reducing its environmental impact 

 

 

Page 13 of 173
Page 59

Agenda Item 6



Working together 

We aim to make the most of the resources we have available, both within the NHS and 

across our partners.  We want to ensure we all focus on “whole system delivery” through 

working together and being as efficient as possible. The overall approach is guided by the 

need to address the health issues within Sefton, which mean that people are not living as 

long or as healthily as they could. 

Page 14 of 173
Page 60

Agenda Item 6



Delivering our strategy in partnership  

You will read below about some of our most important organisational partners that we are 

involving in our work. These organisations are responsible for different aspects of local 

health and care services, which are described below. They share our vision for more joined 

up and sustainable health and care services that better meet the health needs of our 

residents. 

NHS England and Improvement  

Together with NHS England and Improvement (NHSE/I), we work to ensure health services 

for Southport and Formby residents meet national and local standards. This has been the 

first year since we took on full responsibility for the commissioning of general medical 

practice services from NHSE/I, known as ‘full delegation’.  

During 2019-2020, the Cheshire and Merseyside Area Team continued to oversee standards 

and hold the contracts for dentists, pharmacists and opticians, as well as being responsible 

for some screening and immunisation programmes. Other local teams commission some 

additional services our residents may need from time to time, such as specialist, prison and 

armed forces healthcare. 

Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board 

This partnership board steers much of the work we do together with Sefton Council. Our 

chair and chief officer are core members of this committee, which brings us together with 

others who have a lead responsibility for health and social care in the borough. This includes 

local councillors, council officers, NHS providers, NHS England, representatives of the 

community voluntary and faith sector and Healthwatch Sefton. 

Together, we have devised a Sefton wide strategy for health and wellbeing5. This was based 

on our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) that brings together all the information we 

have about current services, to highlight where we need to do more in the future. This is 

particularly important as we continue to work together on addressing the inequalities in 

health that exist in different parts of the borough. Our new 5 year strategy, Sefton2gether will 

support the delivery of our joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and you will find examples of 

our joint work elsewhere in this annual report.    

Sefton Council 

We work closely with our council commissioning colleagues across many areas including 

social care, mental health and children’s services. Our jointly agreed ‘Making it Happen’ 

strategy describes our commitment and work towards further integration, which we believe 

will have great benefits for our residents by making their health and social care more 

seamless and effective. A well-established Integrated Commissioning Group takes a lead on 

delivering this strategy.  This group is also looking at where we can further pool our 

resources towards achieving better outcomes for our patients. This is part of our work 

around the Better Care Fund programme6. 

                                                           
5 Find Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy here -  
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s94293/Enc.%201%20for%20The%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing
%20Strategy%202020-2025.pdf 
6 https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/  

Page 15 of 173
Page 61

Agenda Item 6



The council is responsible for promoting and protecting good health across Sefton. It works 

closely with the national body, Public Health England to do this in partnership with NHS 

England and ourselves. This helps to steer our work to reduce health inequalities in line with 

the aims of our joint health and wellbeing strategy. 

The local authority also holds us to account through its overview and scrutiny functions. Our 

chief officer is a regular attendee of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) for Adult 

Social Care and Health and the OSC for Children, Young People and Safeguarding to 

update councillors of key work programmes.  

Other clinical commissioning groups 

We work with neighbouring clinical commissioning groups to plan and buy services when 

there is a benefit for Southport and Formby residents, or where services are provided across 

a wider geographical area, like hospital care. We share a management team with 

neighbouring NHS South Sefton CCG as well as employing staff dedicated solely to do our 

work. This means we are able to maintain efficient running costs and share good practice 

where it offers benefits to our local residents. It also helps us to work more effectively with 

Sefton Council and the Health and Wellbeing Board on borough wide programmes and 

initiatives. This is particularly important when we are addressing the variations in health that 

exist in different parts of Sefton, so that no one community is disadvantaged and 

improvements are experienced by all.  

Provider organisations 

The majority of services we commission are from other NHS organisations like hospital and 

community services trusts. In addition, we also commission some services from the 

voluntary, community and faith sector and private providers. We closely monitor the work of 

all our providers to ensure their services meet the high standards of quality we expect for our 

patients. We also involve our providers in planning how we might improve care in the future, 

and a number of these organisations are represented on some of our most important 

working groups. 

Healthwatch Sefton 

Healthwatch Sefton gathers and represents the views of people living in the borough. Due to 

its independence, Healthwatch can challenge those who provide services but it can also 

work in partnership with us and other statutory bodies to improve frontline health and social 

care. The chair of Healthwatch Sefton is a co-opted member of our Governing Body. The 

organisation also has representation on some of our other committees and working groups, 

including our Engagement and Patient Experience Group. 

 

  

Page 16 of 173
Page 62

Agenda Item 6



Performance analysis 

To make sure we fulfil all our duties, our performance is regularly measured, monitored and 

scrutinised. This happens in a number of different ways - through our internal governance 

structures and processes as described elsewhere in this report, as well as being regularly 

assessed by national regulatory bodies such as NHS England & Improvement. 

There are also a number of documents that set out targets for different areas of our work. 

This includes the pledges contained in the NHS Constitution, the NHS Outcomes 

Framework, Better Care Fund and the CCG Oversight Framework (previously the 

Improvement & Assessment Framework). Aligned to this are also specific CCG plans set out 

in the Operational Plans for CCGs. 

Detailed information about our performance during the year, including any significant issues 

or achievements can be found in our integrated performance reports, which are published on 

our website7 in addition to being presented to our Governing Body. 

  

                                                           
7 View integrated performance reports here - https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/how-
well-our-services-perform/  

Page 17 of 173
Page 63

Agenda Item 6



Performance summary  

Oversight Framework  

In April 2019 the new NHS Oversight Framework (NHS OF) replaced the Improvement and 

Assessment Framework (IAF) and outlines the joint approach NHS England and NHS 

Improvement will take to oversee organisational performance and identify where 

commissioners and providers may need support.  

In the latest annual improvement and assessment framework (IAF - now known as the 

Oversight Framework as of April 2019), results (2018-2019) NHS Southport and Formby 

CCG were rated as ‘requires improvement’ by NHS England. The assessment takes into 

consideration all 58 performance indicators across the four domains of better health, better 

care, sustainability and leadership. 

Overall, our rating highlighted progress and on-going challenges, whilst continuing to reflect 

the increasingly testing environment the organisation is operating in. Continuing to maintain 

the rating of ‘requires improvement’ during such a difficult year reflects the hard work we 

have carried out and the improvements we have made.  

The information release for Quarter 2 2019-2020 for NHS Oversight Framework (NHS OF) 

indicates areas where performance has improved and also where continued improvement is 

still required.  These are summarised below: 

Key areas of improvement 

Quality of Care & Outcomes: 

 People with diabetes diagnosed less than a year who attend a structured education 

course (103b); 

Performance has improved in 2017-18 (2016 cohort) and is now in the middle 

grouping of performance rather than the lower end. 

 Provision of high-quality care: hospital (121a); 

Performance has improved and is now ranked in the middle range of performance for 

Q1 19/20. 

 One-year survival from all cancers (122c); 

 Performance continues to increase year on year and this was recognised by NHS 

England and Improvement in its assessment feedback. 

 People with a first episode of psychosis starting treatment within 2 weeks (123c); 

Performance has been recognised in by NHS England and Improvement for 

continued improvement over the past 3 months. 

 Dementia care planning and post diagnostic support (126b); 

The CCG has been recognised for its continued improving performance against this 

measure in 2018/19. The CCG is ranked 7th best nationally. 

Preventing Ill Health & Reducing Inequalities: 

 Antimicrobial Resistance: appropriate prescribing of broad-spectrum antibiotics in 

primary care (107b); 

Performance has steadily improved over the past 4 months and the CCG is now 

reporting below the 10% maximum level of antibiotic prescribing. 

Page 18 of 173
Page 64

Agenda Item 6



New Service Models: 

 Delayed transfers of care per 100,000 population (127e); 

The CCG has improved, moving into the middle grouping of performance rather than 

the lower performing end in November 2019 and improving further in December 

2019. 

 Population use of hospital beds following emergency admission (127f); 

Performance has improved and is now in the mid-range performance for Q2 19/20, 

below the England average. 

Leadership & Workforce: 

 Compliance with statutory guidance on patient and public participation in 

commissioning health care (166a); 

The CCG was assessed as improving from green in 2017-2018 to green star in  

2018-2019 against this measure, which focuses on how well local residents are 

engaged in the work of the organisation. This is the highest possible rating for this 

performance measure. 

The assessment is based on performance data for 2018-2019 and in addition to the above 

we are cited as being Outstanding for Dementia care and Good for Cancer and Mental 

Health performance. 

Key areas for improvement 

Quality of Care & Outcomes: 

 Cancers diagnosed at an early stage (122a); 

Considerable work has been carried out to understand and improve early diagnosis 

of cancers within the area with an understanding that the make-up of the population, 

more mature aged and with multiple co-morbidities, can affect early presentation of 

symptoms. Cancer remains one of the CCGs areas of focus with work already 

underway showing results such as the high levels of 1-year survival rates, 5th best in 

the country. 

 IAPT Recovery (123a); 

Recovery of patients entering the service is something that has been discussed and 

investigated with the current provider and on review a number of obstacles have 

been identified. Severity of patients entering the services have been high as well as 

internal waiting times are two specific areas that have been picked up and will be 

addressed in the forthcoming procurement. 

 IAPT Access rate (123b); 

A number of factors, such as vacancies, long-term staff illness and the access 

process, have affected the service ability to see as many patients. As noted with 

recovery, the forthcoming procurement of the service will improve access. 

 Ensuring the quality of mental health data submitted to NHS Digital is robust (DQMI) 

(123j); 

The CCG continues to work closely with the Mental Health service providers to 

ensure high quality information is flowing to the correct sources. Among the providers 

are a number of 3rd sector organisations which have needed more guidance on the 

matter but initial issues are in the process of being resolved. 

 Women’s experience of maternity services (125b); 

Page 19 of 173
Page 65

Agenda Item 6



The pressures faced across all maternity services in the area linked to staffing and 

provision has affected patient experience. Work is being progressed looking at the 

service provision for the CCG so as to ensure high quality and excellent experience 

for patients. 

 Women’s choices of maternity services (125c); 

As noted above specific staffing issues not only affected experience but also patient 

choice. This has now been addressed by the Hospital Trust and the service is part of 

the wider review for maternity services. 

 

Preventing Ill Health & Reducing Inequalities: 

 Injuries from falls in people aged 65 and over (104a); 

The make-up of the Southport & Formby population means that a larger proportion of 

the residents are at risk of failing. This is due to higher levels of dementia and care 

home residents and unfortunately falls related to this cohort of resident often requires 

a hospital stay. Not only are these residents at a higher risk of failing but are much 

harder to establish preventative measures. Although the CCG does have a higher 

level of risk in this area it also means we are able to work closely with our multiple 

care providers to establish a collaborative working approach to ensure high levels of 

safety in this regard. 

 Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care (ACS) (106a); 

As noted in the above narrative the larger proportion of 65 year old residents and 

above often means more multiple comorbidities and therefore higher levels of 

unplanned admissions to hospital. The CCGs population has a higher level of 

residents living with frailty syndrome with a high number of these residents being 

admitted with ambulatory care sensitive conditions. Conditions such as respiratory 

problems, muscular skeletal issues, infectious diseases, urinary tract infections, 

dehydration and cellulitis – all associated with frailty syndrome. 

Again the CCG in collaboration with multiple care providers design specific services 

for this population to ensure high quality care.  

 Antimicrobial Resistance: appropriate prescribing of antibiotics in primary care 

(107a); 

Applying national antimicrobial guidance locally remains a challenge when local 

resistance patterns/clinician concerns are taken into account. Regular practice audits 

have taken place to better understand the issue. These audits have found an 

increase in the number of multiple infections within patients requiring broad spectrum 

antibiotics. The CCG and practices continue to monitor and apply national guidance 

as best as possible under the local circumstances.  

New Service Models: 

 Emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive conditions (127b); 

The CCG has seen an increase in short stay admissions to hospital for patients with 

long term chronic conditions. These conditions can be managed well at home and 

with good links to primary care and this is something the CCG and Primary Care 

Networks (PCNs) are working collaboratively on to ensure patients can manage 

these conditions well. As well as this the impact of changes to the main hospitals 

urgent care pathways has resulted in more short stay admissions for these patients, 

the outcome of this has shown an increase in numbers but this does not necessarily 

translate to actual patient increases. 

Page 20 of 173
Page 66

Agenda Item 6



Leadership & Workforce: 

 Staff engagement index(163a); 

The CCG is always looking for ways to gain greater staff engagement and monitors 

the variation across local and national care providers to see where improvements 

can be made. The variation across this metric nationally is only very small and 

compared to other local care providers the CCG has made large strides. 

You can read more about the IAF process on NHS England’s website8. More about our 

results can also be found in our monthly integrated performance reports9. 

Better Care Fund performance  

Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board submits our Better Care Fund (BCF)10 programme plan 

which sets out areas of work between Sefton Council and ourselves including funding 

contributions, scheme level spending plans and national metrics. Quarterly performance 

monitoring returns are submitted to NHS England on behalf of the Sefton Health and 

Wellbeing Board. Progress against our BCF plan is reported in our monthly integrated 

performance report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                           
8 NHS England IAF framework - https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/ccg-assess/  
9 View integrated performance reports here - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/how-well-our-
services-perform/ 
10 About the Better Care Fund https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/  

Page 21 of 173
Page 67

Agenda Item 6



Southport & Formby CCG Summary Performance Table 

The following table shows overall performance for April 2019 – March 2020, with much 

relating to the work of our providers. Where providers fall short of expectations, we work with 

them to support improvement and this sometimes includes contractual measures to ensure 

our services meet the best possible standards.  

NHS Constitution Indicators CCG 
Main 

Provider 

A&E 4 Hour Waits (All Types)   SORM 

Cancer 2 Week GP Referral   SORM 

RTT 18 Week Incomplete Pathway   SORM 

Other Key Targets CCG 
Main 

Provider 

A&E 4 Hour Waits (Type 1)   SORM 

Cancer 14 Day Breast Symptom     

Cancer 31 Day First Treatment   SORM 

Cancer 31 Day Subsequent - Drug   SORM 

Cancer 31 Day Subsequent - Surgery   SORM 

Cancer 31 Day Subsequent - Radiotherapy   SORM 

Cancer 62 Day Standard   SORM 

Cancer 62 Day Screening   SORM 

Cancer 62 Day Consultant Upgrade   SORM 
Children & Young people eating disorders routine ref - 4 weeks 
#     

Children & Young people eating disorders urgent ref- 1 week #     

Dementia Diagnosis Rate     

Diagnostic Test Waiting Time   SORM 

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP)     

HCAI - C.Diff   SORM 

HCAI – MRSA   SORM 

HCAI - E Coli     

IAPT Access - Roll Out     

IAPT - Recovery Rate     

Mental Health Measure - CPA     

Mixed Sex Accommodation   SORM 

NHS E-Referral Service Utilisation     

Personal Health Budgets     

RTT 52+ week waiters   SORM 

Stroke 90% time on stroke unit   SORM 

Stroke who experience TIA   SORM 

 

*SORM – Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust 

# Children’s services are provided through Alder Hey Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation 

Trust  

Page 22 of 173
Page 68

Agenda Item 6



What we are doing to address performance 

This section was written during the initial stages of the Covid-19 pandemic when the full 

impact on NHS services was unclear. It is now clear that there has been a nationwide impact 

on constitutional performance with performance having deteriorated in a number of areas in 

quarter one of 2020/21. NHS Southport and Formby CCG will be working together with its 

partners to address performance issues and to restore services in line with its Covid-19 

recovery plans. This work will include retaining improvements that have been observed in 

areas such as increased use of digital technologies to deliver services in different ways. It is 

important to acknowledge, however, that returning performance to pre Covid-19 levels will 

remain a challenge in some areas throughout 2020/21. 

Accident and emergency services  

Significant pressures remain on the urgent care system across the whole health economy 

with Southport and Formby also facing issues. As a result the CCG and its main provider, 

Southport & Ormskirk Trust, has failed to achieve the national 95% target. Despite these 

challenges performance for the CCG has remained steady at approximately 85% and in the 

latest month the Trust achieved its improvement trajectory target. We are working with all 

partners through the A&E Delivery Board, which brings us together with providers and other 

commissioners from across health and social care to improve performance against this 

target and ensure patient safety. 

Cancer 

Performance across all of the cancer metrics in 2019/20 has been challenging and figures 

have varied throughout. Breast services at Aintree Trust in the latter part of 2018/19 and the 

beginning of 2019/20 struggled with capacity and as such poor performance for two week 

wait pathways were affected. Improvements in this area have led to greater levels of 

performance and a more stable service which is expected to continue into 2020/21. 

Cancer performance within the 62-day pathway has struggled throughout the year across a 

number of tumour sites including urology, upper and lower GI. A wider working approach via 

the cancer alliance and its performance improvement group is enabling oversight of cancer 

standards across the system. This will enable key themes of underperformance to be 

addressed. 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG has recovery plans in place with providers working to 

achieve operational standards consistently.  The Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Alliance 

now has a pivotal role in delivery of cancer standards across the system and we have seen 

a new performance improvement forum set up. This acknowledges the complexity of cancer 

pathways which can often include 2 or 3 different hospital providers.  

Children and Young People with Eating Disorders 

Performance in 2019/20 for the two waiting time targets set for children and young people 

(CYP) has varied throughout the year with referrals for routine cases remaining in the mid to 

low 80% mark and below the target. Urgent cases to be seen within 1 week are now at 75% 

in quarter 3, below the national target, and levels have varied in year.  

National capacity issues have impacted on service performance in the year but further 

investment commitments nationally have been confirmed which will assist with the current 

issues. 

Page 23 of 173
Page 69

Agenda Item 6



Diagnostic test waiting times 

Throughout 2019/20 the national target for diagnostic test waiting times has not been met 

but the local improvement trajectory has on occasion achieved. Performance remains 

challenged across the whole health economy which has impacted on the CCG’s ability to 

achieve the target, with a number of trusts experiencing capacity issues, workforce 

challenges and Liverpool Heart and Chests theatre upgrade programme not due for 

completion until mid-2020. 

Healthcare associated infections  

Across the three measures linked to healthcare associated infections (HCAI), MRSA, 

C.Difficile, and E.Coli, the CCG is failing the target against all. Two cases of MRSA have 

occurred in 2019/20 against a zero tolerance target while the annual target of 30 C.Difficile 

cases of 30 has been breached in January. Post infection reviews take place after each case 

with lessons learnt and recommendations for improvement are implemented. The Infection, 

Prevention and Control (IPC) Programme Board has been established to focus on the 

reduction of gram negative bloodstream infections and address the need for a system wide 

collaborative approach. 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

The target for both access and recovery for psychological therapies has not been met in 

2019/20 with a number of ongoing issues linked to patients not accessing the service and 

staffing. Performance is not likely to improve significantly over the coming months with a 

forthcoming procurement of the service to take place.  

Mixed sex accommodation  

Breaches continue to occur within 2019/20 with Southport & Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust 

continuing to experience issues with mixed sex breaches linked to critical care. The Trust 

review all step down patients from critical care at the daily bed meetings. This is a repeated 

issue for the Trust due to the estate of critical care and is likely to continue without redesign. 

NHS e-referral service usage 

NHS e-Referral levels for the CCG have remained steady each month at the 80+% marker 

with figures rising to 86.4% in Dec-19. NHS Digital has acknowledged the data quality and 

limitation issues of current reporting and are exploring other options nationally. Planned care 

leads within the organisation are liaising with Provider counterparts to ensure an 

improvement over the coming year. 

Referral to treatment 52 plus week waiters 

The 92% target for patients being seen within 18 weeks has slowly declined within 2019/20 

to a position where the CCG is narrowly failing the target. The main trust, Southport, remains 

above the target and other providers, notably Liverpool University Hospital Foundation Trust 

(LUFHT), are the main contributing factor. Aintree Trust, now part of LUHFT, was issued a 

contract performance notice earlier on in the year and the CCG is working closely with them 

to ensure improved performance. 

  

Page 24 of 173
Page 70

Agenda Item 6



Financial performance   

The CCG works in partnership with our health care partners to ensure that local health care 

meets the needs of the population in Southport and Formby. Our duty as a CCG is to 

provide high quality and sustainable services within the funds allocated from the government 

for healthcare.      

Our approach to commissioning seeks to ensure that services are transformed to improve 

efficiency.  Through our Sefton2gether plans we are committed to ensuring that services are 

transformed together with our local partners, to reduce duplication and improve services for 

people.  We are firmly committed to working to integrate health and care to ensure we 

prioritise effective and efficient care for our population using our resources in the best 

possible way.       

2019/20 has been the most challenging year we have faced financially.  Over recent years 

we have experienced year on year cost pressures from the impact of inflation, population 

growth and from an increased proportion of older people living longer with more complex 

care needs.   This means that we need to continue to deliver more from every pound we 

spend.   

At the start of the financial year we agreed a financial plan with NHS England and 

Improvement which required the CCG to plan to deliver a breakeven position. In order to do 

this the CCG needed to set a financial savings target of £14.104m (6.56% of allocation).   

Clinical commissioning groups have a duty to operate within their available resources and 

this is described in our CCG constitution. During 2019-20 the savings schemes we planned 

did not deliver as we expected and we continued to see emerging cost pressures due to the 

increasing demand for patient care.  As a result, our financial position deteriorated and with 

the agreement of NHS England and Improvement our projected forecast position was 

amended to a target deficit position of £12.800m.   

The CCG along with NHS South Sefton CCG and Southport and Ormskirk NHS Trust have 

submitted a detailed Financial Recovery Plan to NHS England which describes the key 

financial pressures and our plans and responses to restore long term financial sustainability 

across the local health economy in Sefton.  Our progress is being regularly monitored by 

NHS England.  Internally the CCG’s financial performance will continue to be rigorously 

monitored for emerging issues and financial risks.   

The table below shows the CCG financial performance from 2013 to 2020.  

At the end of the 2019-2020 financial year we are reporting a £12.800 million deficit as 

agreed with NHS England and Improvement.   

Page 25 of 173
Page 71

Agenda Item 6



 

 

We also have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).  

Performance against these duties is described in the table below:  

 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG is required to assess and satisfy itself that it is appropriate 

to prepare financial statements on a ‘going concern’ basis for at least 12 months from the 

date of the accounts. We have made an assessment of factors affecting the CCG and we 

have concluded that: 

 Healthcare services will continue to be provided for the residents of Southport and 

Formby for the indefinite future 

 We have appropriate management capacity and capability to implement our CCG 

long term financial strategy 

 We have a robust risk management strategy and processes in place. 

 The Covid-19 pandemic, declared on 12 March 2020, is a material uncertainty 

however, the Chancellor’s statement in the Budget 2020 provided confirmation of 

NHS funding throughout this pandemic.  As a result, Covid-19 does not affect the 

CCG as a going concern. 

 

Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Programme 168.92 167.52 170.06 168.55 176.18 176.39 178.92 186 179.93 183.83 187.31 186.51 195.10 208.04

Programme - Delegated co-commissioning - General Medical 

Services 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 17.22 17.14

Running Cost Allowance 2.98 2.63 3.2 2.96 2.65 2.44 2.63 2.25 2.58 2.28 2.62 2.42 2.61 2.54

TOTAL 171.9 170.15 173.26 171.51 178.83 178.83 181.55 188.25 182.51 186.11 189.93 188.93 214.93 227.73

Surplus/ (Deficit) before application of NHS England reserves 1.75 1.75 0.00 -6.70 -3.60 1.00 -12.80

2019/202018/192017/182013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Expenditure not to exceed income ᵪ
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions
Not Applicable

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions ᵪ
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions
Not Applicable

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions
Not Applicable

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 

Summary Financial Performance 2019-20 Duty Achieved

Page 26 of 173
Page 72

Agenda Item 6



Our Governing Body agreed to a financial plan reflecting the NHS England a breakeven 

control total for 2019-2020.  Our 2019-2020 plan acknowledged the CCG’s positive historic 

performance in the delivery of Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 

efficiencies in prior years and recognised the challenge for the CCG to deliver further 

significant efficiencies, which has become more difficult over time.  The QIPP programme 

delivered over £2m QIPP savings in 2019/20 (around £18.4m over the past four financial 

years).  QIPP performance in 2019-20 is summarised in the table below: 

 

We have developed a long term financial strategy to ensure we get the best possible health 

and care services for our population within the funding available.  Our QIPP plans are central 

to ensuring we deliver value for money for our population, at the same time contributing to 

improvement of our financial position.   

Our QIPP plan includes schemes categorised under the following headings: 

 Elective care pathways - Elective care is planned care. Areas we have looked at 

include first outpatient appointments (e.g. with a hospital consultant), admissions 

(e.g. for a day case operation such as cataract surgery, or an in-patient admission for 

a procedure requiring one or more nights in hospital), follow up appointments and 

outpatient procedures  

 Medicines optimisation - Schemes under this heading aim to ensure that medicines 

provide the greatest possible benefit to people by encouraging medicines 

reconciliation, medication review and the use of patient decision aids. Some of these 

are described on page 48 

 Continuing healthcare and funded nursing care - Continuing healthcare (CHC) is 

a package of care arranged and funded by the NHS for individuals not in hospital and 

assessed as having a ‘primary health need’.  NHS funded nursing care is provided by 

a registered nurse for people who live in a care home. Find out more on page 34 

 Non elective opportunities - Non elective care is unplanned care which could be an 

emergency or urgent intervention.  Reducing avoidable emergency admissions 

improves the quality of life for people with long term and acute conditions for patients 

and their families as well as reducing pressures on financial resources 

 Discretionary expenditure - All other areas of expenditure under our control, like 

day to day running costs of the CCG 

Page 27 of 173
Page 73

Agenda Item 6



The main provider for CCG residents is Southport and Ormskirk Hospitals NHS Trust and 

community services are provided by Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust.  

In the autumn of 2016, we worked with other CCGs and providers in North Merseyside to 

develop ‘Acting as One’ arrangements in support of wider sustainable and transformation 

plans, promoting financial stability and mitigating risks right across the local health economy. 

All partners in ‘Acting as One’ agreed a set of principles for contracting over the two year 

period 2017-2020.  We continued to contract outside of the ‘Acting as One’ arrangements in 

2019-2020, notably with our main provider Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust.   

Our CCG finance team is a key enabler in supporting business transformation.  There is a 

strong focus on continuous development and training to ensure the team remains ‘fit for 

purpose’ as business partners to the CCG and the wider local health economy. During the 

year the finance team has continued to ensure that the services it provides are of the highest 

standard.  The team are active participants in the North West Skills Development Network 

and access the resources available through the network to continually develop skills. The 

team is a Future Focused Finance Accredited Employer at Level 2 and also hold the Finance 

Skills Development North West - Towards Excellence - Level 2 Accreditation.   

Analysis of funding and expenditure 

During 2019-20 we received £214.929 million of parliamentary revenue funding.  A 

breakdown of this funding and how it was used is reported in the table below: 

 

Page 28 of 173
Page 74

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Our main areas of spend were as follows: 

Acute Services (Secondary healthcare) – this represents the cost of contracts with 

hospitals to provide services for our population.  This includes accident and emergency, 

mental illness, general and acute services.  Secondary healthcare costs are shown by 

provider in the table below:   

 

 

 

Primary care costs – the majority of this area of spend relates to the costs of drugs 

prescribed by GPs.  Also included are some other services commissioned by GPs and 

primary care contractors for example, out of hours services and GP IT costs.  Also included 

are the costs associated with GP work carried out on behalf of the CCG. With effect from 1st 

April 2019 the CCG became responsible for delegated co-commissioning of Primary Care – 

Area Total Costs (£000s)

Acute Services 118,519

Mental Health Services 19,723

Community Services 20,107

Continuing Care Services 15,272

Primary Care Services 28,235

PC Co-Commissioning 17,144

Programme Costs 6,934

Running Costs 2,544

Page 29 of 173
Page 75

Agenda Item 6



General Medical Services for the first time. This means that the overall budget for Primary 

care increased by £17.22 million.  You can read more about this on page36 

 

 

 

Community Services costs – this relates to the costs of services provided in a community 

setting for example, district nursing, physiotherapy and community clinics.   

Continuing Health Care Services – this is a package of care arranged and funded by the 

NHS for individuals not in hospital and assessed as having a ‘primary health need’.  It also 

includes long term packages of care for people at home, in nursing homes and residential 

care.   

Programme costs – this category of spend mainly refers to non-acute services such as 

reablement and other mental health services. 

Running costs – these are the costs associated with supporting the process of 

commissioning the healthcare services we provide.   

78%

11%

4% 3%

3% 1%

Primary Care Services

Prescribing

Community Base Services

PC - Other

Out of Hours

GP IT Costs

£1.50 per head PCN Development Investment

39%

3%

31%

11%

6%

7% 3% 0%

Primary Care - General Medical Services 
Co-Commissioning

General Practice - GMS
Other List-Based Services (APMS incl.)
General Practice - PMS
QOF
Other - GP Services
Premises cost reimbursements
Enhanced services
Other premises costs

Page 30 of 173
Page 76

Agenda Item 6



 

Better payment practice code 

We are committed to dealing fairly and professionally with all of our supplier partners. One 

way that we do this is by working to the Better Payment Practice Code. It means meeting the 

target to pay all non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice 

(whichever is later) unless other payment terms have been agreed.  

 

 

  

Number Value Number Value

% % % %

NHS Payables 95.06 98.38 95.60 99.36

Non NHS Payables 95.92 98.35 95.00 96.17

2019-20 2018-19

Page 31 of 173
Page 77

Agenda Item 6



Monitoring and ensuring quality  

Our Joint Quality and Performance Committee with NHS South Sefton CCG is responsible 

for monitoring and providing assurance on the quality of the services we commission to 

ensure that local and national standards are met.  The committee is also responsible for 

promoting a culture of continuous improvement and innovation around safety, clinical 

effectiveness and patient experience. 

To do this, the committee receives and assesses a wide range of data, including the CCG 

Quality Performance Dashboard and information from the organisations we commission 

services from.  Quality issues identified by the committee are escalated accordingly and are 

reported in our integrated performance reports11 and Governing Body papers12, all available 

from our website. 

Managing and responding to risks  

Our Governing Body is provided with assurance from the Joint Quality and Performance 

Committee that there are structures, systems and processes in place to identify and manage 

any significant risks that we may face. We continue to identify and manage risks through the 

corporate risk register which is presented to the Joint Quality and Performance Committee 

ahead of the Governing Body. This helps us to ensure that local health services meet the 

highest possible standards of quality and patient safety. It also supports us in meeting our 

statutory duties as well as helping us to plan for a healthcare system which is robust and 

capable of dealing with unplanned events.  

Here are some of the main risks we identified during 2019-2020:  

 The financial pressures currently placed on the health and social care system may 

impact the quality and safety of care for patients. 

 System based learning from serious incidents.  

 Non-delivery of Quality Innovation Prevention and Productivity (QIPP) plans or other 

cost reduction plans resulting in increased financial risk for the CCG. 

 Meeting the health requirements for children and young people with special 

educational and health needs (SEND). 

 

Our Quality Strategy  

A drive to secure positive health outcomes for local people and continuously improve the 

quality of services is at the heart of our work.  We have a Quality Strategy 2015-201913 that 

underpins our work and that aligns to the NHS Five Year Forward View.  It describes our 

responsibilities, approach, governance and systems to enable and promote quality across 

the local health economy as well as providing everyone with the care and compassion they 

need and enabling their voice to be heard. It supports our commissioning of services to 

ensure that they are amongst the safest and most effective healthcare provider for every 

                                                           
11 Integrated performance reports - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/how-well-our-services-
perform/  
12 Governing Body papers - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/governing-body-
meetings/  
13 CCGs Quality Strategy - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/media/2296/quality-strategy-2015-2019.pdf 
 

Page 32 of 173
Page 78

Agenda Item 6



patient. A new Quality Strategy is being developed across the North Mersey area to reflect 

the changing commissioning and provider landscapes. The dual focus of developing both 

Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement will continue to be reflected in the strategy. 

Staff development  

We are committed to providing professional development opportunities for our staff. One 

member of the quality team took up a secondment opportunity with NHS England in 2018 

allowing them to gain further experience and expertise and continues in that secondment. 

There have been two new members of the Quality Team during 2019/20, Deputy Head of 

Quality and Safety and Programme Manager Quality and Performance. 

Supporting primary care professionals  

Our quality team and primary care team have initiated work on a number of quality elements 

in 2019-2020 to support the delivery of primary care across Southport and Formby. These 

included the development of processes to manage complaints and incidents across Primary 

Care. This has been supported by interim Quality in Primary Care posts. The Quality Team 

also supported Protected Learning Time (PLT) with presentation on incidents across Sefton 

in year, along with the commissioning of a variety of training and educational courses for 

GPs, practice nurses and HCAs.  We also arranged a number of protected learning time 

events with a clinical topic pertinent to GPs, nurses and healthcare assistants working in 

primary care on clinical themes to support primary care working including an event focusing 

on ‘safeguarding’.  

Quality in hospital based care  

Our quality team continues to support the delivery of acute care, which includes providing 

operational support for providers where necessary, specifically when times of increased 

pressures have been identified.  The team also works in collaboration with providers and 

other stakeholders to ensure any safety concerns are addressed and opportunities for 

shared learning are acted upon. The Quality Team have supported a number of quality site 

visits across acute providers to provide reassurance across the system   

Learning Disabilities Mortality Review   

The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme has been extended 

nationally, with the ongoing development of local processes to improve the timeliness of 

reviews being undertaken with engagement from NHS commissioned services. The 

assistant chief nurse is the ‘local area contact’ and a member of the NHS England Cheshire 

and Merseyside LeDeR Steering Group. Following a successful bid to NHS E, the CCG has 

secured non recurrent funding to support the LeDeR programme of £36k to support 

performance and sustainability of the programme and improving the health outcome for 

people with a learning disability. Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust is supporting the 

performance and sustainability of the programme and People First are in the process of 

implementing a number of events across Sefton to increase the awareness and uptake of 

health screening programmes. NHSE is also supporting the progression of the LeDeR 

programme and have commissioned North of England Commissioning Support Unit to 

provide support for back log cases. Learning from LeDeR reviews are reported through to 

Joint Quality and Performance Committee and Primary Care in Common Committee.    

 

Page 33 of 173
Page 79

Agenda Item 6



Court of Protection  

There have been a number of cases that we have supported through the Court of Protection, 

working closely with our commissioning support unit, Sefton Council and legal colleagues.  

Improving Continuing Healthcare  

NHS Continuing Healthcare (NHS CHC) is a package of care for adults aged 18 or over that 

is arranged and funded solely by the NHS. In order to receive NHS CHC funding individuals 

have to be assessed according to a legally prescribed decision making process to determine 

whether they have a ‘primary health need’. 

We continue to work with Sefton Council colleagues and Midlands and Lancashire 

Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) to ensure continuous improvements in relation to 

decision making processes and patient assessments.  Work has been initiated on the 

development of the end to end CHC pathway.  

Serious incidents  

From 31 October 2019 NHS Liverpool CCG became the lead commissioner for Liverpool 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. As part of closer working with Liverpool CCG, 

there has been agreement for the management of serious incidents to transfer across to 

Liverpool CCG. The Quality Team and NHS Liverpool CCG are working to develop the 

systems, processes and reporting mechanisms. 

Special educational needs and disability services  

In 2018-19 the system was re-inspected to review the progress against the special 

educational needs and disability services (SEND) inspection that took place in 2017. As a 

result an improvement notice has been served to support the progress against actions from 

the initial review. To support this, the CCG has supported the secondment of an interim 

associate chief nurse for SEND. Formal meetings are in place with the introduction of the 

SEND health performance improvement group with representation from all health partners. 

All activity is reported through to the SEND continuous improvement board. Meetings 

continue to take place between the Department for Education and NHS England with 

outcomes being reported to the Department of Health. A meeting took place in January 

2020, with Department of Education who were satisfied with actions, who will review 

progress against actions in June 2020. The CCG continues to engage with Sefton Parent 

Carer Forum. 

Safeguarding team  

The safeguarding team continue to be at full establishment with the Designated 

Safeguarding Professionals. There has been a change in posts in year for the Designated 

Doctor for Safeguarding Children and Designated Doctor for Children in Care.  Leadership 

Team are in the process of reviewing additional capacity for the Designated Doctor and the 

Named GP Safeguarding Children. There is currently a gap for the Named GP for 

Safeguarding Adults which has been added to the Primary Care risk register. The 

safeguarding team have supported a number of re-inspection processes in year and are 

supporting the recommendations and actions from these. The safeguarding team continue to 

support the work of the Safeguarding Children Board, Merseyside Safeguarding Adult Board, 

Corporate Parenting Board and their subgroups, this includes commissioned reviews and 

Page 34 of 173
Page 80

Agenda Item 6



dissemination of learning. The Named GP for Safeguarding Children has established a 

safeguarding GP leads forum which has been well supported by GP colleagues. 

Screening  

Our quality team continues to work collaboratively with Public Health England’s screening 

and immunisation and cervical screening teams to support their on-going programmes of 

work. 

Southport and Formby CCG 

Cervical Cancer 

Screening Actual Target 

Percentage of women 

aged 25-64 screened  

(Q2 2019/20) 

76% 80% 

Percentage of women 

receiving results within 

14 days of testing 

(Q3 2019/20) 

58.8% 98% 

 

Commissioning for quality and innovation   

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation or CQUIN, was a system introduced in 2009 to 

make a proportion of healthcare providers' income conditional on demonstrating 

improvements in quality and innovation in specified areas of care.  The CCG have 

developed a robust process for reviewing evidence submitted by providers to ensure they 

are achieving the required targets and quality of care for patients is being maintained. 

  

Page 35 of 173
Page 81

Agenda Item 6



Other work to improve quality and performance  

Below are some other examples of our work during the year to ensure the quality and 

performance of the services we commission remains sustainable into the future.  

You will see that all of these schemes have links and interdependencies between our three 

Shaping Sefton strategic priority areas of primary care, urgent care and care for the most 

vulnerable. 

Improving quality in primary care 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG became delegated on the 1 April 2019, which means that 

we have delegated authority to commission primary care services from our GP practices on 

behalf of NHS England.  A Primary Care Commissioning Committee in Common is 

operational to ensure that appropriate primary care services are commissioned to improve 

the efficiency, effectiveness, economy, and quality of services, reduce inequalities, and 

promote the involvement of patients and the public in the development of services. 

We felt this was an important step to help us to align our local priorities and improve health.  

General Practice Forward View  

Published in April 2016 by NHS England the General Practice Forward View (GPFV14) sets 

out a framework of support for primary care so it remains sustainable for the future. Locally, 

we have carried out a great deal of work in 2019–2020 around the GPFV including:  

E-consult 

E-consult has now been rolled out across practices in NHS Southport and Formby CCG and 

will enable patients a greater choice when accessing primary care medical services. E-

consult will enable patients to contact their GP practices at any time of day which will provide 

greater flexibility. This service can be accessed through your GP practice website. 

7- Day Access 

A 7 day access service providing routine primary care in the evenings and weekends 

operational from Family Surgery in Birkdale. Patients can access this services through their 

GP practice and there are a range of clinicians that they will be able to have access to 

Local Quality Contract 

One of the ways we work to improve the quality of primary care is through our Local Quality 

Contract (LQC), which our member practices can choose to sign up to and that we further 

developed in 2019-2020.  

There are a number of schemes that make up the contract which are intended to achieve 

quality improvements, efficiencies in spend elsewhere in the health economy, and 

sustainability of general practice.   

One example is a scheme to provide phlebotomy in a primary care setting, providing 

arrangements for patients who would normally have been supervised through a hospital 

                                                           
14 https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/gpfv/  

Page 36 of 173
Page 82

Agenda Item 6



appointment to be monitored by the GP practice. This means that by having blood tests in 

practice, patients can be better monitored with the aim of better detection of conditions. 

Other examples are schemes supporting the provision of physical health checks for patients 

with a learning disability, and physical health checks for patients with a serious mental health 

illness. 

Primary Care Networks 

In April 2019 the PCN DES was introduced to encourage collaborative working and support 

primary care at scale. Since then NHS Southport and Formby CCG has four PCN’s, with all 

the practices in their respective networks coming together and supporting one and another in 

delivering primary care at scale. This has meant more choice for patients both on a practice 

access footprint and also a service view point. In Southport and Formby the primary care 

networks are currently running several schemes to support patients in the local area. These 

include utilisation of the pharmacy hub to support with medicine management in practice and 

they have also worked collaboratively with our voluntary sector organisations to have social 

prescribing link workers across each PCN to support patients. 

More recently, one of our PCNs are running a pilot involving a rotating paramedic, shared 

across the practices within the PCN to support their home visits for patients. Other initiatives 

include a PCN holding events for patients who suffer from diabetes to help provide additional 

support for them.   

Page 37 of 173
Page 83

Agenda Item 6



Urgent care  

In the past year there has been a significant focus on how we can support our local residents 

to understand the range of options available to help them to best manage their health care 

needs. This is important to ensure that services are accessed appropriately and we make 

the best use of the resources available in our local community.  

We continue to remind residents where to go if they or a family member becomes unwell 

using a number of methods. We have a list of these on our websites where there is an NHS 

choices service finder, we also remind people to call NHS 111 or use NHS111 online. In 

addition, we carried out a lot of work to remind people of the importance of their high street 

pharmacy in providing expert advice on minor illnesses and ailments to support people in 

self-care.  

In addition the CCG has been working in collaboration with the hospital and community 

teams to ensure that patients do not have to stay in hospital any longer than needed and 

that services are in place to support residents into the most appropriate place for their care.  

The emphasis has been on out of hospital care and effective care planning, particularly for 

the frail elderly population.  The aim is to ensure that patients do not need to go to hospital 

due to avoidable conditions and that proactive management can keep individuals well for 

longer, meaning that they have more time spent at home with family and loved ones. 

Hospital services, community services, social care and North West ambulance services have 

been working together to ensure that patients care needs are met at home.  The aim of 

which is to promote independence and self-care.   

There are times when individuals need more support to recover or recuperate, the CCG 

have commissioned more short term placements with rehabilitation provision so that patients 

can be discharged from hospital earlier or return to independence without needing to be 

admitted to hospital. 

We are committed to improving our out of hospital services further over the next 12 months 

to ensure that patients can access service at the right time and in the right place.  It is 

important that individuals maintain independence, at home for as long as possible.  

 
Sefton Emergency Response Vehicle (SERV) 
 

Sefton Emergency Response Vehicle (SERV) went Live on 4 November 2019 with the aim 

of improving the quality of care and improves the speed of access to treatment to patients. 

Southport and Formby CCG agreed to commission SERV which is staffed with a paramedic 

and a therapist linked to our Integrated Community Reablement Assessment Services 

(ICRAS) with a prescribing function and access to an Advanced Nurse Practitioner to reduce 

reliance on urgent input from General Practice. 

SERV attends incidents, undertakes a holistic health and social need assessment, prescribe 

medication as necessary, and organise rapid installation of equipment to make the patients 

home environment safer, or access the intermediate care bed base to ensure the patient 

can be managed safely out of hospital. The service has also improved the rate of ‘see-and-

treat’ activity, reduced unnecessary hospital attendance and admissions, reduced length of 

stay (LOS)  (due to a potentially unnecessary conveyance and admission), encourages 

multidisciplinary care planning and prevents the risks of further harm, associated with delays 

to treatment or more traditional bed-based management options.  

Page 38 of 173
Page 84

Agenda Item 6



As at the 31 March SERV has made: 

 564 visits 

 76% non-conveyed 

 Average age 82 

 Average frailty score 6 

Community services  

Community services have a big role to play in our work to transform and future proof urgent 

care for our residents. As we have set out in our Sefton2gether, good progress has been 

made during 2019-2020 in providing more appropriate, joined up care as close to people’s 

homes as possible.  

Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust currently provides community services across North 

Sefton. These services include blood testing, community matrons, district nursing, treatment 

rooms, foot care, intermediate care, adult diabetes and adult dietetics. 

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust provides cardiology, intravenous therapy and 

respiratory services to our population to ensure that patients are cared for closer to home. 

Our providers build on previous work to improve health and wellbeing of our residents. Work 

has begun to look at how we can improve and develop these services to better meet the 

needs of our residents and in line with our Sefton2gether programme to provide more care 

closer to home.  

This is particularly important given ongoing pressures on our acute services but with the 

potential to support aspects of this care within community settings. Lancashire Care NHS 

Foundation Trust is working closely with other organisations such as Southport and Ormskirk 

Hospital NHS Trust, Sefton Council and the VCF sector, with the aim of delivering seamless 

care arrangements from hospital to community.  

Podiatry  

Working with the Community Services Providers for NHS South Sefton and NHS Southport 

and Formby CCGs, Mersey Care NHS FT and Lancashire and South Cumbria NHS FT, the 

CCGs have co-designed an integrated Podiatry service model which incorporates specialist 

and core podiatry provision. This supports a consistent offer across Sefton. 

Heathwatch Sefton has been involved throughout the review process having also identified 

the need for the Podiatry service to be responsive to clinical need and enable timely access, 

following feedback from service users. 

The aim has been to ensure that those with the greatest medical and podiatric needs are 

able to access the service in a timely manner. There was also the requirement to ensure that 

patients with low podiatric need were able to access the Podiatry service but with a clinical 

triage and prioritisation process in place which would reflect different level of needs and 

input required. 

 

The review considered the demographics of the local population and potential need for 

podiatry e.g. diabetes prevalence, increase in elderly population and long term conditions. 

Page 39 of 173
Page 85

Agenda Item 6



The model has made a significant difference to the quality of service provided to our 

residents who meet service criteria, in terms of responsiveness and access to the service. 

Waiting times have improved for new patients as well as the requirement for capacity for 

follow up access within an appropriate time frame for needs. There is an important focus in 

the model on self-care and prevention where appropriate and the clinical teams actively 

promote this aspect of care within community forums. 

Housebound policy has been implemented to ensure patients meet criteria for domiciliary 

visits or can be seen in clinic to maximise the use of staff time. 

The service continues to explore opportunities to improve pathways to acute providers e.g. 

vascular / orthopaedic services, where required but also develop range of care which could 

be provided within community. 

Falls Prevention 

A falls prevention group has been established with key partners across the borough to 

reduce the number of falls and better co-ordinate care for those after they have fallen. This 

group reports to both the Integrated Commissioning Group and the Sefton Provider Alliance 

to ensure a systematic and well supported approach. The group is co-chaired by the CCG 

and Sefton Council and responds to the recommendations of a review of falls services. Eight 

key priorities are being progressed led by different system partners. The eight key areas are: 

 Risk factor reduction  

 Case Finding  

 Risk assessment  

 Strength and balance exercise programmes  

 Healthy Homes 

 High-risk care environments 

 Fracture liaison service  

 Collaborative care for severe injury 

 

ICRAS  

Our Integrated Community Reablement Assessment Services, known as ICRAS was 

created by the merger of a number of community teams across health and social care.  

These integrated teams are co-located and have a single point of contact to enable easy 

access from primary care services and secondary care services. 

ICRAS has two main functions. Firstly, it delivers ‘step-up’ services, where people receive 

their care in more appropriate settings rather than being admitted to hospital. Secondly, its 

‘step-down’ care better supports some of our more vulnerable patient’s transition from 

hospital to home. ICRAS is suitable for patients who have been recently clinically assessed 

and are at imminent risk of hospital admission without support, but who can wait a maximum 

of two hours for assessment.  

Initial review of ICRAS indicates that the services are being successful in supporting more 

people in their own homes and avoiding the need for hospital admission. The service also 

works closely with Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust to enable people to be 

discharged safely to the community with the support they need e.g. social care, nursing or 

Page 40 of 173
Page 86

Agenda Item 6



therapy. We will continue to develop the range of services which can be incorporated within 

the ICRAS model in the coming year.  

Page 41 of 173
Page 87

Agenda Item 6



Care for the most vulnerable  

During 2019-2020 the CCG continues to support and promote the red bag scheme across all 

care homes in our Southport and Formby area. The red bag scheme is a collaborative 

approach between care homes, hospitals and ambulance staff to support the hospital 

transfer pathway.  

The CCG has supported work across the care homes in conjunction with NHS England in 

the ‘react to red’ programme as a means to reduce the development of avoidable pressure 

ulcers.  

The quality team have supported a number of quality site visits to care homes alongside 

local authority colleagues in year to provide reassurance across the system. 

Community cardiology pilot  

Our community based cardiology service has been running in Southport and Formby since 

April 2017. It enables many patients with coronary heart disease (CHD) to have their 

condition managed safely and appropriately, closer to home without the need for a hospital 

appointment. The service includes triage, assessment and management of patients for non-

invasive treatment. As well as working to improve patient experience by reducing waiting 

times for routine appointments and diagnostics, the service also strengthens patient 

involvement and seeks to identify undiagnosed cases of CHD. The service is provided by 

Southport and Formby Health, our local GP federation. During 2019-2020 the service 

expanded, appointing an additional community consultant cardiologist and extending its 

direct access offer of cardiology related diagnostics, as well as opening up referral routes to 

other parts of the system. In the year ahead the service will continue to look at how it can 

make further improvements to the care of CVD patients working together with partners 

across the local health system. 

Joint Health - integrated musculoskeletal care  

Our musculoskeletal (MSK) clinical assessment service, Joint Health, has proven successful 

since its launch in 2016. The service, which we developed with NHS West Lancashire CCG 

and is run by Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust, has seen over 24,000 patients 

being treated for orthopaedic conditions.  

Joint Health provides a single point of access to a specialist assessment and treatment 

service for orthopaedic conditions to ensure patients see the right clinician at the right time. 

The service responds to distinct health challenges in the local population, particularly a 

higher than average population of older residents with increasing orthopaedic conditions. 

Joint Health was designed to improve patient care, outcomes and experience, whilst at the 

same time achieving more efficient spend. The redesign produced significant results with a 

20% reduction in secondary care orthopaedic activity and is now fully rolled out so that when 

directed by their GP, patients can then refer themselves.  

Importantly, Joint Health has led to improvements in patient experience and health outcomes 

with support for patients to self-manage, the provision of physiotherapy services closer to 

home and regular MSK educational programmes for primary care clinicians. 

 
 

Page 42 of 173
Page 88

Agenda Item 6



Diabetes  
 

Preventing diabetes  
 
Following the successful launch of the first wave of the ’Healthier You’ National Diabetes 

Prevention Programme (NHSDPP) in Sefton in 2016, we are now making preparations for 

Wave 5 of the programme. GP practices continue to refer a steady stream of patients to the 

Programme and we are seeing some good results. 

Diabetes prevention week  

For diabetes prevention week in 2019 we worked with Diabetes UK to promote the 

prevention programme. This included promoting the NHSDPP at a Parkrun. 

Education programme 
 
GP practices are actively referring their patients with type 2 diabetes to the local ‘Diabetes 

and You’ programme for those who have been recently been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes 

and ‘Diabetes and More’ for those who have previously received structured education.  The 

programmes have gained QISMET accreditation. 

The programmes help to give patients who have type 2 diabetes an understanding of how to 
treat it and the confidence to improve their condition, aiming to reduce the risk of them 
developing complications.  People with a diagnosis of type 1 diabetes are offered a different 
education programme. 
 
The majority of GP practices took part in an audit through Diabetes UK Consultancy to 

identify areas for improvement in diabetes care 

 
Cancer  
 
Right By You is a Macmillan Cancer Support -funded initiative whereby everyone with a 

cancer diagnosis is offered a supported conversation with a trained professional to identify 

their holistic needs and a comprehensive care and support plan is developed with referral or 

signposting to a range of services.to meet the individual’s physical, practical, emotional or 

financial needs. 

In summer 2019, Sefton was successful in securing Macmillan funding to become a test site 

for Right By You.  The model aims to build on the success of the previous Holistic Needs 

Assessment pilot, opening up the service to more people affected by cancer, be they 

diagnosed recently or in the past. 

Right By You will be delivered by the Southport and Formby Cancer Information and Support 

Centre in Stanley St, Southport from December 2019 as an addition to the range of services 

which are provided by the Centre as follows 

 Drop in service for emotional and practical support Monday to Friday, 10am – 4pm.   

 The opportunity to talk to someone in a friendly, confidential environment, and advice 

on how to access emotional support.  

 Information and literature on all aspects of living with cancer, including work, 

financial, caring and emotional issues. 

 Help with accessing financial information, advice and grants 

Page 43 of 173
Page 89

Agenda Item 6



 HOPE courses, which can help people rediscover their strengths and overcome the 

emotional and practical challenges of life after cancer. 

 Support Groups including craft, walking, singing, yoga, circuits, cycling etc.  

 Regular well attended health and wellbeing events 

 Access to Sefton Council’s physical activity programme Active Lifestyles 

 Cancer recovery programme that provides a package of support to people provided 

by a range of local partners 

 

End of Life 

Southport and Formby are working with other providers of end of life care, the aim of which 

is to improve integration across the workforce, including but not exhaustive: 

 Local Authority 

 North West Ambulance Service 

 Community Providers of end of life care 

 Primary Care 

 Care Homes 

 Voluntary organisations. 

Supporting of QOF QI Modules for Early identification/care at end of life 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG is supporting Primary Care in achieving QOF QI 

modules.  Their End of Life Clinical Lead Dr D Harvey, invited practices to  get involved in 

the EARLY pilot.  EARLY is a tool which supports GP’s to: 

 Have the conversations about EOL 
 Care plan and document 
 Consider DNAR 
 Register on GSF/ supportive EOL register 
 Share the info, ideally digitally 

The tool supports:  

 Early identification and support for people with advanced progressive illness who might 
die within the next twelve months.   

 Supports well-planned and coordinated care that is responsive to the patient’s changing 
needs with the aim of improving the experience of care.  

 Identification and support for family / informal care-givers, both as part of the core care 
team around the patient and as individuals facing impending bereavement.  

Other important factors to support the above are: 

 Public education 
 Robust clinical, nursing and domiciliary care including community based urgent care - 

nursing teams, paramedics 
 Integrated and efficient systems overall 

 75% of patients can be identified as being in the last 12 months of life - possible 90% 

 75% of patients when asked would prefer to die at home and last year in Southport 

and Formby 42% of patients died in their Preferred Place of Care. 

Page 44 of 173
Page 90

Agenda Item 6



Care Homes 

The CCG continues to support care homes to care for their residents via educational 

sessions and the TRANSFORM Facilitators who deliver the Six Steps to Success 

programme for End of Life Care in care homes, accrediting them for achieving organisational 

change/readiness and individual staff training. 

 

Additionally patients admitted to hospital who are known to be care home patients and GSF 

registered are seen in hospital by the Transform Team and then followed back into the care 

home to ensure that every opportunity for Future Care Planning is taken, maximised and 

understood by care home staff who then have confidence to follow the agreed plan. The 

Care Home Facilitator is now beginning to help to develop anticipatory clinical management 

plans with patients, families and care home staff in consultation with the GP. 

 

Additionally it is anticipated that all of the above will work with the Primary Care Network 

specification for care homes.  

 

District Nursing work 

 

A Transform Facilitator is working with district nursing teams to ensure education of all 

members of staff in the Key Enablers for End of Life Care, Care of the Dying and Future Care 

Planning (Advance Care Planning and Anticipatory Clinical Management Planning). The 

team supports the district nursing service to develop their team GSF register to mirror that of 

the GP and ensure that it is up to date with the use of key enablers. 

 
 
  

Page 45 of 173
Page 91

Agenda Item 6



Mental health & Learning Disability  

We believe in a far more proactive and preventative approach to mental health so as to 

reduce the long term impact of mental health conditions and dementia. We also believe that 

improving mental health is just as important as improving physical health and each condition 

should not be treated in isolation but in a co-ordinated approach which can more effectively 

deal with the challenges of our ageing population, unacceptable inequalities in health and 

wide variations in the quality of and access to these services.  

The NHS Long Term Plan offers the local NHS in Sefton to opportunity to further develop 

mental health and Learning Disability services. Improving mental health is just as important 

as improving physical health and each condition should not be treated in isolation but in a 

co-ordinated approach which can effectively deal with the needs of our population, 

unacceptable inequalities in health and wide variations in the quality of access to these 

services. 

Improving Access to Psychological Services  

Access Sefton is our local Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service. 

Residents can contact the service directly or via a health professional for a wide range of 

psychological therapies for common mental health problems such as anxiety and 

depression. To enable greater access the service in 2019/20 has expanded its group 

therapy sessions to complement the one to one counselling that is offered and in addition 

from November 2019 the service has offered an online therapy option. 

Recognising the links that exist between physical and mental health conditions, the service 

successfully piloted therapists working as part of a multidisciplinary team in primary care so 

that people with long term conditions can be offered help as part of their overall care. In 

2019-2020 approximately 2,200 people accessed the service in Southport & Formby.    

Reducing mental health out of area acute admissions 

Our main mental health provider Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust has continued to make 

progress in 2019-2020 reducing to zero inappropriate admissions to out of area inpatient 

services, thereby enabling people to be treated closer to their families and carers. 

Early intervention psychosis  

Our early intervention psychosis service continue to achieve the two week waiting time 

standard and good progress has been made in improving access to the NICE recommended 

interventions which the service offers as part of an overall package of care. Early 

intervention services provided by dedicated early intervention teams are highly effective in 

improving peoples’ outcomes and reducing future demand on mental health services.  

Crisis 

Mersey Care NHS FT have established Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment  service and 

whilst the service is still in development this will offer an alternative to hospital for those 

people with mental health conditions who are experiencing crisis. 

 

 

Page 46 of 173
Page 92

Agenda Item 6



Mental health and Learning Disability innovation 

Early 2019-20 saw the culmination of a joint work pilot that was done with Local Authority 

colleagues to change the model of supported living for service users with mental health or a 

learning disability to an Individual Service Fund (ISF) model, whereby an individual or their 

representative decides how to spend their personal budget to meet their assessed care and 

support needs and outcomes. The ISF pilot scheme was shortlisted for the prestigious Local 

Government Award in 2020. 

Learning Disability 

The CCG as part the Transforming Care Programme continue to reduce the use of inpatient 

facilities for people with a Learning Disability with service users being better supported to 

remain in the community. The Intensive Support Team established across Sefton and 

Liverpool in 2019 is contributing to this reduction. 

 

 

 

  

Page 47 of 173
Page 93

Agenda Item 6



Medicines Management 

Our approach to medicines management (MM) is system wide, working across CCG, 

Primary Care Networks (PCN) and GP practices allowing us to deliver real improvements to 

patient safety and care, whilst also identifying significant cost efficiencies.  

Unused prescription medicines cost the NHS across Sefton an estimated £2 million a year. 

In addition, patient safety can be compromised by having large volumes of medication in the 

home without supervision.  

Over the last financial year, our MM team, consisting of pharmacists and technicians, has 

delivered over 12,031 engagements with Southport and Formby patients. You can see a 

breakdown of that activity over twelve months below:  

 

 

 

 

Medicines Management Hub 

The Sefton MM team identified an opportunity to adapt the way they work, providing 

additional support to GP practices and improved patient care.  

A MM ‘hub’ was planned to deal directly with medication related queries from GPs, PCNs 

and community pharmacies, such as: supply shortages, local formulary issues and general 

medicines information enquiries. To provide further support to GP practices it was decided 

that the hub would also carry out medicines reconciliations for patients discharged from 

hospital as well as medication reviews for newly registered patients. 

A hub pilot project was launched initially to investigate the viability and effectiveness of the 

service. Following successful outcomes, the service was rolled out to all GP practices across 

Sefton. 

The three main aims of the MM hub are to: 

 Reduce GP workload – allowing them to utilise the time saved for other work. 

 Increase the efficiency and consistency of the MM team response to medication 

queries 

 Increase quality of care for patients 

Feedback from Sefton GPs, via a survey monkey, about the MM hub service showed that; 

 100% of GP’s agreed or strongly agreed that the hub saved them time 

 100% of GP’s were satisfied or very satisfied with the hub service overall 

 100% of GP’s strongly agreed that the hub service should continue 

Interventions made by the MM hub team contribute to improving patient care by reducing 

hospital discharge medication errors. Communication with patients and carers contribute to 

improving patient care by ensuring that the patient has the correct medication and 

understands how to take their medication correctly. Interactions with secondary care 

Patient 

reviews  

Care Homes Domiciliary 

visits 

Hub Total 

5,014 1,167 203 5,575 12,031 

Page 48 of 173
Page 94

Agenda Item 6



colleagues and community pharmacies have helped to develop relationships and promote 

the role of the CCG MM team as a clinical resource. 

Key information and figures: 

The MM hub operates from a central location five days a week (9am-1pm) which ensures 

that all medication queries and hospital discharges are dealt with in a consistent and timely 

manner thus improving patient care.  

 From 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 the MMT hub dealt with a total of 1,724 queries 

from GP practices in Southport & Formby 

 From 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 the MMT hub received a total of 1,378 queries 

from community pharmacies 

Stoma pilot  

On 6 November 2019 NHS Southport and Formby CCG and NHS South Sefton CCG GP 

practices introduced the Sefton Stoma Prescription Ordering Service pilot with the aim of 

significantly improving the quality of care and support for around 750 stoma patients in the 

borough.  

The Sefton Stoma Prescription Service pilot will make it easy for patients to order all the 

appliances and products they need. Additionally, the 12 month pilot will give patients access 

to advice from specialist stoma nurses at the point of prescribing and will work alongside the 

local community and hospital specialist stoma nurses. 

Care at the Chemist  

The CCG minor ailment service, Care at the Chemist (CATC), has been available to our 

patients for a number of years. CATC supports patients to self- care by providing access to 

treatment and advice for a wide range of everyday illnesses and ailments from a number of 

local community pharmacies. Pharmacists ordinarily and routinely provide health advice to 

their customers regardless of CATC but the scheme additionally ensures residents have 

access to a range of medicines for minor illnesses for which they might otherwise consider a 

trip to the doctor.  

Medicines supplied on CATC are free for anyone who does not pay for their prescriptions. 

People who do pay are charged the current prescription charge. If the medicine costs less to 

buy over the counter than the prescription charge, the person will pay the lower rate.  

As of 1 April 2020, there were eleven pharmacies offering CATC in Southport and Formby. A 

list of participating pharmacies and more information is available on our website15  

 From April 2019 - March 2020 - 6,977 Care at the Chemist consultations were carried 

out in Southport and Formby.   

 

Medicines self-care policy 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG support and signpost their residents to self-care solutions 

whenever possible and appropriate. Self-care provides people with the ability to take greater 

control of their health and wellbeing. It also helps the CCG ensure they only offer treatments 

                                                           
15 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/your-health-and-services/care-at-the-chemist/ 

Page 49 of 173
Page 95

Agenda Item 6



through the local NHS that are clinically effective and that provide a clear health benefit to 

patients. 

In line with national guidance the team developed a medicines self-care policy to support 

prescribers and patients16. The CCG policy lists those over the counter medicines that are 

no longer recommended to be routinely prescribed by GPs, nurses or pharmacists. There 

are some exceptions included in the policy and our more vulnerable patients are reminded to 

use the CATC service available in several pharmacies across Sefton.  

Adhering to national guidance the team have supported the reduction of over the counter 

medicines where appropriate and had success in reducing prescribing activity. The team has 

worked with PCNs and individual GP practices, utilising short videos on social media 

supported by a press release and leaflets that are displayed in GP practices and 

pharmacies. Our head of medicines management has also been out to a number of 

stakeholder and community groups to spread the word about self-care.  

Out and about  

Whenever they can members of the MM team get out and about to promote safe medicines 

advice and to support a range of local events such as the Macmillan’s health and wellbeing 

event, Sefton Council’s Senior Road Users event and Sefton OPERA’s keep warm keep well 

event. 

The team also regularly engage with community and patient groups. This year the team 

worked with People First Sefton and NHS England to develop educational resources to 

support people with learning disability to manage their medicines.  The team also works 

closely with Healthwatch Sefton to ensure patients are kept informed of our work and to gain 

patient feedback.   

  

                                                           
16 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/media/3104/sefton-medicines-self-care-policy-2018-final.pdf  

Page 50 of 173
Page 96

Agenda Item 6



Going digital  

Digital technology is integral to a modern, efficient and responsive health service. Over the 

last financial year, we have been working closely with our IT delivery partner, NHS 

Informatics Merseyside (https://www.imerseyside.nhs.uk), to secure investment in digital 

technology that will improve the way we are able to deliver care whilst enhancing patient 

experience.  

Through investment from NHS England’s Estate and Technology Transformation (ETTF) 

and GPIT programmes and the emerging Digital First workstream, we have been able to 

work with NHS Informatics Merseyside and our GP practices to optimise the use of existing 

technologies, introduce a number of new digital patient services as well as invest in our IT 

infrastructure, in order to ensure we are able to achieve our digital vision for the future.  

Our digital vision for the future  

Our vision for the future is to be ‘digital first’ and to engage with our patients and 

professionals to embrace digital tools that will make a real difference to care quality, 

efficiency and experience.  

To do this, we will continue to work with NHS Informatics Merseyside to identify digital 

opportunities and to respond to the challenges of the new GP contract and NHS Long Term 

Plan.  

Creating a digital general practice 

To help deliver care more effectively, improve communication between our care 

professionals and provide services that are convenient for our patients, we have begun a 

number of digital technology projects. You can see examples of how we’ve created a digital 

general practice here:  

Online consultations (e-Consult) 

A new GP online consultation service has been launched and rollout is expected to be 

complete by 31 March 2020. Patients who submit their symptoms online will get a response 

typically within one to two working days, which could include advice, direction to other 

support such as the pharmacy, or be booked in for an appointment if necessary. The service 

also offers round the clock NHS self-help information, signposting to services, and a 

symptom checker. For those patients wishing to use the service, in many cases, this will 

avoid the need to make a visit to the GP practice altogether, saving time and a journey. This 

tool has proved valuable in supporting GP practices to operate safely during the global 

COVID-19 pandemic, enabling patients to be treated remotely in a safe manner. eConsult 

have enabled video consultations and made this available free of charge for 6 months to all 

practices, as well as enabling NHS App integration, meaning patients using the NHS App will 

be able to submit an eConsult to their practice . 

To date, in Southport and Formby, there have been 6,958 eConsults submitted, with an 

estimated total of 4175 appointments saved in general practice 

 

 

Page 51 of 173
Page 97

Agenda Item 6



GP practice websites 

To help improve communication with patients and encourage two way engagement, 

investment has been secured to provide every GP practice with a new or upgraded practice 

website if they choose from NHS Informatics Merseyside.  These websites can be updated 

by the practice quickly and easily and integrated with existing NHS online services. To date 

9 practices have moved to Umbraco websites and this offer continues to be available to 

practices wishing to move from a third party website to the Umbraco websites.  

Express Access’ laptops 

‘Express Access’ laptops have been rolled out to our GP practices. These devices give our 

clinicians access to the information they need wherever they are. They enable secure 

access to the EMIS web clinical information system whilst on a home visit or off site. NHS 

Informatics Merseyside will further rollout Express Access laptops during 2019 - 2020. 

During the initial phases of rollout, 138 devices were deployed to clinicians across Sefton. 

During the pandemic period, a further 19 devices have been rolled out to enable remote 

working for additional practice team members including administrative staff groups.  

Digital waiting rooms  

The waiting room provides patients with their first impression of the GP practice.  To help 

support our GP practices to use this space as a tool for informing, educating and engaging 

patients, a programme of work has begun to rollout the Envisage GP waiting room TV and 

call system, as well as an electronic check-in system. These information screens can be 

used to inform patients about the range of services offered by the practice, such as flu and 

baby clinics, with the check-in system helping to improve efficiency for both patients and 

practice staff. A pilot is also currently underway to introduce digital devices in reception 

areas to allow patients to access online services whilst in the practice. 

We have secured funding to roll out a Reception device to each GP practice in Sefton, which 

will enable support for patients who wish to access online services, and support for practices 

in signposting patients to other local services, such as third sector support, or local 

community initiatives.  

Digitising Lloyd George records 

NHS Informatics Merseyside is currently working with Southport and Formby CCG to support 

a number of practices with the digitisation of their Lloyd George patient records  

This project will see paper records securely removed from practices, scanned and uploaded 

directly back into patient records.  

This project is a one off exercise for participating practices and will provide a range of 

benefits including a more holistic view of a patient’s history, convenient access to the entire 

record electronically enabling informed care decisions, as well as freeing up valuable 

workspace within practices.  

4 practices have completed the process in Southport and Formby, and benefits reported 

include:  

 An average of two hours per week admin time being saved17  

                                                           
17 Across Liverpool, South Sefton and Southport & Formby CCGs 

Page 52 of 173
Page 98

Agenda Item 6



 A total of 53 sq metres of primary care real estate freed up18.  

 A number of new clinical and admin offices created  

 Improved staff welfare space available. 

In addition, we have secured funding to roll out PDF redaction software to practices, which 

will enable redaction of these records where required, and in turn support online access to 

records.  

‘Rightfax’ 

Following the national directive to ban fax machines in the NHS by March 202019 an 

electronic fax solution is now available which will replace physical fax machines. This service 

provides a secure in-bound and out-bound fax facility, which provides GP practices with 

greater flexibility for monitoring and management and allows them to reduce the amount of 

paper used. 

Across Southport and Formby, 12 practices are either live or mobilising with the solution 

Digital champions 

NHS Informatics Merseyside is working with our GP practices to identify a ‘Digital Champion’ 

within each practice, who has strong IT skills and is passionate about the use of digital tools 

to improve care quality and experience. With support from NHS Informatics Merseyside, 

their role will be to support both their colleagues and patients in the use of the new digital 

services outlined above.  

All practices in Southport and Formby now have an identified Digital Champion.  

Investing in our technical infrastructure 

As the beating heart of our health service, our doctors, nurses and wider health care 

professionals rely on having access to timely and accurate information in order to make 

informed decisions about care delivery. To enable this to happen, significant investment has 

been made in our technical infrastructure in order to ensure that this remains fit for purpose 

and able to fully support the digital tools and systems we have in place. 

Wi-Fi 

GP practice and patient Wi-Fi has been rolled out to every GP practice using a secure and 

resilient infrastructure.  

Network bandwidth  

Bandwidth across our GP practice network has been continually upgraded to keep pace with 

a rapidly digitised environment and the rapid expansion of online and video consultations.  

Each GP practice has had its primary and secondary links upgraded from 10mbs to 30mbs 
and Datacentre links upgraded to 1GB. 

 

Local Area Network upgrade 

                                                           
18 Across Liverpool, South Sefton and Southport & Formby CCGs 
19 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/health-and-social-care-secretary-bans-fax-machines-in-nhs 

Page 53 of 173
Page 99

Agenda Item 6



New Local Area Network (LAN) switches have been installed in GP practices to help 

enhance performance, reliability and security. 

Computer refresh  

A programme to review the computers in use across GP practices has now been completed 

to ensure our entire estate is Windows 10 compliant and continues to comply with all cyber 

security and general usage standards.   

NHS app 

The NHS App is now available to all Sefton patients. The App allows patients to access a 

range of services at home or on a mobile device such as a tablet or mobile phone. Some of 

the key features of the app include the ability for patients to:  

 check symptoms  

 find out what to do when you need help urgently  

 book and manage appointments at your GP surgery  

 order repeat prescriptions  

 securely view your GP medical record  

 register to be an organ donor  

 choose how the NHS uses your data  
 
In addition, eConsult will shortly be rolling out NHS App integration, meaning that patients 
will be able to initiate an eConsult directly from the NHS App.   

 
Digital optimisation  

To ensure our GP practices are getting the most value from their clinical systems and tools, 

we will work with them to review their processes and to identify any best practice and ways 

in which technology can be used to improve the efficiency and delivery of care.  

To support business continuity during the pandemic, we have rolled out commencement of 

this programme in full across Sefton, with delivery being via the Informatics Facilitators. The 

team will focus on the following areas identified as key support requirements: 

 eConsult 

 Text Messaging 

 Websites 

 Online Services 

 GP2GP 

Digital exemplars 

We have identified a GP practice and a local GP practice network to become ‘Digital 

Exemplars’. Their role will be to embrace the use of technology and demonstrate its value to 

others and to pilot new digital services and emerging technologies. 

 

 

 

Page 54 of 173
Page 100

Agenda Item 6



Being prepared for emergencies  

We have a role to play in supporting the management of emergencies such as major 

incidents, or natural events like flooding and pandemic flu. The latter emergency became 

real in 2019-2020 given that Covid-19 was declared a global pandemic on 12 March 2020.  

The CCG subsequently implemented all national guidance and instigated actions in line with 

its Business Continuity Plan. This included the setting-up of an Incident Management Team 

under the leadership of the Chief Officer as Incident Commander. Revised strategic and 

operational processes have been implemented to ensure robust governance arrangements 

remain in place. 

Our duties are set out in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which names CCGs as ‘Category 

2’ responders. This means we are required to share information and cooperate with other 

agencies in planning for and responding to emergencies should they happen. Like Category 

1 responders, such as the Police, Fire Service and Local Authority, we must also produce 

plans to help us to manage the effects of a disruption and ensure that arrangements are in 

place for informing and warning the public should this be necessary.  

The NHS Core Standards for Emergency Planning, Response and Resilience further 

requires us to ensure that our service providers have plans in place to respond to and 

recover from emergencies. We gain operational support in meeting our duties from our 

Commissioning Support Unit through its Emergency Planning, Response and Resilience 

Team.  

Here are some of the other ways we met our duties in 2019-2020: 

 NHS England's EPRR Core Standards 2019 set out the minimum requirements 

which NHS organisations and providers of NHS funded care must meet to 

demonstrate their ability to respond to emergencies and be able to continue providing 

safe patient care. We achieved a ‘substantial’ rating  

 Our Governing Body lay representative Helen Nichols holds the EPRR portfolio as 

part of her responsibilities. She is a regular and active member of our Governing 

Body and her attendance can be found on page 95  

 We work with CCGs and service providers across Merseyside to ensure the 

healthcare system can respond to incidents night and day – we have a 24/7 on call 

system, so service providers and other agencies can contact us round the clock in 

the event of emergencies 

 We have developed business continuity and incident response plans - as well as 

making sure our own plans are robust, we monitor the plans of our service providers 

 Our staff take part in regular training sessions and exercises – so we have the skills 

and experience to deal with unexpected incidents. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 55 of 173
Page 101

Agenda Item 6



Involving our residents  

We are committed to putting the voice of patients and the public at the heart of our 

commissioning and we believe this is fundamental to achieving better health and wellbeing.  

Our patients know the quality of existing health services from first hand experience and the 

view of our residents can help us to determine what more we need to do to achieve our 

aims, so services are ‘patient centred’ and better focused around their local needs. 

Our CCG Constitution reflects our commitment and our legal duty under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 and Social Care Act 2012 to involve our residents in developing and 

commissioning health services.  

Our Communications and Engagement Strategy describes our legal duty to involve in 

greater detail. It also outlines our principles and approach to involving our residents and the 

partners we work with. 

This section focuses on how we have involved people in our work in 2019-2020 and you can 

read more examples throughout this report. 

 

 

 

  

Page 56 of 173
Page 102

Agenda Item 6



Our framework for involvement 
 

We have developed, and continue to develop, structures and processes to ensure that we 

embed involvement in our daily work.  

You can see our framework for involvement in full on our website20. The examples below 

illustrate some of its key elements – reflecting our CCG Constitution and our 

Communications and Engagement Strategy – and how they have supported and provided 

assurance in 2019-2020 around our public and patient involvement work: 

 

Our committees and groups 

 

Governing Body - a lay representative dedicated to patient and public involvement sits on 

our Governing Body, where our most important work is debated and approved. The chair of 

Healthwatch Sefton is also a member of the Governing Body21 providing independent 

representation from patients and residents. We hold bi-monthly Governing Body meetings in 

public, where residents are invited to hear members discussing and making decisions about 

our work. Ahead of the start of these formal meetings, there is an opportunity for people to 

meet some of the doctors and other professionals who make up the committee. They are 

also welcome to ask any questions or queries they have during this session. 

 

Quality Committee - overseeing patient experience is one of the main responsibilities of this 

committee and our Quality Strategy describes this. The committee provides our Governing 

Body with direct assurance of the experience our patients receive from the services we 

commission, taking action when this falls below what we expect.  

EPEG - our engagement and patient experience group, known as EPEG is embedded in the 

structures and processes that oversee our involvement work and reports directly to our 

Quality Committee. The group brings us together with patient representatives and key 

partners from across health and care in Sefton to provide us with assurance and advice 

about our statutory responsibilities around engagement and consultation. The group also 

monitors involvement and patient experience in the services we commission. An example of 

this in 2019-2020 was the escalation to our Joint Quality Committee of poor Friends and 

Family Test results in a provider trust that led to the introduction of a text messaging facility 

to dramatically improve response rate. 

Other committees - processes and systems for involvement are embedded in some of our 

most important committees such as our Corporate Governance Support Group that oversees 

complaints and other insight that informs our involvement work, and our Clinical Advisory 

Group. The work of these committees and groups is also underpinned by some of our most 

important strategies, policies and protocols, such as our disinvestment policy and 

procedures which also contribute to our involvement framework.  

You can see how our main committees and groups for overseeing and assuring involvement 

activities work together in the following diagram.  

                                                           
20 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/  
21 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/governing-body-meetings/ 

Page 57 of 173
Page 103

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

External assurance mechanisms 

As well as our internal committees, groups, policies and processes there are a number of 

external committees and forums that provide helpful challenge to help shape our work.    

We keep Sefton Council’s relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) up to date 

on our work and any involvement plans we have to change or reconfigure local health 

services, in line with our responsibilities to them. In 2019 - 2020, our chief officer has 

continued to attend meetings of the OSC for Adult Social Care and Health to present update 

reports and more focused presentations. Topics that members of the committee fed into and 

scrutinised included a focus on our 7 day GP service, a review of hyper acute stroke 

services and social prescribing developments in our primary care networks.     

We are also able test our involvement plans with Sefton Council's Engagement and 

Consultation Standard Panel. This well established partnership forum provides valuable 

advice and guidance. The panel’s local knowledge is particularly useful in helping us to 

identify groups and contacts that are often difficult to involve in our work, such as those that 

are homeless and from lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) communities. 

 

 

  

Page 58 of 173
Page 104

Agenda Item 6



Strategic programmes and service developments or changes 

 

As part of our planning for any strategic transformation programmes, or service 

developments or changes, we design and carry out specific involvement exercises. These 

vary in scale depending on the degree of change and the impact of these changes for 

patients and residents. Stakeholder mapping and equality impact assessments are integral 

to developing our involvement plans, as well as demographic monitoring of those who take 

part in our exercises.    

Our engagement exercise to inform the development of our 5 year plan for the local NHS, 

Sefton2gether encouraged as many residents as possible to give their views, as well as 

targeting some of our ‘seldom heard’ groups of residents. Working with Healthwatch Sefton 

to collect views also helped us to reach a much wider group of residents than we could do 

on our own. Our ‘stakeholder analysis’ and ‘equality impact assessment’ tools also support 

this work and you can find more information about the exercise on our website.  

The third phase of our Review of Local Health Policies took place during the year, which 

aims to keep NHS care up to date with the latest national clinical guidelines, methods and 

technology, whilst also making the best use of NHS resources. We reviewed a group of 

policies for procedures and treatments that are known as Criteria Based Clinical Treatments 

(CBCT). These are routine procedures that are known to have medical benefit only in very 

specific situations, or for a small number of people. In this third phase of the review, we 

focused on and asked for views about continuous glucose monitoring systems, cough assist 

devices, insulin pumps, secondary care administered peripheral joint injections, surgery for 

prostatism or lower urinary tract infections and transanal irrigation.   

Co-production - working with patient, public or carer representatives 

Whenever appropriate, we invite patient, public or carer representatives to get directly 

involved in our day to day commissioning work, such as taking part in procurement 

processes or joining our working groups to enable services and programmes to be ‘co-

produced’.  

 

This year we have continued to work with transgender residents to further develop our Trans 

Health Sefton service, tackling poor outcomes, health inequalities and patient safety issues 

and this won us a national award in recognition of leading the roll out of this approach across 

Cheshire and Merseyside through the co-designed ‘CMAGIC’ pathway22. 

 

We are working closely with parents of children and young people with special education 

needs and disabilities (SEND) to improve services.    

 

Our work with Merseyside Society for Deaf People (MSDP), a local trusted charity, has 

continued this year to address the well documented gap in access to services for D/deaf 

patients, particularly in supporting them to make complaints and share their experiences as 

patients.  

 

  

                                                           
22 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/how-we-use-your-views/how-cmagic-was-
developed-to-give-trans-people-a-say-in-their-care/ 

Page 59 of 173
Page 105

Agenda Item 6



Our involvement database  

We invite residents who are interested in getting involved or who want to learn more about 

our work to join our mailing list23. In 2019–2020, we have used the system to introduce a 

new email newsletter to more regularly inform people about opportunities to get involved, 

including local and national engagement and consultation. Encouragingly, the number of 

residents and stakeholders interested in getting involved in our work continues to grow.  

 

Our annual review and Big Chat events 

 

Since 2012, we have combined our annual general meetings with our popular ‘Big Chat’ 

style engagement events to make these sessions as meaningful as possible for our 

residents.  

 

At Big Chat 11 in September 2019, we gave an update on our work to develop a 5 year 

NHS transformation plan for the borough with our partners in the Sefton Health and Care 

Partnership Board. Healthwatch Sefton presented the results of a survey carried out with 

residents about future healthcare that had fed into the early draft of our 5 year plan. Table 

discussions followed these presentations, where attendees were asked for their views to 

help finalise our plan – called Sefton2gether. Other topics discussed at Big Chat 11 included 

self care, with a focus on ear syringing and all the feedback gained at the event is being 

used to help develop our plans in the year ahead. More information about Big Chat 11 can 

be found on our website24.  

 

Feedback from the previous year’s Big Chat 10 in September 2018 was used to inform the 

ongoing development of our primary care strategy and our 7 day GP service during 2019-

2020.  

 

Positive feedback from Big Chat 10 about our health and wellbeing ‘marketplace’ 

showcasing a range of local support services encouraged us to expand the number of 

stallholders at Big Chat 11 and give more time for attendees to browse ahead of the main 

programme beginning.    

 

Our communication and feedback systems 

We use all our communication channels and networks to keep people informed about 

healthcare developments and provide opportunities to get involved and comment. We also 

use these channels as part of our approach to feedback the outcomes of our involvement 

activities.  

 

As well as providing daily updates and news, our website and Twitter account invite people 

to comment or ask questions. This two way communication is an important way to hear from 

residents about their experiences and views of local healthcare, and is captured and used in 

the same way as other feedback we collect.  

 

                                                           
23 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/join-our-mailing-list/ 
24 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/media/3282/sfccg-big-chat-10-summary-report-sept-2018.pdf 

Page 60 of 173
Page 106

Agenda Item 6



When we talk to local residents and partners about our work, we often capture some of their 

views through filmed interviews, which we then share more widely on our websites and 

through our Twitter25 and You Tube26 channels.  

 

This year we widened the information included on our website to better reflect the range of 

involvement work we carry out and to better promote opportunities for our residents to take 

part. In addition we reviewed our website to make sure it meets digital accessibility 

standards.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                           
25 https://twitter.com/NHSSFCCG  
26 https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC3zskxhEM5dWeJtypBBmTOA  

Page 61 of 173
Page 107

Agenda Item 6



Working with partners and the community 
 

This year we built on our networks and further developed the close working relationship we 

enjoy with partners. As well as supporting us to share and cascade information about how 

people can learn more and have their say on local healthcare developments, we have been 

using their meetings and groups to undertake more face to face engagement.  

Below are some examples of how we have done this in 2019-2020: 

Healthwatch Sefton Community Champion events  

 

We have continued this year to collaborate with Healthwatch Sefton to deliver themed 

‘Community Champion’ involvement events. These sessions invite Community Champions – 

who represent specific Sefton localities and groups – to learn more about specific healthcare 

topics, such as podiatry services and to give views to help shape future health care and 

plans, like our Sefton2gether strategy for transformation.  

 

Working with other groups and forums  

We link with our Sefton CVS colleagues to ensure our catalogue of stakeholder groups and 

contacts is up to date and continues to expand on the number and types of groups that we 

work with. In particular, this helps us to establish links with our most hard to reach 

communities, including those representing individuals who are homeless, military veterans 

and from the gypsy/traveller communities. 

We also attend meetings and events organised by our partners to gain views about our 

current involvement activities or to feedback on how we have used peoples views from 

previous exercises. This year the meetings and networks we attended included Sefton Older 

Persons Forum meetings and Sefton Health and Social Care Forum to discuss future health 

and care and gain views to finalise our 5 year plan, Sefton2gether. 

Patient Participation Groups 

We have continued to work with Healthwatch Sefton and our local surgeries to develop 

patient participation groups (PPGs). These groups enable patients to have their say about 

services at their practice and hear about our wider CCG work. Whenever possible we ask 

practices to share information and updates with their groups and encourage them to get 

involved. 

During the year we held two events with Healthwatch Sefton to further support practices to 

enhance their PPGs and to encourage more residents to get involved in their local group. 

You can read about these events and our work to develop PPGs on our website27.  

 

  

                                                           
27 https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-exercises/ 

Page 62 of 173
Page 108

Agenda Item 6



Supporting and developing involvement 

As well as inviting and encouraging people to get involved in our work and routinely asking 

residents and stakeholders about how we can do this better, this year we have also been 

looking at other ways we can support involvement more widely. 

National consultations 

Throughout the year, we have supported and promoted several national consultations, 

encouraging local residents and stakeholders to get involved and share their views. This 

included a consultation on proposals to help the NHS deliver its Long Term Plan. 

Provider and partner developments 

This year we have promoted and involved residents and patients in some of our partner and 

providers’ involvement activities including Sefton Council’s engagement exercises around 

the refresh of our joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and SEND services, along with a 

series of events where people were invited to share their views on the proposed merger of 

Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen 

University Hospitals NHS Trust. 

Promoting involvement and training opportunities 

We have also been looking at other ways we can support involvement this year. This has 

included promoting becoming an NHS foundation trust member at one of the local NHS 

provider organisations, becoming a Healthwatch Sefton member or CVS volunteer and 

joining NHS England’s involvement hub which provides information and training to support 

people to get more actively involved both locally and nationally. As well as our public, we 

also provide support to our commissioning staff to ensure they are able to build involvement 

activities into their work. We also provided training for members of our expert Trans patient 

and community representatives to support their fuller participation on working groups.   

How we use the feedback we receive 

After each of our involvement exercises has ended, we collate and analyse the feedback we 

receive and produce a report of the key findings. We share these reports with our public and 

partners and we use them to inform the development of the services we commission. The 

insight we gather from the involvement activities we carry out helps us to understand what 

patients and the public think about local services and our plans for developing or changing 

them. In particular, it helps us to identify what is working well and if there are any specific 

areas of patient concern that we need to address as we take plans forward. 

In addition, as part of the decision making process about changes to the future provision and 

delivery of any service, our CCG Governing Body is required to  take account  of the views 

of local patients and residents in line with statutory duties28. 

You can find our involvement reports and any updates about how we have used the 

information to inform service delivery or development on our website, along with reports 

carried out by our partners that affect our residents29.  

                                                           
28 https://www.england.nhs.uk/participation/involvementguidance/  
29 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-exercises/ 

Page 63 of 173
Page 109

Agenda Item 6



 

How we evaluate our involvement work 

We assess the effectiveness of our involvement activities in a number of different ways, from 

external assurance mechanisms, to regularly asking residents about how well we involve 

them. This year, we received the highest green star rating in the second annual NHS 

England and Involvement self assessment process, against community and patient 

involvement standards.  

Page 64 of 173
Page 110

Agenda Item 6



Equality, diversity and human rights obligations 
 

Promoting equality is at the heart of our core values, ensuring that we commission services 

fairly and that no community or group is not involved and engaged in the changes that will be 

made to health services to meet the challenges the NHS faces, as outlined in the Five Year 

Forward View and NHS Long Term Plan. 

We continue to work with our staff and member practices and in partnership with our 

providers, community and voluntary sector and other key organisations to ensure that we 

advance equality of opportunity and meet the exacting requirements of the Equality Act 

2010.  

Our Engagement and Patient Experience Group (EPEG) also helps us to provide us with 

assurance of duties, strengthening our model for engagement, involvement and consultation, 

and providing more robust scrutiny of our work and management of risks.  

 Due regard to the Equality Act 2010  

 

We are required to pay ‘due regard’ to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined by 

the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks. 

The Equality Act requires us to meet our PSED across a range of protected characteristics, 

including age, gender, race, sexual orientation, religion and belief, marital and civil 

partnership status and pregnancy and maternity status. 

“Due regard” is a legal requirement and means that the decision makers of the CCG have to 

give advanced consideration (consider the equality implications of a proposal before a 

decision has been made) to issues of ‘equality and discrimination’ before making any 

commissioning decision or policy that may affect or impact on people who share protected 

characteristics.  It is vitally important to consider equality implications as an integral part of 

the work and activities that the CCG does, particularly during these difficult and challenging 

times.  

 

The key functions that enable us to make commissioning decisions and monitor the 

performance of our providers must demonstrate that the needs of protected groups have 

been considered in: 

 Commissioning processes 

 Consultation and engagement 

 Procurement functions 

 Contract specifications 

 Quality contract and performance schedules 

 Governance systems 

We continue to carry out Equality Analysis reports – commonly known as Equality Impact 

Assessments (EIAs). These reports test our proposals around any service changes and say 

whether they meet PSED to comply with the Equality Act 2010. Failure to carry out EIAs 

would be grounds for Judicial Review and may result in poor outcomes and widen health 

inequalities. 

 

We are becoming stronger at developing and delivering Equality Analysis reports and linking 

them to the current change programmes however there is still progress to be made. All staff 

Page 65 of 173
Page 111

Agenda Item 6



are aware of the support mechanisms in place to help them and the organisation to develop 

and deliver timely and accurate reports.   

 

Equality Delivery Systems 2  

 

We adopted the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) toolkit to support us rating our 

performance against the NHS England Assurance process on equality and diversity.   We 

are ‘achieving’ fifteen outcome areas and ‘developing’ compliance against three other 

areas.  We understand that caution should always apply to performance managing equality, 

as health inequalities across the north of England are poor and PSED is an anticipatory duty 

and always applies to us when we make commissioning decisions that impact on patients.  

Our CCG Equality and Inclusion Service is hosted in Sefton and supports other Merseyside 

CCGs. The team has led on implementing EDS 2 across the CCG and Merseyside through 

an innovative and collaborative way.  All Merseyside Clinical Commissioning Groups 

including NHS Southport and Formby CCG and all the main NHS providers who operate 

within the sub region have worked collaboratively to implement the toolkit via an integrated 

approach. Key providers have included Southport and Ormskirk NHS Trust, Lancashire Care 

NHS FT, Liverpool University Hospitals NHS FT, Mersey Care NHS FT, Liverpool Women’s 

NHS FT, North West Boroughs Healthcare NHS FT, Alder hey Children’s NHS FT, The 

Walton Centre  NHS FT, Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS FT,  St Helens & Knowsley 

Hospital  Service NHS Trust and Clatterbridge Cancer Centre.  

Equality objectives 

 

Our Governing Body approved our Equality Objectives Plan (2019 to 2023) in February 

2019.  Our equality objectives are to: 

 

 Make fair and transparent commissioning decisions. 

 Improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience 

disadvantage. 

 Improve the equality performance of our providers through robust monitoring and 

collaboration.  

 Empower and engage our workforce. 

Key progress and highlights against our Equality Objectives over the past year  

We are continuing to monitor and drive improvements in equality and public law compliance 

across all key NHS providers through the quality contract schedule. Key areas of focus 

include: 

 

 Information standards, including reasonable adjustments are implemented and meet the 

needs of our disabled community 

 Decision making across trusts pays ‘due regard’ to our Public Sector Equality Duty prior 

to decisions being made 

 Ensuring specific duties are met 

 

 

 

Highlights include  

Page 66 of 173
Page 112

Agenda Item 6



 Improvements across compliance against specific duties, information standards and 

reasonable adjustments. Progression around NHS Provider compliance to paying 

‘due regard’ to PSED in relation to service change has been incremental and all NHS 

Providers are currently RAG rated as red.  However processes have improved 

incrementally over the last year.  We continue to hold our providers to account over 

2020/2021. 

 A Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) and guidance on how to provide Reasonable 

Adjustments (RA) has been developed by the Collaborative, in close partnership with 

organisations that represent disabled people. NHS Providers involved in the 

collaborative will implement the SOP over the next year. 

 Local Translation and Interpretation Quality Standards to remove variation and poor 

outcomes for people whose first language is not English or people who communicate 

via British Sign Language has been developed and are being approved across all 

NHS providers.   

 The Sefton led development of a unified Transgender pathway via the Cheshire 

Merseyside Gender Identify Collaborative (CMAGIC), will become part of the NHSE 

specialised commissioning pathway for Gender Identity Clinics from April 2020.  The 

pathway is currently being considered for roll out across the Cheshire & Merseyside 

Health and Care Partnership and grew from our Trans Health Sefton service. 

 NHS Southport and Formby CCG has adopted a Merseyside wide strategic plan to 

improve access to health services for D/deaf people across Merseyside and all 

CCGs and providers are reporting progress regularly via the Equality Collaborative 

and contract process.  

 The Equality service has developed a number of work streams to improve NHS wide 

understanding of the link between cultural sensitivity/understanding diversity and the 

impact this has on patient safety and experience.  This has included raising 

awareness to NHS providers and executive leads at CCG and NHS Provider 

Contract meetings and via the development of a training tool to support serious 

incident panels and investigators.  This will be rolled out across the CCG in 2020 and 

then duplicated by all NHS providers who make up the equality Collaborative in the 

next financial year. 

 We continue to work closely with our Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 

community development service and ensure intelligence on poor access and 

outcomes are addressed locally.    

 

Our staff  

 

We have duties to meet under the Equality Act 2010 in relation to workforce and 

organisational development.  We take positive steps to ensure that our policies deal with 

equality implications around recruitment and selection, pay and benefits, flexible working 

hours, training and development, policies around managing employees and protecting 

employees from harassment, victimisation and discrimination. It is mandatory for all our staff 

to complete equality training and, in addition, we have a workforce equality plan, which has 

contributed to us paying due regard to our Workforce Race Equality Standard.  Positive 

action initiatives this year included working across the Equality Collaborative to begin to 

connect all NHS provider Staff Support Networks and develop a CCG Staff Support offer.  

We are also part of the Cheshire & Merseyside Health and Care Partnership EDI Steering 

Group which has prioritised the following areas: 

 Developing a range of programmes to enhance opportunities for staff from BAME 

and other protected groups  

Page 67 of 173
Page 113

Agenda Item 6



 Utilising Workforce Equality Standards to bring about change and opportunity  

 Advising on STP Workforce and Educational strategy programmes  

 Reviewing recruitment programmes and promotional strategies to encourage wider 

involvement from minority communities 

  

Page 68 of 173
Page 114

Agenda Item 6



Reducing health inequality 

Trans Health Sefton – a unified approach to gender care  

Now in its second year, the ‘Trans Health Sefton – a unified approach to gender care’ 

service has gone from strength to strength.  

The clinic is the first of its kind and described as a true grass roots initiative. It is now fully 

operational and already improving access locally. Health inequalities have been reduced and 

there has been an improvement in patient experience, safety and wellbeing. The service was 

named a winner in the Healthcare Transformation Awards 2019, which recognise the very 

best in innovation and improvement across the NHS. 

The aim of the service was to achieve an integrated approach to care with primary care 

providers and ensure close links with local Trans support services and expert centres at a 

national level which it has been successful in doing across Sefton.  

Since the Sefton service opened its doors in April 2017, 80 patients have been seen. Many 

of these patients have expressed their satisfaction and praised the staff’s awareness of trans 

peoples issues. 

Outcomes so far include: 

 Improved mental wellbeing 

 Reduced travel times to clinics 

 Reduced waiting times for appointments  

Anthony Griffin, chair of In-Trust Merseyside, who played a key role in the design of the 

service, said: “As chair of the local Sefton group In-Trust Merseyside I know that the Trans 

community are looked after by clinical staff who truly understand the barriers that Trans 

people face when they engage with the NHS.”  

Dr Anna Ferguson runs the service for Sefton and is a local GP with a specialist interest in 

the field of gender medicine and she has been instrumental in getting this up and running. 

The service model developed in Sefton has been shared as an example of good practice 

with NHS England and a collaborative of interested parties, commissioners, GPs and 

patients have come together with the aim of rolling out the Sefton service across Cheshire 

and Merseyside.  The collaboration is now formalised and is called Cheshire & Merseyside 

Gender Identity Collaborative (CMAGIC) and has been successful in securing funding from 

NHS England to run a pilot site across Cheshire and Merseyside working with patients on 

current waiting lists with regional specialist clinics.   

 

  

Page 69 of 173
Page 115

Agenda Item 6



Voluntary, Community and Faith (VCF) sector  

We commission a range of services from local voluntary, community and faith organisations 

towards improving wellbeing and addressing health inequalities in Sefton. This supports our 

priority work in Sefton2gether, our annual operational plan, ‘Highway to Health’, as well as 

the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Health and Wellbeing Strategy that we work on 

together with the council. 

Below is a list of these services:  

Organisation Description of the service  Priority health areas 

addressed by services  

Sefton Advocacy 

  

Advocacy service for people aged 

16+ 

 

Advocacy 

Supporting mental health, 

older people and Learning 

Disabilities agendas 

Sefton CAB  Mental Health Project. Advocacy 

Mental health support 

Supporting hospital 

discharges  

Imagine Individual Placement Support 

Employment Service 

Mental health support 

Sefton CVS Children, Young People and 

Family Lead (Every Child Matters) 

Health and Wellbeing 

Development Officer & Support 

Officer 

Health & Wellbeing Trainers x 4 

(Supporting South Sefton Virtual 

Ward Programme) 

Community Development Worker 

BME Communities 

Children and families  

 

Wellbeing and reablement 

 

Community and housing for 

people with mental health 

issues 

Support for BME 

communities  

Alzheimer’s Society  Dementia Community Support 

Service. 

Dementia Peer Group Support 

Service. 

Improving Public and Professional 

Awareness Service 

Dementia support for patients 

and their families/carers 

SWACA, Sefton 

Women’s and 

Women and Children’s Aid centre, 

Child and Adolescent Mental 

Children and families – 

Domestic Violence Support 

Page 70 of 173
Page 116

Agenda Item 6



Children’s Aid   Health 

SWAN Centre Counselling and Listening Service 

Outreach Service 

Support Group - Staying Out 

Project 

Women’s Mental Health 

Support 

Sefton Age 

Concern  

Befriending and Reablement 

Service 

Older people Health & 

Wellbeing Support 

Expect Service provided at Bowersdale 

Resource Centre 

Support for people with 

mental health issues 

Sefton Carers 

Centre  

Advocacy for Parent Carers 

 

Children and families 

CHART, Crosby 

Housing 

Reablement Team,  

Crosby Housing Re enablement 

Team 

Wellbeing and reablement  

Netherton Feelgood 

Factory  

Health Promotion Wellbeing and reablement 

 

Parenting 2000 Children and families needing 

support: special needs, low self-

esteem and confidence, emotional 

issues, drugs and alcohol, 

domestic abuse, bereavement 

Children and families 

Stroke Association  Intermediate Care (Carers and 

advocacy, Communication) 

Wellbeing and reablement 

 

Macmillan Cancer 
Support 

Support for people suffering with 
cancer and their families  

Cancer support 

Active Ageing Chair based exercise classes for 
older people 

Falls prevention 

 

Below are some of the highlights and outcomes achieved by these VCF groups in 2019-

2020 to improve the health and wellbeing of all our residents.  

Age Concern Liverpool and Sefton  

The befriending and reablement service promotes older people’s social independence via 

positive health, support and wellbeing to prevent social isolation. Work has taken place with 

GP practices to support older patients experiencing bereavement, loneliness and benefit 

issues. 

 

Page 71 of 173
Page 117

Agenda Item 6



Alzheimer’s Society 

The society continued to deliver dementia support sessions in GP practices during 2019-20. 

Pre-arranged sessions are booked and delivered on the basis of need in particular GP 

practices. The service also provides a Side-by-Side service, which has successfully matched 

a number of service users with volunteers enjoying a range of activities including dancing, 

theatre trips, coffee shop trips, shopping and walking. Dementia peer support groups during 

this year included Singing for the Brain, Active & Involved, reading sessions and memory 

cafes across the borough. Alzheimer’s Society also showcased a memory garden at the 

Southport Flower Show, over 750 people stopped to have a chat, pick up a leaflet or ask for 

advice or support. 

Citizens Advice Sefton 

This service offers various forms of advice to in-patients at Clock View Hospital in Walton. 

During 2019-20 the majority of support required related to benefits payments (including 

Universal Credit applications), housing, mobility debt, health and community care, housing, 

legal, relationships and family, travel and transport issues. 

Crosby Housing and Reablement Team (CHART) 

During 2019-20 the service has continued to provide supported accommodation for a 

number of service users and has supported vulnerable people to stay in their current place 

of residence. The service has significantly contributed towards avoiding hospital admissions 

and enabled patients to be discharged. In addition to this, the service has prevented a 

number of vulnerable people across Sefton becoming homeless.  

Expect Limited 

Expect Limited provides an environment where service users can participate in formal and 

informal centre based and wider community activities. These activities include helping 

service users in regaining skills lost due to illness, developing new skills and knowledge, 

improving social inclusion, gaining independence, having access to more choice and 

increasing fitness, improving health and safety, financial stability and enjoyment. A variety of 

structured activities were delivered during 2019-20 including drama, music, comedy 

workshops, weekly cooking activities, summer parties and groups such as Let’s Talk Mental 

Health, together with outreach support.   

Imagine independence 

This service supports individuals with mental disorder living in the community. It promotes 

independence and recovery, providing support to maintain health and wellbeing, reducing 

admissions to residential, nursing care and in-patient settings. During 2019-20 Imagine 

Independence assisted service users with completing personal profiles and search for paid 

employment. A number of service users attended job interviews and managed to secure 

paid work. The service also supported people in retaining their current employment and 

liaised with employers on their behalf.  

Netherton Feelgood Factory  

This service provides a safe space for people with complex mental and social care needs 

(Upstairs @ 83 offers open access drop-in, one-to-one counselling, group interventions, 

welfare advice and support). Three paid staff were employed together with a small number 

Page 72 of 173
Page 118

Agenda Item 6



of volunteers. Examples of work carried out during 2019-20 include issues relating to 

domestic violence, family issues, unemployment due to mental health related issues, anxiety 

and depression. 

Parenting 2000 

The service provides counselling and support to vulnerable children, young people and 

families most in need – where deprivation, poverty and emotional wellbeing dramatically 

affect everyday family life promoting and embedding parenting skills, providing a place 

where all parents, carers, young people and children can access information, advice and 

support enabling people to meet the diverse challenges that life presents.  

Sefton Advocacy 

During 2019-20 the service has provided advocacy for a large number of people across the 

Sefton footprint ranging from housing, benefits, grants, care home advice, safeguarding and 

wellbeing. During this year, Sefton Advocacy has helped the CCGs to develop an 

independent service funding model; this involved supporting individuals to identifying their 

most suitable support agency. The service is also supporting IAPT services across the 

borough. This enables service users to access advice about to benefit applications and 

suitable housing.  

Sefton Carers Centre 

The service provides specialist advocacy, peer support, advice and guidance. This includes 

advocacy for parent carers, younger school age carers and carers of people with dementia. 

The centre has reported an increase in tribunal cases during this year whilst Universal Credit 

advice and support has been a key issue for those presenting to the service. A number of 

volunteers have been recruited to the (non-personal care) sitting service, enabling carers to 

take a short break. Physical and emotional health and wellbeing has also been provided 

through counselling and holistic therapies (91% of therapy users reporting this had a marked 

or significant positive impact on them). The service has also been key in working with the 

CCGs to deliver Personal Health Budgets.   

Sefton Council for Voluntary Service 

BME community support worker – this role links with communities in accessing a range of 

services that impact on health and wellbeing. This helps to improve access and uptake of 

services including appropriate mental health services such as IAPT. Help is given to service 

users to access primary care and supporting asylum seekers and refugees with mental 

health and physical health conditions. The majority of enquiries during 2019-20 were around 

mental health, legal issues, safeguarding, benefits, finance, debt and general health. 

Children, Young People and Families Lead (Every Child Matters) - provided representation 

on various working groups and partnerships enabling participation of voluntary, community 

and faith (VCF) sector organisations in decision making, helping identify gaps and needs 

(including under-represented groups) and developing training opportunities. During 2019-20 

the service facilitated a number of network and forum meetings. As part of a restructure, the 

Children, Young People & Families Lead now has responsibility for more focussed 

management of VCF capacity building, volunteer co-ordination and collaborative working 

with both Sefton Council and both CCGs in Sefton. 

Page 73 of 173
Page 119

Agenda Item 6



Health and Wellbeing Trainers - develop pro-active care programmes to encourage better 

self-care and behavioural change, to relieve anxiety, prevent unnecessary hospital 

admissions and signpost to other health and social care services.   

Sefton Women’s And Children’s Aid (SWACA) 

SWACA provides crisis intervention, early intervention and prevention to overcome the 

impact of domestic abuse. This includes advocacy, advice, programmes of work, parenting 

support, legal advice and therapeutic support, plus multi-agency training and VCF 

partnership working. The service has seen an increased demand identified during 2019-20 

Referrals came from various sources. The top three referrers to the service were from the 

police, self-referrals and children’s safeguarding agencies. Other referral sources included 

adult social care, children’s centres, family and friends, housing and VCF organisations.  

Stroke Association 

The association provides information, advice and support for patients and their families post 

stroke and is delivered within hospital and community settings alongside a multi-disciplinary 

team of health and social care professionals. As plans evolve, work is being undertaken to 

ensure stroke's new priority status is supported by ambitious and deliverable interventions 

across the whole National Stroke Programme pathway. During this year, it was reported that 

a significant number of service users accessing the service were under the age of 50 and a 

number of these patients were assisted in going back to work. Other areas of support 

included welfare benefits, available financial and emotional support and help for young 

families. The service also attends weekly discharge planning meetings with the Early 

Supported Discharge Team. Group meetings held during the period included the 

communication group, peer support group and Merseyside life after stroke voluntary group.  

Swan Women’s Centre 

The service provides support, information and therapeutic interventions, focusing on women 

experiencing stress, isolation and mental ill-health. The centre also provides an outreach 

service, available by professional referral, for women diagnosed with severe mental illness, 

and those that do not fit the mental illness criteria but who need support. The emotional 

wellbeing support group offers support to women, via a qualified counsellor with experience 

of group therapy.  

VCF Advisory Group 

The CCG provided leadership to establish an advisory group in 2019-2020 so that the sector 

can influence the transformation of services across Sefton. The group brings together 

representatives from 17 organisations across the borough, aiming to: 

 Ensure the sector is represented across the Sefton Health and Care transformation 

programme 

 Act as the forum for the sector, to enable ideas to be shared and a collective position 

to be formed 

 Ensure the most appropriate expertise and geographical representation is sought 

from the sector to provide input across the different elements of the transformation 

programme 

Page 74 of 173
Page 120

Agenda Item 6



 Support the transformation programme to give equal emphasis to health, care and 

wellbeing services 

Membership of the group is from the following organisations:  

Sefton Advocacy 
Fun 4 Kidz and L30 

Community Centre 
Healthwatch Sefton 

Queenscourt Hospice 
Age Concern Liverpool and 

Sefton 
Light 4 Life 

Independence initiative SWAN Centre Parkhaven Trust 

Venus Crosby Housing Association Jospice 

Sefton OPERA Sefton Carers Centre Sefton CVS 

SWACA Netherton Feelgood Factory   

  

Social prescribing in Sefton 

A system-wide social prescribing work stream was established 2019-2020 with leadership 

provided by the CCG. There is considerable enthusiasm from all partners for this work 

stream and a particular opportunity for the VCF Advisory Group to facilitate links with our 

communities, within our localities to develop an approach which really meets local need. The 

work stream is aiming to: 

 Gain a collective understanding of social prescribing and the wide range of activities 

currently in place within Sefton 

 Agree a common strategic approach to its further development (in the context of the 

developments within the new NHS long term plan and emerging national guidance) 

which builds on the strength of existing local approaches and is sensitive to the 

needs of the different communities within Sefton 

 Consider key enablers, which may support the implementation of the model 

 Develop a collective plan of action to enable the delivery of the agreed approach with 

partners across Sefton 

The group, which includes many partners, including representatives from our new Primary 

Care Networks (PCNs), supported the development of a collaborative approach to the 

introduction of the new role of the Social Prescribing Link worker, now established across all 

our PCNs. In conjunction with the CCGs in Sefton, the PCNs worked with Sefton CVS, 

Sefton Carers Centre and Brighter Living, to develop the new social prescribing link worker 

service, which connects to the wider Living Well Sefton, enabling the link workers to draw on 

a wide range of support across the VCF sector to support local residents.  

Page 75 of 173
Page 121

Agenda Item 6



Working towards a sustainable NHS  

As an NHS organisation and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a 

way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure 

healthcare services.  Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and 

efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By making the 

most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the 

immediate and long term even in the context of the rising cost of natural resources. 

We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment 

by working hard to minimise our footprint. 

Set against a backdrop of increased clinical activity and during a period of transformation, 

the NHS, public health and social care system has demonstrated significant progress by: 

 Reducing carbon emissions by 18.5% between 2007 and 2017 
 Reducing the water footprint by 21% between 2010 and 2017 
 Ensuring 85% of NHS provider waste is avoiding going directly to landfill   

Policies 

In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our 

process and procedures sustainability features. 

Area Is sustainability considered? 

Commissioning (environmental) Yes 

Commissioning (social impact) Yes 

Suppliers impact Yes 

Travel and Expenses No 

 

As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable 

future, we help achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits 

of sustainability to our staff. 

Partnerships 

We recognise that as a commissioning organisation rather than a provider of services, most 

of our carbon footprint derives from commissioning health and care services. As a 

commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms to 

deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already 

sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner.  

Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be provided in part 

through contracting mechanisms. 

Our direct resources used through transport, travel and electricity are negligible compared to 

the resources used through the services we commission, predominantly through our main 

providers. Our priority therefore is to work in partnership with our main providers to improve 

their performance and to minimise the harm and maximise the positive gain that can be 

made to health from the way our providers operate.  

 

Page 76 of 173
Page 122

Agenda Item 6



Workforce operations 

We have a small workforce and a small headquarters, so we are a relatively low carbon 

emitting organisation.  We lease our office in Southport from NHS Property Services, and we 

will work with them to provide all the required information about carbon emissions in future 

years.   

As a responsible employer, we encourage our employees to use public transport and the 

location of our offices in Southport and Bootle is within a short walking distance of main train 

and bus routes. In addition to this, we offer our employees the opportunity to purchase a bike 

through the national cycle scheme where the employee can pay through a salary deduction 

over 12 month period.  We also offer a salary sacrifice scheme for low emission and electric 

cars for employees to consider minimising their impact on the environment. 

  

Page 77 of 173
Page 123

Agenda Item 6



Accountability report  

Our organisational structure helps us to work effectively and commission the best healthcare 

possible, spending our share of NHS funding wisely. This section gives you more information 

about our Governing Body, member practices and staff. It also details the composition and 

roles of our most important committees. 

Page 78 of 173
Page 124

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Corporate governance report  

Members report 

Governing Body membership  

The table below shows the people who made up our Governing Body in 2019-2020, their roles and the committees they were a part of. 

Name 

For 2019/20 

Role Governing 
Body 

 

As at        
March 2020 

Governing 
Body PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical QIPP 
Advisory  

Finance and 
Resources 
Committee 

Joint QIPP & 
Financial 
Recovery 
Committee 

Joint Quality 
and 
Performance 
Committee 

Joint 
Remuneration 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Dr Rob 
Caudwell Chair and Clinical 

Director 
Yes Yes X X X X X Chair X X 

Dr Kati 
Scholtz 

Clinical Vice 

Chair and Clinical 

Director 

Yes Yes X X Yes X Yes X Yes 

Yes non-

voting 

member 

Helen 

Nichols 

Deputy Chair 

and Lay 

Member for 

Governance 

Yes Yes Yes Chair X Chair Yes X Yes Yes 

Director 
(Matthew 
Ashton) or 
deputy 

Director of Public 

Health, Sefton 

MBC 

(co-opted) 

Co-opted X X X X X X X X X 

Dr Emily Ball GP Clinical 

Director 
Yes Yes X X Yes X X X X X 

Page 79 of 173

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 6



 

Name 

For 2019/20 

Role Governing 
Body 

 

As at        
March 2020 

Governing 
Body PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical QIPP 
Advisory  

Finance and 
Resources 
Committee 

Joint QIPP & 
Financial 
Recovery 
Committee 

Joint Quality 
and 
Performance 
Committee 

Joint 
Remuneration 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

*Gill Brown 

Lay Member for 

Patient and 

Public 

Engagement 

Resigned 

position end 

October 

2019 

Resigned 

position end 

October 

2019 

Resigned 

position end 

October 

2019 

Yes 

(left 

October 

2019) 

X 

Yes 

(left 

October 

2019) 

X 

Resigned 

position end 

October 

2019 

Resigned 

position end 

October 

2019 

Resigned 

position end 

October  

2019 

*Dr Doug 
Callow 

GP Clinical 

Director 
Yes Yes X X 

Linked in but 

doesn’t attend X X Yes X X 

* Dil Daly 

Lay Member for 

Patient and 

Public 

Engagement 

Yes Yes Yes 

Yes 

(Joined in 

December 

2019) 

X 

Yes 

(Joined in 

December 

2019) 

X Yes Yes Chair 

*Debbie 
Fagan Chief Nurse 

Stepped down 

May 2019 

 

 

Stepped 

down May 

2019 

Stepped 

down May 

2019 

X 
Stepped down 

May 2019 

Yes 

(left 

committee 

w.e.f. 23 May 

2019 to 

undertake 

secondment) 

Yes 

(left committee 

w.e.f. 23 May 

2019 to 

undertake 

secondment) 

Yes 

(left 

committee 

w.e.f. 23 May 

2019 to 

undertake 

secondment 

X 

Yes 

(left 

committee 

w.e.f. 23 

May 2019 to 

undertake 

secondment 

*Vikki Gilligan Practice Manager 

Member 
Yes Yes X X X  X X x X X 

*Dwayne 
Johnson 

Director of Social 

Services & 

Health, Sefton 

MBC 

(co-opted) 

Seconded from 

May 2019 

 

 

X  X X X X X X X X 

Director or 
deputy 

Social Services & 

Health, Sefton 

MBC 

(co-opted) 

Co-opted (from 

May 201 re DJ) 
X X X X X X X X X 

Page 80 of 173

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 6



Name 

For 2019/20 

Role Governing
Body 

As at 
March 2020 

Governing
Body PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical QIPP 
Advisory 

Finance and 
Resources 
Committee 

Joint QIPP & 
Financial 
Recovery 
Committee 

Joint Quality 
and 
Performance 
Committee 

Joint 
Remuneration 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Maureen 
Kelly Healthwatch Co-opted X X X X X X X X Diane Blair

*Jane Lunt Interim Chief

Nurse 
Yes Yes Yes X X X Yes Yes X Yes 

Martin
McDowell 

Chief Finance 

Officer 
Yes Yes Yes X Yes (deputy) Yes X Yes X Yes 

*Dr Anette
Metzmacher 

GP Clinical 

Director 
Yes Yes X X x X X X X X 

Dr Hilal Mulla GP Clinical 

Director 
Yes Yes X X Yes Yes X X X X 

*Colette Page
Additional Nurse Yes Yes X X X X X x X X 

*Brendan
Prescott 

Deputy Chief 

Nurse 

Until the 

appointment 

of Jane Lunt 

Until the 

appointment 

of Jane Lunt 

Until the 

appointment 

of Jane Lunt 

X 

Until the 

appointment 

of Jane Lunt 

X 

Until the 

appointment

of Jane Lunt 

Until the 

appointment

of Jane Lunt 

X 

Until the 

appointment

of Jane Lunt 

*Dr Tim
Quinlan 

GP Clinical 

Director 

Resigned 

position end 

October

2019 

Resigned 

position 

December

2019 

X X X X X X X X 

Colette Riley 
Practice Manager Yes Yes X X X Yes X X X X 

Dr Jeff 
Simmonds 

Secondary Care 

Doctor 
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes X Yes Yes Yes X 

Fiona Taylor 
Chief Officer Yes Yes Yes X X 

Ex officio 

member 
X 

Ex officio 

member 
X Yes 

Page 81 of 173

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 6



 

* Gill Brown:  resigned position end of October 2019 
*Dr Doug Callow:  Clinical Lead for Quality 
* Dil Daly: appointed December 2019 as new Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement  
* Debbie Fagan:  Seconded May 2019.  Deputy Chief Nurse covered by Brendan Prescott 
* Vikki Gilligan: appointed end of September 2019 
* Dwayne Johnson: stepped down May 2019 
* Jane Lunt appointed Interim Chief Nurse October 2019 
* Anette Metzmacher:  appointed late February 2020 
* Colette Page:  appointed Additional Nurse member May 2019 
* Brendan Prescott:  covered Chief Nurse position until the appointment of Jane Lunt 
* Tim Quinlan: resigned position  
 

        

Page 82 of 173

P
age 128

A
genda Item

 6



 

Conflicts of interest 

We have a managing conflicts of interest and gifts and hospitality policy that can be found on 

our website30.  To accompany the policy we have a formal register of interests and a register of 

hospitality and gifts, all of which can be found on our website.  All formal meeting agendas 

commence with a ‘declaration of interest’ and the chair of the meeting will address any 

declarations made in accordance with the policy and record any such matters and actions in the 

formal meeting minutes 

Personal data related incidents 

Our Joint Quality Committee ensures that any information we hold about our patients’ care is 

held securely and in line with data protection legislation and wider information governance 

requirements. We report any personal data breaches to the Information Commissioner’s Office 

(ICO). We also report breaches in our information governance annual report that we publish on 

our website. When breaches do occur, we work hard to strengthen our systems, and our staff 

carry out regular training to ensure their work complies with national standards and regulations. 

In 2019–2020 there were no breaches of personal data reported to the ICO.    

Modern Slavery Act 

We fully support the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human 

trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year ending 31 March 

2020 is published on our website31. 

 

  

                                                           
30 Find links to these documents here - https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-constitution/  
31 Find our statement here - https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/get-informed/modern-slavery-and-
human-trafficking/  

Page 83 of 173
Page 129

Agenda Item 6



Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each clinical commissioning 

group shall have an accountable officer and that officer shall be appointed by the NHS 

Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed Fiona Taylor to be the 

accountable officer of NHS Southport and Formby CCG. 

The responsibilities of an accountable officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 

2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the accountable officer is

answerable

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the clinical commissioning group and enable them to ensure

that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction)

 For safeguarding the clinical commissioning group’s assets (and hence for taking

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities)

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))

and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in

accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of

the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out 

in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in

taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the accountable officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a

consistent basis

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting

Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and

explain any material departures in the financial statements

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

Page 84 of 173
Page 130

Agenda Item 6



To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 

under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my 

Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.    

I also confirm that: 

 As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors

are unaware, and that as accountable officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to

have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that

the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information

 That the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable

and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the

judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable

Fiona Taylor 

Accountable officer 

17 June 2020 

Page 85 of 173
Page 131

Agenda Item 6



 

Governance statement  

Introduction and context 

NHS Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate 

established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended). 

The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the 

purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the 

provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the 

reasonable requirements of its local population. 

In May 2016 the CCG was subject to a capacity and capability review commissioned by NHSE 

and undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers. This report was commissioned in response to the 

CCG submitting a deficit plan for 2016-2017, following deterioration in the financial position 

during the latter half of 2015-2016.   

 

As a consequence the CCG was deemed inadequate in respect of business rules with effect 

from 1st September 2016, and it was required to operate under directions issued by NHS 

England. Those directions set out the requirements to develop an improvement plan that is 

being monitored by NHSE to ensure continued financial sustainability of the CCG. The CCG 

remained in directions during 2019-2020.  

 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control 

that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 

the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 

responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my 

responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my 

Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically and that 

resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I 

also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within 

the CCG as set out in this governance statement. 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 

arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 

and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

The CCG is a clinically led membership organisation made up of general practices. Member 

practices are responsible for determining the governing arrangements for the organisation which 

are set out in its constitution. 

Page 86 of 173
Page 132

Agenda Item 6



 

The constitution has been developed to reflect and support the objectives and values defined by 

the CCG and to ensure that all business functions discharged by the CCG are discharged in an 

open and transparent manner. It has been developed with the member practices and localities. 

The CCG operates across the geographical area defined as Southport and Formby. 

The Governing Body comprises a diverse range of skills from executive and lay members and 

there is a clear division of responsibility between running the Governing Body and running the 

operational elements of the CCG’s business. The chair is responsible for the leadership of the 

Governing Body and ensures that directors have had access to relevant information to assist 

them in the delivery of their duties. The lay members have actively provided scrutiny and 

challenge at Governing Body and sub-committee level. 

Each committee comprises membership and representation from appropriate officers and lay 

members with sufficient experience and knowledge to support the committees in discharging 

their duties.  

Governing Body meetings have been well attended by members of the senior leadership team 

and lay members during the year ensuring that the Governing Body has been able to make fully 

informed decisions to support and deliver the strategic objectives. 

Strategic objectives  
 

To progress Sefton2gether as the transformational partnership plan for the 

place of Sefton that will achieve the outcomes specified in the Sefton Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy and the NHS Long Term plan ensuring involvement of 

all stakeholders in our work.  

To ensure that the CCG continues to aspire to improve performance and 

quality across the mandated constitutional measures.   

To focus on financial sustainability by implementing the Sefton transformation 

programme and the CCG’s QIPP plan. 

To support primary care development through our responsibilities for the 

commissioning of primary medical services, the development of Primary Care 

Networks and ensuring there are robust and resilient primary services in the 

place of Sefton. 

To advance integration of in-hospital and community services in support of 

the CCG locality model of care. 

To advance the integration of Health and Social Care through collaborative 

working and strategic commissioning with Sefton Metropolitan Borough 

Council, supported by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

The Governing Body is assured of its effectiveness in terms of performance management 

through the regular corporate performance reports on finance, QIPP and financial recovery, 

quality and key performance indicators as set out in national guidance. 

 

 

Page 87 of 173
Page 133

Agenda Item 6



 

The CCG comprises membership from the practices in the following table. 

Practice Name and Address 

Churchtown Medical Centre, 137 Cambridge Road, Southport,PR9 7LT 

Marshside Surgery, 117 Flyde Road, Southport, PR9 9XL 

Corner Surgery, 117 Fylde Road, Southport, PR9 9XL 

Norwood Surgery, 11 Norwood Avenue, Southport, PR9 7EG 

Roe Lane Surgery, 172 Roe Lane, Southport, PR9 7PN 

Christiana Hartley Medical Practice, 5 Curzon Rd, Southport, PR8 6PN 

Trinity Practice, 42 Derby Road, Southport, PR9 0TZ 

Cumberland House Surgery 58 Scarisbrick New Road, Southport, PR8 6PG 

Kew Surgery 85 Town Lane, Southport, PR8 6RG 

St Marks Medical Centre, 42 Derby Road, Southport, PR9 0TZ 

The Grange Surgery, 41 York Road, Southport, PR8 2AD 

Family Surgery 107 Liverpool Road, Southport, PR8 4DB 

Lincoln House Surgery, 33 Lincoln Road, Southport, PR8 4PR 

Ainsdale Medical Centre 66 Station Road, Ainsdale, Southport, PR8 3HW 

Ainsdale Village Surgery, 2 Leamington Road, Ainsdale, Southport, PR8 3LB 

Chapel Lane Surgery, 13 Chapel Lane, Formby, L37 4DL 

The Hollies Surgery, 10 Elbow Lane, Formby, L37 4AD 

The Village Surgery, 12 Elbow Lane, Formby, L37 4AD 

Freshfield Surgery, 61 Gores Lane, Formby L37 3NU (Village Surgery above are provider and 

this is ran as one practice across two sites) 

 

In the latest annual improvement and assessment framework (IAF) results (2018-2019) we were 

rated as ‘requires improvement’ by NHS England. During the year the CCG continued to 

develop its leadership capability (clinical and managerial) by investing in dedicated development 

time.  There has been substantial involvement by the CCG in the work of the Cheshire & 

Merseyside Health and Care Partnership and its programmes. The CCG Accountable Officer is 

also the Senior Responsible Officer for Sefton “place” and has led representation and partner 

involvement with the Health and Care Partnership.  

Page 88 of 173
Page 134

Agenda Item 6



 

The CCG is able to demonstrate excellent leadership in terms of quality and finance and 

proactively seeks to engage the public in its work and uses patient feedback to inform the way 

forward.  The outputs of our audits confirm that there are robust governance and accountability 

arrangements in place and that these are appropriately refreshed to support the new operating 

environment in Sefton and across Cheshire and Merseyside.  

The Governing Body is also assured of its effectiveness via the provider performance reports 

and compliance with constitutional standards.  Further assurances on effectiveness are also 

provided as part of the new NHSE Oversight Framework.   

The Governing Body is supported by a sub-committee structure comprising the committees 

listed below. 

Joint Quality and Performance Committee 

The main functions of the committee are: 

 To monitor standards and provide assurance on the quality of commissioned services, 

by the CCG to ensure that local and national standards are met 

 To promote a culture of continuous improvement and innovation with respect to safety, 

clinical effectiveness and patient experience 

 

The committee’s key responsibilities are to: 

 Ensure all decision making is consistent with the CCGs’ QIPP priorities 

 Support the transformation of services in Sefton by providing advice and guidance in 

respect of the quality and safety of services ensuring that the CCG continues to 

discharge its statutory responsibilities  

 Approve  arrangements  including  supporting  policies  to  minimise  clinical  risk,  

maximise patient safety and secure continuous improvement in quality and patient 

outcomes 

 Approve the arrangements for handling complaints 

 Approve  the  CCGs’  arrangements  for  engaging  patients  and  their  carers  in  

decisions concerning their healthcare 

 Approve arrangements for supporting NHS England in discharging its responsibilities to 

secure continuous improvement in the quality of general medical services in conjunction 

with the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 Approve and monitor the arrangements in respect of Safeguarding (children and adults) 

 Monitor the quality of commissioned services, compliance with Controlled Drugs 

Regulations 2013 

 

This joint committee comprises the chief nurse and quality officer, lay members, clinicians and 

other CCG officers to ensure that the committee is appropriately skilled and resourced to deliver 

its objectives. 

Joint Quality and Performance Committee has been well attended by all CCG officers, lay 

members and clinicians throughout the year so there has been robust scrutiny and challenge at 

all times. This has enabled the committee to provide robust assurances to the Governing Body 

and to inform the Governing Body of key risk areas. 

Page 89 of 173
Page 135

Agenda Item 6



 

The committee is supported by a Corporate Governance Support Group, Engagement and 

Patient Experience Group, Medicines Operational Group, Serious Incident Review Group and a 

SEND Health Performance Improvement Group. 

In respect of 2019-2020 key items of note were: 

 Provider performance 

 Quality surveillance  

 Corporate risk registers (detailing specific quality risks) 

 Safeguarding assurance 

 Chief Nurse business update 

 Serious incident reports 

 SEND improvement notice 

Audit Committee 

The Codes of Conduct and Accountability, issued in April 1994, set out the requirement for 

every NHS Board to establish an audit committee. That requirement remains in place today and 

reflects not only established best practice in the private and public sectors, but the constant 

principle that the existence of an independent audit committee is a central means by which a 

Governing Body ensures effective internal control arrangements are in place. 

In September 2017 the CCG Governing Body in conjunction with NHS South Sefton CCG 

Governing Body agreed to support the proposals for the respective Audit Committees to meet 

as “committees in common” as a more efficient and effective way of supporting the statutory 

business of the CCGs. That arrangement came into effect during October 2017 and continued 

to operate in that way throughout 2019-2020. 

A “committees in common” arrangement enables the two committees to meet at the same time 

in the same place with a shared agenda, however both committees must remain quorate at all 

times to ensure compliance with the CCGs’ constitutions.  

The principal functions of the committee are as follows: 

 To support the establishment of an effective system of integrated governance, risk 

management and internal control, across the whole of the CCGs’ activities to support the 

delivery of the CCG’s objectives 

 To review and approve the arrangements for discharging the CCGs’ statutory financial 

duties 

 To review and approve arrangements for the CCGs’ standards of Business Conduct 

including conflicts of interest, the register of interests and codes of conduct 

 To ensure that the organisation has policies for ensuring compliance with relevant 

regulatory, legal and code of conduct requirements and to approve such policies. 

 

There have been a couple of changes to the Terms of Reference in respect of the membership 

of the Committee during the year. As at the end of the year it comprised: 

 Lay Member (Governance) (Chair) 

Page 90 of 173
Page 136

Agenda Item 6



 

 Lay Member (Patient Experience & Engagement) 

 Secondary Care Doctor 

 Practice Manager 
 
All are members of the Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body. The Practice Manager 

member was only included in the membership for part of the year and there was no-one 

appointed to the position until after the January 2020 meeting.  

The Audit Committee chair or vice chair and one other member are necessary for quorum 

purposes. In addition to the committee members, officers from the CCG are also asked to attend 

the committee as required. This always includes senior representation from finance. 

In carrying out the above work, the committee primarily utilises the work of internal audit, 

external audit and other assurance functions as required.  A number of representatives from 

external organisations have attended to provide expert opinion and support: 

 Audit manager - Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) 

 Anti-fraud specialist - MIAA 

 Audit director  - Grant Thornton   

 Audit manager - Grant Thornton  

 

The Audit Committee supports the Governing Body by critically reviewing governance and 

assurance processes on which the Governing Body places reliance. The work of the committee 

is not to manage the process of populating the Governance Assurance Framework or to 

become involved in the operational development of risk management processes, either at an 

overall level or for individual risks; these are the responsibility of the Governing Body supported 

by line management. The role of the Audit Committee is to satisfy itself that these operational 

processes are being carried out appropriately.  

Internal audit 

Role - An important principle is that internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal 

service within an organisation. As such, its role embraces two key areas: 

 The provision of an independent opinion to the accountable officer (chief officer), the 

Governing Body, and to the Audit Committee on the degree to which risk management, 

control and governance support the achievement of the organisation’s agreed objectives. 

 The provision of an independent and objective consultancy service specifically to help 

line management improve the organisation’s risk management, control and governance 

arrangements. 

 

Internal audit, together with CCG management, prepared a plan of work that was approved by 

the Audit Committee and progress against that plan has been monitored throughout the year. 

During 2019-20, MIAA has reviewed the operations of the CCG. No major issues have been 

identified. Reports have been provided for all completed reviews and in all cases action plans 

have been agreed. Actions have or will be implemented and progress against action plans is 

regularly monitored and reported to the Audit Committee. 

Page 91 of 173
Page 137

Agenda Item 6



 

An appropriate level of assurance has been provided for all areas reviewed in 2019-2020. This 

means that there were no areas reported by MIAA where weaknesses in control, or consistent 

non- compliance with key controls could have resulted in failure to achieve the review objective.  

All areas reviewed, for which a level of assurance was provided, were given high or substantial 

assurance rating. 

In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note are: 

 Annual Governance Statement 2018-2019; 

 Annual Accounts 2018–2019;  

 Annual report 2018-2019, approved; 

 Governing Body Assurance Framework, Corporate Risk Registers and Heat Map. 

 Registers of interest, conflicts, sponsorship and procurements. 

 Risk Management Strategy 

 Primary Care Commissioning – Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 

External audit 

Role - The objectives of the external auditors are to review and report on the CCG’s financial 

statements and on its Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 

Anti-fraud specialist 

Role - The CCG is committed to taking all necessary steps to counter fraud, bribery and 

corruption. To meet its objectives, it has adopted the four-stage approach developed by the 

NHS Counter Fraud Authority (CFA). 

The NHS CFA unified approach to tackling all crime against the NHS (Tackling Crime against 

the NHS: A Strategic Approach’) is delivered across four key operational areas: 

 To ensure that the organisation’s strategic governance arrangements have embedded 

anti-crime measures across all levels 

 To inform and involve NHS staff and the public through raising awareness of crime risks 

against the NHS, and publicising those risks and effects of crime 

 Prevent and deter individuals who may be tempted to commit crime against the NHS and 

ensure that opportunities for crime to occur are minimised 

 To detect and investigate crime and hold to account those individuals who have 

committed crimes by prosecuting and seeking redress 

 

The anti-fraud specialist, together with CCG management, prepared a plan of work that was 

approved by the Audit Committee and progress against that plan continues to be monitored 

throughout the year. The Audit Committee approved an updated anti-fraud, bribery and 

corruption policy in January 2020 and a whistleblowing policy, initially in April 2019 with an 

updated policy approved in January 2020. 

Regular items for review 

The Audit Committee follows a work plan approved at the beginning of the year, which includes: 

 Losses and special payments 

 Outstanding debts 

Page 92 of 173
Page 138

Agenda Item 6



 

 Financial policies and procedures 

 Tender waivers 

 Declarations of interest 

 Self-assessment of the committee’s effectiveness 

 Data Security and Protection Toolkit (Formerly Information Governance Toolkit) 

 Risk registers reviews 

 

In respect of 2019-20, key items of note are: 

 Annual Governance Statement 2018-2019 

 Annual Accounts 2018–2019  

 Annual report 2018-2019, approved  

 Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Registers 

 Registers of interest, conflicts, sponsorship and procurements 

 Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy – approved April 2019 with an updated version 

approved January 2020 

 Whistleblowing policy – approved January 2020 

 

Remuneration Committee 

The committee ensures compliance with statutory requirements and undertook reviews of very 

senior managers’ remuneration to comply with the requirements set out in the NHS Codes of 

Conduct and Accountability and the Higgs report.  

In September 2017 the CCG Governing Body in conjunction with NHS South Sefton CCG 

Governing Body agreed to support the proposals for the respective Remuneration Committees 

to meet as “committees in common” as a more efficient and effective way of supporting the 

statutory business of the CCGs.  That arrangement came into effect during October 2017 and 

continued to operate this way during 2019-2020. 

A “committees in common” arrangement enables the two committees to meet at the same time 

in the same place with a shared agenda, however both committees must remain quorate at all 

times to ensure compliance with the CCGs’ constitutions.  

During the year, the committee has reviewed the following: 

 Annual very senior manager (VSM) salary review 

 GP pensions arrangements  

 A remuneration framework for clinical commissioners and contractors 

 

Finance and Resource Committee 

The committee oversees and monitors financial and workforce development strategies; monitors 

the annual revenue budget and planned savings; develops and delivers capital investment; is 

responsible for reviewing financial and workforce risk registers; and financial, workforce and 

contracting performance. 

In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note and given the CCG’s projected deficit are: 

Page 93 of 173
Page 139

Agenda Item 6



 

 Review of financial strategy, financial recovery plan and risk register 

 Review CCG operational budgets 

 Review and discussion of monthly financial reports 

 Review and discussion of key areas of spend e.g. continuing healthcare 

 QIPP plan updates 

 CSU performance reports 

 IT updates 

 Estates work programme updates 

 Workforce reports 

 Prescribing updates 

 HR policies - approval 

 

Joint QIPP and Financial Recovery Committee 

The principal function of the committee is to monitor progress on the implementation and benefit 

realisation of the CCGs QIPP plans, providing assurances to the Governing Body that the CCG 

is on track to achieve its QIPP targets. 

Clinical QIPP Advisory Group 

This group is responsible for providing clinical advice in respect of the development of all QIPP 

schemes and makes recommendations to the Joint QIPP Committee. The group is not decision 

making, but advisory in its capacity. 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

The Committee was established in April 2019 to enable members to make collective decisions 

on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in Southport and Formby 

under delegated authority from NHS England. The role of the committee is to carry out the 

functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS 

Act. The Committee has a “committees in common” arrangement with NHS South Sefton CCG.  

However, each respective committee remains accountable for decisions pertaining to their 

relevant CCG.   

In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note are: 

 Review of primary care finances and risk register 

 7 Day Access Contract 

 Primary Care Network updates 

Page 94 of 173
Page 140

Agenda Item 6



Governing Body Members - Committee Attendance 2019-2020 

Southport & Formby 
CCG Governing Body 

Member 

Governing 
Body 
PTI 

Governing 
Body 

PTII (and 
Extraord. PTII) 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical 
QIPP 

Advisory 
Group

Finance & 
Resource 

Committee 

Joint QIPP 
& Financial 
Recovery 

Committee 

Joint Quality 
and

Performance 
Committee 

PCCCiC 
PTI 

PCCCiC 
PTII Remuneration 

Committee 

Dr Rob Caudwell 5/5 6/8 X X X X X 7/10 X X X 

Helen Nichols 5/5 8/8 1/1 5/5 X 9/10 8/11 X 9/9 9/9 2/2 

Dr Kati Scholtz 4/5 7/8 X X 10/11 X 10/11 X 7/9 7/9 2/2 

Director of Public Health
(Matthew Ashton)  
or deputy 

5/5 N/A X X X X X X X X X 

Dr Emily Ball 2/5 1/8 X X 1/11 X X X X X X 

*Gill Brown 3/3 3 /4 X 2/3 X 4/6 X 5/6 4/6 4/6 X 

Dr Doug Callow 2/5 3/8 X X Linked in but 
doesn’t attend 

X X 5/10 X X X 

*Dil Daly 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1 X 3/3 X 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2 

*Debbie Fagan 1/1 1/1 X X 0 /2 0/1 0/2 0/0 X X X 

*Vikki Gilligan ½ 3/ 4 X X X X X X X X X 

*Dwayne Johnson 0/1 N/A X X X X X X X X X 

Director of Social 
Services or deputy 

0/4 N/A X X X X X X X X X 

Maureen Kelly 3/5 N/A X X X X X X X X X 

*Jane Lunt ½ 3/ 4 1/1 X X X X 4/5 X X X 

Martin McDowell 5/5 8/8 
1/1 X 9/11 

(deputy) 
9/10 11/11 4/10 5/9 5/9 X 

*Dr Anette Metzmacher 0/0 0/1 X X X X X X X X X 

Dr Hilal Mulla 4/5 6/8 X X 0/11 9/10 X X X X X 

*Colette Page 4/4 6/7 X X X X X X X X X 

*Brendan Prescott 2/2 2/3 X X 1/ 3 X X 4/5 X X X 

*Dr Tim Quinlan 4/4 5/5 X X X X X X X X X 

Colette Riley 2/5 3/8 X X X 7/10 X X X X X 

Dr Jeff Simmonds 5/5 7/8 1/1 4/5 8/11 X 4/11 2/10 X X 2/2 

Fiona Taylor 5/5 6/8 1/1 X X Ex Officio 3/11 1/10 3/9 3/9 X 

Page 95 of 173

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 6



 

* Gill Brown:  resigned position end of October 2019 
* Dil Daly: appointed December 2019 as new Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement  
* Debbie Fagan:  Seconded May 2019.  Deputy Chief Nurse covered by Brendan Prescott 
* Vikki Gilligan: appointed end of September 2019 
* Dwayne Johnson: stepped down May 2019 
* Jane Lunt appointed Interim Chief Nurse October 2019 
* Dr Anette Metzmacher:  appointed February 2020 
* Colette Page:  appointed Additional Nurse member May 2019 
* Brendan Prescott:  covered Chief Nurse position until the appointment of Jane Lunt 
* Tim Quinlan: resigned position 

 

 

 

  

Page 96 of 173

P
age 142

A
genda Item

 6



 

UK corporate governance code  

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 

Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not mandatory for 

public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice. This Governance Statement 

is intended to demonstrate the clinical commissioning group’s continued aspirations to comply 

with the principles set out in this code. 

Up to the date of this statement the CCG has continued to work towards full compliance with the 

code. 

Discharge of statutory functions 

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has 

reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 

confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements 

associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 

restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.  

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity 

to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

Risk management arrangement and effectiveness 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 

eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide 

reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based 

on an on-going process designed to: 

 Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims 

and objectives 

 Prevent and deter risks from arising by ensuring there is sufficient resource and capacity 

to support the CCGs strategy and objectives 

 Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 

realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 

The CCG has embedded processes in place to manage risks associated with service 

development or change.  Stakeholder mapping, quality impact and equality impact assessments 

are integral to developing plans for proposed change and to manage risks which may impact on 

those affected by change.   

 

 

 

 

Page 97 of 173
Page 143

Agenda Item 6



 

Capacity to handle risk 

The Governing Body has developed and approved the corporate objectives, and the evaluation 

of the risks to achieving these objectives are set out in the Governing Body assurance 

framework which is regularly reviewed and scrutinised by the leadership team, Corporate 

Governance Support Group, Audit Committee and the Governing Body. The Governing Body 

assurance framework is a key document the purpose of which is to provide the Governing Body 

with ‘reasonable’ assurance that internal systems are functioning effectively. It is a high level 

document that is used to inform and give assurance to the Governing Body that the risks to 

achieving key objectives are recognised and that controls are in place or being developed to 

manage these risks. 

 The senior management team has responsibility for ensuring that all objectives are 

appropriately resourced to secure delivery and to mitigate risks to delivery arising. 

To ensure that there are effective controls in place to deter and prevent fraud the CCG has 

appointed an anti-fraud specialist (AFS), the service is provided by Mersey Internal Audit 

Agency (MIAA). The AFS undertakes an approved programme of work with the CCG ensuring 

that there are appropriate controls and mechanisms in place. 

Risk management framework 

The CCG has adopted the risk management framework described in the NHS Executives 

Controls Assurance risk management standard. This draws on the main components of risk 

strategy, that is risk identification, risk analysis, evaluation and prioritisation and risk treatment. 

 

 

 

Page 98 of 173
Page 144

Agenda Item 6



 

Risk assessment 

Risks are rated, and controls that will address these risks are identified, gaps in control or 

assurance are noted and action plans to close gaps summarised and updated. Potential and 

actual sources of assurance are identified and the latter are also rated for the level of assurance 

provided. A summary of the assurance levels for all assurance framework entries is updated 

each quarter and accompanies the full document. The corporate risk register provides the 

Governing Body with a summary of the principal risks facing the organisation, with a summary of 

the actions needed and being taken to reduce these risks to an acceptable level. The 

information contained in the corporate risk register should be sufficient to allow the Governing 

Body to be involved in prioritising and managing major risks. The risks described in the 

corporate risk register will be more wide-ranging than those in the Governing Body assurance 

framework, covering a number of domains. 

Where risks to achieving organisational objectives are identified in the corporate risk register 

these are added to the Governing Body assurance framework; and where gaps in control are 

identified in the Governing Body assurance framework, these risks are added to the corporate 

risk register. The two documents thus work together to provide the Governing Body with 

assurance and action plans on risk management in the organisation. The corporate risk register 

is updated and presented for review and scrutiny at the same time as the Governing Body 

assurance framework. 

The CCG commissions a range of training programmes which include specific mandatory 

training for particular staff groups which aims to minimise the risks inherent in their daily work, 

such as information governance, counter fraud, fire, health and safety, equality and diversity 

and safeguarding training are mandatory training requirements for all staff. 

To ensure that there is a mechanism for public stakeholders to assist in the management of 

risks that impact on the public, the CCG has established an Engagement and Patient 

Experience Group (EPEG). This group reviews proposals for service change ensuring 

compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and other relevant laws before progressing 

further with consultation. 

The CCG also consults with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on any proposals potentially 

impacting on the public so that there is holistic and system wide assessment and mitigation of 

risks. 

Other sources of assurance internal control framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 

commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to 

identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 

impact should they be realised, and to manage them, efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. 

 

 

Page 99 of 173
Page 145

Agenda Item 6



 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 

The statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2016) 

requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To 

support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published an audit framework. 

The internal audit plan includes an element of time to facilitate the annual review of conflicts of 

interest management. 

This has been completed as part of the internal audit plan for 2019/20.  The CCG has been 

assessed as fully compliant in each of the following areas: 

 Governance Arrangements 

 Declaration of interests and gifts and hospitality 

 Register of interests, gifts and contract monitoring 

 Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/ non-compliance.  

 

Data quality 

Data services (DSCRO) are commissioned through Arden & Gem CSU who process and quality 

assures that data that is received from providers and works with the CCG to challenge providers 

if inconsistencies are identified. DSCROs are regional processing centres for NHS Digital who 

are granted powers by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to lawfully process patient 

identifiable information. 

Midlands and Lancashire CSU is commissioned to provide the CCG with inter alia, performance 

reports, contract monitoring reports, quality dashboards and other activity and performance 

data. 

The CCG’s business intelligence team also assess the quality of the data provided and ensure 

that concerns are addressed through the provider information sub group meetings. 

These processes provide assurances that the quality of the data upon which the membership 

and Governing Body rely is robust. 

Information Governance 

All key information assets have been identified by the asset owners on an information asset 

register. The data security and confidentiality risks to each asset have been identified and 

control implemented to mitigate risks. 

The risks to the physical information assets are minimal, and pose no significant information 

governance concern for the CCG. 

All inbound and outbound flows of data have been identified through a data flow mapping tool. 

All data flows are being transferred appropriately. 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the 

NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable 

information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security and 

Protection Toolkit (DSPT) (replaces the Information Governance Toolkit) and the annual 

Page 100 of 173
Page 146

Agenda Item 6



 

submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other 

organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 

efficiently and effectively.   

We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems 

and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have established 

an information governance management framework and have developed information 

governance policies and procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. We 

have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and have implemented 

a staff information handbook which contains information to ensure staff awareness of their roles 

and responsibilities. 

The chief finance officer is the CCG’s senior information risk owner (SIRO) and the chief nurse 

and quality officer is the CCG’s Caldicott Guardian. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and the investigation of serious incidents. 

Information risk assessment and management procedures are in place and and we continue to 

work to ensure that a risk culture remains fully embedded throughout the organisation against 

identified risks. 

Business critical models 

Officers of the CCG have reviewed the Macpherson report to consider the implications for the 

CCG.  A report was provided to Audit Committee in April 2018 which provided assurance on 

CCG processes in place for business critical models.   

Our business critical models and processes have been identified as risk assurance and risk 

management, financial and resources control, contracting and procurement processes, policy 

planning, forecasting and commissioning of health services, quality assurance processes, 

business management and corporate processes and governance arrangements. 

During 2019-2020 internal audit completed reviews of budgetary control and commissioning for 

quality. They were issued with high and substantial opinions respectively. 

Third party assurances 

The CCG has delegated arrangements in place with providers external to the CCG for some 

services. Where the CCG relies on third party providers, assurance is requested to seek 

assurance on the effectiveness of controls and processes in place. This usually takes the form 

of service auditor reports.  

Pension obligations 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 

measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme 

regulations are complied with. 

This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into 

the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension scheme 

records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations. 

Page 101 of 173
Page 147

Agenda Item 6



 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  

Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions 

website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.   

A national issue has been identified whereby GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead roles have 

not been treated correctly for the purposes of pension.  These roles were considered to be non-

pensionable however following contract review it has come to light that these roles should have 

been subject to contributions.  Current GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead roles now attract 

pension deductions.  The CCG is working with Business Advisors to resolve the historical 

impact of this issue. 

Equality, diversity and human rights obligations 

Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with the 

required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010. 

Sustainable developments obligations 

The CCG will develop plans to assess risks, enhance performance and reduce its impact, 

including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This includes 

establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across policy 

development, business planning and in commissioning. As accountable officer I will ensure the 

clinical commissioning group complies with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, 

including the Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 

Further details of how the CCG meets these obligations are contained in the ‘working 

sustainably’ section of the report. 

Risk assessment in relation to governance, risk management and 

internal control 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG has a risk management strategy. The following key elements 

are contained within the strategy: 

 Aims and objectives 

 Roles, responsibilities and accountability 

 The risk management process – risk identification, risk assessment, risk treatment, 

monitoring and review, risk prevention 

 Risk grading – criteria 

 Training and support 

 

We have established a number of mechanisms for identifying and managing risks including risk 

profiling methodology, incident reporting, complaints and litigation data, and staff concerns or 

whistleblowing. 

Risk management and the ensuing development of risk registers is generally achieved using a 

dual ‘top-down’ and ‘bottom-up’ approach to identifying and managing risks. The ‘top-down’ 

element has been addressed through the development of a Governing Body assurance 

framework and corporate risk register identifying strategic high-level risks. These two 

documents are based on models which have previously been accepted as meeting audit 

requirements. 

Page 102 of 173
Page 148

Agenda Item 6



 

Key risks identified during 2019-2020 are: 

Risk description Key controls and assurances in place 

Sustainability of hospital services due to 
workforce and financial pressures 

Mitigations scrutinised included – oversight 
through enhanced governance structures with a 
transformation board and dedicated programme 
management office, agreed contractual risk 
share with our local trust and appointment of a 
turnaround director to steer improvements 
across the local health and care system    
 

Financial performance of the CCG 
 

Mitigations scrutinised included – robust 
monthly management accounting routines, 
regular examination of outcomes from our 
quality innovation, productivity and prevention 
programme, monthly reporting against targets 
and restrictions on non-essential spending 

 

The financial performance risk crystallised during the year given the reported deficit and despite 

the controls and assurances that were put in place. 

Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and maintains a 

system of strong internal control and risk management. However no organisation can be 

complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps during the year in a number of 

key areas to ensure that compliance with the operating licence is maintained and protected. 

Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above the CCG keeps under constant 

review the governance structures and committees that support the Governing Body in the 

discharge of its role and responsibilities. 

Performance information – during the year the integrated performance report which is presented 

formally to the Governing Body has been subject to regular review, refinement and further 

strengthening so as to fully meet the needs and requirements of the Governing Body and 

provide them with assurance as to compliance with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties. 

  

Page 103 of 173
Page 149

Agenda Item 6



 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 

resources 

The CCG seeks to gain best value through all of its contracting and procurement processes. 

The CCG has approved a scheme of delegation, prime financial policies and a schedule of 

financial limits that ensures there are proper controls in respect of expenditure. 

The agreed limits for quotation and tendering are detailed in those policies and staff are 

required to properly assess bids for services in accordance with the policies. 

The CCG buys procurement expertise and support from the Midlands and Lancashire CSU and 

this service is delivered by appropriately trained and accredited individuals. 

All newly acquired services are subject to robust assessment to ensure that patients are able to 

benefit from quality, value for money services. 

The Governing Body is informed by its committees on the economic, efficient and effective use 

of resources and in particular by the Audit Committee and the Finance and Resources 

Committee that oversees and directs the use of the CCG resources. In doing so Governing 

Body members benefit from the experience and skills of a strong and competent senior 

management team, who work within a strong framework of performance management.  

Through the CCG’s Joint QIPP Committee programmes of work are clinically led by Governing 

Body members and are evaluated to determine that they represent the best use of available 

resources. All programmes are supported by designated commissioning leads and a wider 

project management infrastructure. 

All significant investment decisions are subject to a rigorous assessment and prioritisation 

process that is applied in such a way as to determine the relative effectiveness of the proposal, 

including the impact upon key strategic outcomes and objectives. Use is also made of data and 

support from our public health colleagues in the local authority. 

Delegation of functions 

The CCG had delegated arrangements in place with providers external to the CCG for the 

following: 

 St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust – payroll processing 

 NHS Shared Business Services – provision of transactional finance services 

 Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit –aspects of Continuing 

Healthcare (CHC), Individual Funding Requests (IFR) and Funded Nursing Care (FNC) 

reviews, Business Intelligence, Human Resources and Organisational Development, 

Medicines Management, Risk Management Corporate Governance and compliance 

 Informatics Merseyside that provides our information technology services and support 

 

During 2019-2020 any identified risks associated with delegated arrangements have been 

monitored through the CCG’s governance and risk management processes. The CCG has 

monitored risks associated with these activities through periodic evaluation of relevant key 

performance indicators, regular attendance at local user groups and close partnership working. 

Page 104 of 173
Page 150

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Counter fraud arrangements 

The CCG complies with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, 

Bribery and Corruption as found at the following link https://cfa.nhs.uk/counter-fraud-standard 

An accredited anti-fraud specialist is contracted via Mersey Internal Audit Agency to provide 

counter fraud services. The chief finance officer is the CCG executive Governing Body member. 

The anti-fraud specialist attends Audit Committee meetings, providing formal updates of 

progress against the annual counter fraud plan and programme of activities. 

The CCG performs a self-assessment of the NHS Counter Fraud Authority for Commissioners, 

the results of which are reported to Audit Committee. 

  

Page 105 of 173
Page 151

Agenda Item 6



 

Head of internal audit opinion 

The purpose of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to 

the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own 

assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control.  This Opinion 

will assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement (AGS), 

along with considerations of organisational performance, regulatory compliance, the wider 

operating environment and health and social care transformation.   

This opinion is provided in the context that the Clinical Commissioning Group like other 

organisations across the NHS is facing a number of challenging issues and wider organisational 

factors.   

Roles and Responsibilities 

The whole Governing Body is collectively accountable for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for gaining assurance about 

the effectiveness of that overall system. 

The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is an annual statement by the Accountable Officer, 

on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out: 

 how the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged with regard 

to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievements of 

policies, aims and objectives 

 the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the risk 

management and review processes, including the Assurance Framework process 

 the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control, including any disclosures of significant control failures together with assurances 

that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues arising 

 

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence required to 

support the AGS requirements. 

 

In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) is 

required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 

governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control). This is achieved 

through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with management and approved by the Audit 

Committee, which can provide assurance, subject to the inherent limitations described below.  

The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks and assurances relating to 

the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans 

generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As such, it is one 

component that the Governing Body takes into account in making its AGS. 

 

 

 

Page 106 of 173
Page 152

Agenda Item 6



 

Opinion 

Our opinion is set out as follows: 

 Basis for the opinion 

 Overall opinion 

 Commentary 

 

Basis 

The basis for forming our opinion is as follows:  

 
Basis for the Opinion 

 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework 
and supporting processes. 

 

2. An assessment of the range of individual assurances arising from risk based internal audit 
assignments that have been reported throughout the period.  The assessment taken 
account of the relative materiality of systems reviewed and management’s progress in 
addressing control weaknesses identified.  

 

3. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations, and the 
extent to which they have been implemented. 

 

 

Overall Opinion 

Our overall opinion for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 is: 

 
Substantial Assurance can be given that there is a good system of internal control designed 
to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently.     

 
 

Commentary 

The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and together with the opinion 

should be read in its entirety. 

Our opinion covers the period 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020 inclusive, and is underpinned by 

the work conducted through the risk based internal audit plan.   

 

 

 

 

Page 107 of 173
Page 153

Agenda Item 6



 

 
Assurance Framework 
The organisation’s Assurance Framework is structured to meet the NHS requirements, is 
visibly used by the Governing Body and clearly reflects the risks discussed by the Governing 
Body. 
 

 
Conflicts of Interest 

As required by NHS England’s Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for 

CCGs (June 2017), an audit of conflicts of interest was completed following the prescribed 

framework issued by NHS England. The following compliance levels were assigned to each 

scope area: 

 

Scope Area Compliance Level RAG rating 

 
1. Governance Arrangements 
 

 
Fully Compliant 

 
 
 

2. Declarations of interests 
and gifts and hospitality 

 

Fully Compliant  

3. Register of interests, gifts 
and hospitality and 
procurement decisions 

 

Fully Compliant  

4. Decision making processes 
and contract monitoring 

Fully Compliant  

 
5. Reporting concerns and 

identifying and managing 
breaches / non compliance 

 

 
Fully Compliant 

 

 

Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting Arrangements 
 
The Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting Internal Audit Framework for 

Delegated CCGs was issued in August 2018. NHSE require an internal audit of delegated 

CCGs primary medical care commissioning arrangements. The purpose of this is to provide 

information to CCGs that they are discharging NHSE’s statutory primary medical care functions 

effectively, and in turn to provide aggregate assurance to NHSE and facilitate 

NHSE’s engagement with CCGs to support improvement. 

 

The 2019/20 Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting reviews focused upon: 

1. Governance and provided Substantial Assurance 

2. Contract Oversight & Management Functions and provided Full Assurance 

(Assurance ratings provided as per the NHSE guidance). 

 

 

Page 108 of 173
Page 154

Agenda Item 6



 

Risk Based Reviews 
We issued 
 

4 high assurance opinions  Accounts Payable 

 Accounts Receivable 

 Treasury Management 

 Budgetary Control 

2 substantial assurance opinions:  General Ledger 

 Commissioning for Quality 

0 moderate assurance opinions N/A 
 

0 limited assurance opinions N/A 
 

0 no assurance opinions N/A 
 

1 briefing note reports (no overall opinion)   Data Security & Protection Toolkit 

 
We raised no critical or high risk recommendations in respect of the above assignments. 
 

Follow Up 

During the course of the year we have undertaken follow up reviews and can conclude that the 

organisation has made good progress with regards to the implementation of recommendations. 

We will continue to track and follow up outstanding actions. 

 

Wider organisation context 

This opinion is provided in the context that the Governing Body like other organisations across 

the NHS is facing a number of challenging issues and wider organisational factors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NHS SOUTHPORT 

& FORMBY CCG 

Financial Sustainability  
• The CCG faces challenging issues in 

respect of financial performance and 
continues to take action to review the 
financial position. The successful 
delivery of cost savings is a key focus 

for the Governing Body.   

Annual Assessment 
• The CCG has been rated as 

‘Requires Improvement’ by NHS 
England in its 18/19 annual 
assessment of performance against 
key performance indicators. The 
19/20 assessment awaiting 
publication. 

Provider Performance  
• The CCG has continued to regularly 

report providers’ performance against 
a range of targets.  The CCG’s 
primary provider has been challenged 
in year to meet some key targets.   

Leadership 
• Senior management within the 

CCG has been subject to some 
change during 2019/20 with a 
new Interim Chief Nurse being 
appointed 

Page 109 of 173
Page 155

Agenda Item 6



 

The CCG is part of the Cheshire & Mersey Health and Care Partnership, working in partnership 

to deliver transformation across the region. 

 

In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of internal audit 

(as set out in your Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and professional standards.  I also 

confirm organisational independence of the audit activity and that this has been free from 

interference in respect of scoping, delivery and reporting. 

 

Steve Connor 
Managing Director, MIAA 
March 2020   
 

 

 
 

  

Page 110 of 173
Page 156

Agenda Item 6



 

Internal Audit Reports issued in 2019-2020 

Review Assurance 
Opinion  

Recommendations Raised 
 

  Critical High Medium Low Total 

Assurance Framework 
 

N/A - - - - - 

Conflicts of Interest 
 

N/A - - - - - 

Primary Medical Care 
C&C: Governance 

Substantial – 
per NHSE 

- - 1 2 3 

Primary Medical Care 
C&C: Oversight 

Full – per 
NHSE 

- - - 1 1 

Accounts Payable High - - - - - 

Accounts Receivable High - - - - - 

Treasury Management High - - - - - 

Budgetary Control High - - - - - 

General Ledger Substantial - - 1 - 1 

Commissioning for 
Quality 

Substantial - - 3 1 4 

Data Security & 
Protection 

N/A - - - - - 

 
TOTAL 

  
- 

 
- 

 
5 

 
4 

 
9 

 

  

Page 111 of 173
Page 157

Agenda Item 6



Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management

and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning group

who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. 

I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 

comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports. Our 

assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage

risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing Body, the 

Audit Committee, Joint Quality & Performance Committee and the Finance and Resources

Committee. If appropriate a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement 

of systems will be put in place. 

The Governing Body received the minutes of all committees including the Audit Committee, 

Joint Quality & Performance Committee, Finance and Resources Committee, and Joint QIPP 

and Financial Recovery Committee. The Joint Quality & Performance Committee approves

relevant policies following review and assessment by the Corporate Governance Support Group 

and the Audit Committee monitors action plans arising from internal audit reviews. 

Internal audit is a key component of internal control.  The Audit Committee approves the internal 

audit plan, and progress against this plan is reported to each meeting of the committee. The 

individual reviews carried out throughout the year assist the head of internal audit to form his 

opinion, which in turn feeds the assurance process. 

Conclusion 

No significant internal control issues have been identified. This is confirmed by the head of 

internal audit opinion and also by the internal reviews that have provided the CCG with high or 

substantial assurance on the arrangements in place.  The report of the head of internal audit is 

attached to this governance statement. 

Fiona Taylor 

Accountable officer 

17 June 2020 

Page 112 of 173
Page 158

Agenda Item 6



 

Remuneration report 
 

Introduction 

 

Section 234B and Schedule 7A of The Companies Act, as interpreted for the public sector 

in the General Accounting Manual, requires NHS bodies to prepare a Remuneration 

Report containing information about directors’ remuneration.   

 

In the NHS, the report is prepared in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body.  

‘Senior Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority or 

responsibility for directing or controlling major activities of the NHS body.  This means 

those who influence the decisions of the Clinical Commissioning Group as a whole, rather 

than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’  For the purposes of this 

report, this includes the CCG’s Governing Body members. 

 

Remuneration Committee 

 

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee are approved by the Governing 

Body and contained within the CCG Constitution. The Constitution also sets out 

membership of the Remuneration Committee and is available on the CCG website.    

 

The CCG Remuneration Committee membership is made up Governing Body members 

from NHS Southport & Formby CCG and NHS South Sefton CCG.  The committee is a joint 

Remuneration Committee due to the shared management relationship between the two 

CCGs. 

 

Name Title  December 2019 March 2020 

NHS Southport & Formby CCG 

Helen Nichols Chair and Governing Body Lay 

Member 
   

Gill Brown Governing Body Lay Member  

(left CCG in Nov 2019) 
 × ×

Dil Daly Governing Body Lay Member 

(joined CCG in Dec 2019) 
   

Dr Kati Scholtz GP Clinical Director 
   

Dr Jeff Simmonds Secondary Care Doctor 
   

NHS South Sefton CCG 

Graham Morris Chair and Governing Body Lay 

Member (left CCG in Jun 2019) 
 × ×

Alan Sharples Chair and Governing Body Lay 

Member (joined CCG in Aug 2019) 
   

Graham Bayliss Governing Body Lay Member     

Dr Jeff Simmonds Secondary Care Doctor  


 

 

 

  

Page 113 of 173
Page 159

Agenda Item 6



 

Policy on remuneration of senior managers 
 

Since the creation of CCGs there has been no mandated guidance on a standardised 

approach to senior manager remuneration for Clinical Commissioning Groups and as such 

the CCG continues to use the report commissioned by the Hay Group to provide guidance 

on the appropriate level of remuneration for Governing Body members and senior 

executives. 
 

NHS England’s Guidance (Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where the senior 

manager also undertakes the Chief Officer role and Chief Finance Officers) continues to be 

used as a reference for the remuneration of the Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer roles 

within the CCG. 
 

Both NHS England and the Hay Group guidance reviewed the pay and employment 

conditions of other employees in order to determine the framework for senior manager’s 

remuneration. The terms and conditions of service for all NHS staff, except very senior 

managers (VSMs) are nationally agreed by the NHS Staff Council. These terms and 

conditions include, pay and allowances; terms of employment such as leave and hours of 

working; the process for ensuring effective employee relations; and regulations with regard 

to equality and diversity. 
 

The performance of all senior managers is measured and assessed using our personal 

development review process which is also extended to all employees throughout the 

organisation. 

 

Pensions 
 

NHS staff pensions are covered separately under the NHS rules on superannuation; 

`however, individuals who are employed by the NHS automatically become a member of the 

NHS Pension Scheme. Membership is voluntary and individuals can currently opt not to join 

and leave the scheme at any time. 

 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 

The scheme is an unfunded, i.e. a defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, 

General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, 

in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable 

NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 

cost to the clinical commissioning group is taken as equal to the contributions payable to 

the scheme for the accounting period. Further information with regard to pension benefits 

can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsba.nhs.uk/pensions. 

 

In respect of early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension 

liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional 

costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself 

to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.  

 

The accounting policy relating to pension costs is described in the Notes on pages 140 to 

173 of the Financial Statements and pension liabilities existing at 31 March 2020 are 

Page 114 of 173
Page 160

Agenda Item 6



 

disclosed within the Statement of Financial Position under other payables. 

 

Under the Pensions Act 2008, every employer in the UK must put certain staff into a 

pension scheme and contribute towards it.  This is known as ‘automatic enrolment’.  In 

addition to the NHS Pension Scheme detailed above, the CCG operates a National 

Employment Savings Trust (NEST) pension scheme as an alternative qualifying scheme.  

The CCG has worked with the outsourced payroll provider throughout 2019-20 to ensure 

compliance with all legal duties.   

 

A national issue has been identified whereby GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead roles 

have not been treated correctly for the purposes of pension.  These roles were considered to 

be non-pensionable however following contract review it has come to light that these roles 

should have been subject to contributions.  Current GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead 

roles now attract pension deductions.  The CCG is working with Business Advisors to resolve 

the historical impact of this issue. 

 

Employer pension contributions have increased from 14.38% to 20.68% for the 2019-20 

financial year.  CCGs are required to separately account for employer contributions paid on 

their behalf by NHS England on a gross basis. The contributions paid on behalf of Southport 

and Formby CCG has been accounted for as notional funding for commissioners.  

 
  

Page 115 of 173
Page 161

Agenda Item 6



Policy on senior manager’s service contracts 

Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject to a
six month notice period. Governing Body members, excluding Chief Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer and Chief Nurse, are Office Holders. 

All other members of staff are covered by Agenda for Change contracts of employment with
contractual entitlements in line with the national NHS Terms and Conditions of Service as
negotiated by the NHS Staff Council. 

Contracts are compliant with both UK and EU legislation and approved by the CCG’s 
Remuneration Committee. Any future amendments to these contracts or the remuneration
associated with them are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and recommended to
the Governing Body for approval on an annual basis.  Where required the Committee has
access to professional advice from the MLCSU HR team and CCG legal advisers, Hill 
Dickinson LLP. 

The CCG does not have any very senior managers paid in excess of £150,000 per annum. 

Senior manager remuneration subject to audit 

The table below sets out the salaries and allowances we have paid, or that are payable

to our senior managers in 2019-2020: 

Name Title Salary

Expense 

payments 

(taxable)

Performance 

pay and 

bonuses

Long term 

performance pay 

and bonuses

All pension 

related 

benefits

2019/20 2018/19

(Bands of 

£5,000)

(Rounded to the 

nearest £100)

£

(Bands of 

£5,000)
(Bands of £5,000)

(Bands of 

£2,500)

(Bands 

of 

£5,000)

(Bands 

of 

£5,000)

Taylor FL Chief Officer 65 - 70 2,300 - - 7.5 - 10 75 - 80 70 - 75

McDowell M

Chief Finance Officer / 

Deputy Chief Officer 50 - 55 2,300 - - 
7.5 - 10 60 - 65

60-65

Fagan DC*** Chief Nurse 5 - 10 - - - 0 - 2.5 5 - 10 55-60

Lunt J*** Interim Chief Nurse 15-20 - - - 0 - 2.5 15-20 0 - 0

Caudwell R

Chair & GP Clinical 

Director 50 - 55 - - - 5.0 - 7.5 55 - 60 50-55

Scholtz KE

Clinical Vice Chair & GP 

Clinical Director 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 15-20

Callow DM GP Clinical Director 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 15-20

Mulla H GP Clinical Director 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 15-20

Ball E** GP Clinical Director 30 - 35 - - - - 30 - 35 20-25

Quinlan T** GP Clinical Director 40 - 45 - - - - 40 - 45 60-65

Simmonds J Secondary Care Doctor 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15 10-15

Nichols H

Deputy Chair & Lay 

member - Governance 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15 10 - 15

Brown G*

Lay member - 

Engagement and 

Patient Exerience 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 5 - 10

Daly D

Lay member - 

Engagement and 

Patient Exerience 0 - 5 - 0 - 5 -      

Gilligan V Practice Manager 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 -      

Riley C Practice Manager 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 0-5

Page C** Second Nurse Lead 40 - 45 - - - 5 - 7.5 45 - 50 -      

Page 116 of 173
Page 162

Agenda Item 6



*These members ceased tenure and have been included for reference to prior year figures.

** Total paid in 2018/19 and 2019/20 includes payments for additional clinical roles and 
duties performed by members.  

*** The Chief Nurse vacated post on 13 May 2019.  The Interim Chief Nurse was appointed 
on 1 October 2019  

Payments reflect the role in carrying out Governing Body duties. In addition, payments were 
made to the individuals highlighted to reflect the additional clinical roles and duties performed by 
GP Governing Body members.   

We have a joint management arrangement with neighbouring NHS South Sefton CCG. The 
chief officer (Fiona Taylor) and chief finance officer (Martin McDowell) receive remuneration 
for undertaking these roles for both CCGs. Their total banded remuneration from these roles 
is: 

 Fiona Taylor £130,000 to £135,000 and £17,500 to £20,000 all pension related
benefits

 Martin McDowell £105,000 to £110,000 and £15,000 to £17,500 all pension
related benefits

The joint management arrangement with NHS South Sefton CCG is also in operation for 
the chief nurse post.  During the year the chief nurse (Debbie Fagan) was seconded to 
Programme Director Unplanned and Emergency Care at Southport & Ormskirk NHS Trust 
and therefore her banded remuneration for her time in post is: 

 Debbie Fagan £15,000 to £20,000 and £0 to £2,500 all pension related
benefits

The position was taken up on an interim basis by Jane Lunt, chief nurse from Liverpool 
CCG, from 1 October 2019. 

The total remuneration of the chief officer and chief finance officer includes a 20%

supplement on their basic salary paid in accordance with NHS England guidance and agreed

by our Remuneration Committee to recognise the joint roles that they undertake, as officers

covering two CCGs. They hold the same positions with NHS South Sefton CCG. 

Page 117 of 173
Page 163

Agenda Item 6



Pension benefits subject to audit 

*Seconded to Programme Director Unplanned and Emergency Care at Southport &

Ormskirk NHS Trust on 13 May 2019 

**In post from 1 October 2019  

The information in the table above for our chief officer (Fiona Taylor), chief finance 

officer (Martin McDowell) and chief nurse (Debbie Fagan) relates to their total 

pension benefits arising from their joint management roles in NHS Southport & 

Formby CCG and NHS South Sefton CCG.   

The information in the table above for interim chief nurse (Jane Lunt) relates to her 

total pension benefits arising from her joint management roles in NHS Liverpool 

CCG, NHS Southport and Formby CCG and South Sefton CCG. 

Certain members do not receive pensionable remuneration therefore there will be no entries
in respect of pensions for certain members. 

In April 2015 there were reforms to public service pension schemes (firefighters, judges, 
member of the armed forces, NHS staff, teachers and civil servants).  This moved employees
from final salary schemes to career average schemes with retirement age equal to state
pension age.   

For the NHS, this meant the introduction of the 2015 scheme with protected members 
remaining in their existing section of the 1995/ 2008 scheme.  The Court of Appeal ruled on 
the 20th December 2018 that this protection amounts to direct unlawful discrimination on age 
grounds.  This judgement is referred to as the McCloud judgement   Pension benefits and 
related cash equivalent transfer values do not allow for a potential adjustment arising from the 
McCloud judgement.   

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits

valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable

beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.  

Name Title

Real increase in 

pension at age 60

Real increase in pension 

lump sum at age 60

Total accrued pension at 

age 60 at 31 March 2020

Lump sum at age 60 related to 

accrued pension at 31 March 2020

Cash equivalent transfer 

value at 1 April 2019

Cash equivalent transfer 

value at 1 April 2020

Real increase in cash 

equivalent transfer value

Employers contribution to

partnership pension

(bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000) £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Taylor FL Chief Officer 0-2.5 - 60-65 175-180 1,321 1,408 55 - 

McDowell M

Chief Finance Officer / Deputy 

Chief Officer 0-2.5 - 35-40 80-85 597 649 37 - 

Fagan DC Chief Nurse* 0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 95-100 663 703 6 - 

Lunt J Interim Chief Nurse** 0-2.5 - 60-65 110-115 1,048 1,093 10 - 

Page 118 of 173
Page 164

Agenda Item 6



 

 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits 

in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses 

to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to 

the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 

pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.  

 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 

another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 

scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 

of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 

Faculty of Actuaries. 
 

Real increase in CETV 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including 

the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement). 

 

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office subject to audit 

During 2019-2020 the CCG has not made any payments for loss of office. 

 

Payments to past members subject to audit 

During 2019-2020 the CCG has not made any payments to any past senior managers. 
 

Pay multiples subject to audit 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 

 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member of the Governing Body in NHS 
Southport & Formby CCG in the financial year 2019-2020 was £62,500 (2018-2019: £62,500). 

 
This was 3.78 times (2018-2019: 4.80) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£16,531 (2018-2019: £13,082). 

 
In 2019-2020, no employees (2018-2019: 0) received remuneration in excess of the highest 
paid member of the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £0 to £5,000 (2018-2019: £0 
to £5,000) to £60,000 to £65,000 (2018-2019: £60,000 to £65,000). 

 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefits in 
kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions 

 
The pay multiple calculation has been amended to reflect the overall charge to the 

organisation rather than the shared cost with NHS South Sefton CCG due to the joint 

management arrangements in place; this is in line with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-

2020.

Page 119 of 173
Page 165

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Staff report 
 
Our staff and members are our greatest asset. To ensure we remain to be an effective and 

innovative organisation into the future, we must continually support our members and staff to 

grow and develop their knowledge and skills in line with the latest developments in healthcare 

and technologies.  Our refreshed organisational development plan highlights five priority 

areas for actions that we have been progressing over the last twelve months. These are:- 

 

1. Integrated care in localities 
 

2. Commissioning capacity and capability 
 

3. Programme management approach for delivery of QIPP and transformation 
 

4. System leadership, team and talent management 
 

5. Public engagement and partnership working for transformation 
 

Here are some examples of how we have developed this work to support our membership 
and workforce: 

 
Our Governing Body 

 
Our Governing Body participates in a development session every other month which provides 

an opportunity for reflection on national and local developments to inform our strategy and 

how it is delivered. Governing Body members have also been able to access a range of 

personal development opportunities, with some members participating in national 

development programmes or network events with other CCGs. 
 
Our members 

 
Our member practices are supported to carry out their commissioning responsibilities in a 

number of different ways. 
 
 Continuing professional development sessions are regularly organised for clinical 

staff and these are called Protected Learning Time (PLT) events. The CCG also 

supports monthly “in-house” sessions, which enables all GP practices to hold 

individual educational and practice training events. 

 Regular meetings of local groups of practices in ‘localities’ enable key issues 

relating to local services to be raised and discussed, so that the Governing Body 

and lead commissioners are kept informed in order to influence commissioning 

decisions. 

 Our nurse facilitators support the development and access to education, training 

and mentoring for practice nurses and healthcare assistants and the CCG 

became one of the first in the county to host student nurse placements 

 We hold quarterly membership meetings where practices come together to discuss 

wider CCG work and initiatives to improve patient care 

 A weekly e-bulletin provides members with updates on CCG work, along with 

relevant national publications and development opportunities 

 An intranet site provides a wide range of information designed to support our 

members, which we are continuing to update  regularly based on member’s 

Page 120 of 173
Page 166

Agenda Item 6



 

 

feedback 

 

Staff numbers and costs subject to audit 
 

At the end of March 2020 we employed 141 people (52 whole time equivalents) to help us 

carry out our work. This includes commissioning and medicines management 

professionals, doctors, nurses and administration and support staff. The majority of our 

staff work jointly with NHS South Sefton CCG through our shared management team 

arrangements.  

 

Permanent 
Employees 

                                            £’000 

    Other  
Employees 
    £’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Salaries & Wages         2,174               66    2,240 

Social Security 
Costs 

            233 -         233 

Employer  
Contributions to 
NHS Pension 
Scheme 

278 -     278 

Apprenticeship 
Levy 

   7 -        7 

Total 2,691            66   2,757 

 

 
Permanent 

 
    Other  
 

Total 
 

Administration and estates staff 31 4 35 

Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting staff 

  3 -   3 

Scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff 

14              
- 

         14 

Total                 48        4        52 

 

 

Staff composition 

 
Governing 

Body 
Very Senior 
Managers 

Other 
employees 

Total 

Male  4 1 37 42 

Female 7 1 91 99 

Total                   11 2           128 141 
 

There were two very senior managers (according to definition within the Group Accounting 

Manual) who were included in the membership of the CCG Governing Body 

Our staff also continues to access a broad range of development programmes relevant to 

their roles to assist them in their day-to-day work: 

Page 121 of 173
Page 167

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 We are committed to being a fair and equal employer and our workplace policies are 

in line with all relevant equality, diversity and human rights legislation to ensure none 

of our staff are disadvantaged by our working, training or recruiting processes.  More 

information on equality and diversity can be found on page 65. 

 We meet regularly to discuss business and performance, and to share ideas and 

innovation. During 2019-2020, we once again held our annual CCG Away Day 

which encompassed a staff awards ceremony, providing a great opportunity to 

celebrate some great individual and team achievements. 

 We ensure our staff have the resources and development opportunities to help them 

carry out their day to day work, including support to complete essential core training 

requirements, holding annual personal development reviews, promoting and 

providing staff support and occupational health services focusing on health and 

wellbeing, as well as ensuring easy access to information through our intranet. 

 Following a successful grant application to the North West Leadership Academy we 

have begun to refresh our approach to personal development planning, ensuring 

staff know how to lead an excellent development conversation and can facilitate 

access to a range of flexible opportunities to help staff develop. 

 We have launched a new dedicated monthly e-bulletin as a result of staff views 

gained through a review of our existing communications channels 

 In 2019-2020 we participated in the national NHS Staff Survey, which reported very 

pleasing results with the vast majority of responses demonstrating higher scores 

that the national average. Lessons learned continue to inform our organisational 

development planning. 
 
 

Sickness absence rates 
 

Rates of sickness absence in our organisation are low. Our annual rolling sickness absence 

at the end of February 2020, the latest available data, was 2.16%.  We have policies in 

place that set out how we manage and support staff through periods of illness or other types 

of leave. 

 
Disabled employees 

 
We ensure our disabled staff are treated equally, without discrimination and shown 

due regard. More information can be found on page 67. 
 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 
 
Under regulations that came into force on 1 April 2017, certain public sector organisations are 
required to report information in relation to Trade Union activities and the cost of any facility 
time in connection with these activities. 
 
The CCG had no relevant union officials during the year ended 31 March 2020 and 
consequently the CCG can confirm the following: 

 There were no employees who were relevant union officials 

 The percentage time spent on facility time was nil 

 The percentage of the paybill spent on facility time was nil 

 No hours were spent on paid Trade Union activities by relevant officials in the period 

 
 

Page 122 of 173
Page 168

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Staff Partnership Forum 
 

We acknowledge that the effective and productive conduct of employee relations benefits 

significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role in 

partnership working. In support of this, we have a recognition agreement with trade unions 

and staff side representatives and actively participate in the Cheshire & Merseyside Staff 

Partnership Forum which aims to identify and facilitate the workforce and employment 

aspects of the NHS locally in developing arrangements to implement required changes 

which may affect the workforce. The Staff Partnership Forum is the main body for actively 

engaging, consulting and negotiating with key staff side stakeholders.  

 

The forum is authorised to agree, revise and review policies and procedures which may 

relate to changes in employment legislation and regulation and the terms and conditions of 

employment affecting our staff covered by the national Agenda for Change Terms and 

Conditions.  

 

Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum during this period were 

subsequently ratified by the Finance & Resource Committee or Quality Committee which 

are both sub- committees of the Governing Body. 

 

Expenditure on consultancy 
 

During 2019-2020 the CCG spent £207k on consultancy services.  The majority of this 

was incurred on consultancy services to develop the CCG’s Transformation Plan. 

 
  

Page 123 of 173
Page 169

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 
 

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last 

longer than six months:  

 
The number that have existed: Number 

 

 For less than one year at the time of reporting - 

 For between one and two years at the time of reporting - 

 For between two and three years at the time of reporting - 

 For between three and four years at the time of reporting - 

 For four or more years at the time of reporting 1 

 
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020 

 
1 

 
 

All existing off payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a 

risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the 

right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 
 
 
 

New off-payroll engagements 

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than 

£245 per day and that last longer than six months: 

Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 

1 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the clinical 
commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and 
National Insurance obligations 

- 

 Assessed as caught by IR35 - 

 Assessed as not caught by IR35 1 

 Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the 

 Departmental payroll 

- 

 Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes  

 during the year 

    - 

 Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the 

 consistency review 

- 

 

 

 

 

Page 124 of 173
Page 170

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with significant 

financial responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020: 

Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 
deemed “board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility”, during the financial year.  This figure should include both off-
payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

13 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 125 of 173
Page 171

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments subject to audit 
 

Exit Packages  

Exit package 

cost band (inc. 

any special 

payment 

element 

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 

compulsory 

redundancies 

 

Number of 

other 

departures 

agreed 

Cost of other 

departures 

agreed 

 

Total number 

of exit 

packages 

Total cost of exit 

packages 

 

 

Number of 

departures 

where special 

payments have 

been made 

Cost of special 

payment element 

included in exit 

packages 

 

 Number £ Number £ Number £ Number £ 

         

Less than 
£10,000 

- - - - - - - - 

£10,000 - £25,000 - - - - - - - - 

£25,001 - £50,000 - - - - - - - - 

£50,001 - 
£100,000 

- - - - - - - - 

£100,001 - 
£150,000 

- - - - - - - - 

£150,001 –
£200,000 

- - - - - - - - 

>£200,000 - - - - - - - - 

TOTALS - - - - - - - - 

There were no redundancy or exit costs for NHS Southport & Formby CCG during 2019-2020 

Page 126 of 173

P
age 172

A
genda Item

 6



Analysis of Other Departures 

Agreements Total Value of agreements 

Number £’000 

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs 

- - 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) 
contractual costs 

- - 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the 
service contractual costs 

- - 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice - - 

Exit payments following Employment 
Tribunals or court orders 

- - 

Non-contractual payments requiring 
HMT approval** 

- - 

TOTAL - - 

There were no costs of other departures for NHS Southport & Formby CCG during 2019-

2020 

Fiona Taylor 

Accountable Officer 

17 June 2020 

Page 127 of 173
Page 173

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Parliamentary accountability and audit report 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG is not required to produce a parliamentary accountability 

and audit report.  Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, 

gifts and fees and charges are included as notes in the financial statements of this report on 

page 135.  An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 130. 

  

Page 128 of 173
Page 174

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS 

Southport & Formby Clinical Commissioning Group 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Southport & Formby Clinical Commissioning Group 

(the ‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net 

Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 

Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group 

Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its 

expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of 

Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 

2012. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of 

the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit  

Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant 

uncertainties, including those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic 

uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of 

estimates made by the Accountable Officer and the related disclosures and the appropriateness of 

the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of these depend on 

assessments of the future economic environment and the CCG’s future operational arrangements. 

Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and 

at the date of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full 

range of possible outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide 

approach in response to these uncertainties when assessing the CCG’s future operational 

arrangements. However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible 

future implications for an entity associated with these particular events. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require 
us to report to you where: 

Page 129 of 173
Page 175

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of 

the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the 

going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when 

the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set 

out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the 

CCG’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks 

associated with the CCG’s operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic 

uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. We analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s 

financial resources or ability to continue operations over the period of at least twelve months from the 

date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. In accordance with the above, we have 

nothing to report in these respects.  

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in 

outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the 

absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG 

will continue in operation. 

Other information 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 

the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 

required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 

material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that 

fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf of the 

Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the 

Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board 

or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not 

required to consider whether the Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks 

are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.       

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion:  

 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 

Page 130 of 173
Page 176

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the 

requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012;  and 

 based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our 

knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information 

published together with the financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Qualified opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion on 

regularity section of our report, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the 

financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 

transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Basis for qualified opinion on regularity 

The CCG reported expenditure of £229.6 million against income of £216.8 million and a deficit of 

£12.8 million in its financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2020. The CCG thereby 

breached two of its duties under the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraphs 

223H and 223I of section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to ensure that annual 

expenditure does not exceed income and revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified by direction of the NHS Commissioning Board, otherwise known as NHS England. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG,  or an officer of the 

CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body 

incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action 

which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; 

or 

 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 27th May 2020 we referred two 

matters to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in 

relation to NHS Southport & Formby CCG’s breach of its revenue resource limit and its annual 

expenditure exceeding income for the year ending 31 March 2020.  

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the 

financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities set out on pages 84 

to 85, the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the 

form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and 

fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national 

body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector 

entity. 

Page 131 of 173
Page 177

Agenda Item 6



 

 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the 

financial statements. 

The Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are 

responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 

forms part of our auditor’s report. 

We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the 

financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Qualified conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General 

in April 2020, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified conclusion 

section of our report, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS Southport and Formby 

CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020. 

Basis for qualified conclusion 

Our review of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources identified the following matter: 

During the year, the CCG's financial position deteriorated unexpectedly, and it was unable to recover 

the position by the year-end, incurring a deficit of £12.8 million. The main reason for the deterioration 

in the financial position was that the CCG planned to make savings of £14.1m million for the year but 

was only able to deliver £4.1 million of these savings. The CCG had only fully identified £2.6 million of 

saving plans at the start of the financial year and was unable to make the further savings required for 

it to breakeven at year end.  

This matter identifies weaknesses in the CCG's arrangements for setting a sustainable budget with 

sufficient capacity to absorb emerging cost pressures. This matter is evidence of weaknesses in 

proper arrangements for sustainable resource deployment in planning finances effectively to support 

the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory functions.  

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 

resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 

Page 132 of 173
Page 178

Agenda Item 6



 

 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been 

able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we 

considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 

guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to 

whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 

informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 

taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that 

necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the 

CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by exception where we are not 

satisfied.    

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, 

we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Southport & Formby 

Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in 

accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been 

undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters 

we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the 

members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

 

Joanne Brown 

 

Joanne Brown, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 

Glasgow 

24 June 2020 

  

  

Page 133 of 173
Page 179

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended     

31 March 2020         

          

    2019-20   2018-19 

  Note £'000   £'000 

          

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (1,109)   (3,536) 

Other operating income 2 -   - 

Total operating income   (1,109)   (3,536) 

          

Staff costs 4 2,757   2,775 

Purchase of goods and services 5 225,875   190,042 

Depreciation and impairment charges 5 8   8 

Provision expense 5 -   (550) 

Other Operating Expenditure 5 197   191 

Total operating expenditure   228,837   192,465 

          

Net Operating Expenditure   227,728   188,930 

          

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year   227,728   188,930 

 
    

 
        

          
 

  

Page 134 of 173
Page 180

Agenda Item 6



Statement of Financial Position as at 

31 March 2020 

2019-20 2018-19 

Note £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets: 

Property, plant and equipment 8 15 23 

Total non-current assets 15 23 

 Current assets: 

Trade and other receivables 9 846 3,957 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 30 20 

Total current assets 876 3,977 

 Total assets 891 4,001 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 11 (15,469) (12,363) 
Total current liabilities (15,469) (12,363) 

Assets less Liabilities (14,578) (8,363) 

   Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity 

General fund (14,578) (8,363) 

Total taxpayers' equity: (14,578) (8,363) 

The notes on pages 139 to 172 form part of this statement. 

The financial statements on pages 134 to 138 were approved by the Governing Body on 17 

June 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

Fiona Taylor 

Chief Accountable Officer 

17 June 2020 

Page 135 of 173
Page 181

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 
       31 March 2020 

        

  

General 
fund 

 

Revaluation 
reserve 

 

Other 
reserves 

 

Total 
reserves 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20 
        

         Balance at 01 April 2019 
 

(8,363) 
 

                 -    
 

            -    
 

(8,363) 

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets 
transferred from closed NHS bodies 

 
                -    

 
                 -    

 
            -    

 
                -    

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
balance at 31 March 2019 

 
(8,363) 

 
                 -    

 
            -    

 
(8,363) 

         Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20 

        Net operating expenditure for the financial year 
 

(227,728) 
     

(227,728) 

         Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year 

 
(227,728) 

 
                 -    

 
            -    

 
(227,728) 

Net funding 
 

221,513 
 

                 -    
 

            -    
 

221,513 

Balance at 31 March 2020 
 

(14,578) 
 

                 -    
 

            -    
 

(14,578) 

         

           

Page 136 of 173

P
age 182

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

  

General 
fund 

 

Revaluation 
reserve 

 

Other 
reserves 

 

Total 
reserves 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 
        

         Balance at 01 April 2018 
 

(9,693) 
 

                 -    
 

            -    
 

(9,693) 
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS 
bodies 

 
                -    

 
                 -    

 
            -    

 
                -    

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
balance at 31 March 2019 

 
(9,693) 

 
                 -    

 
            -    

 
(9,693) 

         Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 

        Net operating costs for the financial year 
 

(188,930) 
     

(188,930) 

         Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year 

 
(188,930) 

 
                 -    

 
            -    

 
(188,930) 

Net funding 
 

190,260 
 

                 -    
 

            -    
 

190,260 

Balance at 31 March 2019 
 

(8,363) 
 

                 -    
 

            -    
 

(8,363) 

 

Page 137 of 173

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 
  

  
 31 March 2020 

  
  

 

  
2019-20   2018-19 

 
Note £'000   £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
 

      

Net operating expenditure for the financial year 
 

(227,728)   (188,930) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5 8   8 

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 3,112   (1,551) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 3,106   1,502 

Provisions utilised 12                 -      (750) 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12                 -      (550) 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities 
 

(221,503)   (190,271) 

  
      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 

      

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 
 

                -      (31) 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 
 

                -      (31) 

  
      

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing 
 

(221,503)   (190,302) 

  
      

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
 

      

Grant in Aid Funding Received 
 

221,513   190,260 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 
 

221,513   190,260 

  
      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 10   (43) 

  
      

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 
Financial Year 

 
20   63 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and 
cash equivalents held in foreign currencies 

 
                -                      -    

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at 
the End of the Financial Year 

 
30   20 

 

The notes on pages 139 to 172 form part of this statement. 

 

Page 138 of 173
Page 184

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

1 Accounting Policies 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups 

shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the 

Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by 

the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group 

Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they 

are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM 

Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 

Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is 

judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning 

group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies 

adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied 

consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis despite the issue of a report 

to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 

provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 

provision for that service in published documents 

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 

services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) 

in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial 

statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on 

the going concern basis. 

Covid-19 is a material uncertainty however in the case of the CCG, the Chancellor’s 

statement in the Budget 2020 provided confirmation of NHS funding throughout this 

pandemic.  Therefore Covid-19 does not affect the CCG as a going concern. 

1.2  Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 

account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 

and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Pooled Budgets 

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Sefton 

Metropolitan Borough Council in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the 

arrangement, funds are pooled for: 

 Self-Care, Wellbeing and Prevention 

Page 139 of 173
Page 185

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Integrate Care at locality level building on Virtual Ward and Care Closer to Home 

initiatives 

 Intermediate Care and Re-ablement 

The pool is hosted by Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council.  The clinical commissioning 

group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 

activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement 

1.4 Operating Segments 

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in 

line with management information used within the clinical commissioning group. 

1.5  Revenue 

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have 

been employed. These are as follows; 

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not 

disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has 

an original expected duration of one year or less, 

• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where 

revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph 

B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with 

value of the performance completed to date. 

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) 

of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the 

aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application. 

The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This 

is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which 

it is received. 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations 

are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer and is measured at the 

amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation. 

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the 

following year, that income is deferred. 

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.  

The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds 

from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with 

IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an 

accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training 

expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 

 

 

 

Page 140 of 173
Page 186

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.6 Employee Benefits 

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the 

apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 

employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised 

in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave 

into the following period. 

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. 

These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 

Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England 

and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 

to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes 

are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical 

commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 

payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are 

not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged 

to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, 

regardless of the method of payment. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting 

valuation every year. 

1.7 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 

services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 

payable. 

1.8 Grants Payable 

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant 

recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning group recognises the expenditure in 

the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

1.9 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.9.1 Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be 

supplied to the clinical commissioning group; 

Page 141 of 173
Page 187

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 

 Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually 

have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, 

they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have 

simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

 Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward 

or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 

significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 

depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.9.2 Measurement 

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly 

attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at 

their current value in existing use.  Assets that were most recently held for their service 

potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions 

preventing access to the market at the reporting date. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not 

materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. 

Current values in existing use are determined as follows: 

 Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and, 

 Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost. 

 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at 

cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, 

which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 

value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are 

held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have 

short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially 

different from current value in existing use. 

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it 

reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which 

case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A 

revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential 

is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is 

a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses 

that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and 

losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

Page 142 of 173
Page 188

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.9.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the 

directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to 

its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the 

item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

1.9.4 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated. 

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of 

property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, 

over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic 

benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period 

over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service 

potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be 

shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values 

are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective 

basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 

and the estimated useful life. 

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any 

indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current 

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss 

and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 

annually. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service 

potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent 

that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. 

Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to 

expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the 

asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the 

amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The 

reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease 

previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 

1.10 Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the 

inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are 

apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 

Page 143 of 173
Page 189

Agenda Item 6



 

 

a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 

recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a 

reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on 

notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months 

or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 

overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical 

commissioning group’s cash management. 

1.12 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical 

commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 

period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using 

the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 

those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: 

Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 

negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms. All general provisions are subject to 

four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the 

Statement of Financial Position date: 

 A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial 

Position date. 

 A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the 

Statement of Financial Position date. 

 A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the 

Statement of Financial Position date. 

 A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position 

date. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 

that reimbursements will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured 

reliably. 

Page 144 of 173
Page 190

Agenda Item 6



 

 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has 

developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in 

those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or 

announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring 

provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those 

amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-

going activities of the entity. 

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs 

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning 

group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical 

negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is 

administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with 

clinical commissioning group. 

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the 

Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical 

commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, 

receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, 

and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses 

as and when they become due. 

1.15 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a 

present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be 

required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 

sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is 

remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will 

be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is 

disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are 

disclosed at their present value. 

1.16 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the 

financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 

have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have 

expired, or the asset has been transferred. 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

Page 145 of 173
Page 191

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Financial assets at amortised cost; 

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and; 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the 

financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

1.16.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose 

objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are 

solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other 

simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life 

of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

1.16.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within 

a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest.  

1.16.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not 

otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.  

This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling 

in the short term. 

1.16.4 Impairment 

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning 

group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial 

asset. 

The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in 

accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease 

receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For 

other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected 

credit losses (stage 1). 

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 

impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of 

England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by 

primary legislation.  The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss 

allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally, 

Page 146 of 173
Page 192

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts 

of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not 

recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), 

expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the 

asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is 

recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.  

1.17 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical 

commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument 

or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial 

liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has 

been paid or has expired. 

1.17.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

 The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative 

amortisation; and, 

 The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with 

IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

1.17.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, 

and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are 

treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, 

with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s 

surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability. 

1.17.3 Other Financial Liabilities 

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and Social Care, 

which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of 

the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.18 Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, 

in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 

capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged, or input VAT is 

recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 

Page 147 of 173
Page 193

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.19 Losses & Special Payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when 

it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items 

that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 

compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which 

govern the way that individual cases are handled. 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure 

on an accrual’s basis, including losses which would have been made good through 

insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with 

insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

1.20 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is 

required to make various judgements, estimates and assumptions.  These are regularly 

reviewed.  

1.20.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies 

There have been no significant judgements made by management in the process of applying 

the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies. 

1.20.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

There are no assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 

uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS 

Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These Standards are still subject to 

HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21. 

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement 

contains a lease and other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods 

beginning 1 April 2021.  The standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, 

recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the statement of financial position for most 

leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients explained below. 

For those recognised in the statement of financial position the standard also requires the 

remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances after the commencement of the 

lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and 

the accounting will be largely unchanged. 

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will 

apply this definition to new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the 

old standards of whether existing contracts contain a lease. 

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2021, the CCG will apply the standard retrospectively 

with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and 

expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term 

Page 148 of 173
Page 194

Agenda Item 6



 

 

of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will 

be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on transition at 

the trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The trust’s incremental borrowing rate will be a rate 

defined by HM Treasury. Currently this rate is 1.27% but this may change between now and 

adoption of the standard. The related right of use asset will be measured equal to the lease 

liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments.  No adjustments will be made 

on 1 April 2021 for existing finance leases. 

For leases commencing in 2021/22, the CCG will not recognise a right of use asset or lease 

liability for short term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value 

assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a basis 

consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term. 

HM Treasury revised the implementation date for IFRS 16 in the UK public sector to 1 April 

2021 on 19 March 2020. Due to the need to reassess lease calculations, together with 

uncertainty on expected leasing activity from April 2021 and beyond, a quantification of the 

expected impact of applying the standard in 2021/22 is currently impracticable. However, the 

CCG does expect this standard to have a material impact on non-current assets, liabilities 

and depreciation.  

Page 149 of 173
Page 195

Agenda Item 6



 

 

2. Other Operating Revenue         

      2019-20   2018-19 

      Total   Total 

      £'000   £'000 

            

  Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)         

  Education, training and research   4   54 

  Non-patient care services to other bodies   898   3,267 

  Prescription fees and charges   87   150 

  Other Contract income   120   65 

  Total Income from sale of goods and services   1,109   3,536 

            

            

  Total Operating Income   1,109   3,536 

 

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn 

down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund. 

3.  Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)     

  
 

                
  

                      

  

    
Education, 

training and 
research 

  

Non-
patient 

care 
services to 

other 
bodies 

  
Prescription 

fees and 
charges 

  
Other 

Contract 
income 

  

      £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 
  

  Source of Revenue                 
  

  NHS    -   898   -   - 
  

  Non NHS   4   -   87   120 
  

  Total   4   898   87   120 
  

                      
                      
                      

  

    
Education, 

training and 
research 

  

Non-
patient 

care 
services to 

other 
bodies 

  
Prescription 

fees and 
charges 

  
Other 

Contract 
income 

  

      £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 
  

  Timing of Revenue                 
  

  Point in time   4   898   87   120 
  

  Over time   -   -   -   - 
  

  Total   4   898   87   120 
  

  

Page 150 of 173
Page 196

Agenda Item 6



 

 

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers       
  

 
      

  4.1 Employee benefits Total 
 

2019-20 

 

Permanent 
Employees   Other 

 
Total 

 
£'000   £'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits       
  Salaries and wages 2,174   66   2,240 

Social security costs 233   -   233 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 278   -   278 

Other pension costs -   -   - 

Apprenticeship Levy 7   -   7 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,691   66   2,757 

 
      

  Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits  -   -   - 

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 2,691   66   2,757 

 
      

  Less: Employee costs capitalised -   -   - 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised 
costs 2,691   66   2,757 

 
      

  

 
      

    

Page 151 of 173

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

 
Total 

 
2018-19 

 

Permanent 
Employees   Other 

 
Total 

 
£'000   £'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits       
  Salaries and wages 2,282   27   2,308 

Social security costs 207   -   207 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 252   -   252 

Other pension costs -   -   - 

Apprenticeship Levy 7   -   7 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,748   27   2,775 

 
      

  Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits 
(note 4.1.2) -   -   - 

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 2,748   27   2,775 

 
      

  Less: Employee costs capitalised -   -   - 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised 
costs 2,748   27   2,775 

 

Please see page 122 of the annual report for further information on staff costs 

  

Page 152 of 173

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

4.2 Average number of people 
employed 

 
                      

  
2019-20   2018-19 

  

Permanently 
employed   Other   Total   

Permanently 
employed   Other   Total 

  
Number   Number   Number   Number   Number   Number 

  
                      

Total 
 

48.00   4.00   52.00   44.00   1.00   45.00 

  
                      

Of the above: 
 

                      
Number of whole time 
equivalent people engaged on 
capital projects 

 
-   -   -   -   -   - 

 

Please see page 122 of the annual report for further information on staff costs 

4.3 Exit packages agreed in financial year 

There have been no exit packages in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

 

 

Page 153 of 173

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

4.4 Pension Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 

Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the 

NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 

Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England 

and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 

to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution 

schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken 

as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting 

valuation every year. 

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st 

April 2019. For 2019/20, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the former rate 

with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full cost and 

related funding has been recognised in these accounts. 

4.4.1 Accounting Valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the 

Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an 

actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing 

suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability 

as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018 updated to 31 March 

2019 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial 

assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the 

discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 

scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These 

accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies 

can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due 

under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend 

contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 

completed for the year ending 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 

contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have 

recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase 

to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.   

Page 154 of 173
Page 200

Agenda Item 6



 

 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the 

employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of 

Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation 

process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

  

Page 155 of 173
Page 201

Agenda Item 6



 

 

5. Operating expenses         

    2019-20   2018-19 

    Total   Total 

    £'000   £'000 

          

Purchase of goods and services         

Services from other CCGs and NHS England   937   974 

Services from foundation trusts   53,971   46,100 

Services from other NHS trusts   87,863   83,573 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies   35,882   30,034 

Prescribing costs   22,242   21,381 

General Ophthalmic services   46   44 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS*   19,267   3,083 

Supplies and services – clinical   1,390   469 

Supplies and services – general   2,173   1,010 

Consultancy services   207   162 

Establishment   1,235   2,201 

Premises   373   729 

Audit fees**   52   50 

Other non statutory audit expenditure         

·          Internal audit services***   15   24 

·          Other services   -   10 

Other professional fees   177   171 

Education, training and conferences   45   26 

 Total Purchase of goods and services   225,875   190,042 

          

Depreciation and impairment charges         

Depreciation   8   8 

Total Depreciation and impairment charges   8   8 

          

Provision expense         

Provisions   -   (550) 

Total Provision expense   -   (550) 

          

Other Operating Expenditure         

Chair and Non Executive Members   197   191 

Total Other Operating Expenditure   197   191 

          

Total operating expenditure   226,080   189,690 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 156 of 173
Page 202

Agenda Item 6



 

 

*With effect from 1 April 2019, NHS England has delegated co-commissioning responsibility 

for primary care medical services to the Clinical Commissioning Group.  This has resulted in 

an increase in the CCG allocation. 

**In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration 

and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a CCG contract with its 

auditors provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability, the principal terms of this limitation 

must be disclosed. The contract for the provision of external audit services is held by Grant 

Thornton UK LLP. This limitation has been confirmed as £2 million. The external audit fees 

include Value Added Tax (VAT).  

***Internal audit services during the year were provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency and 

hosted by The Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust.  This 

transferred to Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust following the Royal 

Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust merger with Aintree University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

  

Page 157 of 173
Page 203

Agenda Item 6



 

 

6. Better Payment Practice Code 
       

        Measure of compliance 2019-20 
 

2019-20 
 

2018-19 
 

2018-19 

 
Number 

 
£'000 

 
Number 

 
£'000 

Non-NHS Payables               
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid  in 
the Year 

        
4,489    

      
55,204    

        
3,841    

             
36,221  

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid 
within target 

        
4,306    

      
54,294    

        
3,649  

 

             
34,833  

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade 
invoices paid within target 95.92%   98.35%   95.00% 

 
96.17% 

                

NHS Payables               
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the 
Year 

        
2,045    

    
149,810    

        
2,252    

           
138,722  

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within 
target 

        
1,944    

    
147,378    

        
2,153    

           
137,832  

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices 
paid within target 95.06%    98.38%   95.60%   99.36% 
 

The Better Payment Practice Code required the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim to pay 

all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of the receipt of a valid invoice, whichever 

is later.  The Better Payment Practice Code sets out target compliance of 95%. 

  

Page 158 of 173
Page 204

Agenda Item 6



 

 

7. Operating Leases 
                

                 7.1 As lessee 
                7.1.1 Payments recognised as an 

Expense 
     

2019-20 
       

2018-19 

  
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Payments recognised 
as an expense                                 
Minimum lease 
payments   -   81   -   81   -   709   2   712 

Contingent rents   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Sub-lease payments   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Total   -   81   -   81   -   709   2   712 

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has arrangements in place with NHS Property Services and Community Health Partnerships Limited for use 

of property assets.  Although no formal contracts are in place the substance of the transactions involved convey the right of the Clinical 

Commissioning Group to use the property assets.  In accordance with IAS17 and the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 payments are 

required to be disclosed as operating lease payments.  All payments made are shown in note 7.1.1 above. 

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services and Community Health Partnerships Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, 

the rental charge for the remainder of the current leases have not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future minimum 

lease payments for these arrangements. 

  

Page 159 of 173

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

8. Property, plant and equipment 
      

2019-20 
 

Plant & 
machinery 

 

Information 
technology 

 
Total  

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019 
 

57   39   96 

       Additions purchased 
 

-   -   - 

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020 
 

57   39   96 

  
        

 Depreciation 01 April 2019 
 

57   16   73 

  
        

 Charged during the year 
 

-   8   8 

Depreciation at 31 March 2020 
 

57   24   81 

  
        

 Net Book Value at 31 March 2020 
 

-   15   15 

  
        

 Purchased 
 

-   15   15 

Donated 
 

-   -   - 

Government Granted 
 

-   -   - 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

-   15   15 

 

  

Page 160 of 173
Page 206

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
2018-19 

 

Plant & 
machinery 

 

Information 
technology 

 
Total 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 
2018 

 

                
57                   8               65  

Additions purchased 
 

                -      
                 

31    
             

31  

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019 
 

                
57                   39               96  

       
Depreciation 01 April 2018 

 

                
57  

 
                 8  

 
           65  

       Charged during the year 
 

                -    
 

                 8  
 

             8  

Depreciation at 31 March 2019 
 

                
57    

                 
16               73  

       Net Book Value at 31 March 
2019 

 
                -                     23               23  

       Purchased 
 

                -    
 

               23  
 

           23  

Donated 
 

                -    
 

                  -    
 

             -    

Government Granted 
 

                -    
 

                  -    
 

             -    

Total at 31 March 2019 
 

                -      
                  

23      
             

23    

 

8.1 Economic lives 
 

      

  

Minimum 
Life 

(years) 

  Maximum 
Life 

(Years) 
  

  

Plant & machinery 
 

-   4 

Information technology 
 

-   4 
 

  

Page 161 of 173
Page 207

Agenda Item 6



 

 

9.  Trade and other receivables   Current   Current 

    2019-20   2018-19 

    £'000   £'000 

          

NHS receivables: Revenue   418   2,410 

NHS prepayments   1   1 

NHS accrued income   53   1,000 

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: 
Revenue   140   130 

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments   34   140 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income   202   267 

VAT   (2)   10 

Total Trade & other receivables   846   3,957 

          

Included above:         

Prepaid pensions contributions   -   - 

 

There were no non-current receivables in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

There were no prepaid pension contributions included in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil)  

 

 
                

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired         

    2019-20   2019-20   2018-19   2018-19 

    
DHSC Group 

Bodies 
  

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies   

DHSC Group 
Bodies 

  

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies 

    £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

By up to three 
months 

  
130   79   741   15 

By three to six 
months 

  
149   21   143   - 

By more than six 
months 

  
139   35   38   - 

Total   418   135   922   15 

 

  

Page 162 of 173
Page 208

Agenda Item 6



 

 

10. Cash and cash equivalents         

          

    2019-20   2018-19 

    £'000   £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2019   20   63 

Net change in year   10   (43) 

Balance at 31 March 2020   30   20 

          

Made up of:         

Cash with the Government Banking Service   30   20 

Cash with Commercial banks   -   - 

Cash in hand   -   - 

Current investments   -   - 

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial 
position   30   20 

          

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service   -   - 

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks   -   - 

Total bank overdrafts   -   - 

          

Balance at 31 March 2020   30   20 

          

Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, 
not included above   -   - 

 

  

Page 163 of 173
Page 209

Agenda Item 6



 

 

11. Trade and other payables 

  Current   Current 

  2019-20   2018-19 

    £'000   £'000 

          

NHS payables: Revenue   1,489   1,275 

NHS accruals   1,094   1,112 

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue   4,728   3,481 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals   3,287   4,557 

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income   67   47 

Tax                     -      6 

Other payables and accruals   4,803   1,886 

Total Trade & Other Payables   15,469   12,363 

 

There were no non-current payables in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil)  

Page 164 of 173
Page 210

Agenda Item 6



 

 

12.  Provisions               

 
Current   

Non-
current   Current   Non-current 

 
2019-20   2019-20   2018-19   2018-19 

 
£'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

Pensions relating to former 
directors -   -   -   - 
Pensions relating to other 
staff -   -   -   - 
Restructuring -   -   -   - 
Redundancy -   -   -   - 
Agenda for change -   -   -   - 
Equal pay -   -   -   - 
Legal claims -   -   -   - 
Continuing care -   -   -   - 
Other -   -   -   - 

Total -   -   -   - 

 
              

Total current and non-
current -       -     

 

 

13. Contingencies 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed the likelihood and impact of contingent 

assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2020.  The likelihood is assessed as remote and the 

impact would be not material. 

14. Clinical Negligence Costs 

The value of provisions carried in the books of the NHS Resolution in regard to CNST claims 

as at 31 March 2020 was nil (2018-19: Nil)  

Page 165 of 173
Page 211

Agenda Item 6



 

 

15. Commitments 
      

       15.1 Capital commitments 

      In 2019-20 the CCG had no capital commitments. (2018-19: £24k) 

16. Financial instruments          

16.1 Financial risk management    

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments 

have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its 

activities. 

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is 

not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial 

instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical 

of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical 

commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial 

assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being 

held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities. 

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 

parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical commissioning group standing financial 

instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review 

by the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors. 

16.1.1 Currency risk       

The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great 

majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS 

clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning 

group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

16.1.2 Interest rate risk    

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject 

to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line 

with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund 

rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low 

exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

16.1.3 Credit risk    

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes 

parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. 

The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from 

customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 

 

 

Page 166 of 173
Page 212

Agenda Item 6



 

 

16.1.4 Liquidity risk 

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource 

limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical 

commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS 

clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 

16.1.5 Financial Instruments         

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial 

instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a 

non-public sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-

financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and 

NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 

16.2 Financial assets 
 

          

  
          

  

Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost   

Equity 
Instruments 
designated 
at FVOCI   Total 

  
2019-20   2019-20   2019-20 

  
£'000   £'000   £'000 

  
          

Trade and other receivables 
with NHSE bodies 

 
334   

 
  334 

Trade and other receivables 
with other DHSC group bodies 

 
137   

 
  137 

Trade and other receivables 
with external bodies 

 
342   

 
  342 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

30       30 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

843   -   843 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
          

Page 167 of 173
Page 213

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
16.3 Financial liabilities 

  
          

  

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost   Other   Total 

  
2019-20   2019-20   2019-20 

  
£'000   £'000   £'000 

  
          

Trade and other payables 
with NHSE bodies 

 
1,163   

 
  1,163 

Trade and other payables 
with other DHSC group 
bodies 

 
2,328   

 
  2,328 

Trade and other payables 
with external bodies 

 
11,911   

 
  11,911 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

15,402   -   15,402 

 

17. Operating Segments 

 
            

              

  

Gross 
expenditure 

Income 
Net 

expenditure 
Total 

assets 
Total 

liabilities 
Net 

assets 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Commissioning of 
Healthcare Services 228,837 (1,109) 227,728 891 (15,469) (14,578) 

Total 228,837 (1,109) 227,728 891 (15,469) (14,578) 

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segment: Commissioning of Healthcare 

Services.  All internally generated reports to the CCG Governing Body are based on one 

operating segment.  

Page 168 of 173
Page 214

Agenda Item 6



 

 

18. Related party transactions 
     

       Details of related party transactions with organisations are as follows: 
    

       

Related Party Name CCG Role 

Payments 
to 

Related 
Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 

  
 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

The Family Surgery Dr Rob Caudwell Chair and Clinical Director 634 - - - 

Marshside Surgery Dr Rob Caudwell Chair and Clinical Director 542 - - - 

Norwood Surgery Dr Kati Scholtz 
Clinical Vice Chair and 
Clinical Director 1,482 - - - 

Chapel Lane Surgery Dr Doug Callow GP Clinical Director 1,406 - - - 

The Corner Surgery Dr Hilal Mulla GP Clinical Director 735 - 2 - 

 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had significant number of 

material transactions with entities which the Department is regarded as the parent.  For example: 

• NHS England (including commissioning support units); 

• NHS Foundation Trusts; 

• NHS Trusts; 

• NHS Litigation Authority, and 

• NHS Business Services Authority. 

In addition the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central 

and local government bodies, mainly Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Page 169 of 173

P
age 215

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

19. Events after the reporting period 

All health partners in the local health economy will need to collaborate to ensure long term 

financial sustainability at the same time as improving clinical services for our populations.  In 

the future, this may mean potential organisational reconfiguration and as at the 31 March 

2020 discussions are ongoing. 

Covid-19 was declared a pandemic on 12 March 2020 and the UK government made 

announcements about how the population should act as a result before the end of March 

2020.  The CCG has made an assessment of significant factors relating to 2019-20 and no 

material items have been identified.  

Page 170 of 173
Page 216

Agenda Item 6



 

 

20. Losses and Special Payments 

20.1. Losses 

There were no losses in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

20.2 Special payments 

There were no special payments made in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

 

21. Pooled Budgets                 

                  

Better Care Fund                 

                  
The Clinical Commissioning Group share of the income and expenditure handled by  
the pooled budget in relation to the Better Care Fund in the financial year were: 

                  

    2019-20   2018-19         

    £'000   £'000         

Income   (9,723)   (9,497)         

Expenditure   9,723   9,497         

Total   -   -         

 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) came into operation on 1 April 2015, with £3.46 billion of NHS 

England’s funding to CCGs ring-fenced for the establishment of the fund. To administer the 

fund, CCGs were required to establish joint arrangements with local authorities to operate a 

pooled budget to deliver more integrated health and social care. 

Southport & Formby CCG is party to a BCF pooled budget arrangement with South Sefton 

CCG and Sefton Council.  The income and expenditure referenced above, is analysed within 

note 5 Operating Expenses. 

Page 171 of 173
Page 217

Agenda Item 6



 

 

22. Financial performance targets               

                

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).         

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:             

                

  2019-20   2019-20   2018-19   2018-19 

  Target   Performance   Target   Performance 

Expenditure not to exceed income 
        

216,037            228,837    
        

193,465    
        

192,465  

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions                   -                        -      
                 

31    
                 

31  

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 
        

214,928            227,728    
        

189,930    
        

188,930  

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions                   -                        -                        -                        -    

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions                   -                        -                        -                        -    

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified 
in Directions 

            
2,607                2,544    

            
2,622    

            
2,418  

 

The CCG was set a control total of break even at the outset of the financial year by NHSE.  During the year, the CCG worked on a System wide 

Financial Recovery Plan, resulting in the CCG seeking a revision to its forecast out turn following the protocol set by NHS England.  This revision 

was agreed and subsequently met by the CCG.  At the end of the 2019-20 financial year, the CCG reported a £12.8m deficit. 

Page 172 of 173

P
age 218

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Southport and Formby CCG 

5 Curzon Rd, Southport, PR8 6PL  

0151 317 8456 

southportandformby.ccg@nhs.net  

www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk  

On request this report can be provided in different formats, such as large print, audio or 

Braille versions and in other languages. 

 

Page 173 of 173
Page 219

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report and Accounts 

2019-2020 

Page 221

Agenda Item 6



Contents  

 

Performance report 
 

 

 Performance overview                                                                                 4 

 Performance analysis  17 

 Involving our residents 57 

 Equality and diversity 65 

 Working towards a sustainable NHS 77 

  
Accountability report 

 
 

Corporate governance report  

 Members report 80 

 Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities 84 

 Governance statement 86 

  
Remuneration and staff report  

 Remuneration report 114 

 Staff report 122 

  
Parliamentary accountability and audit report  130 

  
Accounts  
 

136 

  

Page 2 of 174
Page 222

Agenda Item 6



About our annual report and accounts 

We produce our annual report and accounts in line with national reporting requirements.  

These requirements are set out in a ‘manual’ that we follow, which asks us to report information 

relating to our work in three main sections as follows:  

 Performance report - including an overview, performance analysis and performance 
measures 

 Accountability report - including the members report, corporate governance report, 
annual governance statement, remuneration and staff report 

 Annual accounts 
 

  

Page 3 of 174
Page 223

Agenda Item 6



Performance overview 

Introduction

Welcome to our Annual Report and Accounts 2019-2020. This document is a guide to the work 

we have done over the last year, setting out our key achievements and the challenges we have

faced along the way. 

We could not begin this introduction however, without recognising the unprecedented 

circumstances we find ourselves in at the end of this financial year. At the time of writing this, we

are experiencing what are arguably the biggest changes in the way we live our personal and 

professional lives ever, due to the national measures put in place to stem the spread of 

coronavirus, COVID-19. We are focusing all our efforts on responding to the pandemic and you 

will read more about this later in the report.  

Across the year we have been making good progress in improving the quality of the services we

commission, whilst at the same time ensuring that we are making the best use of the financial 

resources available to us.   

An important milestone for us was the development of our borough wide plan for the local NHS 

called Sefton2gether. We developed this plan together with our partners across health and care 

and it has also been informed by your views - our residents. It responds to the requirements of 

the NHS Long Term Plan and builds on our earlier Shaping Sefton strategy that set out a vision 

for more integrated health and care, wrapped around you and your community. 

Our member GP practices are playing an increasingly central role in helping us to transform 

your care. This year practices have further strengthened their joint working arrangements 

through their membership of one of three primary care networks (PCNs) across the CCG, so 

together they can achieve more across these bigger areas. As a result, patients are benefiting 

from new services including an innovative pharmacy ‘hub’ and access to social prescribing link 

workers through a collaboration with voluntary sector organisations.   

You will read more examples throughout this report of the work we are doing with our partners 

to achieve more for you. We are particularly proud of the work we did with Sefton Council to 

change the model of supported living for people with mental health conditions or a learning

disability to an Individual Service Fund (ISF) model. This is where an individual or their 

representative decides how to spend their personal budget to better meet their assessed care

and support needs, improving their experience of these services. The pilot scheme was

shortlisted for the prestigious Local Government Award in 2020. 

Finally, we understand all too well the great strain coronavirus has placed on all our lives, and 

we would like to praise our colleagues across health and care in Sefton for their tireless work 

and to you, our residents for the support and patience you have shown your local NHS. In 

particular, we would like to thank you for playing your part in helping to respond to COVID-19

and for making changes to the way your live your lives to help protect us all. 

Dr Craig Gillespie Fiona Taylor

Chair Chief Officer

Page 4 of 174
Page 224

Agenda Item 6



Purpose of this performance overview 

The performance overview section of this report highlights our approach and achievements 

during the financial year 2019-2020.  

 

It gives a snapshot of who we are, what we do, the challenges we have faced and what we have 

done as a result. 

 

  

Page 5 of 174
Page 225

Agenda Item 6



Our journey in 2019-2020 

We made some good progress as we journeyed through 2019-2020 during an increasingly 

demanding period for the NHS nationally and locally.  

Here is a roadmap of some of the significant achievements and challenges from our journey in 

2019-2020 that you will read more about later in this report. 

April 2019 

We have ‘full delegation’ status from 1 April, taking on responsibility for the commissioning of 

general practice medical services from NHS England and Improvement.  

The third phase of our review of local health policies begins with Sefton residents invited to give 

views on policies including insulin pumps and continuous glucose monitoring devices.  

May 2019 

International Nurses Day gave us the opportunity to celebrate the importance of nursing and 

support the ‘We are the NHS campaign’, encouraging more people to join the profession.   

We gave our support to the ‘Let’s talk about dementia’ campaign which encourages people to 

help improve the lives of those affected by dementia. 

June 2019 

Our ‘Diabetes and You’ and ‘Diabetes and More’ education programmes gain national 

accreditation from QISMET as we were supporting National Diabetes Week. 

With partners we launch a rapid response plan to the Sefton re-inspection of systems and 

services for children and young people with special educational needs and disability (SEND). 

July 2019 

Trans Health Sefton was named a winner in this year’s Healthcare Transformation Awards 

2019, which recognise the very best in innovation and improvement across the NHS. 

With Sefton Council we launched Kooth, an online counselling and emotional wellbeing platform 

for children and young people. 

August 2019 

Amidst a challenging year, we retain our ‘requires improvement’ rating in the NHS England 

annual assessment of our performance. 

We rank amongst some of the best performing CCGs in key areas including talking therapies, 

diabetes, cancer patient experience and public involvement. 

September 2019 

The first ever national World Patient Safety Day gave us a great opportunity to highlight and 

celebrate the great work that we’re doing to improve the safety of patients. 

Our ‘Big Chat 11’ combines our Annual General Meeting to update residents on our work and 

invite their views about our future developments. 

Page 6 of 174
Page 226

Agenda Item 6



October 2019 

We call for resident’s views to help finalise our 5 year strategy, Sefton2gether that responds to 

the NHS Long Term plan and works alongside Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Our innovative ‘pharmacy hub’ is rolled out following a successful three month pilot, providing 

GP practices, their patients and community pharmacies with support.  

November 2019 

‘Self-Care Week’ was our opportunity to launch a series of short videos showcasing some of the 

free support available to Sefton residents to improve their health and wellbeing. 

We encourage residents to get involved with their local NHS by joining their GP practice’s 

patient group, holding an event with Healthwatch Sefton for people to find out more.  

December 2019 

Our Christmas campaign reminds people of the range of local services that can help them 

should they become ill over the holiday period. 

We encourage our residents to share views on a number of involvement exercises such as local 

SEND services, regional hospital based eye care and the national cancer survey. 

January 2020 

The development of our 5 year plan, Sefton 2gether is completed and work is ongoing with 

Sefton Council and other partners to progress our combined vision for health and care. 

Our work with Sefton Council on Supported Living Services is judged a finalist in the Health and 

Social Care category of the 2019 Local Government Association Awards. 

February 2020 

Our governing body begins to consider whether the CCG may come together in a formal merger 

with counterparts in Sefton, Liverpool and Knowsley.  

We support the CQC’s #DeclareYourCare campaign, encouraging people with a learning 

disability their family, carers and advocates to feedback on their experience of healthcare. 

March 2020  

We remind residents that all GP practices in the borough are fully linked up with the NHS App, 

so they can book and manage appointments, order repeat prescriptions and more. 

Our response to the coronavirus pandemic rapidly gathers pace, as national guidance on social 

distancing is put in place to stem the spread of COVID-19.  

Page 7 of 174
Page 227

Agenda Item 6



Who we are and what we do 

We are NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and we have been responsible 

for planning and buying – or ‘commissioning’ – nearly all local health services since 1 April 

2013. In 2019-2020 we had a budget of £280 million to spend on commissioning the following 

health services for our 156,000 South Sefton residents: 

 Community based services, such as district nursing and blood testing 

 Hospital care, including routine operations, outpatient clinics, maternity and accident 

and emergency services 

 GP out of hours services, giving people access to a doctor when their surgery is 

closed in the evenings, weekends and bank holidays 

 Nearly all mental health services  

 

Our CCG is a membership organisation made up of doctors, nurses, lay representatives and 

other health professionals, representing all 30 doctor’s surgeries in South Sefton. We support 

practices to be actively involved in the work of the CCG. Much of this work is carried out in 

‘localities’, covering four geographical areas, so practices can really focus on addressing the 

health needs of their individual communities. Our four localities are Bootle, Crosby, Maghull and 

Seaforth and Litherland. A Governing Body of elected GPs, practice staff, lay representatives 

and other professionals makes decisions about our CCG on behalf of the wider membership. 

Whilst we support people’s right to choose where they are treated and who provides their care1, 

the majority of the services we commissioned in 2019-2020 were commissioned from the 

following providers:  

 

 Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – where the majority of our 

residents receive any general hospital care they may need 

 Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust – providing community services in addition to many 

of the mental health services we commission 

 North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust – providers of patient transport services as 

well as its network of emergency response vehicles 

 Other NHS organisations – including Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust, 

Liverpool Women’s NHS Foundation Trust, Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust, 

The Walton Centre and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

 Community, voluntary and faith sector organisations – like Sefton Carers Centre and the 

Alzheimer’s Society 

 Independent and private sector providers – including Go To Doc that is led by doctors 

and provides our GP out of hours service 

 Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit –providing many of our 

administrative and operational functions like procurement and human resources  

 

So we can make the right commissioning decisions for our patients’ needs, we continually 

review and monitor local services to make sure they meet the standards and quality we expect. 

Alongside this, we routinely assess all the information and medical evidence we have about 

current health and health services in south Sefton, to inform what more we need to do. 

                                                           
1 NHS Constitution https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england 

Page 8 of 174
Page 228

Agenda Item 6



Our strategic approach to commissioning services is set out in our new strategy that was 

developed during 2019-2020, Sefton2gether. A number of other CCG and partnership plans, 

strategies and targets inform our work too. This includes the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

(JSNA) and Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Living Well in Sefton, which we co-

produced with Sefton Council during 2019-2020. We also have a joint strategy for integration 

with the council called ‘Making Integration Happen’2.  

Our plans also have to meet a number of nationally set standards and requirements like the 

NHS planning and contracting guidance, the NHS Long Term Plan, Oversight Framework for 

CCGs and the NHS Constitution3, which also sets out the legal rights of our patients’ and staff 

and what is expected from them in return – so we can all get the best from the NHS and the 

resources it has at its disposal. 

We have an annual operational plan, called ‘Highway to Health’ in 2019-2020, produced jointly 

with NHS Southport and Formby CCG and which explains the work we are doing towards Living 

Well in Sefton and Sefton2gether.  

Our residents play an important role in helping us to shape our work and oversee services, and 

we involve them in our work in a number of different ways – from routinely gaining their views 

and experiences, to inviting representatives to join some of our most important groups and 

committees. 

You will read more about all these different aspects of our work throughout this report and you 

will also find a range of further information on our website www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk  

                                                           
2 Find all of these on Sefton Council website - https://www.sefton.gov.uk/17872   
3 NHS Constitution - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england  

Page 9 of 174
Page 229

Agenda Item 6



Our local challenges  

The NHS continues to face real challenges across all sectors including funding constraints, 

increased service demand, and workforce pressures. These national challenges are mirrored in 

South Sefton. 

The continued focus in 2019-20 is on ensuring continued quality of services while amongst 

these mounting challenges. 

In addition to these challenges, South Sefton has a number of environmental and social 

elements that need to be factored in when planning and commissioning health services for the 

population. 

These include the following: 

 The demographic makeup of our population shows a higher proportion of residents 65 

years and over, approximately 19.5%, compared with a national rate of closer to 18%. 

Projections over the next 10 years indicate this age group will increase by close to 19%, 

approximately an additional 6,000 people in this age group. 

 South Sefton has significantly higher levels of deprivation and child poverty with income 

deprivation affecting children across a number of Boroughs within the top 1% in the 

country. 

Although health is improving in a number of areas there remains unacceptable inequalities in 

health in different parts of the borough and these present clear areas for improvement: 

 Life expectancy for both males and females is lower than the national rate with healthy 

life rates for males significantly lower. The variation increases when looking at locality 

level information with an approximate 6 year variation between the highest and lowest 

areas. 

 Levels of long term health conditions are much higher than the national average 

especially cardiovascular related diseases. Other factors such as obesity, respiratory 

diseases and mental health disorders are higher in Sefton than nationally along with 

Dementia. 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) supports the strategic development and service 

planning by examining health and social variations and inequalities that exist within Sefton. The 

information outlined in the JSNA supports commissioning plans and joint working with our health 

and social care partners. This is done in a number of ways such as the Health and Wellbeing 

Board for Sefton.  

You can find out more about local health and wellbeing from Sefton’s JSNA4 , Sefton Public 

Health Annual Report and RightCare Health Inequalities data pack5 for south Sefton. 

  

                                                           
4 Sefton JSNA - https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488605/jsna-highlight-report-2018.pdf  
2 NHS Rightcare Equality and Health Inequalities pack - https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-nw-south_sefton-ccg-dec-18.pdf 
 

Page 10 of 174
Page 230

Agenda Item 6



Our strategy for health, care and wellbeing  

The CCG’s strategy has been guided by the NHS England Long Term Plan.  Building on the 

2014 original Shaping Sefton Strategy and working in a partnership approach the new five year 

plan, Sefton2gether has been agreed.  The plan looks at the Sefton requirements and has been 

developed by the NHS, Sefton Council, the voluntary, community and faith (VCF) sector and the 

people of Sefton.  It underpins elements of the Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy and our 

aim is to continually improve health and wellbeing for all in Sefton. 

The ambitions and priorities will be implemented over the next five years and importantly this 

plan is a ‘system’ based plan for the whole of Sefton.  A lot of work has been carried out, 

especially in the last 12 months, by the Sefton Health and Care Transformation Partnership.  

We agree we cannot “jointly” deliver everything together. However, we are committed to working 

closely wherever possible to link up where our ambitions align. This will all be carried out under 

the umbrella of Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy and working within the finances available. 

We also aim to cut delays, improve the quality of care, bring care closer to everyone’s homes 

and reduce both A&E attendance and hospital admissions. 

In line with the ambitions of the national NHS Long Term Plan, we want to refocus our efforts 

and increase our investment in prevention rather than cure – this represents a significant 

change in the way we have prioritised our resources in the past. 

We also know, from developing this plan with our partners and the public, we will not be able to 

change everything within five years. Some of the foundations we are building on will still take 

many more years to show their results. Delivering greater health and care results can take 

generations but that will not stop us planning and working now to make a positive change for the 

future.  This includes things like increasing vaccination and immunisation rates as well as 

identifying when we can intervene earlier to stop or reduce ill health getting worse. This will help 

people live longer, healthier lives and reduce the need for traditional medical services in the 

future.  By encouraging people to live a healthier lifestyle; such as eating and drinking more 

healthily, taking more exercise and not smoking, will hopefully not have to rely on health and 

care services as much as people go through life. 

We also want to help address some of the structural / wider determinants of health, to see how 

best we can work together with partners on things like poverty, housing, education, transport, 

skills, and employment.  This includes looking at “social value”; which describes the social 

benefits achieved from public services. It considers more than just people’s wages and income 

and includes things like wellbeing, health, inclusion and many other benefits of being employed 

and active in the community. 

There are though some stark health and care issues in Sefton which need to be addressed for 

the benefit of everyone.  We need to prevent and reduce existing conditions like diabetes, heart 

disease, cancer and mental health conditions across all ages; reduce the time people wait for 

surgery and urgent care and provide value for money to taxpayers. We can do this by thinking 

more strategically about our future commissioning arrangements with all providers, including the 

VCF sector. 

We are all committed to delivering the key aims of this strategy for Sefton and helping people 

start well, live well, age well, die well.  We want to ensure that health and care across Sefton 

Page 11 of 174
Page 231

Agenda Item 6



considers the entire life-cycle so that we can help and support whether a new born baby or 

coming towards the end of life. 

There will be one implementation plan combining the joint actions of the NHS and Council from 

the Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Children’s and Young People Plan and this Plan 

to ensure consistent messaging around local strategic aims and priorities. 

Working with partners across the region this plan also contributes to the Cheshire and Mersey 

Health & Care Partnership’s NHS Five Year Plan.  There are now four agreed priorities within 

the Cheshire and Merseyside Programme, these are: 

 CVD Disease: Zero Stroke – reinforcing the importance of prevention, given that diseases of 

the circulatory system are the second biggest killer in Sefton. 

 Mental Health and Wellbeing: Zero Suicide – mental health is a priority across the life-

course in Sefton. The suicide rate exceeds the national average (and doubled in the period 

to 2016/17). Hospital admissions for self-harm are also rising 

 No more harm from alcohol – Sefton is an outlier for alcohol admissions and mortality. 

Drinking too much can have numerous impacts on health as well as raising the chances of 

other related health issues, such as violence, or increased risk of having an accident 

 No more harm from violence – this work will focus on reducing violence from a Public Health 

and behavioural science perspective.  Building on work from the UK and abroad, it is 

anticipated that a big difference can be made to people’s quality of life if violence can be 

reduced. It will also have an impact on hospital admissions and the other burdens on public 

services 

 

Our ambitions 

A healthy balance 

There is a 12-year difference between the life expectancy in the poorest parts of Sefton 

compared to the richest parts.  Our goal is to reduce that gap through targeted advice, 

information and support with health care when it is needed, helping people to live longer. 

Great expectations 

We want to make sure that people are able to live their best life by helping them choose to live 

longer, healthier.  We want to help everyone increase the amount of years they live free from 

any major health conditions. 

Early intervention 

If people need help, the sooner we step in the better it is. That’s why we are promoting early 

intervention through our health care system, making sure that any worries that people have are 

seen to as quickly as possible before they turn into major problems. 

Prevention 

Prevention and intervention go hand in hand.  This is why we are encouraging people to stay 

healthy and active to prevent health and wellbeing problems later on in life. 

 

Page 12 of 174
Page 232

Agenda Item 6



 

Empowering self-care 

Helping people to care for themselves is very important to us. Self-care and lifestyle changes; 

such as not smoking, doing more exercise and eating and drinking healthily can make a big 

difference to everyone – from weight loss to managing existing mental health conditions.  This 

also includes helping those people with long term conditions, eg. diabetes, or recovering from 

cancer to maintain as healthy a life as possible. After all, real change can only come from within. 

Access to high quality services 

We want to make sure that everyone’s health and care systems are the best that they can be, 

meet required quality standards and are located where people need them most. We are 

constantly looking for new ways to improve and meet everyone’s needs efficiently and 

effectively. 

Planning ahead 

There are long-term NHS goals that we have to meet to make sure that everyone are well 

looked after. These goals include; reducing waiting times, supporting maternity services, 

reducing health inequalities and tackling diabetes, improving outcomes from cancer and 

supporting people with mental health problems at a local and national level. 

Sustainability 

We currently spend more money than we get. We want our health and care system to be 

financially sound. We have to understand how we can manage our money in a way that meets 

all of everyone’s needs. We also want to be able to maintain the high quality of care available, 

no matter what happens politically and economically.  Because of this we have to make sure 

that we are prepared for all circumstances and have the services in place when and where they 

are most effective. 

Social value 

We want the NHS and other public sectors to be of value to the local population. We want to 

create a service that is trusted, an employer who is fair and loyal and a pillar that the community 

can depend on. We aim to do this through constant communication and transparency about 

what we are doing and why.  This includes the five main things which make the NHS an “Anchor 

Institution”: 

 Purchasing more locally and for social benefit 

 Using buildings and spaces to support communities 

 Widening access to quality work 

 Working more closely with local partners 

 Reducing its environmental impact 

 

Working together 

We aim to make the most of the resources we have available, both within the NHS and across 

our partners.  We want to ensure we all focus on “whole system delivery” through working 

together and being as efficient as possible. The overall approach is guided by the need to 

Page 13 of 174
Page 233

Agenda Item 6



address the health issues within Sefton, which mean that people are not living as long or as 

healthily as they could.  

Page 14 of 174
Page 234

Agenda Item 6



Delivering our strategy in partnership  

You will read below about some of our most important organisational partners that we are 

involving in our work. These organisations are responsible for different aspects of local health 

and care services, which are described below. They share our vision for more joined up and 

sustainable health and care services that better meet the health needs of our residents. 

NHS England and Improvement  

Together with NHS England and Improvement (NHSE/I), we work to ensure health services for 

South Sefton residents meet national and local standards. This has been the first year since we 

took on full responsibility for the commissioning of general medical practice services from 

NHSE/I, known as ‘full delegation’.  

During 2019-2020, the Cheshire and Merseyside Area Team continued to oversee standards 

and hold the contracts for dentists, pharmacists and opticians, as well as being responsible for 

some screening and immunisation programmes. Other local teams commission some additional 

services our residents may need from time to time, such as specialist, prison and armed forces 

healthcare. 

Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board 

This partnership board steers much of the work we do together with Sefton Council. Our chair 

and chief officer are core members of this committee, which brings us together with others who 

have a lead responsibility for health and social care in the borough. This includes local 

councillors, council officers, NHS providers, NHS England, representatives of the community 

voluntary and faith sector and Healthwatch Sefton. 

Together, we have devised a Sefton wide strategy for health and wellbeing6. This was based on 

our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) that brings together all the information we have 

about current services, to highlight where we need to do more in the future. This is particularly 

important as we continue to work together on addressing the inequalities in health that exist in 

different parts of the borough. Our new 5 year strategy, Sefton2gether will support the delivery 

of our joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and you will find examples of our joint work 

elsewhere in this annual report.    

Sefton Council 

We work closely with our council commissioning colleagues across many areas including social 

care, mental health and children’s services. Our jointly agreed ‘Making it Happen’ strategy 

describes our commitment and work towards further integration, which we believe will have 

great benefits for our residents by making their health and social care more seamless and 

effective. A well-established Integrated Commissioning Group takes a lead on delivering this 

strategy.  This group is also looking at where we can further pool our resources towards 

achieving better outcomes for our patients. This is part of our work around the Better Care Fund 

programme7. 

                                                           
6 Find Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy here -  
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s94293/Enc.%201%20for%20The%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20S
trategy%202020-2025.pdf 
7 https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/  

Page 15 of 174
Page 235

Agenda Item 6



The council is responsible for promoting and protecting good health across Sefton. It works 

closely with the national body, Public Health England to do this in partnership with NHS England 

and ourselves. This helps to steer our work to reduce health inequalities in line with the aims of 

our joint health and wellbeing strategy. 

The local authority also holds us to account through its overview and scrutiny functions. Our 

chief officer is a regular attendee of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) for Adult 

Social Care and Health and the OSC for Children, Young People and Safeguarding to update 

councillors of key work programmes.  

Other clinical commissioning groups 

We work with neighbouring clinical commissioning groups to plan and buy services when there 

is a benefit for South Sefton residents, or where services are provided across a wider 

geographical area, like hospital care. We share a management team with neighbouring NHS 

Southport and Formby CCG as well as employing staff dedicated solely to do our work. This 

means we are able to maintain efficient running costs and share good practice where it offers 

benefits to our local residents. It also helps us to work more effectively with Sefton Council and 

the Health and Wellbeing Board on borough wide programmes and initiatives. This is 

particularly important when we are addressing the variations in health that exist in different parts 

of Sefton, so that no one community is disadvantaged and improvements are experienced by 

all.  

Provider organisations 

The majority of services we commission are from other NHS organisations like hospital and 

community services trusts. In addition, we also commission some services from the voluntary, 

community and faith sector and private providers. We closely monitor the work of all our 

providers to ensure their services meet the high standards of quality we expect for our patients. 

We also involve our providers in planning how we might improve care in the future, and a 

number of these organisations are represented on some of our most important working groups. 

Healthwatch Sefton 

Healthwatch Sefton gathers and represents the views of people living in the borough. Due to its 

independence, Healthwatch can challenge those who provide services but it can also work in 

partnership with us and other statutory bodies to improve frontline health and social care. The 

chair of Healthwatch Sefton is a co-opted member of our Governing Body. The organisation 

also has representation on some of our other committees and working groups, including our 

Engagement and Patient Experience Group. 

 

 

  

Page 16 of 174
Page 236

Agenda Item 6



Performance analysis  

To make sure we fulfil all our duties, our performance is regularly measured, monitored and 

scrutinised. This happens in a number of different ways - through our internal governance 

structures and processes as described elsewhere in this report, as well as being regularly 

assessed by national regulatory bodies such as NHS England & Improvement. 

There are also a number of documents that set out targets for different areas of our work. This 

includes the pledges contained in the NHS Constitution, the NHS Outcomes Framework, Better 

Care Fund and the CCG Oversight Framework (previously the Improvement & Assessment 

Framework). Aligned to this are also specific CCG plans set out in the Operational Plans for 

CCGs. 

The work you will read about throughout this report has all contributed to our performance for 

2019/20. 

Detailed information about our performance during the year, including any significant issues or 

achievements can be found in our integrated performance reports, which are published on our 

website8 in addition to being presented to our Governing Body. 

  

                                                           
8 View integrated performance reports here - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/how-well-our-
services-perform/  

Page 17 of 174
Page 237

Agenda Item 6



Performance summary  

Oversight Framework  

In April 2019 the new NHS Oversight Framework (NHS OF) replaced the Improvement and 

Assessment Framework (IAF) and outlines the joint approach NHS England and NHS 

Improvement will take to oversee organisational performance and identify where commissioners 

and providers may need support. Of the 65 metrics in the NHS OF, 60 relate specifically to 

CCGs. 

In the latest annual improvement and assessment framework (IAF - now known as the 

Oversight Framework as of April 2019), results (2018-2019) NHS South Sefton CCG were rated 

as ‘requires improvement’ by NHS England. The assessment takes into consideration all 58 

performance indicators across the four domains of better health, better care, sustainability and 

leadership. 

Overall, our rating highlighted progress and on-going challenges, whilst continuing to reflect the 

increasingly testing environment the organisation is operating in. Continuing to maintain the 

rating of ‘requires improvement’ during such a difficult year reflects the hard work we have 

carried out and the improvements we have made.  

The information release for Quarter 2 2019-2020 for NHS Oversight Framework (NHS OF) 

indicates areas where performance has improved and also where continued improvement is still 

required.  These are summarised below: 

Key Areas of Improvement 

Quality of Care & Outcomes: 

 Provision of high-quality care: hospital (121a); 

Performance improved significantly in Q1 19/20 and is now in the highest performing 

group nationally. 

 Cancers diagnosed at an early stage (122a); 

Performance continues to increase year on year and this was recognised by NHS 

England and Improvement in its assessment feedback. 

 One-year survival from all cancers (122c); 

Performance has improved against this indicator steadily over the past 16 years.  We are 

now ranked joint best amongst peers alongside St Helens CCG. 

 People with first episode of psychosis commencing treatment within 2 weeks (123c); 

Performance has improved over the past 4 months, achieving the national target and 

has been recognised in the feedback from NHSE England and Improvement via the 

assessment process. 

 People of GP SMI register receiving physical health checks (123g); 

Performance has improved over the past 4 quarters which has been recognised by NHS 

England and Improvement in its assessment feedback  

 Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia (126a); 

Improved performance in this area has been noted in the assessment feedback from 

NHS England and Improvement. 

 

Page 18 of 174
Page 238

Agenda Item 6



Preventing Ill Health & Reducing Inequalities: 

 Antimicrobial resistance: appropriate prescribing in primary care (107b); 

Performance has improved over the past 2 months and is now reporting below the 10% 

maximum level for antibiotic prescribing and is also below the England average. 

 

Leadership & Workforce 

 Compliance with statutory guidance on patient and public participation in commissioning 

and health care (166a); 

The CCG was assessed as improving from green in 2017-2018 to green star in  2018-

2019 against this measure, which focuses on how well local residents are engaged in 

the work of the organisation. This is the highest possible rating for this performance 

measure. 

 

The assessment is based on performance data for 2018-2019 and in addition to the above we 

are cited as being in Outstanding for Diabetes performance and Good for cancer performance. 

Key Areas for improvement 

Quality of Care & Outcomes 

 105c Deaths with three or more emergency admissions in the last three months of life: 

A number of actions have been implemented to ensure reduced levels or emergency 

admissions for this cohort of patients with the CCG working closely with care home and 

hospice providers linked to end of life care. 

There are multiple factors which impact upon this performance in relation to in-hospital 

and community services and which services patients choose. Work is on-going to 

improve identification and recording of patients preferred place of death. The CCG is 

investigating to identify the root cause as to the higher levels of admissions prior to end 

of life. 

 108a Carers with an LTC who feel supported to manage their own condition: 

We understand the importance of providing needed support to those with long term 

conditions to manage their conditions well and thus provide them with on-going 

independence. In view of this we are undertaking a piece of work to understand patient 

responses and areas for improvement. 

 122b Urgent GP referral for first definitive treatment for cancer within 62 days: 

The CCG continues to struggle to achieve the national standard regarding this metric 

with a number of reasons for patients breaching the 62-day timescale. These include 

complex diagnostic pathways, patient choice, and other medical factors preventing 

treatment. This is not just a local issue relating to South Sefton patients but covers a 

much wider area and as such a new Cancer Alliance Performance Improvement Group 

has been established to give oversight of cancer performance across the Cheshire and 

Merseyside system. The focus of this group will be to identify the key areas for patients 

breaching the time frames and develop improvement plans. 

 123a Improving access to psychological therapies – recovery: 

Recovery of patients entering the service is something that has been discussed and 
investigated with the current provider and on review a number of obstacles have been 
identified. Severity of patients entering the services have been high as well as internal 

Page 19 of 174
Page 239

Agenda Item 6



waiting times are two specific areas that have been picked up and will be addressed in 
the forthcoming procurement. 

 123b Improving access to psychological therapies – access: 

A number of factors, such as vacancies, long-term staff illness and the access process, 

have affected the service ability to see as many patients. As noted with recovery, the 

forthcoming procurement of the service will improve access. 

 124b LD Annual Health checks: 

General Practice face a number of challenges in achieving this target with one of the 

main one’s being capacity to make these checks. We are working with practices to 

identify those with a lower uptake and support promoting awareness of the importance in 

conducting these checks. Additionally some practices have signed up to DES with NHS 

England.  

 125d Maternal Smoking at Delivery:  

We are working closely with Sefton Council the Smoking Cessation service and assisting 

providers regarding timely referrals. The CCG, Providers and the Local Authority work in 

line with guidance recorded by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) and 

Public Health projects are also aligned. Issues with regards to e-referrals into the service 

have also contributed to poorer performance. 

 

Preventing ill Health & Reducing Inequalities: 

 104a Injuries from falls in people aged 65 and over: 

As noted earlier on regarding the make-up of South Sefton, compared to national levels 

we have a higher proportion of residents 65 years and older. Due to this factor and high 

prevalence of such illnesses as dementia this will increase the risk factor of falls and 

therefore hospitalisations. Although the CCG does have a higher level of risk in this area 

it also means we are able to work closely with our multiple care providers to establish a 

collaborative working approach to ensure high levels of safety in this regard. 

 106a Inequality in unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive and 

urgent care sensitive conditions: 

Nationally there are large inequalities in the rate of unplanned hospitalisation for chronic 

ambulatory care sensitive conditions when comparing the most and least deprived 

areas. The most deprived areas have about three times as many emergency admissions 

compared to the least deprived at a national level.  

Performance of this indicator is affected by changes in coding and major pathway 

changes within the CCGs main acute provider which has resulted in increased A&E to 

admission conversion rates and a higher rate of zero day length of stay admissions, 

mainly linked to ambulatory care conditions. Work is on-going with both the local Acute 

Trusts and the wider Urgent Care services to continue to improve these areas and 

implement national guidance relating to same day emergency care (SDEC). 

 107a Antimicrobial resistance: appropriate prescribing of antibiotics in primary care: 

Applying national antimicrobial guidance locally remains a challenge when local 

resistance patterns/clinician concerns are taken into account.  

Proactive discussions with practices take place and in addition, regular audits are carried 

out in line with the Pan Mersey Area Prescribing Guidelines and peer reviews take place 

at locality level. These audits have found an increase in the number of multiple infections 

within patients requiring broad spectrum antibiotics. The CCG and practices continue to 

monitor and apply national guidance as best as possible under the local circumstances.  

 

Page 20 of 174
Page 240

Agenda Item 6



 

New Service Models 

 127b Emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive conditions: 

The CCG has seen an increase in short stay admissions to hospital for patients with long 
term chronic conditions. These conditions can be managed well at home and with good 
links to primary care and this is something the CCG and Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
are working collaboratively on to ensure patients can manage these conditions well. As 
well as this the impact of changes to the main hospitals urgent care pathways has 
resulted in more short stay admissions for these patients, the outcome of this has shown 
an increase in numbers but this does not necessarily translate to actual patient 
increases. 

 127f Population use of hospital beds following emergency admission: 

System wide working across acute, community and local authority provision to focus on 

stranded and super stranded patients (patients with lengths of stay 7+days and 21+days 

respectively) is in place to review and understand delays. Recurrent themes are being 

identified and fed through to support longer term sustainable provision. 

Performance for this indicator is also affected by a higher rate of zero length of stay 

admissions as described in 106a. 

 130a Achievement of clinical standards in the delivery of 7-day services: 

Assessment was carried out for 2016/17 and needs to be reviewed on line with 

significant work undertaken in all acute Trusts including Aintree since the standards were 

published. Systems are in place to support all aspects of the standards with the need for 

us to monitor the quality of those interventions and how effective they are. 

 

Leadership & Workforce 

 

 128d Primary care workforce: 

Staffing within primary care remains a national issue and is something that is being 

discussed with the Primacy Care Networks as to ways in which support is needed. 

Targeted recruitments schemes are being put in place which will be based on the needs 

of the population.  

 

You can read more about the IAF process on NHS England’s website9. More about our results 

can also be found in our monthly integrated performance reports10. 

 

 

 

  

                                                           
9 NHS England IAF framework - https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/ccg-assess/  
10 View integrated performance reports here - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/how-well-our-
services-perform/ 

Page 21 of 174
Page 241

Agenda Item 6



Better Care Fund performance 

Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board submits our Better Care Fund (BCF)11 programme plan 

which sets out areas of work between Sefton Council and ourselves including funding 

contributions, scheme level spending plans and national metrics. Quarterly performance 

monitoring returns are submitted to NHS England on behalf of the Sefton Health and Wellbeing 

Board. Progress against our BCF plan is reported in our monthly integrated performance report.  

  

                                                           
11 About the Better Care Fund https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/  

Page 22 of 174
Page 242

Agenda Item 6



NHS South Sefton CCG Summary Performance Table 

The following table shows overall performance for April 2019 – March 2020, with much relating 

to the work of our providers. Where providers fall short of expectations, we work with them to 

support improvement and this sometimes includes contractual measures to ensure our services 

meet the best possible standards.  

NHS Constitution Indicators CCG 
Main 

Provider 

A&E 4 Hour Waits (All Types) (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 2 Week GP Referral (Cumulative)   Aintree 

RTT 18 Week Incomplete Pathway    Aintree 

Other Key Targets CCG 
Main 

Provider 

A&E 4 Hour Waits (Type 1) (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 14 Day Breast Symptom (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 31 Day First Treatment (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 31 Day Subsequent – Drug (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 31 Day Subsequent – Surgery (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 31 Day Subsequent – Radiotherapy (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 62 Day Standard (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 62 Day Screening (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Cancer 62 Day Consultant Upgrade (Cumulative)   Aintree 

Children & Young people eating disorders routine ref - 4 weeks     

Children & Young people eating disorders urgent ref- 1 week     

CPA Patients discharged and followed up in 7 days     

Dementia Diagnosis Rate     

Diagnostic Test Waiting Time   Aintree 

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP)     

HCAI - C.Diff   Aintree 

HCAI - MRSA   Aintree 

HCAI - E Coli     

IAPT Access - Roll Out     

IAPT - Recovery Rate     

Mixed Sex Accommodation   Aintree 

NHS E-Referral Service Utilisation     

Personal Health Budgets     

RTT 52+ week waiters   Aintree 

Stroke 90% time on stroke unit   Aintree 

Stroke who experience TIA   Aintree 

 

Page 23 of 174
Page 243

Agenda Item 6



What we are doing to address performance 

This section was written during the initial stages of the Covid-19 pandemic when the full impact 

on NHS services was unclear. It is now clear that there has been a nationwide impact on 

constitutional performance with performance having deteriorated in a number of areas in quarter 

one of 2020/21. NHS South Sefton CCG will be working together with its partners to address 

performance issues and to restore services in line with its Covid-19 recovery plans. This work 

will include retaining improvements that have been observed in areas such as increased use of 

digital technologies to deliver services in different ways. It is important to acknowledge, 

however, that returning performance to pre Covid-19 levels will remain a challenge in some 

areas throughout 2020/21. 

Accident and emergency services  

Throughout 2019/20 the national accident and emergency (A&E) target of 95% of patients 

waiting no longer than four hours has not been achieved. This has been extremely challenging 

nationally, not just for South Sefton CCG, with increased pressures across all of urgent care. 

The CCGs main provider, Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, also failed to 

achieve the national target and below the planned improvement trajectory agreed with NHS 

Improvement. Although the CCG, and wider health economy, has faced significant challenges 

and pressures on urgent care performance has remained steady. A wider range of collaborative 

working across acute, community, mental health providers as well as local authority social 

services are in place and being built upon. 

Cancer  

Performance for the CCG has been variable across all of the cancer metrics with four of the 

eight national targets set to achieve by the end of the year. Significant pressures within the 

breast surgery services in the latter part of 2018/19 continued into 2019/20 which impacted on 

two week wait performance. Close working with Aintree Hospital enabled the service to recover 

part way through 2019/20 and is now in a much better position.  

Cancer performance for the four 31-day measures has fluctuated throughout the year with the 

target for the surgery pathway on course not to achieve in 2019/20. A number of breaches have 

occurred within Gynaecology at the Liverpool Women’s Trust. Performance within the 62-day 

pathway measures has remained challenging with a number of delays occurring due to complex 

diagnostic pathways, inadequate elective capacity and other medical reasons.  

NHS South Sefton CCG has recovery plans in place with providers working to achieve 

operational standards consistently.  The Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Alliance now has a 

pivotal role in delivery of cancer standards across the system and we have seen a new 

performance improvement forum set up. This acknowledges the complexity of cancer pathways 

which can often include 2 or 3 different hospital providers. 

Children & Young People – Eating Disorders  

Performance in 2019/20 for the two waiting time targets set for children and young people 

(CYP) has varied throughout the year with referrals for routine cases improving to 91.3% in 

quarter 3 but still below the target. Urgent cases to be seen within 1 week are now achieving 

100% in quarter 3 but levels have varied in year.  

Page 24 of 174
Page 244

Agenda Item 6



National capacity issues have impacted on service performance in the year but further 

investment commitments nationally have been confirmed which will assist with the current 

issues.  

Dementia  

Performance against the national dementia standard has failed to achieve the target throughout 

the year and has consistently reported approximately 64% each month. Work has been 

progressed throughout the year with Mersey Care Trust to establish a new dementia referral 

template for the memory services. Further to this work within primary care to establish patients 

at clinical risk of dementia has been progressed and iMerseyside staff have been assisting in 

helping to identify potential coding errors that may hamper true figures of prevalence. 

Diagnostic test waiting times 

The performance for diagnostics has fluctuated throughout the year with only three of the ten 

months reporting less than 1% waiting over six weeks and in the latter months levels have 

worsened. Performance at the CCGs main Trust, Aintree, has fared slightly better but the latest 

levels are slightly above the target. The main impact on the CCG is linked to the theatre 

upgrade programme at Liverpool Heart & Chest Trust and is due to last until mid-2020. 

Healthcare associated infections  

The CCG is failing the targets set against the HCAI metrics for MRSA and E.Coli but is 

achieving for C.Difficile. The CCG reported one case of MRSA against a zero tolerance target 

with the cases reported back in July-19. E.Coli levels have risen to 139 compared with an 

annual trajectory of 128. Post infection reviews take place after each case with lessons learnt 

and recommendations for improvement are implemented. The Infection, Prevention & Control 

(IPC) Programme Board has been established to focus on the reduction of gram negative 

bloodstream infections and address the need for a system wide collaborative approach. 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

The target for both access and recovery for psychological therapies has not been met in 

2019/20 with a number of ongoing issues linked to patients not accessing the service and 

staffing. Performance is not likely to improve significantly over the coming months with a 

forthcoming procurement of the service to take place. 

NHS e-referral service usage 

NHS e-Referral levels for the CCG have remained steady each month at the 60% marker with 

figures rising to 63% in Dec-19. NHS Digital has acknowledged the data quality and limitation 

issues of current reporting and are exploring other options nationally. Planned care leads within 

the organisation are liaising with Provider counterparts to ensure an improvement over the 

coming year. 

Referral to treatment  

Performance against the RTT standard of 92% has not been achieved by either the CCG or the 

main provider, Aintree Hospital, throughout 2019/20. RTT pathways continue to be affected by 

increased pressures on urgent care, capacity shortfalls and the impact of pensions/tax 

implications for consultants. The CCG issued a performance notice to Aintree Hospital and is 

Page 25 of 174
Page 245

Agenda Item 6



working closely with the Trust on the newly agreed trajectory to ensure target improvements are 

met. The CCG also reported two patients waiting over 52 weeks and on both occasions these 

were recorded at the Liverpool Women’s Trust. Monitoring of patients at the 36 weeks and 

above mark remains a standard to ensure early sight of potential breaches. 

Personal Health Budgets 

Personal health budgets (PHBs) provide an amount of money to eligible residents to support 

their identified health and wellbeing needs, which are planned and agreed between the person 

and their local NHS team. We are above plan for personal health budgets as at quarter three 

with improvements being made against the PHB default for CHC clients. The CCG has initiated 

a 12 month pilot with Sefton Carers Centre to support the implementation. 

The CCG is in the process of reviewing PHB policy following the extension to the ‘right to have’ 

published in December 2019, for s117 after care and wheelchair services.  The CCG is in the 

process of developing an awareness raising campaign to improve the uptake of PHBs for 

children and young people including SEND. 

Stroke - Aintree 

Stroke performance at Aintree Trust has failed to achieve the 80% target but has consistently 

reported in the mid to high 70% range. The Trust has numerous actions in place to assist with 

the planned improvement within stroke services such as closer links with ED and Radiology to 

improve time to CT scans, recruitment of key stroke staff and regular reviews of patients who 

didn’t achieve the standard. 

Children Services 

Children’s services has been under significant pressure and as such has reported performance 

issues across a number of services such as speech and language, improving access to children 

and young people mental health (CYPMH) and child and adolescent mental health services 

(CAMHS). Close working with the main provider, Alder Hey, and the local authority has resulted 

in improvement plans and wider reporting of performance. Task and finish groups have been set 

up to develop a more robust reporting framework with the Trust and will assist in understanding 

areas to improve over the coming year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26 of 174
Page 246

Agenda Item 6



Financial performance  

The CCG works in partnership with our health care partners to ensure that local health care 

meets the needs of the population in south Sefton.  Our duty as a CCG is to provide high quality 

and sustainable services within the funds allocated from the government for healthcare.      

Our approach to commissioning seeks to ensure that services are transformed to improve 

efficiency.  Through our Shaping Sefton II plans we are committed to ensuring that services are 

transformed together with our local partners, to reduce duplication and improve services for 

people.  We are firmly committed to working to integrate health and care to ensure we prioritise 

effective and efficient care for our population using our resources in the best possible way.       

2019-20 has been the most challenging year we have faced financially.  Over recent years we 

have experienced year on year cost pressures from the impact of inflation, population growth 

and from an increased proportion of older people living longer with more complex care needs.   

This means that we need to continue to deliver more from every pound we spend.   

At the start of the financial year we agreed a financial plan with NHS England and Improvement 

which required the CCG to plan to deliver a £1 million surplus (0.35% of total CCG funds).   In 

order to do this the CCG needed to set a challenging financial savings target of £14.000m 

(4.95% of total allocation).    

Clinical commissioning groups have a duty to operate within their available resources and this is 

described in our CCG constitution. During 2019-20 the savings schemes we planned did not 

deliver as we expected and we continued to see emerging cost pressures due to the increasing 

demand for patient care.  As a result, our financial position deteriorated and with the agreement 

of NHS England and Improvement our projected forecast position was amended to a target 

deficit position of £8.900 million.   

The CCG along with NHS Southport and Formby CCG and Southport and Ormskirk NHS Trust 

have submitted a detailed Financial Recovery Plan to NHS England which describes the key 

financial pressures and our plans and responses to restore long term financial sustainability 

across the local health economy in Sefton.  Our progress is being regularly monitored by NHS 

England.  Internally the CCG’s financial performance will continue to be rigorously monitored for 

emerging issues and financial risks.   

The table below shows the CCG financial performance from 2013 to 2020.  

At the end of the 2019-20 financial year we are reporting a £8.900 million deficit as agreed with 

NHS England and Improvement.   

Page 27 of 174
Page 247

Agenda Item 6



 

We also have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). Performance 

against these duties is described in the table below:  

 

NHS South Sefton CCG is required to assess and satisfy itself that it is appropriate to prepare 

financial statements on a ‘going concern’ basis for at least 12 months from the date of the 

accounts. We have made an assessment of factors affecting the CCG and we have concluded 

that: 

 Healthcare services will continue to be provided for the residents of south Sefton for the 

indefinite future 

 We have appropriate management capacity and capability to implement our CCG long 

term financial strategy 

 We have a robust risk management strategy and processes in place. 

 The Covid-19 pandemic, declared on 12 March 2020, is a material uncertainty however, 

the Chancellor’s statement in the Budget 2020 provided confirmation of NHS funding 

throughout this pandemic.  As a result, Covid-19 does not affect the CCG as a going 

concern. 

    

Our Governing Body agreed to a financial plan reflecting the NHS England control total of £1 

million surplus in May 2019.  Our 2019-2020 plan acknowledged the CCG’s positive 

Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure Allocation Expenditure

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Programme 222.47 223.84 227.28 224.91 239.42 237.06 241.05 241.36 241.57 244.85 248.26 247.66 256.88 266.787

Programme - Delegated co-commissioning - General Medical 

Services 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22.42 21.62

Running Cost Allowance 3.68 3.50 4.06 3.58 3.30 3.26 3.27 2.86 3.22 2.93 3.26 2.86 3.55 3.34

TOTAL 226.15 223.84 231.34 228.49 242.72 240.32 244.32 244.22 244.79 247.78 251.52 250.52 282.85 291.75

Surplus/ (Deficit) before application of NHS England reserves 2.31 2.85 2.40 0.10 -2.99 1.00 -8.90

2019/202018/192013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Expenditure not to exceed income ᵪ
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions
Not Applicable

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions ᵪ
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions
Not Applicable

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions
Not Applicable

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 

Summary Financial Performance 2019-20 Duty Achieved

Page 28 of 174
Page 248

Agenda Item 6



performance in the delivery of Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 

efficiencies to date and recognised the challenge for the CCG to deliver further significant 

efficiencies, which has become more difficult over time.  The QIPP programme delivered over 

£2m QIPP savings in 2019/20 (around £13.3m over the past four financial years).  QIPP 

performance in 2019-20 is summarised in the table below: 

 

We have developed a long term financial strategy to ensure we get the best possible health and 

care services for our population within the funding available.  Our QIPP plans are central to 

ensuring we deliver value for money for our residents, at the same time contributing to 

improvement of our financial position.   

Our QIPP plan includes schemes categorised under the following headings: 

 Elective care pathways -- Elective care is planned care. Areas we have looked at 

include first outpatient appointments (e.g. with a hospital consultant), admissions (e.g. 

for a day case operation such as cataract surgery, or an in-patient admission for a 

procedure requiring one or more nights in hospital), follow up appointments and 

outpatient procedures.  

 Medicines optimisation - Schemes under this heading aim to ensure that medicines 

provide the greatest possible benefit to people by encouraging medicines reconciliation, 

medication review and the use of patient decision aids. Some of these are described on 

page 49. 

 Continuing healthcare and funded nursing care - Continuing healthcare (CHC) is a 

package of care arranged and funded by the NHS for individuals not in hospital and 

assessed as having a ‘primary health need’.  NHS funded nursing care is provided by a 

registered nurse for people who live in a care home. Find out more on page 36.  

 Non elective opportunities - Non elective care is unplanned care which could be an 

emergency or urgent intervention.  Reducing avoidable emergency admissions improves 

the quality of life for people with long term and acute conditions for patients and their 

families as well as reducing pressures on financial resources. 

 Discretionary expenditure - All other areas of expenditure under our control, like day to 

day running costs of the CCG. 

 

 

Page 29 of 174
Page 249

Agenda Item 6



In the autumn of 2016, we worked with other CCGs and providers in North Merseyside to 

develop ‘Acting as One’ arrangements in support of wider sustainable and transformation plans, 

promoting financial stability and mitigating risks right across the local health economy. 

All partners in ‘Acting as One’ agreed a set of principles for contracting which have been in 

place over the period 2017-2020.  We continue to contract outside of the “Acting as One” 

arrangements with other providers.  Our CCG finance team is a key enabler in supporting 

business transformation.  There is a strong focus on continuous development and training to 

ensure the team remains ‘fit for purpose’ as business partners to the CCG and the wider local 

health economy. During the year the finance team has continued to ensure that the services it 

provides are of the highest standard.  The team are active participants in the North West Skills 

Development Network and access the resources available through the network to continually 

develop skills. The team is a Future Focused Finance Accredited Employer at Level 2 and also 

hold the Finance Skills Development North West - Towards Excellence - Level 2 Accreditation.    

Analysis of funding and expenditure 

During 2019-2020 we received £282.847 million of parliamentary revenue funding.  A 

breakdown of this funding and how it was used is reported in the table below:  

 

Page 30 of 174
Page 250

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Our main areas of spend were as follows: 

Secondary healthcare – this represents the cost of contracts with hospitals to provide services 

for our population.  This includes accident and emergency, mental illness, general and acute 

services.  Secondary healthcare costs are shown by provider in the following table. 

 

 

 

Primary care costs – the majority of this area of spend relates to the costs of drugs prescribed 

by GPs.  Also included are some other services commissioned by GPs and primary care 

contractors for example, out of hours services and GP IT costs.  Also included are the costs 

associated with GP work carried out on behalf of the CCG. With effect from 1st April 2019 the 

CCG became responsible for delegated co-commissioning of Primary Care – General Medical 

Services for the first time. This means that the overall budget for Primary care increased by 

£22.42m.  You can read more about this on page 38 

Area Total Costs (£000s)

Acute Services 149,911

Mental Health Services 24,448

Community Services 34,358

Continuing Care Services 14,526

Primary Care Services 35,044

PC Co-Commissioning 21,620

Programme Costs 9,746

Running Costs 3,344

Page 31 of 174
Page 251

Agenda Item 6



 

Community Services costs – this relates to the costs of services provided in a community 

setting for example, district nursing, physiotherapy and community clinics.   

Continuing Health Care Services – this is a package of care arranged and funded by the NHS 

for individuals not in hospital and assessed as having a ‘primary health need’.  It also includes 

long term packages of care for people at home, in nursing homes and residential care.   

Programme costs – this category of spend mainly refers to non-acute services such as 

reablement and other mental health services. 

Running costs – these are the costs associated with supporting the process of commissioning 

the healthcare services we provide.  

 

  

79%

6%

5%
5%

4% 1%

Primary Care Services

Prescribing

Community Base Services

PC - Other

GP IT Costs

Out of Hours

£1.50 per head PCN Development Investment

44%

17%

13%

10%

10%

4%
2% 0%

Primary Care - General Medical Services 
Co-Commissioning

General Practice - GMS
Other List-Based Services (APMS incl.)
General Practice - PMS
QOF
Other - GP Services
Premises cost reimbursements
Enhanced services
Other premises costs

Page 32 of 174
Page 252

Agenda Item 6



Better payment practice code 

We are committed to dealing fairly and professionally with all of our supplier partners. One way 

that we do this is by working to the Better Payment Practice Code. It means meeting the target 

to pay all non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice 

(whichever is later) unless other payment terms have been agreed. 

 

  

Number Value Number Value

% % % %

NHS Payables 97.78 99.75 97.19 99.08

Non NHS Payables 97.01 97.07 95.37 96.76

2019-20 2018-19

Page 33 of 174
Page 253

Agenda Item 6



Monitoring and ensuring quality  

Our Joint Quality and Performance Committee with NHS Southport and Formby CCG is 

responsible for monitoring and providing assurance on the quality of the services we 

commission to ensure that local and national standards are met.  The committee is also 

responsible for promoting a culture of continuous improvement and innovation around safety, 

clinical effectiveness and patient experience. 

To do this, the committee receives and assesses a wide range of data, including the CCG 

Quality Performance Dashboard and information from the organisations we commission 

services from.  Quality issues identified by the committee are escalated accordingly and are 

reported in our integrated performance reports 12 and Governing Body papers13, all available 

from our website. 

Managing and responding to risks  

Our Governing Body is provided with assurance from the Joint Quality and Performance 

Committee that there are structures, systems and processes in place to identify and manage 

any significant risks that we may face. We continue to identify and manage risks through the 

corporate risk register which is presented to the Joint Quality and Performance Committee 

ahead of the Governing Body. This helps us to ensure that local health services meet the 

highest possible standards of quality and patient safety. It also supports us in meeting our 

statutory duties as well as helping us to plan for a healthcare system which is robust and 

capable of dealing with unplanned events.  

Here are some of the main risks we identified during 2019-2020:  

 The financial pressures currently placed on the health and social care system may 

impact the quality and safety of care for patients. 

 System based learning from serious incidents.  

 Non-delivery of Quality Innovation Prevention and Productivity (QIPP) plans or other cost 

reduction plans resulting in increased financial risk for the CCG. 

 Meeting the health requirements for children and young people with special educational 

and health needs (SEND). 

 

Our Quality Strategy  

A drive to secure positive health outcomes for local people and continuously improve the quality 

of services is at the heart of our work.  We have a Quality Strategy 2015-201914 that underpins 

our work and that aligns to the NHS Five Year Forward View.  It describes our responsibilities, 

approach, governance and systems to enable and promote quality across the local health 

economy as well as providing everyone with the care and compassion they need and enabling 

                                                           
12 Integrated performance reports - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/how-well-our-services-
perform/  
13 Governing Body papers - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/governing-body-
meetings/  
14 CCGs Quality Strategy - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/media/2296/quality-strategy-2015-2019.pdf 
 

Page 34 of 174
Page 254

Agenda Item 6



their voice to be heard. It supports our commissioning of services to ensure that they are 

amongst the safest and most effective healthcare provider for every patient. A new Quality 

Strategy is being developed across the North Mersey area to reflect the changing 

commissioning and provider landscapes. The dual focus of developing both Quality Assurance 

and Quality Improvement will continue to be reflected in the strategy 

Staff development  

We are committed to providing professional development opportunities for our staff. One 

member of the quality team took up a secondment opportunity with NHS England in 2018 

allowing them to gain further experience and expertise and continues in that secondment. There 

have been two new members of the Quality Team during 2019-20 Deputy Head of Quality and 

Safety and Programme Manager Quality and Performance. 

Supporting primary care professionals  

Our quality team and primary care team have initiated work on a number of quality elements in 

2019-2020 to support the delivery of primary care across south Sefton. These included the 

development of processes to manage complaints and incidents across Primary Care. This has 

been supported by interim Quality in Primary Care posts. The Quality Team also supported 

Protected Learning Time (PLT) with presentation on incidents across Sefton in year, along with 

the commissioning of a variety of training and educational courses for GPs, practice nurses and 

HCAs.  We also arranged a number of protected learning time events with a clinical topic 

pertinent to GPs, nurses and healthcare assistants working in primary care on clinical themes to 

support primary care working including an event focusing on ‘safeguarding’.  

Quality in hospital based care  

Our quality team continues to support the delivery of acute care, which includes providing 

operational support for providers where necessary, specifically when times of increased 

pressures have been identified.  The team also works in collaboration with providers and other 

stakeholders to ensure any safety concerns are addressed and opportunities for shared learning 

are acted upon. The Quality Team have supported a number of quality site visits across acute 

providers to provide reassurance across the system   

Learning Disabilities Mortality Review   

The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme has been extended nationally, 

with the ongoing development of local processes to improve the timeliness of reviews being 

undertaken with engagement from NHS commissioned services. The assistant chief nurse is the 

‘local area contact’ and a member of the NHS England Cheshire and Merseyside LeDeR 

Steering Group. Following a successful bid to NHS England, the CCG has secured non 

recurrent funding to support the LeDeR programme of £36 k to support performance and 

sustainability of the programme and improving the health outcome for people with a learning 

disability. Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust is supporting the performance and sustainability 

of the programme and People First are in the process of implementing a number of events 

across Sefton to increase the awareness and uptake of health screening programmes. NHSE is 

also supporting the progression of the LeDeR programme and have commissioned North of 

England Commissioning Support Unit to provide support for back log cases. Learning from 

LeDeR reviews are reported through to Joint Quality and Performance Committee and Primary 

Care in Common Committee.    

Page 35 of 174
Page 255

Agenda Item 6



Court of Protection  

There have been a number of cases that we have supported through the Court of Protection, 

working closely with our commissioning support unit, Sefton Council and legal colleagues.  

Improving Continuing Healthcare  

NHS Continuing Healthcare (NHS CHC) is a package of care for adults aged 18 or over that is 

arranged and funded solely by the NHS. In order to receive NHS CHC funding individuals have 

to be assessed according to a legally prescribed decision making process to determine whether 

they have a ‘primary health need’. 

We continue to work with Sefton Council colleagues and Midlands and Lancashire 

Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) to ensure continuous improvements in relation to decision 

making processes and patient assessments.  Work has been initiated on the development of the 

end to end CHC pathway. 

Serious incidents  

From 31 October 2019 NHS Liverpool CCG became the lead commissioner for Liverpool 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. As part of closer working with Liverpool CCG, there 

has been agreement for the management of serious incidents to transfer across to Liverpool 

CCG. The Quality Team and NHS Liverpool CCG are working to develop the systems, 

processes and reporting mechanisms. 

Special educational needs and disability services  

In 2018 / 19 the system was re-inspected to review the progress against the special educational 

needs and disability services (SEND) inspection that took place in 2017. As a result an 

improvement notice has been served to support the progress against actions from the initial 

review. To support this, the CCG has supported the secondment of an interim associate chief 

nurse for SEND. Formal meetings are in place with the introduction of the SEND health 

performance improvement group with representation from all health partners. All activity is 

reported through to the SEND continuous improvement board. Meetings continue to take place 

between the Department for Education and NHS England with outcomes being reported to the 

Department of Health. A meeting took place in January 2020, with Department of Education 

who were satisfied with actions, who will review progress against actions in June 2020. The 

CCG continues to engage with Sefton Parent Carer Forum. 

Safeguarding team  

The safeguarding team continue to be at full establishment with the Designated Safeguarding 

Professionals. There has been a change in posts in year for the Designated Doctor for 

Safeguarding Children and Designated Doctor for Children in Care.  Leadership Team are in the 

process of reviewing additional capacity for the Designated Doctor and the Named GP 

Safeguarding Children. There is currently a gap for the Named GP for Safeguarding Adults 

which has been added to the Primary Care risk register. The safeguarding team have supported 

a number of re-inspection processes in year and are supporting the recommendations and 

actions from these. The safeguarding team continue to support the work of the Safeguarding 

Children Board, Merseyside Safeguarding Adult Board, Corporate Parenting Board and their 

subgroups, this includes commissioned reviews and dissemination of learning. The Named GP 

Page 36 of 174
Page 256

Agenda Item 6



for Safeguarding Children has established a safeguarding GP leads forum which has been well 

supported by GP colleagues. 

Screening  

Our quality team continues to work collaboratively with Public Health England’s screening and 

immunisation and cervical screening teams to support their on-going programmes of work.  

South Sefton CCG 

Cervical Cancer 

Screening 
Actual Target 

Percentage of women 

aged 25-64 screened 

(Q2 2019/20) 

72.5% 80% 

Percentage of women 

receiving results within 

14 days of testing     

(Q3 2019/20) 

73.1% 98% 

 

Commissioning for quality and innovation   

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation, or CQUIN was a system introduced in 2009 to make 

a proportion of healthcare providers' income conditional on demonstrating improvements in 

quality and innovation in specified areas of care. We have developed a robust process for 

reviewing evidence submitted by providers to ensure they are achieving the required targets 

and quality of care for patients is being maintained. 

Page 37 of 174
Page 257

Agenda Item 6



Other work to improve quality and performance  

Below are some other examples of our work during the year to ensure the quality and 

performance of the services we commission remains sustainable into the future.  

You will see that all of these schemes have links and interdependencies between our three 

Shaping Sefton strategic priority areas of primary care, urgent care and care for the most 

vulnerable. 

Improving quality in primary care 

South Sefton CCG became delegated on the 1st April 2019 which means that we have 

delegated authority to commission primary care services from our GP practices on behalf of 

NHS England.  A Primary Care Commissioning Committee in Common is operational to ensure 

that appropriate primary care services are commissioned to improve the efficiency, 

effectiveness, economy and quality of services, reduce inequalities and promote the 

involvement of patients and the public in the development of services. 

We felt this was an important step to help us to align our local priorities and improve health.  

General Practice Forward View  

Published in April 2016 by NHS England the General Practice Forward View (GPFV15) sets out 

a framework of support for primary care so it remains sustainable for the future. Locally, we 

have carried out a great deal of work in 2019–2020 around the GPFV including:  

E-consult 

E-consult has now been rolled out across practices in the South Sefton CCG and will enable 

patients a greater choice when accessing primary care medical services. E-consult will enable 

paitents to contact their GP practices at any time of day which will provide greater flexibility. This 

services can be accessed through your GP practice website. 

7-Day Access 

A 7 day access service providing routine primary care in the evenings and weekends is 

operational from Litherland Town Hall. Patients can access this service through their GP 

practice and there are a range of clinicians that they will be able to have access to. 

Local Quality Contract 

One of the ways we work to improve the quality of primary care is through our Local Quality 

Contract (LQC), which our member practices can choose to sign up to and that we further 

developed in 2019-2020.  

There are a number of schemes that make up the contract which are intended to achieve quality 

improvements, efficiencies in spend elsewhere in the health economy, and sustainability of 

general practice.   

One example is a scheme to provide phlebotomy in a primary care setting, providing 

arrangements for patients who would normally have been supervised through a hospital 

                                                           
15 https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/gpfv/  

Page 38 of 174
Page 258

Agenda Item 6



appointment to be monitored by the GP practice. This means that by having blood tests in 

practice, patients can be better monitored with the aim of better detection of conditions. 

Other examples are schemes supporting the provision of physical health checks for patients 

with a learning disability, and physical health checks for patients with a serious mental health 

illness. 

Primary Care Networks 

In April 2019 the PCN DES was introduced to encourage collaborative working and support 

primary care at scale. Since then South Sefton CCG has three developed networks, with all the 

practices in their respective networks coming together and supporting one and another in 

delivering primary care at scale. In South Sefton the primary care networks are currently running 

several schemes to support patients in the local area. These include utilisation of the pharmacy 

hub to support with medicine management in practices and they have also worked 

collaboratively with our voluntary sector organisations to have social prescribing link workers 

across each PCN to support patients. 

More recently for one of our PCN’s, the roll out of social prescribing link works to support 

patients and also to support the growing pressure on general practice.  

 

 

 

  

Page 39 of 174
Page 259

Agenda Item 6



Urgent care  

In the past year there has been a significant focus on how we can support our local residents to 

understand the range of options available to help them to best manage their health care needs. 

This is important to ensure that services are accessed appropriately and we make the best use 

of the resources available in our local community.  

We continue to remind residents where to go if they or a family member becomes unwell using a 

number of methods. We have a list of these on our websites where there is an NHS choices 

service finder, we also remind people to call NHS 111 or use NHS111 online. In addition, we 

carried out a lot of work to remind people of the importance of their high street pharmacy in 

providing expert advice on minor illnesses and ailments to support people in self-care.  

In addition the CCG has been working in collaboration with the hospital and community teams to 

ensure that patients do not have to stay in hospital any longer than needed and that services 

are in place to support residents into the most appropriate place for their care.  The emphasis 

has been on out of hospital care and effective care planning, particularly for the frail elderly 

population.  The aim is to ensure that patients do not need to go to hospital due to avoidable 

conditions and that proactive management can keep individuals well for longer, meaning that 

they have more time spent at home with family and loved ones. 

Hospital services, community services, social care and North West ambulance services have 

been working together to ensure that patients care needs are met at home.  The aim of which is 

to promote independence and self-care.   

There are times when individuals need more support to recover or recuperate, the CCG have 

commissioned more short term placements with rehabilitation provision so that patients can be 

discharged from hospital earlier or return to independence without needing to be admitted to 

hospital. 

We are committed to improving our out of hospital services further over the next 12 months to 

ensure that patients can access service at the right time and in the right place.  It is important 

that individuals maintain independence, at home for as long as possible. Examples of this 

include: 

ICRAS  

Our Integrated Community Reablement Assessment Services, known as ICRAS was created by 

the merger of a number of community teams across health and social care.  These integrated 

teams are co-located and have a single point of contact to enable easy access from primary 

care services and secondary care services. 

ICRAS has two main functions. Firstly, it delivers ‘step-up’ services, where people receive their 

care in more appropriate settings rather than being admitted to hospital. Secondly, its ‘step-

down’ care better supports some of our more vulnerable patient’s transition from hospital to 

home. ICRAS is suitable for patients who have been recently clinically assessed and are at 

imminent risk of hospital admission without support, but who can wait a maximum of two hours 

for assessment.  

Initial review of ICRAS indicates that the services are being successful in supporting more 

people in their own homes and avoiding the need for hospital admission. The service also works 

Page 40 of 174
Page 260

Agenda Item 6



closely with NHS Southport and Ormskirk Hospitals NHS Trust to enable people to be 

discharged safely to the community with the support they need e.g. social care, nursing or 

therapy. We will continue to develop the range of services which can be incorporated within the 

ICRAS model in the coming year. 

Developing alternatives to transfer to hospital  

North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) has been working with Mersey Care NHS Foundation 

Trust to develop alternative care and treatment options to transfer patients to when they do not 

need to go to hospital for their condition. There are many examples of where people have called 

for an ambulance but would benefit from the support of other health or social care services 

within the community.  

This is an example of where we have been able to use our ICRAS service to provide a rapid 

response with transfer of care from NWAS that allows the person to remain at home. This may 

involve nursing input, short term care within the home, our community bed facilities, equipment, 

or timely therapy input.  

Hospital discharge and delays in care 

Whilst we are developing initiatives to avoid admission to hospital it is also important that we 

have systems in place to help discharge from hospital take place in a timely way. Work has 

been ongoing within Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to put processes in place 

to understand patient needs and ensure that our system providers are working together at an 

early stage to start discharge planning. This includes our community and social care partners 

linking closely with the hospital’s teams on a daily basis to support patients when they are ready 

for discharge and free up beds for those who are acutely ill in A&E. 

  

Page 41 of 174
Page 261

Agenda Item 6



Community services  

Community services have a big role to play in our work to transform and future proof urgent care 

for our residents. As we have set out in our Sefton2gether strategy, good progress has been 

made during 2019-2020 in providing more appropriate, joined up care as close to people’s 

homes as possible.  

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust currently provides community services across south Sefton. 

These services include blood testing, community matrons, district nursing, treatment rooms, foot 

care, intermediate care, respiratory services, cardiology services and adult diabetes and adult 

dietetics. 

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust provides these services to our population to ensure that 

patients are cared for closer to home. 

Our providers build on previous work to improve health and wellbeing of our residents. Work has 

begun to look at how we can improve and develop these services to better meet the needs of 

our residents and in line with our Shaping Sefton programme to provide more care closer to 

home.  

This is particularly important given ongoing pressures on our acute services but with the 

potential to support aspects of this care within community settings.  

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust is working closely with other organisations such as 

Liverpool University Hospital Foundation NHS Trust, Sefton Council and the VCF sector, with 

the aim of delivering seamless care arrangements from hospital to community.  

An example of this is the involvement in the Integrated Community Reablement and 

Assessment Service (ICRAS) within South Sefton CCG. 

Podiatry  

Working with the Community Services Providers for South Sefton and Southport and Formby 

CCGs, Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust and Lancashire and South Cumbria NHS 

Foundation Trust, the CCGs have co-designed an integrated Podiatry service model which 

incorporates specialist and core podiatry provision. This supports a consistent offer across 

Sefton. 

Heathwatch Sefton have been involved throughout the review process having also identified the 

need for the Podiatry service to be responsive to clinical need and enable timely access, 

following feedback from service users. 

The aim has been to ensure that those with the greatest medical and podiatric needs are able to 

access the service in a timely manner. There was also the requirement to ensure that patients 

with low podiatric need were able to access the Podiatry service but with a clinical triage and 

prioritisation process in place which would reflect different level of needs and input required. 

 

The review considered the demographics of the local population and potential need for podiatry 

e.g. diabetes prevalence, increase in elderly population and long term conditions. 

The model has made a significant difference to the quality of service provided to our residents 

who meet service criteria, in terms of responsiveness and access to the service. Waiting times 

Page 42 of 174
Page 262

Agenda Item 6



have improved for new patients as well as the requirement for capacity for follow up access 

within an appropriate time frame for needs. There is an important focus in the model on self-

care and prevention where appropriate and the clinical teams actively promote this aspect of 

care within community forums. 

Housebound policy has been implemented to ensure patients meet criteria for domiciliary visits 

or can be seen in clinic to maximise the use of staff time. 

The service continues to explore opportunities to improve pathways to acute providers e.g. 

vascular / orthopaedic services, where required but also develop range of care which could be 

provided within community. 

Falls Prevention 

A falls prevention group has been established with key partners across the borough to reduce 

the number of falls and better co-ordinate care for those after they have fallen. This group 

reports to both the Integrated Commissioning Group and the Sefton Provider Alliance to ensure 

a systematic and well supported approach. The group is co-chaired by the CCG and Sefton 

Council and responds to the recommendations of a review of falls services. Eight key priorities 

are being progressed led by different system partners. The eight key areas are:- 

 Risk factor reduction  

 Case Finding  

 Risk assessment  

 Strength and balance exercise programmes  

 Healthy Homes 

 High-risk care environments 

 Fracture liaison service  

 Collaborative care for severe injury 

 

 

 

  

Page 43 of 174
Page 263

Agenda Item 6



 

Care for the most vulnerable  

During 2019-2020 the CCG continues to support and promote the red bag scheme across all 

care homes in our south Sefton CCG area. The red bag scheme is a collaborative approach 

between care homes, hospitals and ambulance staff to support the hospital transfer pathway.  

The CCG has supported work across the care homes in conjunction with NHS England in the 

‘react to red’ programme as a means to reduce the development of avoidable pressure ulcers.  

The quality team have supported a number of quality site visits to care homes alongside local 

authority colleagues in year to provide reassurance across the system. 

Diabetes 

Preventing diabetes  

Following the successful launch of the first wave of the ’Healthier You’ National Diabetes 

Prevention Programme (NHSDPP) in Sefton in 2016, preparations are  now being made for 

Wave 5 of the National Diabetes Prevention Programme. There is a steady flow of referrals from 

GP practices to the service and we are seeing some good results. 

Diabetes prevention week   

For diabetes prevention week in April 2019 we worked with Diabetes UK to promote the 

prevention programme. This included promoting the NHSDPP at the Parkrun event in Crosby  

Education programme  

GP practices are actively referring their patients with type 2 diabetes to the local ‘Diabetes and 

You’ programme for those who have been recently been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes and 

‘Diabetes and More’ for those who have previously received structured education.  The 

programmes have gained QISMET accreditation. 

The programmes help to give patients who have type 2 diabetes an understanding of how to 

treat it and the confidence to improve their condition, aiming to reduce the risk of them 

developing complications.  

We were ranked as ‘outstanding’ in the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework for 

2017-2018, in recognition of the work of our practices and community provider in delivering 

structured diabetes education.  

We have worked with Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services to 

incorporate “wellbeing” into the structured education programme. 

Cancer  

Right By You is a Macmillan Cancer Support funded initiative whereby everyone with a cancer 

diagnosis is offered a supported conversation with a trained professional to identify their holistic 

needs and a comprehensive care and support plan is developed with referral or signposting to a 

range of services.to meet the individual’s physical, practical, emotional or financial needs. 

Page 44 of 174
Page 264

Agenda Item 6



In summer 2019, Sefton was successful in securing Macmillan funding to become a test site for 

Right By You.  The model aims to build on the success of the previous Holistic Needs 

Assessment pilot, opening up the service to more people affected by cancer, be they diagnosed 

recently or in the past. 

Right By You will be delivered by Sefton CVS from December 2019 for an initial period of 12 

months during which evaluation will take place. 

Specialist Palliative Care/End of Life Care Services 

South Sefton CCG continues to support Specialist Palliative Care Services and End of Life 

Care. This helps to support improved patient/family experience, reduced levels of inappropriate 

emergency admissions and length of stay for patients in the last 12 months of life.  

Woodlands Hospice Charitable Trust 

Woodlands Hospice provides a variety of services with the aim of delivering specialist palliative 

care in the patients’ Preferred Place of Care (PPC). South Sefton CCG work closely with 

Woodlands Hospice to support patients with life limiting illnesses, so they can achieve the best 

possible quality of life at each stage of their illness. Woodlands Hospice supports patients, 

families and carers within the Hospice setting via their 15 bedded Inpatient Unit and in their 

Wellbeing and Support Centre. Services within the Wellbeing and Support Centre include Multi 

Professional Assessment days, group therapies and outpatient clinics for all professions.   

Woodlands Hospice also provides services within the community including therapy outreach 

service, Hospice at Home Service and an End of Life Facilitator working with care homes.  

Hospice at Home Service 

Hospice at Home offers additional support to patients wishing to stay at home as they approach 

the end of their life.  The service works alongside other existing community services and offers: 

 A specialist sitting service 

 Accompanied transfer to home 

 Crisis intervention/crisis prevention delivered by a Consultant-led medical team 

 

End of Life Care 

South Sefton CCG commission and spot purchase end of life beds from St Joseph’s hospice, a 

29 bedded unit providing end of life care.  

St Joseph’s is a nurse-led service and provides ongoing support to residents and their families. 

Clinical activity is supported by their in-house NMP (non-medical prescriber) nurses. The CCG 

support a visiting GP and a local network of specialist clinical support.  

South Sefton continues to work with other providers of end of life care, the aim of which is to 

improve integration across the workforce, including but not exhaustive: 

 Local Authority 

 North West Ambulance Service 

 Community Providers of end of life care 

 Primary Care 

Page 45 of 174
Page 265

Agenda Item 6



 Care Homes 

 Hospice’s 

 Out of Hours Services 

 Voluntary organisations 

 

Supporting of QOF QI Modules for Early identification/care at end of life 

South Sefton CCG supported Primary Care QOF QI modules.  Their End of Life Clinical Lead Dr 

D Harvey, invited practices to get involved in the EARLY pilot.  EARLY is a tool which supports 

GP’s to: 

 Identify patients 

 Have the conversations about EOL 

 Care plan and document 

 Consider DNAR 

 Register on GSF/ supportive EOL register 

 Share the info, ideally digitally 

Other important factors to support the above are: 

 Public education 

 Robust clinical, nursing and domiciliary care including community based urgent care - 

nursing teams, paramedics 

 Integrated and efficient systems overall 

 75% of patients can be identified as being in the last 12 months of life - possible 90% 

 75% of patients when asked would prefer to die at home  

 

Care Homes 

The CCG continues to support care homes to care for their residents via educational 

sessions and the Six Steps to Success programme for End of Life Care in care homes, 

accrediting them for achieving organisational change/readiness and individual staff 

training.  The Six Steps to Success programme is delivered by Woodlands Hospice. 

 

The CCG and the Local Authority are also supporting Care Homes via educational 

sessions to support the health and care of their residents. 

 

In addition a number of workshops have been organised by the CCG, Local Authority and 

NHS Digital to support care home registering for a NHS net account in readiness for the 

switch off of fax machines and supporting the confidentiality of sharing resident’s details. 

 

Acute Visiting Service (AVS) 

 

South Sefton CCG continues to commission the AVS service, this service is aimed at reducing 

inappropriate admissions from care homes and supporting primary care.  Recently the AVS 

service has teamed up with North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) to extend the service to 

seeing the over 65’s in their own home where appropriate, as with the care home visits this is 

aimed at keeping people in their own home.  

Page 46 of 174
Page 266

Agenda Item 6



Mental Health & Learning Disability  

We believe in a far more proactive and preventative approach to mental health so as to reduce 

the long term impact of mental health conditions and dementia. We also believe that improving 

mental health is just as important as improving physical health and each condition should not be 

treated in isolation but in a co-ordinated approach which can more effectively deal with the 

challenges of our ageing population, unacceptable inequalities in health and wide variations in 

the quality of and access to these services. 

The NHS Long Term Plan offers the local NHS in Sefton to opportunity to further develop 

mental health and Learning Disability services. Improving mental health is just as important as 

improving physical health and each condition should not be treated in isolation but in a co-

ordinated approach which can effectively deal with the needs of our population, unacceptable 

inequalities in health and wide variations in the quality of access to these services. 

Improving Access to Psychological Services  

Access Sefton is our local Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service. 

Residents can contact the service directly or via a health professional for a wide range of 

psychological therapies for common mental health problems such as anxiety and depression. 

To enable greater access the service in 2019/20 has expanded its group therapy sessions to 

complement the one to one counselling that is offered and in addition from November 2019 the 

service has offered an online therapy option. 

Recognising the links that exist between physical and mental health conditions, the service 

successfully piloted therapists working as part of a multidisciplinary team in primary care so that 

people with long term conditions can be offered help as part of their overall care. In 2019-2020 

approximately 3,000 people accessed the service in south Sefton.    

Reducing mental health out of area acute admissions 

Our main mental health provider Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust has continued to make 

progress in 2019-2020 reducing to zero inappropriate admissions to out of area inpatient 

services, thereby enabling people to be treated closer to their families and carers. 

Early intervention psychosis  

Our early intervention psychosis service continue to achieve the two week waiting time standard 

and good progress has been made in improving access to the NICE recommended 

interventions which the service offers as part of an overall package of care. Early intervention 

services provided by dedicated early intervention teams are highly effective in improving 

peoples’ outcomes and reducing future demand on mental health services.  

Crisis 

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust have established Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment  

service and whilst the service is still in development this will offer an alternative to hospital for 

those people with mental health conditions who are experiencing crisis. 

 

 

Page 47 of 174
Page 267

Agenda Item 6



Mental health and Learning Disability innovation 

Early 2019-20 saw the culmination of a joint work pilot that was done with Local Authority 

colleagues to change the model of supported living for service users with mental health or a 

learning disability to an Individual Service Fund (ISF) model, whereby an individual or their 

representative decides how to spend their personal budget to meet their assessed care and 

support needs and outcomes. The ISF pilot scheme was shortlisted for the prestigious Local 

Government Award in 2020. 

Learning Disability 

The CCG as part the Transforming Care Programme continue to reduce the use of inpatient 

facilities for people with a Learning Disability with service users being better supported to remain 

in the community. The Intensive Support Team established across Sefton and Liverpool in 2019 

is contributing to this reduction. 

  

Page 48 of 174
Page 268

Agenda Item 6



Medicines Management  

Our approach to medicines management (MM) is system wide, working across CCG, Primary 

Care Networks (PCN) and GP practices allowing us to deliver real improvements to patient 

safety and care, whilst also identifying significant cost efficiencies.  

Unused prescription medicines cost the NHS across Sefton an estimated £2 million a year. In 

addition, patient safety can be compromised by having large volumes of medication in the home 

without supervision.  

Over the last financial year, our MM team, consisting of pharmacists and technicians, has 

delivered over 11,926 engagements with south Sefton patients. You can see a breakdown of 

that activity over twelve months below:  

 

 

 

 

Medicines Management Hub 

The Sefton MM team identified an opportunity to adapt the way they work, providing additional 

support to GP practices and improved patient care.  

A MM ‘hub’ was planned to deal directly with medication related queries from GPs, PCNs and 

community pharmacies, such as: supply shortages, local formulary issues and general 

medicines information enquiries. To provide further support to GP practices it was decided that 

the hub would also carry out medicines reconciliations for patients discharged from hospital as 

well as medication reviews for newly registered patients. 

A hub pilot project was launched initially to investigate the viability and effectiveness of the 

service and following successful outcomes, the service was rolled out to all GP practices across 

Sefton. 

The three main aims of the MM hub are to: 

 Reduce GP workload – allowing them to utilise the time saved for other work. 

 Increase the efficiency and consistency of the medicines management team response to 

medication queries 

 Increase quality of care for patients 

 

Feedback from Sefton GPs, via a survey monkey, about the MM hub service showed that: 

 100% of GP’s agreed or strongly agreed that the hub saved them time 

 100% of GP’s were satisfied or very satisfied with the hub service overall 

 100% of GP’s strongly agreed that the hub service should continue 

 

Patient 

reviews  

Care Homes Virtual 

Ward 

Hub Total 

3,295 559 290 7,782 11,926 

Page 49 of 174
Page 269

Agenda Item 6



Interventions made by the MM hub team contribute to improving patient care by reducing 

hospital discharge medication errors. Communication with patients and carers contribute to 

improving patient care by ensuring that the patient has the correct medication and understands 

how to take their medication correctly. Interactions with secondary care colleagues and 

community pharmacies have helped to develop relationships and promote the role of the CCG 

MM team as a clinical resource. 

Key information and figures: 

The MM hub operates from a central location five days a week (9am-1pm) which ensures that 

all medication queries and hospital discharges are dealt with in a consistent and timely manner 

thus improving patient care.  

 From 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 we dealt with a total of 2,961 queries from GP 

practices in South Sefton 

 Community pharmacies had the opportunity to contact the hub via telephone for any 

medication related queries for patients registered with the GP practices.  

 From 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 we received a total of 1,640 queries from community 

pharmacies 

 

Stoma pilot  

On 6th November 2019 NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport & Formby CCG GP 

practices introduced the Sefton Stoma Prescription Ordering Service pilot with the aim of 

significantly improving the quality of care and support for around 750 stoma patients in the 

borough.  

The Sefton Stoma Prescription Service pilot will make it easy for patients to order all the 

appliances and products they need. Additionally, the 12 month pilot will give patients access to 

advice from specialist stoma nurses at the point of prescribing and will work alongside the local 

community and hospital specialist stoma nurses. 

Care at the Chemist  

The CCG minor ailment service, Care at the Chemist (CATC), has been available to our patients 

for a number of years. CATC supports patients to self-care by providing access to treatment and 

advice for a wide range of everyday illnesses and ailments from a number of local community 

pharmacies. Pharmacists ordinarily and routinely provide health advice to their customers 

regardless of CATC but the scheme additionally ensures residents have access to a range of 

medicines for minor illnesses for which they might otherwise consider a trip to the doctor.  

Medicines supplied on CATC are free for anyone who does not pay for their prescriptions. 

People who do pay are charged the current prescription charge. If the medicine costs less to 

buy over the counter than the prescription charge, the person will pay the lower rate.  

As of 1 April 2020, there were twelve pharmacies offering CATC in south Sefton. A list of 

participating pharmacies and more information is available on our website16  

                                                           
16 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/your-health-and-services/care-at-the-chemist/ 

Page 50 of 174
Page 270

Agenda Item 6



 From April 2019 - March 2020 – 13,472 Care at the Chemist consultations were carried 

out in south Sefton.   

 

Self-care medicines policy  

NHS South Sefton CCG support and signpost their residents to self-care solutions whenever 

possible and appropriate.  Self-care provides people with the ability to take greater control of 

their health and wellbeing. It also helps the CCG ensure they only offer treatments through the 

local NHS that are clinically effective and that provide a clear health benefit to patients. 

In line with national guidance the team developed a medicines self-care policy to support 

prescribers and patients17. The CCG policy lists those over the counter medicines that are no 

longer recommended to be routinely prescribed by GPs, nurses or pharmacists. There are some 

exceptions included in the policy and our more vulnerable patients are reminded to use the 

CATC service available in several pharmacies across Sefton.  

Adhering to national guidance the team have supported the reduction of over the counter 

medicines where appropriate and had success in reducing prescribing activity. The team has 

worked with PCNs and individual GP practices, utilising short videos on social media supported 

by a press release and leaflets that are displayed in GP practices and pharmacies. Our head of 

medicines management has also been out to a number of stakeholder and community groups to 

spread the word about sell-care.  

Out and about  

Whenever they can members of the MM team get out and about to promote safe medicines 

advice and to support a range of local events such as the Macmillan’s health and wellbeing 

event, Sefton Council’s Senior Road Users event and Sefton OPERA’s keep warm keep well 

event. 

The team also regularly engage with community and patient groups. This year the team worked 

with People First Sefton and NHS England to develop educational resources to support people 

with learning disability to manage their medicines.  The team also works closely with 

Healthwatch Sefton to ensure patients are kept informed of our work and to gain patient 

feedback.   

 

 

  

                                                           
17 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/media/3114/sefton-medicines-self-care-policy-2018-final.pdf  

 

Page 51 of 174
Page 271

Agenda Item 6



Going digital 

Digital technology is integral to a modern, efficient and responsive health service. Over the last 

financial year, we have been working closely with our IT delivery partner, NHS Informatics 

Merseyside (https://www.imerseyside.nhs.uk), to secure investment in digital technology that will 

improve the way we are able to deliver care whilst enhancing patient experience.  

Through investment from NHS England’s Estate and Technology Transformation (ETTF) and 

GPIT programmes and the emerging Digital First workstream, we have been able to work with 

NHS Informatics Merseyside and our GP practices to optimise the use of existing technologies, 

introduce a number of new digital patient services as well as invest in our IT infrastructure, in 

order to ensure we are able to achieve our digital vision for the future.  

Our digital vision for the future  

Our vision for the future is to be ‘digital first’ and to engage with our patients and professionals 

to embrace digital tools that will make a real difference to care quality, efficiency and 

experience.  

To do this, we will continue to work with NHS Informatics Merseyside to identify digital 

opportunities and to respond to the challenges of the new GP contract and NHS Long Term 

Plan.  

Creating a digital general practice 

To help deliver care more effectively, improve communication between our care professionals 

and provide services that are convenient for our patients, we have begun a number of digital 

technology projects. You can see examples of how we’ve created a digital general practice 

here:  

Online consultations (e-Consult) 

A new GP online consultation service has been launched and rollout is expected to be complete 

by 31st March 2020. Patients who submit their symptoms online will get a response typically 

within one to two working days, which could include advice, direction to other support such as 

the pharmacy, or be booked in for an appointment if necessary. The service also offers round 

the clock NHS self-help information, signposting to services, and a symptom checker. For those 

patients wishing to use the service, in many cases, this will avoid the need to make a visit to the 

GP practice altogether, saving time and a journey. This tool has proved valuable in supporting 

GP practices to operate safely during the global COVID-19 pandemic, enabling patients to be 

treated remotely in a safe manner. eConsult have enabled video consultations and made this 

available free of charge for 6 months to all practices, as well as enabling NHS App integration, 

meaning patients using the NHS App will be able to submit an eConsult to their practice . 

To date, in south Sefton, there have been 10,452 eConsults submitted, with an estimated total 

of 6,271 appointments saved in general practice. 

GP practice websites 

To help improve communication with patients and encourage two way engagement, investment 

has been secured to provide every GP practice with a new or upgraded practice website if they 

choose from NHS Informatics Merseyside.  These websites can be updated by the practice 

Page 52 of 174
Page 272

Agenda Item 6



quickly and easily and integrated with existing NHS online services. To date, 16 practices have 

moved to Umbraco websites and this offer continues to be available to practices wishing to 

move from a third party website to the Umbraco websites.  

Express Access’ laptops 

‘Express Access’ laptops have been rolled out to our GP practices. These devices give our 

clinicians access to the information they need wherever they are. They enable secure access to 

the EMIS web clinical information system whilst on a home visit or off site. NHS Informatics 

Merseyside will further rollout Express Access laptops during 2019 - 2020. During the initial 

phases of rollout, 207 devices were deployed to clinicians across Sefton. During the pandemic 

period, a further 38 devices have been rolled out to enable remote working for additional 

practice team members including administrative staff groups.  

Digital waiting rooms  

The waiting room provides patients with their first impression of the GP practice.  To help 

support our GP practices to use this space as a tool for informing, educating and engaging 

patients, a programme of work has begun to rollout the Envisage GP waiting room TV and call 

system, as well as an electronic check-in system. These information screens can be used to 

inform patients about the range of services offered by the practice, such as flu and baby clinics, 

with the check-in system helping to improve efficiency for both patients and practice staff. A pilot 

is also currently underway to introduce digital devices in reception areas to allow patients to 

access online services whilst in the practice. 

We have secured funding to roll out a Reception device to each GP practice in Sefton, which 

will enable support for patients who wish to access online services, and support for practices in 

signposting patients to other local services, such as third sector support, or local community 

initiatives.  

Digitising Lloyd George records 

NHS Informatics Merseyside is currently working with South Sefton CCG to support a number of 

practices with the digitisation of their Lloyd George patient records  

This project will see paper records securely removed from practices, scanned and uploaded 

directly back into patient records.  

This project is a one off exercise for participating practices and will provide a range of benefits 

including a more holistic view of a patient’s history, convenient access to the entire record 

electronically enabling informed care decisions, as well as freeing up valuable workspace within 

practices.  

9 practices have completed the process in south Sefton, and benefits reported include:  

 An average of two hours per week admin time being saved18  

 A total of 53 sq metres of primary care real estate freed up19.  

 A number of new clinical and admin offices created  

 Improved staff welfare space available. 

                                                           
18 Across Liverpool, South Sefton and Southport & Formby CCGs 
19 Across Liverpool, South Sefton and Southport & Formby CCGs 

Page 53 of 174
Page 273

Agenda Item 6



In addition, we have secured funding to roll out PDF redaction software to practices, which will 

enable redaction of these records where required, and in turn support online access to records.  

‘Rightfax’ 

Following the national directive to ban fax machines in the NHS by March 202020 an electronic 

fax solution is now available which will replace physical fax machines. This service provides a 

secure in-bound and out-bound fax facility, which provides GP practices with greater flexibility 

for monitoring and management and allows them to reduce the amount of paper used. 

Across south Sefton, 20 practices are either live or mobilising with the solution. 

Digital champions 

NHS Informatics Merseyside is working with our GP practices to identify a ‘Digital Champion’ 

within each practice, who has strong IT skills and is passionate about the use of digital tools to 

improve care quality and experience. With support from NHS Informatics Merseyside, their role 

will be to support both their colleagues and patients in the use of the new digital services 

outlined above.  

All practices in south Sefton now have an identified Digital Champion.  

Investing in our technical infrastructure 

As the beating heart of our health service, our doctors, nurses and wider health care 

professionals rely on having access to timely and accurate information in order to make 

informed decisions about care delivery. To enable this to happen, significant investment has 

been made in our technical infrastructure in order to ensure that this remains fit for purpose and 

able to fully support the digital tools and systems we have in place.  

Wi-Fi 

GP practice and patient Wi-Fi has been rolled out to every GP practice using a secure and 

resilient infrastructure.  

Network bandwidth  

Bandwidth across our GP practice network has been continually upgraded to keep pace with a 

rapidly digitised environment and the rapid expansion of online and video consultations.  

Each GP practice has had its primary and secondary links upgraded from 10mbs to 30mbs and 

Datacentre links upgraded to 1GB. 

 

Local Area Network upgrade 

New Local Area Network (LAN) switches have been installed in GP practices to help enhance 

performance, reliability and security. 

 

 

                                                           
20 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/health-and-social-care-secretary-bans-fax-machines-in-nhs 

Page 54 of 174
Page 274

Agenda Item 6



Computer refresh  

A programme to review the computers in use across GP practices has now been completed to 

ensure our entire estate is Windows 10 compliant and continues to comply with all cyber 

security and general usage standards.   

NHS app 

The NHS App is now available to all Sefton patients. The App allows patients to access a range 

of services at home or on a mobile device such as a tablet or mobile phone. Some of the key 

features of the app include the ability for patients to:  

 check symptoms  

 find out what to do when you need help urgently  

 book and manage appointments at your GP surgery  

 order repeat prescriptions  

 securely view your GP medical record  

 register to be an organ donor  

 choose how the NHS uses your data  

 

In addition, eConsult will shortly be rolling out NHS App integration, meaning that patients will 

be able to initiate an eConsult directly from the NHS App.   

 

Digital optimisation  

To ensure our GP practices are getting the most value from their clinical systems and tools, we 

will work with them to review their processes and to identify any best practice and ways in which 

technology can be used to improve the efficiency and delivery of care.  

To support business continuity during the pandemic, we have rolled out commencement of this 

programme in full across Sefton, with delivery being via the Informatics Facilitators. The team 

will focus on the following areas identified as key support requirements: 

 eConsult 

 Text Messaging 

 Websites 

 Online Services 

 GP2GP 

Digital exemplars 

We have identified a GP practice and a local GP practice network to become ‘Digital 

Exemplars’. Their role will be to embrace the use of technology and demonstrate its value to 

others and to pilot new digital services and emerging technologies. 

 

  

Page 55 of 174
Page 275

Agenda Item 6



Being prepared for emergencies  

We have a role to play in supporting the management of emergencies such as major incidents, 

or natural events like flooding and pandemic flu. The latter emergency became real in 2019-

2020 given that Covid-19 was declared a global pandemic on 12 March 2020.  

The CCG subsequently implemented all national guidance and instigated actions in line with its 

Business Continuity Plan. This included the setting-up of an Incident Management Team under 

the leadership of the Chief Officer as Incident Commander. Revised strategic and operational 

processes have been implemented to ensure robust governance arrangements remain in place. 

Our duties are set out in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which names CCGs as ‘Category 2’ 

responders. This means we are required to share information and cooperate with other 

agencies in planning for and responding to emergencies should they happen. Like Category 1 

responders, such as the Police, Fire Service and Local Authority, we must also produce plans to 

help us to manage the effects of a disruption and ensure that arrangements are in place for 

informing and warning the public should this be necessary.  

The NHS Core Standards for Emergency Planning, Response and Resilience further requires 

us to ensure that our service providers have plans in place to respond to and recover from 

emergencies. We gain operational support in meeting our duties from our Commissioning 

Support Unit through its Emergency Planning, Response and Resilience Team.  

Here are some of the other ways we met our duties in 2019-2020: 

 NHS England's EPRR Core Standards 2019 set out the minimum requirements which 

NHS organisations and providers of NHS funded care must meet to demonstrate their 

ability to respond to emergencies and be able to continue providing safe patient care. 

We achieved a ‘substantial’ rating  

 Our Governing Body lay representative Graham Morris held the EPRR portfolio as part 

of his responsibilities until he stepped down.  Alan Sharples now holds this portfolio. He 

is a regular and active member of our Governing Body and his attendance can be found 

on page 96. 

 We work with CCGs and service providers across Merseyside to ensure the healthcare 

system can respond to incidents night and day – we have a 24/7 on call system, so 

service providers and other agencies can contact us round the clock in the event of 

emergencies 

 We have developed business continuity and incident response plans - as well as making 

sure our own plans are robust, we monitor the plans of our service providers 

 Our staff take part in regular training sessions and exercises – so we have the skills and 

experience to deal with unexpected incidents. 

  

Page 56 of 174
Page 276

Agenda Item 6



Involving our residents  

We are committed to putting the voice of patients and the public at the heart of our 

commissioning and we believe this is fundamental to achieving better health and wellbeing.  

Our patients know the quality of existing health services from first hand experience and the view 

of our residents can help us to determine what more we need to do to achieve our aims, so 

services are ‘patient centred’ and better focused around their local needs. 

Our CCG Constitution reflects our commitment and our legal duty under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 and Social Care Act 2012 to involve our residents in developing and 

commissioning health services.  

Our Communications and Engagement Strategy describes our legal duty to involve in greater 

detail. It also outlines our principles and approach to involving our residents and the partners we 

work with. 

This section focuses on how we have involved people in our work in 2019-2020 and you can 

read more examples throughout this report. 

  

 

  

Page 57 of 174
Page 277

Agenda Item 6



Our framework for involvement 
 

We have developed, and continue to develop, structures and processes to ensure that we 

embed involvement in our daily work.  

You can see our framework for involvement in full on our website21. The examples below 

illustrate some of its key elements – reflecting our CCG Constitution and our Communications 

and Engagement Strategy – and how they have supported and provided assurance in 2019-

2020 around our public and patient involvement work: 

 

Our committees and groups 

 

Governing Body - a lay representative dedicated to patient and public involvement sits on our 

Governing Body, where our most important work is debated and approved. The chair of 

Healthwatch Sefton is also a member of the Governing Body22 providing independent 

representation from patients and residents. We hold bi-monthly Governing Body meetings in 

public, where residents are invited to hear members discussing and making decisions about our 

work. Ahead of the start of these formal meetings, there is an opportunity for people to meet 

some of the doctors and other professionals who make up the committee. They are also 

welcome to ask any questions or queries they have during this session. 

 

Quality Committee - overseeing patient experience is one of the main responsibilities of this 

committee and our Quality Strategy describes this. The committee provides our Governing Body 

with direct assurance of the experience our patients receive from the services we commission, 

taking action when this falls below what we expect.  

EPEG - our engagement and patient experience group, known as EPEG is embedded in the 

structures and processes that oversee our involvement work and reports directly to our Quality 

Committee. The group brings us together with patient representatives and key partners from 

across health and care in Sefton to provide us with assurance and advice about our statutory 

responsibilities around engagement and consultation. The group also monitors involvement and 

patient experience in the services we commission. An example of this in 2019-2020 was the 

escalation to our Joint Quality Committee of poor Friends and Family Test results in a provider 

trust that led to the introduction of a text messaging facility to dramatically improve response 

rate. 

Other committees - processes and systems for involvement are embedded in some of our 

most important committees such as our Corporate Governance Support Group that oversees 

complaints and other insight that informs our involvement work, and our Clinical Advisory Group. 

The work of these committees and groups is also underpinned by some of our most important 

strategies, policies and protocols, such as our disinvestment policy and procedures which also 

contribute to our involvement framework.  

You can see how our main committees and groups for overseeing and assuring involvement 

activities work together in the following diagram.  

                                                           
21 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/  
22 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/governing-body-meetings/ 

Page 58 of 174
Page 278

Agenda Item 6



 

External assurance mechanisms 

As well as our internal committees, groups, policies and processes there are a number of 

external committees and forums that provide helpful challenge to help shape our work.    

We keep Sefton Council’s relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) up to date on 

our work and any involvement plans we have to change or reconfigure local health services, in 

line with our responsibilities to them. In 2019 - 2020, our chief officer has continued to attend 

meetings of the OSC for Adult Social Care and Health to present update reports and more 

focused presentations. Topics that members of the committee fed into and scrutinised included 

a focus on our 7 day GP service, a review of hyper acute stroke services and social prescribing 

developments in our primary care networks.         

We are also able test our involvement plans with Sefton Council's Engagement and 

Consultation Standard Panel. This well established partnership forum provides valuable 

advice and guidance. The panel’s local knowledge is particularly useful in helping us to identify 

groups and contacts that are often difficult to involve in our work, such as those that are 

homeless and from lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) communities. 

Strategic programmes and service developments or changes  

As part of our planning for any strategic transformation programmes, or service developments or 

changes, we design and carry out specific involvement exercises. These vary in scale 

depending on the degree of change and the impact of these changes for patients and residents. 

Stakeholder mapping and equality impact assessments are integral to developing our 

involvement plans, as well as demographic monitoring of those who take part in our exercises.    

Page 59 of 174
Page 279

Agenda Item 6



Our engagement exercise to inform the development of our 5 year plan for the local NHS, 

Sefton2gether encouraged as many residents as possible to give their views, as well as 

targeting some of our ‘seldom heard’ groups of residents. Working with Healthwatch Sefton to 

collect views also helped us to reach a much wider group of residents than we could do on our 

own. Our ‘stakeholder analysis’ and ‘equality impact assessment’ tools also support this work 

and you can find more information about the exercise on our website.  

The third phase of our Review of Local Health Policies took place during the year, which aims 

to keep NHS care up to date with the latest national clinical guidelines, methods and 

technology, whilst also making the best use of NHS resources. We reviewed a group of policies 

for procedures and treatments that are known as Criteria Based Clinical Treatments (CBCT). 

These are routine procedures that are known to have medical benefit only in very specific 

situations, or for a small number of people. In this third phase of the review, we focused on and 

asked for views about continuous glucose monitoring systems, cough assist devices, insulin 

pumps, secondary care administered peripheral joint injections, surgery for prostatism or lower 

urinary tract infections and transanal irrigation.   

Co-production - working with patient, public or carer representatives 

Whenever appropriate, we invite patient, public or carer representatives to get directly involved 

in our day to day commissioning work, such as taking part in procurement processes or joining 

our working groups to enable services and programmes to be ‘co-produced’.  

 

This year we have continued to work with transgender residents to further develop our Trans 

Health Sefton service, tackling poor outcomes, health inequalities and patient safety issues and 

this won us a national award in recognition of leading the roll out of this approach across 

Cheshire and Merseyside through the co-designed ‘CMAGIC’ pathway23. 

 

We are working closely with parents of children and young people with special education 

needs and disabilities (SEND) to improve services.    

 

Our work with Merseyside Society for Deaf People (MSDP), a local trusted charity, has 

continued this year to address the well documented gap in access to services for D/deaf 

patients, particularly in supporting them to make complaints and share their experiences as 

patients. 

Our involvement database  

We invite residents who are interested in getting involved or who want to learn more about our 

work to join our mailing list24. In 2019–2020, we have used the system to introduce a new email 

newsletter to more regularly inform people about opportunities to get involved, including local 

and national engagement and consultation. Encouragingly, the number of residents and 

stakeholders interested in getting involved in our work continues to grow.  

 

 

 

                                                           
23 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/how-we-use-your-views/how-cmagic-was-developed-to-give-
trans-people-a-say-in-their-care/ 
24 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/join-our-mailing-list/ 

Page 60 of 174
Page 280

Agenda Item 6



Our annual review and Big Chat events 

 

Since 2012, we have combined our annual general meetings with our popular ‘Big Chat’ style 

engagement events to make these sessions as meaningful as possible for our residents.  

 

At Big Chat 11 in September 2019, we gave an update on our work to develop a 5 year NHS 

transformation plan for the borough with our partners in the Sefton Health and Care Partnership 

Board. Healthwatch Sefton presented the results of a survey carried out with residents about 

future healthcare that had fed into the early draft of our 5 year plan. Table discussions followed 

these presentations, where attendees were asked for their views to help finalise our plan – 

called Sefton2gether. Other topics discussed at Big Chat 11 included self care, with a focus on 

ear syringing and all the feedback gained at the event is being used to help develop our plans in 

the year ahead. More information about Big Chat 11 can be found on our website25.  

 

Feedback from the previous year’s Big Chat 10 in September 2018 was used to inform the 

ongoing development of our primary care strategy and our 7 day GP service during 2019-2020.  

 

Positive feedback from Big Chat 10 about our health and wellbeing ‘marketplace’ showcasing a 

range of local support services encouraged us to expand the number of stallholders at Big Chat 

11 and give more time for attendees to browse ahead of the main programme beginning.    

 

Our communication and feedback systems 

We use all our communication channels and networks to keep people informed about 

healthcare developments and provide opportunities to get involved and comment. We also use 

these channels as part of our approach to feedback the outcomes of our involvement activities.  

 

As well as providing daily updates and news, our website and Twitter account invite people to 

comment or ask questions. This two way communication is an important way to hear from 

residents about their experiences and views of local healthcare, and is captured and used in the 

same way as other feedback we collect.     

When we talk to local residents and partners about our work, we often capture some of their 

views through filmed interviews, which we then share more widely on our websites and through 

our Twitter26 and You Tube27 channels.  

 

This year we widened the information included on our website to better reflect the range of 

involvement work we carry out and to better promote opportunities for our residents to take part. 

In addition we reviewed our website to make sure it meets digital accessibility standards.  

 

  

                                                           
25https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/our-big-chat-events/big-chat-11/  
26 https://twitter.com/NHSSSCCG  

27 https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC3zskxhEM5dWeJtypBBmTOA  

Page 61 of 174
Page 281

Agenda Item 6



Working with partners and the community 
 

This year we built on our networks and further developed the close working relationship we 

enjoy with partners. As well as supporting us to share and cascade information about how 

people can learn more and have their say on local healthcare developments, we have been 

using their meetings and groups to undertake more face to face engagement.  

Below are some examples of how we have done this in 2019-2020: 

Healthwatch Sefton Community Champion events  

 

We have continued this year to collaborate with Healthwatch Sefton to deliver themed 

‘Community Champion’ involvement events. These sessions invite Community Champions – 

who represent specific Sefton localities and groups – to learn more about specific healthcare 

topics, such as podiatry services and to give views to help shape future health care and plans, 

like our Sefton2gether strategy for transformation.  

 

Working with other groups and forums  

We link with our Sefton CVS colleagues to ensure our catalogue of stakeholder groups and 

contacts is up to date and continues to expand on the number and types of groups that we work 

with. In particular, this helps us to establish links with our most hard to reach communities, 

including those representing individuals who are homeless, military veterans and from the 

gypsy/traveller communities. 

We also attend meetings and events organised by our partners to gain views about our current 

involvement activities or to feedback on how we have used peoples views from previous 

exercises. This year the meetings and networks we attended included Sefton Older Persons 

Forum meetings and Sefton Health and Social Care Forum to discuss future health and care 

and gain views to finalise our 5 year plan, Sefton2gether. 

Patient Participation Groups 

We have continued to work with Healthwatch Sefton and our local surgeries to develop patient 

participation groups (PPGs). These groups enable patients to have their say about services at 

their practice and hear about our wider CCG work. Whenever possible we ask practices to 

share information and updates with their groups and encourage them to get involved. 

During the year we held two events with Healthwatch Sefton to further support practices to 

enhance their PPGs and to encourage more residents to get involved in their local group. You 

can read about these events and our work to develop PPGs on our website28.  

 

  

                                                           
28 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-exercises/ 

Page 62 of 174
Page 282

Agenda Item 6



Supporting and developing involvement 

As well as inviting and encouraging people to get involved in our work and routinely asking 

residents and stakeholders about how we can do this better, this year we have also been 

looking at other ways we can support involvement more widely. 

National consultations 

Throughout the year, we have supported and promoted several national consultations, 

encouraging local residents and stakeholders to get involved and share their views. This 

included a consultation on proposals to help the NHS deliver its Long Term Plan. 

Provider and partner developments 

This year we have promoted and involved residents and patients in some of our partner and 

providers’ involvement activities including Sefton Council’s engagement exercises around the 

refresh of our joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and SEND services, along with a series of 

events where people were invited to share their views on the proposed merger of Aintree 

University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University 

Hospitals NHS Trust. 

Promoting involvement and training opportunities 

We have also been looking at other ways we can support involvement this year. This has 

included promoting becoming an NHS foundation trust member at one of the local NHS provider 

organisations, becoming a Healthwatch Sefton member or CVS volunteer and joining NHS 

England’s involvement hub which provides information and training to support people to get 

more actively involved both locally and nationally. As well as our public, we also provide support 

to our commissioning staff to ensure they are able to build involvement activities into their work. 

We also provided training for members of our expert Trans patient and community 

representatives to support their fuller participation on working groups.   

How we use the feedback we receive 

After each of our involvement exercises has ended, we collate and analyse the feedback we 

receive and produce a report of the key findings. We share these reports with our public and 

partners and we use them to inform the development of the services we commission. The 

insight we gather from the involvement activities we carry out helps us to understand what 

patients and the public think about local services and our plans for developing or changing 

them. In particular, it helps us to identify what is working well and if there are any specific areas 

of patient concern that we need to address as we take plans forward. 

In addition, as part of the decision making process about changes to the future provision and 

delivery of any service, our CCG Governing Body is required to  take account  of the views of 

local patients and residents in line with statutory duties29. 

You can find our involvement reports and any updates about how we have used the information 

to inform service delivery or development on our website, along with reports carried out by our 

partners that affect our residents30.  

                                                           
29 https://www.england.nhs.uk/participation/involvementguidance/  

Page 63 of 174
Page 283

Agenda Item 6



 

How we evaluate our involvement work 

We assess the effectiveness of our involvement activities in a number of different ways, from 

external assurance mechanisms, to regularly asking residents about how well we involve them. 

This year, we received the highest green star rating in the second annual NHS England and 

Involvement self-assessment process, against community and patient involvement standards.  

  

                                                                                                                                                                                           
30 https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-exercises/ 

Page 64 of 174
Page 284

Agenda Item 6



Equality, diversity and human rights obligations 

Promoting equality is at the heart of our core values, ensuring that we commission services 

fairly and that no community or group is not involved and engaged in the changes that will be 

made to health services to meet the challenges the NHS faces, as outlined in the Five Year 

Forward View and NHS Long Term Plan. 

We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community and 

voluntary sector and other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of opportunity 

and meet the exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010.  

We facilitate Engagement & Patient Experience Group (EPEG) which has representation from 

the community to discuss a range of our initiatives.   This group strengthens our model for 

engagement, involvement and consultation, and provides a more robust scrutiny of our work 

and management of risks.  

 Due regard to the Equality Act 2010 

We are required to pay ‘due regard’ to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined by the 

Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks. 

The key functions that enable us to make commissioning decisions, and monitor the 

performance of our providers, must demonstrate (in an auditable manner) that the needs of 

protected groups have been considered in: 

 Commissioning processes 

 Consultation and engagement 

 Procurement functions 

 Contract specifications 

 Quality contract and performance schedules 

 Governance systems 

 

The Equality Act requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) across a range of 

protected characteristics, including age, gender, race, sexual orientation, religion/belief, 

marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status. 

 

“Due regard” is a legal requirement and means that the decision makers of the CCG has to give 

advanced consideration (consider the equality implications of a proposal before a decision has 

been made) to issues of ‘equality and discrimination’ before making any commissioning decision 

or policy that may affect or impact on people who share protected characteristics.  It is vitally 

important to consider equality implications as an integral part of the work and activities that the 

CCG does, particularly during these difficult and challenging times. 

 

We continue to carry out Equality Analysis reports – commonly known as Equality Impact 

Assessments (EIAs). These reports test the proposal and say whether it meets PSED and 

ultimately complies with the Equality Act 2010. Failure to carry out EIAs would be grounds for 

Judicial Review and may result in poor outcomes and widen health inequalities. 

 

We are becoming stronger at developing and delivering Equality Analysis reports and linking 

them to the current change programmes however there is still progress to be made. All staff are 

Page 65 of 174
Page 285

Agenda Item 6



aware of the support mechanisms in place to help them and the organisation to develop and 

deliver timely and accurate reports.   

 

Equality Delivery Systems 2  

 

We adopted the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) toolkit as its performance toolkit to support 

the NHS England Assurance process on equality and diversity.  We are ‘achieving’ status 

across fifteen outcome areas and ‘developing’ status in three outcomes.  Caution should always 

apply to performance managing equality performance as health inequalities across the north of 

England are poor and PSED is an anticipatory duty and always applies to us as and when we 

make commissioning decisions that impact on patients.  

 

The CCG Equality & Inclusion Service (Merseyside CCGs Shared Service is hosted in South 

Sefton CCG) has led on implementing EDS 2 across the CCG and Merseyside through an 

innovative and collaborative way.  All Merseyside Clinical Commissioning Groups including 

South Sefton CCG and all the main NHS providers who operate within the sub region have 

worked collaboratively to implement the toolkit via an integrated approach. Key providers have 

included Liverpool University Hospitals NHS FT, Mersey Care NHS FT, Liverpool Women’s 

NHS FT, Southport & Ormskirk NHS Trust, North West Boroughs Healthcare NHS FT, Alder hey 

Children’s NHS FT, The Walton Centre NHS FT, Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS FT and 

Clatterbridge Cancer Centre.  

 

Equality objectives 

 

The CCG approved their Equality Objectives Plan (2019 to 2023) in April 2019.  This was 

approved by Governing Body in February 2019. 

Our equality objectives are to: 

 Make fair and transparent commissioning decisions. 

 Improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience 

disadvantage. 

 Improve the equality performance of our providers through robust monitoring and 

collaboration.  

 Empower and engage our workforce. 

 

Key progress and highlights against our Equality Objectives over the past year include: 

Continuing to monitor and drive improvements in Equality and public law compliance across all 

key NHS providers through the quality contract schedule. Key areas of focus include: 

 

 Information standards, including reasonable adjustments are implemented and meet the 

needs of our disabled community 

 Decision making across trusts pays ‘due regard’ to our Public Sector Equality Duty prior to 

decisions being made 

 Ensuring specific duties are met 

 

Highlights include  

 Improvements across compliance against specific duties, information standards and 

reasonable adjustments. Progression around NHS Provider compliance to paying ‘due 

regard’ to PSED in relation to service change has been incremental and all NHS 

Page 66 of 174
Page 286

Agenda Item 6



Providers are currently RAG rated as red.  However processes have improved 

incrementally over the last year.  The CCG will continue to hold their Providers to 

account over 2020/2021. 

 A Standard Operating Procedure and guidance on how to provide Reasonable 

Adjustments (RA) has been developed by the Collaborative, in close partnership with 

organisations that represent disabled people. NHS Providers involved in the 

collaborative will implement the S.O.P over the next year. 

 Local Translation and Interpretation Quality Standards to remove variation and poor 

outcomes for people whose first language is not English or people who communicate via 

British Sign Language has been developed and are being approved across all NHS 

providers.   

 The unified Transgender pathway developed via the Cheshire Merseyside Gender 

Identify Collaborative (CMAGIC), which the CCG has supported, will become part of the 

NHSE specialised commissioning pathway for Gender Identity Clinics from April 2020.  

The pathway is currently being considered for roll out across the Cheshire & Merseyside 

Care Partnership. 

 NHS South Sefton CCG has adopted a Merseyside wide strategic plan to improve 

access to health services for D/deaf people across Merseyside and all CCGs and 

providers are reporting progress regularly via the Equality Collaborative and contract 

process.  

 The Equality service has developed a number of work streams to improve NHS wide 

understanding of the link between cultural sensitivity/understanding diversity and the 

impact this has on patient safety and experience.  This has included raising awareness 

to NHS providers and Exec leads at CCG and NHS Provider Contract meetings and via 

the development of a training tool to support serious incident panels and investigators.  

This will be rolled out across the CCG in 2020 and then duplicated by all NHS providers 

who make up the equality Collaborative in the next financial year. 

 We continue to work closely with our Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 

community development service and ensure intelligence on poor access and outcomes 

are addressed locally.    

 

Our staff  

 

We have duties to meet under the Equality Act 2010 in relation to workforce and organisational 

development.  We take positive steps to ensure that our policies deal with equality implications 

around recruitment and selection, pay and benefits, flexible working hours, training and 

development, policies around managing employees and protecting employees from 

harassment, victimisation and discrimination. It is mandatory for all our staff to complete equality 

training and, in addition, we have a workforce equality plan, which has contributed to us paying 

due regard to our Workforce Race Equality Standard.  Positive action initiatives this year 

included working across the Equality Collaborative to begin to connect all NHS provider Staff 

Support Networks and develop a CCG Staff Support offer.  The CCG also a part of Cheshire & 

Merseyside STP EDI Steering Group which has prioritised the following areas: 

 

 Developing a range of programmes to enhance opportunities for staff from BAME and 

other protected groups  

 Utilising Workforce Equality Standards to bring about change and opportunity  

 Advising on STP Workforce and Educational strategy programmes  

Page 67 of 174
Page 287

Agenda Item 6



 Reviewing recruitment programmes and promotional strategies to encourage wider 

involvement from minority communities 

 

  

Page 68 of 174
Page 288

Agenda Item 6



Reducing health inequality 

Learning Disability Directed Enhanced Service (DES)  

A Learning Disability Annual Health Check Direct Enhanced Scheme (DES) is available to GP 

practices nationally to deliver to their own registered population. The scheme is optional for 

practices to participate in, and is over and above the GP core contract. 

 

Historic participation in the DES has been low, and in an attempt to increase the number of 

health checks delivered, the CCG has worked to create a local solution to provide a flexible 

option for practice participation.  

The CCG secured participation from South Sefton Primary Health Care Limited (SSPHC) (South 

Sefton Federation) to work alongside practices to deliver the DES in a different way, with the 

aim of increasing the number of health checks delivered.  

Trans Health Sefton – a unified approach to gender care  

Now in its second year, the ‘Trans Health Sefton – a unified approach to gender care’ service 

has gone from strength to strength.  

The clinic is the first of its kind and described as a true grass roots initiative. It is now fully 

operational and already improving access locally. Health inequalities have been reduced and 

there has been an improvement in patient experience, safety and wellbeing. The service was 

named a winner in the Healthcare Transformation Awards 2019, which recognise the very best 

in innovation and improvement across the NHS. 

The aim of the service was to achieve an integrated approach to care with primary care 

providers and ensure close links with local Trans support services and expert centres at a 

national level which it has been successful in doing across Sefton.  

Since the Sefton service opened its doors in April 2017, 80 patients have been seen. Many of 

these patients have expressed their satisfaction and praised the staff’s awareness of trans 

peoples issues. 

Outcomes so far include: 

 Improved mental wellbeing 

 Reduced travel times to clinics 

 Reduced waiting times for appointments  

Anthony Griffin, chair of In-Trust Merseyside, who played a key role in the design of the service, 

said: “As chair of the local Sefton group In-Trust Merseyside I know that the Trans community 

are looked after by clinical staff who truly understand the barriers that Trans people face when 

they engage with the NHS.”  

Dr Anna Ferguson runs the service for Sefton and is a local GP with a specialist interest in the 

field of gender medicine and she has been instrumental in getting this up and running. 

The service model developed in Sefton has been shared as an example of good practice with 

NHS England and a collaborative of interested parties, commissioners, GPs and patients have 

come together with the aim of rolling out the Sefton service across Cheshire and Merseyside.  

The collaboration is now formalised and is called Cheshire & Merseyside Gender Identity 

Page 69 of 174
Page 289

Agenda Item 6



Collaborative (CMAGIC) and has been successful in securing funding from NHS England to run 

a pilot site across Cheshire & Merseyside working with patients on current waiting lists with 

regional specialist clinics.   

  

Page 70 of 174
Page 290

Agenda Item 6



Voluntary, Community and Faith (VCF) sector  

We commission a range of services from local voluntary, community and faith organisations 

towards improving wellbeing and addressing health inequalities in Sefton. This supports our 

priority work in Sefton2gether, our annual operational plan, ‘Highway to Health’, as well as the 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Health and Wellbeing Strategy that we work on together 

with the council. 

Below is a list of these services:  

Organisation Description of the service  Priority health areas 
addressed by services  

Sefton Advocacy 
  

Advocacy service for people aged 
16+ 
 

Advocacy 
Supporting mental health, 
older people and Learning 
Disabilities agendas 

Sefton CAB  Mental Health Project. Advocacy 
Mental health support 
Supporting hospital 
discharges  

Imagine Individual Placement Support 
Employment Service 

Mental health support 

Sefton CVS Children, Young People and 
Family Lead (Every Child Matters) 
Health and Wellbeing 
Development Officer & Support 
Officer 
Health & Wellbeing Trainers x 4 
(Supporting South Sefton Virtual 
Ward Programme) 
Community Development Worker 
BME Communities 

Children and families  
 
Wellbeing and reablement 
 
Community and housing for 
people with mental health 
issues 
Support for BME 
communities  

Alzheimer’s Society  Dementia Community Support 
Service. 
Dementia Peer Group Support 
Service. 
Improving Public and Professional 
Awareness Service 

Dementia support for patients 
and their families/carers 

SWACA, Sefton 
Women’s and 
Children’s Aid   

Women and Children’s Aid centre, 
Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health 

Children and families – 
Domestic Violence Support 

SWAN Centre Counselling and Listening Service 
Outreach Service 
Support Group - Staying Out 
Project 

Women’s Mental Health 
Support 

Sefton Age 
Concern  

Befriending and Reablement 
Service 

Older people Health & 
Wellbeing Support 

Expect Service provided at Bowersdale 
Resource Centre 

Support for people with 
mental health issues 

Sefton Carers 
Centre  

Advocacy for Parent Carers 
 

Children and families 

Page 71 of 174
Page 291

Agenda Item 6



CHART, Crosby 
Housing 
Reablement Team,  

Crosby Housing Re enablement 
Team 

Wellbeing and reablement  

Netherton Feelgood 
Factory  

Health Promotion Wellbeing and reablement 
 

Parenting 2000 Children and families needing 
support: special needs, low self-
esteem and confidence, emotional 
issues, drugs and alcohol, 
domestic abuse, bereavement 

Children and families 

Stroke Association  Intermediate Care (Carers and 
advocacy, Communication) 

Wellbeing and reablement 
 

Macmillan Cancer 
Support 

Support for people suffering with 
cancer and their families  

Cancer support 

Active Ageing Chair based exercise classes for 
older people 

Falls prevention 

 

Below are some of the highlights and outcomes achieved by these VCF groups in 2019-2020 to 

improve the health and wellbeing of all our residents.  

Age Concern Liverpool and Sefton  

The befriending and reablement service promotes older people’s social independence via 

positive health, support and wellbeing to prevent social isolation. Work has taken place with GP 

practices to support older patients experiencing bereavement, loneliness and benefit issues. 

Alzheimer’s Society 

The society continued to deliver dementia support sessions in GP practices during 2019-20. 

Pre-arranged sessions are booked and delivered on the basis of need in particular GP 

practices. The service also provides a Side-by-Side service, which has successfully matched a 

number of service users with volunteers enjoying a range of activities including dancing, theatre 

trips, coffee shop trips, shopping and walking. Dementia peer support groups during this year 

included Singing for the Brain, Active & Involved, reading sessions and memory cafes across 

the borough. Alzheimer’s Society also showcased a memory garden at the Southport Flower 

Show, over 750 people stopped to have a chat, pick up a leaflet or ask for advice or 

support. 

Citizens Advice Sefton 

This service offers various forms of advice to in-patients at Clock View Hospital in Walton. 

During 2019-20 the majority of support required related to benefits payments (including 

Universal Credit applications), housing, mobility debt, health and community care, housing, 

legal, relationships and family, travel and transport issues. 

 

Page 72 of 174
Page 292

Agenda Item 6



Crosby Housing and Reablement Team (CHART) 

During 2019-20 the service has continued to provide supported accommodation for a number of 

service users and has supported vulnerable people to stay in their current place of residence. 

The service has significantly contributed towards avoiding hospital admissions and enabled 

patients to be discharged. In addition to this, the service has prevented a number of vulnerable 

people across Sefton becoming homeless.  

Expect Limited 

Expect Limited provides an environment where service users can participate in formal and 

informal centre based and wider community activities. These activities include helping service 

users in regaining skills lost due to illness, developing new skills and knowledge, improving 

social inclusion, gaining independence, having access to more choice and increasing fitness, 

improving health and safety, financial stability and enjoyment. A variety of structured activities 

were delivered during 2019-20 including drama, music, comedy workshops, weekly cooking 

activities, summer parties and groups such as Let’s Talk Mental Health, together with outreach 

support.   

Imagine independence 

This service supports individuals with mental disorder living in the community. It promotes 

independence and recovery, providing support to maintain health and wellbeing, reducing 

admissions to residential, nursing care and in-patient settings. During 2019-20 Imagine 

Independence assisted service users with completing personal profiles and search for paid 

employment. A number of service users attended job interviews and managed to secure paid 

work. The service also supported people in retaining their current employment and liaised with 

employers on their behalf.  

Netherton Feelgood Factory  

This service provides a safe space for people with complex mental and social care needs 

(Upstairs @ 83 offers open access drop-in, one-to-one counselling, group interventions, welfare 

advice and support). Three paid staff were employed together with a small number of 

volunteers. Examples of work carried out during 2019-20 include issues relating to domestic 

violence, family issues, unemployment due to mental health related issues, anxiety and 

depression. 

Parenting 2000 

The service provides counselling and support to vulnerable children, young people and families 

most in need – where deprivation, poverty and emotional wellbeing dramatically affect everyday 

family life promoting and embedding parenting skills, providing a place where all parents, 

carers, young people and children can access information, advice and support enabling people 

to meet the diverse challenges that life presents.  

Sefton Advocacy 

During 2019-20 the service has provided advocacy for a large number of people across the 

Sefton footprint ranging from housing, benefits, grants, care home advice, safeguarding and 

wellbeing. During this year, Sefton Advocacy has helped the CCGs to develop an independent 

service funding model; this involved supporting individuals to identifying their most suitable 

Page 73 of 174
Page 293

Agenda Item 6



support agency. The service is also supporting IAPT services across the borough. This enables 

service users to access advice about to benefit applications and suitable housing.  

Sefton Carers Centre 

The service provides specialist advocacy, peer support, advice and guidance. This includes 

advocacy for parent carers, younger school age carers and carers of people with dementia. The 

centre has reported an increase in tribunal cases during this year whilst Universal Credit advice 

and support has been a key issue for those presenting to the service. A number of volunteers 

have been recruited to the (non-personal care) sitting service, enabling carers to take a short 

break. Physical and emotional health and wellbeing has also been provided through counselling 

and holistic therapies (91% of therapy users reporting this had a marked or significant positive 

impact on them). The service has also been key in working with the CCGs to deliver Personal 

Health Budgets.  

Sefton Council for Voluntary Service 

BME community support worker – this role links with communities in accessing a range of 

services that impact on health and wellbeing. This helps to improve access and uptake of 

services including appropriate mental health services such as IAPT. Help is given to service 

users to access primary care and supporting asylum seekers and refugees with mental health 

and physical health conditions. The majority of enquiries during 2019-20 were around mental 

health, legal issues, safeguarding, benefits, finance, debt and general health. 

Children, Young People and Families Lead (Every Child Matters) - provided representation on 

various working groups and partnerships enabling participation of voluntary, community and 

faith (VCF) sector organisations in decision making, helping identify gaps and needs (including 

under-represented groups) and developing training opportunities. During 2019-20 the service 

facilitated a number of network and forum meetings. As part of a restructure, the Children, 

Young People & Families Lead now has responsibility for more focussed management of VCF 

capacity building, volunteer co-ordination and collaborative working with both Sefton Council 

and both CCGs in Sefton. 

Health and Wellbeing Trainers - develop pro-active care programmes to encourage better self-

care and behavioural change, to relieve anxiety, prevent unnecessary hospital admissions and 

signpost to other health and social care services.   

Sefton Women’s And Children’s Aid (SWACA) 

SWACA provides crisis intervention, early intervention and prevention to overcome the impact of 

domestic abuse. This includes advocacy, advice, programmes of work, parenting support, legal 

advice and therapeutic support, plus multi-agency training and VCF partnership working. The 

service has seen an increased demand identified during 2019-20 Referrals came from various 

sources. The top three referrers to the service were from the police, self-referrals and children’s 

safeguarding agencies. Other referral sources included adult social care, children’s centres, 

family and friends, housing and VCF organisations.  

 

 

 

Page 74 of 174
Page 294

Agenda Item 6



Stroke Association 

The association provides information, advice and support for patients and their families post 

stroke and is delivered within hospital and community settings alongside a multi-disciplinary 

team of health and social care professionals. As plans evolve, work is being undertaken to 

ensure stroke's new priority status is supported by ambitious and deliverable interventions 

across the whole National Stroke Programme pathway. During this year, it was reported that a 

significant number of service users accessing the service were under the age of 50 and a 

number of these patients were assisted in going back to work. Other areas of support included 

welfare benefits, available financial and emotional support and help for young families. The 

service also attends weekly discharge planning meetings with the Early Supported Discharge 

Team. Group meetings held during the period included the communication group, peer support 

group and Merseyside life after stroke voluntary group.  

Swan Women’s Centre 

The service provides support, information and therapeutic interventions, focusing on women 

experiencing stress, isolation and mental ill-health. The centre also provides an outreach 

service, available by professional referral, for women diagnosed with severe mental illness, and 

those that do not fit the mental illness criteria but who need support. The emotional wellbeing 

support group offers support to women, via a qualified counsellor with experience of group 

therapy.  

VCF Advisory Group 

The CCG provided leadership to establish an advisory group in 2019-2020 so that the sector 

can influence the transformation of services across Sefton. The group brings together 

representatives from 17 organisations across the borough, aiming to: 

 Ensure the sector is represented across the Sefton Health and Care transformation 

programme 

 Act as the forum for the sector, to enable ideas to be shared and a collective position to 

be formed 

 Ensure the most appropriate expertise and geographical representation is sought from 

the sector to provide input across the different elements of the transformation 

programme 

 Support the transformation programme to give equal emphasis to health, care and 

wellbeing services 

Membership of the group is from the following organisations:  

Sefton Advocacy 
Fun 4 Kidz and L30 

Community Centre 
Healthwatch Sefton 

Queenscourt Hospice 
Age Concern Liverpool and 

Sefton 
Light 4 Life 

Page 75 of 174
Page 295

Agenda Item 6



Independence initiative SWAN Centre Parkhaven Trust 

Venus Crosby Housing Association Jospice 

Sefton OPERA Sefton Carers Centre Sefton CVS 

SWACA Netherton Feelgood Factory   

  

Social prescribing in Sefton 

A system-wide social prescribing work stream was established 2019-2020 with leadership 

provided by the CCG. There is considerable enthusiasm from all partners for this work stream 

and a particular opportunity for the VCF Advisory Group to facilitate links with our communities, 

within our localities to develop an approach which really meets local need. The work stream is 

aiming to: 

 Gain a collective understanding of social prescribing and the wide range of activities 

currently in place within Sefton 

 Agree a common strategic approach to its further development (in the context of the 

developments within the new NHS long term plan and emerging national guidance) 

which builds on the strength of existing local approaches and is sensitive to the needs of 

the different communities within Sefton 

 Consider key enablers, which may support the implementation of the model 

 Develop a collective plan of action to enable the delivery of the agreed approach with 

partners across Sefton 

The group, which includes many partners, including representatives from our new Primary Care 

Networks (PCNs), supported the development of a collaborative approach to the introduction of 

the new role of the Social Prescribing Link worker, now established across all our PCNs. In 

conjunction with the CCGs in Sefton, the PCNs worked with Sefton CVS, Sefton Carers Centre 

and Brighter Living, to develop the new social prescribing link worker service, which connects to 

the wider Living Well Sefton, enabling the link workers to draw on a wide range of support 

across the VCF sector to support local residents. 

 

 

 

 

Page 76 of 174
Page 296

Agenda Item 6



Working towards a sustainable NHS  

As an NHS organisation and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a 

way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure 

healthcare services.  Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient 

use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By making the most of 

social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and 

long term even in the context of the rising cost of natural resources. 

We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by 

working hard to minimise our footprint. 

Set against a backdrop of increased clinical activity and during a period of transformation, the 

NHS, public health and social care system has demonstrated significant progress by: 

 Reducing carbon emissions by 18.5% between 2007 and 2017 
 Reducing the water footprint by 21% between 2010 and 2017 
 Ensuring 85% of NHS provider waste is avoiding going directly to landfill   

Policies 

In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our 

process and procedures sustainability features. 

Area Is sustainability considered? 

Commissioning (environmental) Yes 

Commissioning (social impact) Yes 

Suppliers impact Yes 

Travel and Expenses No 

 

As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, 

we help achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of 

sustainability to our staff. 

Partnerships 

We recognise that as a commissioning organisation rather than a provider of services, most of 

our carbon footprint derives from commissioning health and care services.   As a commissioning 

and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms to deliver our 

ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery.   

The NHS policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate 

in a sustainable manner.  Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to 

be provided in part through contracting mechanisms. 

Our direct resources used through transport, travel and electricity are negligible compared to the 

resources used through the services we commission, predominantly through our main providers. 

Our priority therefore is to work in partnership with our main providers to improve their 

performance and to minimise the harm and maximise the positive gain that can be made to 

health from the way our providers operate.   

Page 77 of 174
Page 297

Agenda Item 6



Workforce operations 

We have a small workforce and a small headquarters, so we are a relatively low carbon emitting 

organisation.  We lease our office in Bootle from NHS Property Services, and we will work with 

them to provide all the required information about carbon emissions in future years.   

As a responsible employer, we encourage our employees to use public transport and the 

location of our offices in Bootle and Southport is within a short walking distance of main train 

and bus routes.  In addition to this, we offer our employees the opportunity to purchase a bike 

through the national cycle scheme where the employee can pay through a salary deduction over 

12 month period.  We also offer a salary sacrifice scheme for low emission and electric cars for 

employees to consider minimising their impact on the environment. 

 

  

Page 78 of 174
Page 298

Agenda Item 6



Accountability report  

Our organisational structure helps us to work effectively and commission the best healthcare 

possible, spending our share of NHS funding wisely.  This section gives you more information 

about our Governing body, member practices and staff.  It also details the composition and roles 

of our most important committees.  

 

Page 79 of 174
Page 299

Agenda Item 6



Corporate governance report  

Members report 

Governing Body membership 

The table below shows the people who made up our Governing Body in 2019-2020, their roles and the committees they were a part of. 

Name Role Governing 
Body PTI 

Governing 
Body PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical 
QIPP 

Advisory 

Finance and 
Resources 
Committee 

Joint QIPP & 
Financial 
Recovery 
Committee 

Joint Quality  
and 
Performance 
Committee  

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Dr Craig Gillespie Chair & GP Clinical 
Director  Yes Yes X X Yes X X  X 

Non-voting 

member 
X 

*Alan Sharples 
Deputy Chair and 

Lay Member - 

Governance 

Yes Yes 

Chair 

(Joined in 

August 

2019) 

 
Chair 

(Joined in 

August 

2019) 

X 

 
Chair 

(Joined in 

August 

2019) 

Yes X Yes 

Chair 

(Joined in 

August 2019) 

*Graham  Morris 
Deputy Chair & 

Lay Member – 

Governance 

Stepped 
down June 

2019 

Stepped 
down June 

2019 

Chair 
(left June 

2019) 

Chair 
(left June 

2019) 

X 
Chair 

(left June 
2019) 

Stepped down 
June 2019 

X 
Stepped down 

June 2019 

Stepped down 

June 2019 

Director (Matthew 
Ashton) or deputy 

Director of Public 

Health, Sefton MBC 

(co-opted) 

Co-opted X X X X X X X X X 

Graham Bayliss 
Lay member – 

Patient and Public 

Engagement 

Yes Yes Yes Yes X Yes X Yes Yes Yes 

Page 80 of 174

P
age 300

A
genda Item

 6



Name Role Governing 
Body PTI 

Governing 
Body PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical 
QIPP 

Advisory 

Finance and 
Resources 
Committee 

Joint QIPP & 
Financial 
Recovery 
Committee 

Joint Quality  
and 
Performance 
Committee  

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Dr Peter Chamberlain  
GP Clinical Director Yes Yes X X X Yes X X X X 

*Lynne Creevy 
Practice Manager 

Stepped 

down from 

September 

2019 

Stepped 

down from 

September 

2019 

X X X X X X X X 

*Debbie Fagan 
Chief Nurse 

Stepped 

down from 

May 2019 

Stepped 

down from 

May 2019 

Stepped 

down from 

May 2019 
X 

Stepped 

down from 

May 2019 

Yes 

(left 

committee 

w.e.f. 23 May 

2019  

secondment) 

Stepped down 

from May 2019 
Stepped down 

from May 2019 
X X 

*Dr Gina Halstead 
GP Clinical Director Yes Yes X X X X X yes X X 

*Dwayne Johnson 

Director of Social 

Services & Health, 

Sefton MBC 

(co-opted) 

Seconded 

from May 

2019 
X X X X X X X X X 

Director or deputy 

Director of Social 

Services & Health, 

Sefton MBC 

(co-opted) 

Co-opted X X X X X X X X X 

Maureen Kelly Healthwatch 

(co-opted) 
Co-opted X X X X X X X 

Diane Blair 

for 

Healthwatch 

X 

*Jane Lunt 
Interim Chief Nurse 

Appointed 

Oct 2019 

Appointed 

Oct 2019 

Appointed 

Oct 2019 
X X X X Yes X X 

Page 81 of 174

P
age 301

A
genda Item

 6



Name Role Governing
Body PTI 

Governing
Body PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical 
QIPP 

Advisory 

Finance and 
Resources
Committee 

Joint QIPP & 
Financial 
Recovery 
Committee 

Joint Quality  
and
Performance 
Committee

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Martin McDowell 
Chief Finance Officer Yes Yes Yes X Yes (deputy) Yes Yes Yes Yes X 

*Brendan Prescott
Registered Nurse 

Covered the 

position until 

appointment

of Jane Lunt 

Covered the 

position 

until 

appointment 

of Jane Lunt 

Covered the 

position until 

appointment

of Jane Lunt 

X 

Covered the 

position until 

appointment 

of Jane Lunt 

X 

Covered the 

position until 

appointment of

Jane Lunt 

Covered the 

position until 

appointment of

Jane Lunt 

Covered the 

position until 

appointment

of Jane Lunt 

X 

Dr Sunil Sapre 
GP Clinical Director Yes Yes X X X Yes X X X X 

Dr Jeff Simmonds Secondary Care 

Doctor 
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes X Yes Yes X Yes 

Fiona Taylor 
Chief Officer Yes Yes Yes X 

Ex officio 

member 

Ex officio 

member 
Yes 

Ex officio 

member 
Yes X 

Dr John Wray 
GP Clinical Director Yes Yes X X X Yes X X X X 

*Graham Morris: stepped down end of June 2019

*Alan Sharples:  appointed new Deputy Chair and Lay Member for Governance August 2019

*Lynne Creevy: resigned position as Practice Manager Member September 2019

*Debbie Fagan:  Seconded May 2019.  Deputy Chief Nurse covered by Brendan Prescott

* Dr Gina Halstead:  Clinical Lead for Quality

*Dwayne Johnson: stepped down May 2019

*Jane Lunt appointed Interim Chief Nurse October 2019

*Brendan Prescott:  covered Chief Nurse position until the appointment of Jane Lunt

Page 82 of 174

P
age 302

A
genda Item

 6



 

 
 

 

Conflicts of interest 

We have a managing conflicts of interest and gifts and hospitality policy that can be found on 

our website31.  To accompany the policy we have a formal register of interests and a register of 

hospitality and gifts, all of which can be found on our website.  All formal meeting agendas 

commence with a ‘declaration of interest’ and the chair of the meeting will address any 

declarations made in accordance with the policy and record any such matters and actions in the 

formal meeting minutes 

Personal data related incidents 

Our Joint Quality Committee ensures that any information we hold about our patients’ care is 

held securely and in line with data protection legislation and wider information governance 

requirements. We report any personal data breaches to the Information Commissioner’s Office 

(ICO). We also report breaches in our information governance annual report that we publish on 

our website. When breaches do occur, we work hard to strengthen our systems, and our staff 

carry out regular training to ensure their work complies with national standards and regulations. 

In 2019-2020 there were no breaches of personal data reported to the ICO.    

Modern Slavery Act 

We fully support the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human 

trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year ending 31 March 

2019 is published on our website32. 

  

                                                           
31 Find links to these documents here - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-constitution/  
32 Find our statement here - https://www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk/get-informed/modern-slavery-and-human-
trafficking/  

Page 83 of 174
Page 303

Agenda Item 6



Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each clinical commissioning 

group shall have an accountable officer and that officer shall be appointed by the NHS 

Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed Fiona Taylor to be the 

accountable officer of NHS South Sefton. 

The responsibilities of an accountable officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 

2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the accountable officer is

answerable

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the clinical commissioning group and enable them to ensure

that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction)

 For safeguarding the clinical commissioning group’s assets (and hence for taking

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities)

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))

and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in

accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of

the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out 

in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in

taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the accountable officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a

consistent basis

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting

Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and

explain any material departures in the financial statements

Page 84 of 174
Page 304

Agenda Item 6



 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 

under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my 

Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  

I also confirm that: 

 As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors

are unaware, and that as accountable officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to

have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that

the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information

 That the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable

and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the

judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable

Fiona Taylor 

Accountable officer 

18 June 2020 

Page 85 of 174
Page 305

Agenda Item 6



Governance statement  

Introduction and context 

NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by 

NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the 

purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the 

provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the 

reasonable requirements of its local population. 

As at 1 April 2019, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS 

England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control 

that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 

the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 

responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my 

responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my 

Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically and that 

resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I 

also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within 

the CCG as set out in this governance statement. 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 

arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 

and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

The CCG is a clinically led membership organisation made up of general practices. Member 

practices are responsible for determining the governing arrangements for the organisation which 

are set out its constitution. 

The constitution has been developed to reflect and support the objectives and values defined by 

the CCG and to ensure that all business functions discharged by the CCG are discharged in an 

open and transparent manner. It has been developed with the member practices and localities. 

The CCG operates across the geographical area defined as South Sefton. 

The Governing Body comprises a diverse range of skills from executive and lay members and 

there is a clear division of responsibility between running the Governing Body and running the 

operational elements of the CCG’s business. The chair is responsible for the leadership of the 

Governing Body and ensures that directors have had access to relevant information to assist 

Page 86 of 174
Page 306

Agenda Item 6



them in the delivery of their duties. The lay members have actively provided scrutiny and 

challenge at Governing Body and sub-committee level. 

Each committee comprises membership and representation from appropriate officers and lay 

members with sufficient experience and knowledge to support the committees in discharging 

their duties.  

Governing Body meetings have been well attended by members of the senior leadership team 

and lay members during the year ensuring that the Governing Body has been able to make fully 

informed decisions to support and deliver the strategic objectives. 

Strategic objectives  

To progress Sefton2gether as the transformational partnership plan for the 
place of Sefton that will achieve the outcomes specified in the Sefton Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and the NHS Long Term plan ensuring involvement of 
all stakeholders in our work.  

To ensure that the CCG continues to aspire to improve performance and 
quality across the mandated constitutional measures.   

To focus on financial sustainability by implementing the Sefton transformation 
programme and the CCG’s QIPP plan. 

To support primary care development through our responsibilities for the 
commissioning of primary medical services, the development of Primary Care 
Networks and ensuring there are robust and resilient primary services in the 
place of Sefton. 

To advance integration of in-hospital and community services in support of 
the CCG locality model of care. 

To advance the integration of Health and Social Care through collaborative 
working and strategic commissioning with Sefton Metropolitan Borough 
Council, supported by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

The Governing Body is assured of its effectiveness in terms of performance management 

through the regular corporate performance reports on finance, QIPP, quality and key 

performance indicators as set out in national guidance. 

  

Page 87 of 174
Page 307

Agenda Item 6



The CCG comprises membership from the practices in the following table.  

Practice name and address 

42 Kingsway Surgery 42 Kingsway, Waterloo, Liverpool, L22 4RQ 

 

 

Aintree Road Medical Centre 1B Aintree Road, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 9DL 

Blundellsands Surgery 1 Warren Road, Blundellsands, Liverpool, L23 6TZ 

Bootle Village Surgery 204 Stanley Road, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 3EW 

Bridge Road Medical Centre 66-88 Bridge Road, Litherland, Liverpool, L21 6PH 

Concept House Surgery 17 Merton Road, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 3BG 

Crosby Village Surgery 

 

3 Little Crosby Road, Crosby, Liverpool, L23 2TE  

Crossways Practice  168 Liverpool Road, Crosby, Liverpool, L23 0QW 

Drs McElroy & Thomson 

Surgery 

15 Sefton Road, Litherland, Liverpool, L21 9HA 

Eastview Surgery 81-83 Crosby Road North, Waterloo, Liverpool, L22 4QD 

Ford Medical Practice 91-93 Gorsey Lane, Litherland, Liverpool, L21 0DF 

Glovers Lane Surgery Glovers Lane, Netherton, Liverpool, L30 5TA 

High Pastures Surgery 138 Liverpool Road North, Maghull, Liverpool, L31 2HW 

Hightown Village Surgery 1 St Georges Road, Hightown, Liverpool, L38 3RY 

Kingsway Surgery 30 Kingsway, Waterloo, Liverpool, L22 0QW 

Litherland Practice  Hatton Hill Road, Litherland, Liverpool, L21 9JN 

Liverpool Road Surgery 133 Liverpool Road, Crosby, Liverpool, L23 5TE 

Maghull Family Surgery (Dr. 

Sapre) 

Maghull Health Centre, Maghull, Liverpool, L31 0DJ 

Maghull Health Centre Maghull Health Centre, Maghull, Liverpool, L31 0DJ 

Maghull Practice  Maghull Health Centre, Maghull, Liverpool, L31 0DJ 

Moore Street Medical Centre 77 Moore Street, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 4SE 

Netherton Practice Netherton Health Centre, Magdalen Square, Bootle, 

Liverpool, L30 5SP 

  

Page 88 of 174
Page 308

Agenda Item 6



North Park Health Centre 290 Knowsley Road, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 5DQ 

Orrell Park Medical Centre Trinity Church, Orrell Lane, Liverpool, L9 8BU 

Park Street Surgery Park Street, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 3DF 

Rawson Road Medical Centre 136-138 Rawson Road, Liverpool, L21 1HP 

Seaforth Village Surgery 

 

 

20 Seaforth Road, Liverpool, L21 3TA 

The Strand Medical Centre 272 Marsh Lane, Bootle, Liverpool, L20 5BW 

Thornton Practice  Bretlands Road, Thornton, Liverpool, L23 1TQ 

Westway Medical Centre Westway Medical Centre, Maghull, Liverpool, L31 0DJ 

 

In the latest annual improvement and assessment framework (IAF) results (2018-2019) we were 

rated as ‘requires improvement’ by NHS England. During the year the CCG continued to 

develop its leadership capability (clinical and managerial) by investing in dedicated development 

time.  There has been substantial involvement by the CCG in the work of the Cheshire & 

Merseyside Health and Care Partnership and its programmes. The CCG Accountable Officer is 

also the Senior Responsible Officer for Sefton “Place” and has led representation and partner 

involvement with the Health and Care Partnership.  

The CCG is able to demonstrate leadership in terms of quality and finance and proactively 

seeks to engage the public in its work and uses patient feedback to inform the way forward.  

The outputs of our audits confirm that there are robust governance and accountability 

arrangements in place and that these are appropriately refreshed to support the new operating 

environment across Cheshire and Merseyside.  

The Governing Body is also assured of its effectiveness via the provider performance reports 

and compliance with constitutional standards.  Further assurances on effectiveness are also 

provided as part of NHSE IAF quarterly and annual assessment processes. 

The Governing Body is supported by a sub-committee structure comprising the committees 

listed below:- 

Joint Quality and Performance Committee  

The main functions of the committee are: 

 To monitor standards and provide assurance on the quality of commissioned services, 

by the CCG to ensure that local and national standards are met 

 To promote a culture of continuous improvement and innovation with respect to safety, 

clinical effectiveness and patient experience 

The committee’s key responsibilities are to: 

 Ensure all decision making is consistent with the CCGs’ QIPP priorities 

Page 89 of 174
Page 309

Agenda Item 6



 Support the transformation of services in Sefton by providing advice and guidance in 

respect of the quality and safety of services ensuring that the CCG continues to 

discharge its statutory responsibilities  

 Approve  arrangements  including  supporting  policies  to  minimise  clinical  risk,  

maximise patient safety and secure continuous improvement in quality and patient 

outcomes 

 Approve the arrangements for handling complaints 

 Approve  the  CCGs’  arrangements  for  engaging  patients  and  their  carers  in  

decisions concerning their healthcare 

 Approve arrangements for supporting NHS England in discharging its responsibilities to 

secure continuous improvement in the quality of general medical services in conjunction 

with the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 Approve and monitor the arrangements in respect of Safeguarding (children and adults) 

 Monitor the quality of commissioned services, compliance with Controlled Drugs 

Regulations 2013 

The committee comprises the chief nurse and quality officer, lay members, clinicians and other 

CCG officers to ensure that the committee is appropriately skilled and resourced to deliver its 

objectives. 

Joint Quality and Performance Committee has been well attended by all CCG officers, lay 

members and clinicians throughout the year so there has been robust scrutiny and challenge at 

all times. This has enabled the Joint Quality and Performance Committee to provide robust 

assurances to the respective Governing Body and to inform the Governing Body of key risk 

areas. 

The committee is supported by a Corporate Governance Support Group, Engagement and 

Patient Experience Group, Medicines Operational Group and Serious Incident Review Group. 

In respect of 2019-2020 key items of note were: 

• Provider performance 

• Quality surveillance 

• Corporate risk registers (detailing specific quality risks) 

• Safeguarding assurance 

• Chief nurse business update 

• Serious incident reports 

• SEND improvement notice 

 

 

Page 90 of 174
Page 310

Agenda Item 6



Audit Committee 

The Codes of Conduct and Accountability, issued in April 1994, set out the requirement for 

every NHS Board to establish an Audit Committee. That requirement remains in place today and 

reflects not only established best practice in the private and public sectors, but the constant 

principle that the existence of an independent audit committee is a central means by which a 

Governing Body ensures effective internal control arrangements are in place. 

In September 2017 the CCG Governing Body in conjunction with NHS Southport and Formby 

CCG Governing Body agreed to support the proposals for the respective Audit Committees to 

meet as “committees in common” as a more efficient and effective way of supporting the 

statutory business of the CCGs.  That arrangement came into effect during October 2017 and 

continued to operate in that way throughout 2019-2020. 

A “committees in common” arrangement enables the two committees to meet at the same time 

in the same place with a shared agenda, however both committees must remain quorate at all 

times to ensure compliance with the CCGs’ constitutions.  

The principal functions of the committee are as follows: 

 To support the establishment of an effective system of integrated governance, risk 

management and internal control, across the whole of the CCGs’ activities to support the 

delivery of the CCG’s objectives 

 To review and approve the arrangements for discharging the CCGs’ statutory financial 

duties 

 To review and approve arrangements for the CCGs’ standards of Business Conduct 

including conflicts of interest, the register of interests and codes of conduct 

 To ensure that the organisation has policies for ensuring compliance with relevant 

regulatory, legal and code of conduct requirements and to approve such policies 

The committee comprises four members of the clinical commissioning group Governing Body: 

 Lay member (governance) (chair) and conflict of interest guardian 

 Lay member (patient experience & engagement) 

 Secondary care doctor 

The Audit Committee chair or vice chair and one other member are necessary for quorum 

purposes. In addition to the committee members, officers from the CCG are also asked to attend 

the committee as required. This always includes senior representation from finance. 

In carrying out the above work, the committee primarily utilises the work of internal audit, 

external audit and other assurance functions as required.   

A number of representatives from external organisations have attended to provide expert 

opinion and support: 

 Audit Manager  - MIAA 

Page 91 of 174
Page 311

Agenda Item 6



 Anti-Fraud Specialist  - MIAA 

 Audit Director  - Grant Thornton  

 Audit Manager - Grant Thornton  

The Audit Committee supports the Governing Body by critically reviewing governance and 

assurance processes on which the Governing Body places reliance. The work of the Audit 

Committee is not to manage the process of populating the Governance Assurance Framework 

or to become involved in the operational development of risk management processes, either at 

an overall level or for individual risks; these are the responsibility of the Governing Body 

supported by line management. The role of the Audit Committee is to satisfy itself that these 

operational processes are being carried out appropriately. 

Internal audit 

Role - An important principle is that internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal 

service within an organisation. As such, its role embraces two key areas: 

 The provision of an independent opinion to the accountable officer (chief officer), the 

Governing Body, and to the Audit Committee on the degree to which risk management, 

control and governance support the achievement of the organisation’s agreed objectives 

 The provision of an independent and objective consultancy service specifically to help 

line management improve the organisation’s risk management, control and governance 

arrangements 

Internal audit, together with CCG management, prepared a plan of work that was approved by 

the Audit Committee and progress against that plan has been monitored throughout the year. 

During 2019-20, MIAA has reviewed the operations of the CCG. No major issues have been 

identified. Reports have been provided for all completed reviews and in all cases action plans 

have been agreed. Actions have or will be implemented and progress against action plans is 

regularly monitored and reported to the Audit Committee. 

An appropriate level of assurance has been provided for all areas reviewed in 2019-2020. This 

means that there were no areas reported by MIAA where weaknesses in control, or consistent 

non- compliance with key controls could have resulted in failure to achieve the review objective.  

All areas reviewed, for which a level of assurance was provided, were given high or substantial 

assurance rating. 

In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note are: 

• Annual Governance Statement 2018-2019; 

• Annual Accounts 2018–2019;  

• Annual report 2018-2019, approved; 

• Governing Body Assurance Framework, Corporate Risk Registers and Heat Map. 

• Registers of interest, conflicts, sponsorship and procurements. 

• Risk Management Strategy 

Page 92 of 174
Page 312

Agenda Item 6



• Primary Care Commissioning – Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 

External audit 

Role - The objectives of the external auditors are to review and report on the CCG’s financial 

statements and on its Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 

Anti-fraud specialist 

Role - The CCG is committed to taking all necessary steps to counter fraud, bribery and 

corruption. To meet its objectives, it has adopted the four-stage approach developed by the 

NHS Counter Fraud Authority (CFA). 

The NHS CFA unified approach to tackling all crime against the NHS (Tackling Crime against 

the NHS: A Strategic Approach’) is delivered across four key operational areas: 

 To ensure that the organisation’s strategic governance arrangements have embedded 

anti-crime measures across all levels 

 To inform and involve NHS staff and the public through raising awareness of crime risks 

against the NHS, and publicising those risks and effects of crime 

 Prevent and deter individuals who may be tempted to commit crime against the NHS and 

ensure that opportunities for crime to occur are minimised 

 To detect and investigate crime and hold to account those individuals who have 

committed crimes by prosecuting and seeking redress 

The anti-fraud specialist, together with CCG management, prepared a plan of work that was 

approved by the Audit Committee and progress against that plan continues to be monitored 

throughout the year. The Audit Committee approved an updated anti-fraud, bribery and 

corruption policy in January 2020 and a whistleblowing policy, initially in April 2019 with an 

updated policy approved in January 2020. 

Regular items for review 

The Audit Committee follows a work plan approved at the beginning of the year, which includes: 

 Losses and special payments 

 Outstanding debts 

 Financial policies and procedures 

 Tender waivers 

 Declarations of interest 

 Self-assessment of the committee’s effectiveness 

 Information Governance Toolkit 

 Risk registers reviews 

Page 93 of 174
Page 313

Agenda Item 6



In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note are: 

 Annual Governance Statement 2018-2019 

 

 Annual Accounts 2018–2019  

 

 Annual report 2018-2019 - approved 

 

 Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Registers 

 

 Registers of interest, conflicts, sponsorship and procurements 

 

 Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy – approved April 2019 with an updated version 

approved January 2020 

 

 Whistleblowing policy – approved January 2020 

 

Remuneration Committee 

The committee ensures compliance with statutory requirements and undertook reviews of very 

senior managers’ remuneration to comply with the requirements set out in the NHS Codes of 

Conduct and Accountability and the Higgs report.  

In September 2017 the CCG Governing Body in conjunction with NHS Southport and Formby 

CCG Governing Body agreed to support the proposals for the respective Remuneration 

Committees to meet as “committees in common” as a more efficient and effective way of 

supporting the statutory business of the CCGs.  That arrangement came into effect during 

October 2017 and continued to operate this way during 2019-2020. 

A “committees in common” arrangement enables the two committees to meet at the same time 

in the same place with a shared agenda, however both committees must remain quorate at all 

times to ensure compliance with the CCGs’ constitutions.  

During the year, the committee has reviewed the following: 

 Annual very senior manager (VSM) salary review 

 GP pensions arrangements  

 A remuneration framework for clinical commissioners and contractors 

Finance and Resource Committee 

The committee oversees and monitors financial and workforce development strategies; monitors 

the annual revenue budget and planned savings; develops and delivers capital investment; is 

responsible for reviewing financial and workforce risk registers; and financial, workforce and 

contracting performance. 

In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note within the year are: 

 Review of financial strategy, financial recovery plan and risk register 

Page 94 of 174
Page 314

Agenda Item 6



 Review CCG operational budgets 

 Review and discussion of monthly financial reports 

 Review and discussion of key areas of spend e.g. continuing healthcare 

 QIPP plan updates 

 CSU performance reports 

 IT updates 

 Estates work programme updates 

 Workforce reports 

 Prescribing updates 

 HR policies - approval 

Joint QIPP and Financial Recovery Committee 

The principal function of the committee is to monitor progress on the implementation and benefit 

realisation of the CCGs QIPP plans, providing assurances to the Governing Body that the CCG 

is on track to achieve its QIPP targets. 

Clinical QIPP Advisory Group 

This group is responsible for providing clinical advice in respect of the development of all QIPP 

schemes and makes recommendations to the Joint QIPP Committee. The group is not decision 

making, but advisory in its capacity. 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

The Committee was established in April 2019 to enable members to make collective decisions 

on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in South Sefton under 

delegated authority from NHS England. The role of the committee is to carry out the functions 

relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act. The 

Committee has a “committees in common” arrangement with NHS Southport and Formby CCG.  

However, each respective committee remains accountable for decisions pertaining to their 

relevant CCG.   

In respect of 2019-2020, key items of note are: 

 Review of primary care finances and risk register 

 7 Day Access Contract 

 Primary Care Network updates 

Page 95 of 174
Page 315

Agenda Item 6



Governing Body Members - Committee Attendance 2019 - 2020 

*Graham Morris: stepped down end of June 2019.  Remuneration Committee member however no Remuneration Committee meetings held during this time.
*Alan Sharples:  appointed new Deputy Chair and Lay Member for Governance August 2019
*Lynne Creevy: resigned position as Practice Manager member September 2019

South Sefton CCG 
Governing Body Member 

Through 2019/20 

Governing
Body 
PTI 

Governing
Body 
PTII 

Approvals 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Clinical 
QIPP 

Advisory 
Group 

Finance & 
Resource 

Committee 

Joint QIPP 
and

Financial 
Recovery 

Committee 

Joint Quality 
and

Performance 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 

Committee 
PTI 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 

Committee 
PTII 

Remuneration
Committee 

Dr Craig Gillespie 5/5 7/7 X X 7/11 X X X 8/9 8/9 X 

*Graham Morris 2/2 2/2 X 2/2 X 1/1 X 1/1 2/3 2/3 0/0 

*Alan Sharples 3/3 5/5 1/1 2/2 X 6/7 X 6/7 5/6 5/6 2/2 

Director of Public Health
(Matthew Ashton)  
or deputy 

4/5 
X X X X X X X X X X 

Graham Bayliss 4/5 6/7 0/1 4/5 X 6/10 7/10 X 7/9 7/9 1 /2 

Dr Peter Chamberlain 4/5 7/7 X X X 4/10 X X X X X 

*Lynne Creevy 0/3 0/3 X X X X X X X X X 

*Debbie Fagan 1/1 1/1 X X 1/2 1/1 0/2 0/0 X X X 

Gina Halstead 4/5 5/7 X X X X 7/10 X X X X 

*Dwayne Johnson 0/1 X X X X X X X X X X 

Maureen Kelly 3/5 X X X X X X X X (Diane Blair 2/9) X X 

Director of Social Service
and Health or deputy 

0/4 X X X X X X X X X X 

*Jane Lunt 1/2 1 /4 1/1 X X X 4/5 X X X X 

Martin McDowell 5/5 6/7 1/1 X 9/11 
(deputy) 

9/10 4/10 11/11 5/9 5/9 X 

*Brendan Prescott 2/2 2/2 X X 1/ 3 X 4/5 X X X X 

Dr Sunil Sapre 4/5 6/7 X X X 9/10 X X X X X 

Dr Jeff Simmonds 4/5 5/7 1/1 4/5 8/11 X 2/10 4/11 X X 2/2 

Fiona Taylor 5/5 7/7 1/1 X X Ex Officio 1/10 3/11 3/9 3/9 X 

*Dr John Wray 0/5 0/7 X X 3/11 3/10 X X X X X 

Page 96 of 174

P
age 316

A
genda Item

 6



*Debbie Fagan:  Seconded May 2019.  Deputy Chief Nurse covered by Brendan Prescott 
*Dwayne Johnson: stepped down May 2019 
*Jane Lunt appointed Interim Chief Nurse October 2019 
*Brendan Prescott:  covered Registered Nurse position until the appointment of Jane Lunt 
*John Wray:  There is a long standing conflicting commitment in relation to the role with NWAS emergency planning. 

 

 

 

 

Page 97 of 174

P
age 317

A
genda Item

 6



 

UK corporate governance code  

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 

Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not mandatory for 

public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice. This Governance Statement 

is intended to demonstrate the clinical commissioning group’s continued aspirations to comply 

with the principles set out in this code. 

Up to the date of this statement the CCG has continued to work towards full compliance with the 

code. 

Discharge of statutory functions 

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has 

reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 

confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements 

associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 

restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.  

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity 

to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 

eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide 

reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based 

on an on-going process designed to: 

 Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims 

and objectives 

 Prevent and deter risks from arising by ensuring there is sufficient resource and capacity 

to support the CCGs strategy and objectives 

 Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 

realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically 

The CCG has embedded processes in place to manage risks associated with service 

development or change.  Stakeholder mapping, quality impact and equality impact assessments 

are integral to developing plans for proposed change and to manage risks which may impact on 

those affected by change.   

Capacity to handle risk 

The Governing Body has developed and approved the corporate objectives, and the evaluation 

of the risks to achieving these objectives are set out in the Governing Body assurance 

framework which is regularly reviewed and scrutinised by the Leadership Team, Corporate 

Governance Support Group, Audit Committee and the Governing Body. The Governing Body 

Page 98 of 174
Page 318

Agenda Item 6



 

assurance framework is a key document, the purpose of which is to provide the Governing Body 

with ‘reasonable’ assurance that internal systems are functioning effectively. It is a high level 

document that is used to inform and give assurance to the Governing Body that the risks to 

achieving key objectives are recognised and that controls are in place or being developed to 

manage these risks. 

The senior management team has responsibility for ensuring that all objectives are 

appropriately resourced to secure delivery and to mitigate risks to delivery arising. 

To ensure that there are effective controls in place to deter and prevent fraud the CCG has 

appointed an anti-fraud specialist (AFS), the service is provided by Mersey Internal Audit 

Agency (MIAA). The AFS undertakes an approved programme of work with the CCG ensuring 

that there are appropriate controls and mechanisms in place. 

Risk management framework 

The CCG has adopted the risk management framework described in the NHS Executives 

Controls Assurance risk management standard. This draws on the main components of risk 

strategy, that is risk identification, risk analysis, evaluation and prioritisation and risk treatment. 

 

Risk assessment 

Risks are rated, and controls that will address these risks are identified, gaps in control or 

assurance are noted and action plans to close gaps summarised and updated. Potential and 

actual sources of assurance are identified and the latter are also rated for the level of assurance 

provided. A summary of the assurance levels for all assurance framework entries is updated 

Page 99 of 174
Page 319

Agenda Item 6



 

each quarter and accompanies the full document. The corporate risk register provides the 

Governing Body with a summary of the principal risks facing the organisation, with a summary of 

the actions needed and being taken to reduce these risks to an acceptable level. The 

information contained in the corporate risk register should be sufficient to allow the Governing 

Body to be involved in prioritising and managing major risks. The risks described in the 

corporate risk register will be more wide-ranging than those in the Governing Body assurance 

framework, covering a number of domains. 

Where risks to achieving organisational objectives are identified in the corporate risk register 

these are added to the Governing Body assurance framework; and where gaps in control are 

identified in the Governing Body assurance framework, these risks are added to the corporate 

risk register. The two documents thus work together to provide the Governing Body with 

assurance and action plans on risk management in the organisation. The corporate risk register 

is updated and presented for review and scrutiny at the same time as the Governing Body 

assurance framework. 

The CCG commissions a range of training programmes which include specific mandatory 

training for particular staff groups which aims to minimise the risks inherent in their daily work.  

Information governance, counter fraud, fire, health and safety, equality and diversity and 

safeguarding training are mandatory training requirements for all staff. 

To ensure that there is a mechanism for public stakeholders to assist in the management of 

risks that impact on the public, the CCG has established an Engagement and Patient 

Experience Group (EPEG). This group reviews proposals for service change ensuring 

compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and other relevant laws before progressing 

further with consultation. 

The CCG also consults with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on any proposals potentially 

impacting on the public so that there is holistic and system wide assessment and mitigation of 

risks. 

Other sources of assurance internal control framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 

commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to 

identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 

impact should they be realised, and to manage them, efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. 

  

Page 100 of 174
Page 320

Agenda Item 6



 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 

The statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2016) 

requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To 

support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published an audit framework. 

The internal audit plan includes an element of time to facilitate the annual review of conflicts of 

interest management. 

This has been completed as part of the internal audit plan for 2019-2020.  The CCG has been 

assessed as fully compliant in each of the following areas: 

 Governance Arrangements 

 Declaration of interests and gifts and hospitality 

 Register of interests, gifts and contract monitoring 

 Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/ non-compliance.  

Data quality 

Data services are provided by a specialist centre known as “Data Services for Commissioners 

Regional Offices” (DSCRO).  These services are commissioned through Arden & Gem CSU that 

process and quality assures that data that is received from providers and works with the CCG to 

challenge providers if inconsistencies are identified. DSCROs are regional processing centres 

for NHS Digital who are granted powers by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to lawfully 

process patient identifiable information. 

Midlands and Lancashire CSU is commissioned to provide the CCG with inter alia, performance 

reports, contract monitoring reports, quality dashboards and other activity and performance 

data. 

The CCG’s business intelligence team also assess the quality of the data provided and ensure 

that concerns are addressed through the provider information sub group meetings. 

These processes provide assurances that the quality of the data upon which the membership 

and Governing Body rely is robust. 

Information Governance 

All key information assets have been identified by the asset owners on an information asset 

register. The data security and confidentiality risks to each asset have been identified and 

control implemented to mitigate risks. 

The risks to the physical information assets are minimal, and pose no significant information 

governance concern for the CCG. 

All inbound and outbound flows of data have been identified through a data flow mapping tool. 

All data flows are being transferred appropriately. 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the 

NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable 

information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security and 

Protection Toolkit (DSPT) (replaces the Information Governance Toolkit) and the annual 

Page 101 of 174
Page 321

Agenda Item 6



 

submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other 

organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 

efficiently and effectively.   

We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems 

and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have established 

an information governance management framework and have developed information 

governance policies and procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. We 

have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and have implemented 

a staff information handbook which contains information to ensure staff awareness of their roles 

and responsibilities. 

The chief finance officer is the CCG’s senior information risk owner (SIRO) and the chief nurse 

and quality officer is the CCG’s Caldicott Guardian. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and the investigation of serious incidents. 

Information risk assessment and management procedures are in place and we continue to work 

to ensure that a risk culture remains fully embedded throughout the organisation against 

identified risks. 

Business critical models 

Officers of the CCG have reviewed the Macpherson report to consider the implications for the 

CCG.  A report was provided to Audit Committee in April 2018 which provided assurance on 

CCG processes in place for business critical models.  

Our business critical models and processes have been identified as risk assurance and risk 

management, financial and resources control, contracting and procurement processes, policy 

planning, forecasting and commissioning of health services, quality assurance processes, 

business management and corporate processes and governance arrangements. 

During 2019-2020 internal audit completed reviews of budgetary control and commissioning for 

quality. They were issued with high and substantial opinions respectively. 

Third party assurances 

The CCG has delegated arrangements in place with providers external to the CCG for some 

services. Where the CCG relies on third party providers, assurance is requested to seek 

assurance on the effectiveness of controls and processes in place. This usually takes the form 

of service auditor reports. 

Pension obligations 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 

measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme 

regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s 

contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that 

member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales 

detailed in the regulations. Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the 

two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be 

found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.   

Page 102 of 174
Page 322

Agenda Item 6



 

A national issue has been identified whereby GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead roles have 

not been treated correctly for the purposes of pension.  These roles were considered to be non-

pensionable however following contract review it has come to light that these roles should have 

been subject to contributions.  Current GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead roles now attract 

pension deductions.  The CCG is working with Business Advisors to resolve the historical 

impact of this issue. 

Equality, diversity and human rights obligations 

Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with the 

required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010. 

Sustainable developments obligations 

The CCG will develop plans to assess risks, enhance performance and reduce its impact, 

including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This includes 

establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across policy 

development, business planning and in commissioning.  As accountable officer I will ensure the 

clinical commissioning group complies with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, 

including the Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 

Further details of how the CCG meets these obligations are contained in the ‘working 

sustainably’ section of the report. 

Risk assessment in relation to governance, risk management and 

internal control  

NHS South Sefton CCG has a risk management strategy. The following key elements are 

contained within the strategy: 

 Aims and objectives 

 Roles, responsibilities and accountability 

 The risk management process – risk identification, risk assessment, risk treatment, 

monitoring and review, risk prevention 

 Risk grading – criteria 

 Training and support 

 

We have established a number of mechanisms for identifying and managing risks including risk 

profiling methodology, incident reporting, complaints and litigation data, and staff concerns or 

whistleblowing.  The CCG whistleblowing policy has been widely communicated across the 

organisation and the Chief Nurse is the dedicated Freedom to Speak Up Lead.   

Risk management and the ensuing development of risk registers is generally achieved using a 

dual ‘top-down’ and ‘bottom-up’ approach to identifying and managing risks. The ‘top-down’ 

element has been addressed through the development of a Governing Body assurance 

framework and corporate risk register identifying strategic high-level risks. These two 

documents are based on models which have previously been accepted as meeting audit 

requirements. 

 

Page 103 of 174
Page 323

Agenda Item 6



 

The key risk identified during 2019-2020 is: 

Risk description Key controls and assurances in place 

Financial performance of the CCG 
 

Mitigations scrutinised included – robust 
monthly management accounting routines, 
regular examination of outcomes from our 
quality innovation, productivity and prevention 
programme, monthly reporting against targets 
and restrictions on non-essential spending 

 

The financial performance risk crystallised during the year given the reported deficit and despite 

the controls and assurances that were put in place. Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential 

risks to the CCG operating licence and maintains a system of strong internal control and risk 

management. However no organisation can be complacent and the CCG recognises this and 

has taken steps during the year in a number of key areas to ensure that compliance with the 

operating licence is maintained and protected. 

Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above the CCG keeps under constant 

review the governance structures and committees that support the Governing Body in the 

discharge of its role and responsibilities. 

Performance information – during the year the integrated performance report which is presented 

formally to the Governing Body has been subject to regular review, refinement and further 

strengthening so as to fully meet the needs and requirements of the Governing Body and 

provide them with assurance as to compliance with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties.  

Page 104 of 174
Page 324

Agenda Item 6



 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 

resources 

The CCG seeks to gain best value through all of its contracting and procurement processes. 

The CCG has approved a scheme of delegation, prime financial policies and a schedule of 

financial limits that ensures there are proper controls in respect of expenditure. 

The agreed limits for quotation and tendering are detailed in those policies and staff are 

required to properly assess bids for services in accordance with the policies. 

The CCG buys procurement expertise and support from the Midlands and Lancashire CSU and 

this service is delivered by appropriately trained and accredited individuals. 

All newly acquired services are subject to robust assessment to ensure that patients are able to 

benefit from quality, value for money services. 

The Governing Body is informed by its committees on the economic, efficient and effective use 

of resources and in particular by the Audit Committee and the Finance and Resources 

Committee that oversees and directs the use of the CCG resources. In doing so Governing 

Body members benefit from the experience and skills of a strong and competent senior 

management team, who work within a strong framework of performance management.  

Through the CCG’s Joint QIPP Committee programmes of work are clinically led by Governing 

Body members and are evaluated to determine that they represent the best use of available 

resources. All programmes are supported by designated commissioning leads and a wider 

project management infrastructure. 

All significant investment decisions are subject to a rigorous assessment and prioritisation 

process that is applied in such a way as to determine the relative effectiveness of the proposal, 

including the impact upon key strategic outcomes and objectives. Use is also made of data and 

support from our public health colleagues in the local authority. 

Delegation of functions 

The CCG had delegated arrangements in place with providers external to the CCG for the 

following: 

 St Helens and Knowsley NHS Trust – payroll processing 

 NHS Shared Business Services – provision of transactional finance services 

 Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit –aspects of Continuing 

Healthcare (CHC), Individual Funding Requests (IFR) and Funded Nursing Care (FNC) 

reviews, Business Intelligence, Human Resources and Organisational Development, 

Medicines Management, Risk Management Corporate Governance and compliance 

 Informatics Merseyside that provides our information technology services and support 

 

During 2019-2020 any identified risks associated with delegated arrangements have been 

monitored through the CCG’s governance and risk management processes. The CCG has 

Page 105 of 174
Page 325

Agenda Item 6



 

monitored risks associated with these activities through periodic evaluation of relevant key 

performance indicators, regular attendance at local user groups and close partnership working. 

Counter fraud arrangements 

The CCG complies with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, 

Bribery and Corruption as found at the following link https://cfa.nhs.uk/counter-fraud-standard 

An accredited anti-fraud specialist is contracted via Mersey Internal Audit Agency to provide 

counter fraud services. The chief finance officer is the CCG executive Governing Body member. 

The anti-fraud specialist attends Audit Committee meetings, providing formal updates of 

progress against the annual counter fraud plan and programme of activities. The CCG performs 

a self-assessment of the NHS Counter Fraud Authority for Commissioners, the results of which 

are reported to Audit Committee.  

  

Page 106 of 174
Page 326

Agenda Item 6



 

Head of internal audit opinion 

The purpose of this Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to 

the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own 

assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control.  This Opinion 

will assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement (AGS), 

along with considerations or organisational performance, regulatory compliance, the wider 

operating environment and health and social care transformation.   

This opinion is provided in the context that the CCG like other organisations across the NHS is 

facing a number of challenging issues and wider organisational factors. 

Roles and Responsibilities 

The whole Governing Body is collectively accountable for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for gaining assurance about 

the effectiveness of that overall system. 

The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is an annual statement by the Accountable Officer, 

on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out: 

 how the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged with regard 

to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievements of 

policies, aims and objectives 

 the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the risk 

management and review processes, including the Assurance Framework process; and 

 the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control, including any disclosures of significant control failures together with assurances 

that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues arising. 

 

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence required to 

support the AGS requirements. 

 

In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) is 

required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 

governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control). This is achieved 

through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with management and approved by the Audit 

Committee, which can provide assurance, subject to the inherent limitations described below.  

The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks and assurances relating to 

the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans 

generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As such, it is one 

component that the Governing Body takes into account in making its AGS. 

  

Page 107 of 174
Page 327

Agenda Item 6



 

Opinion 

Our opinion is set out as follows: 

 Basis for the opinion 

 Overall opinion 

 Commentary 

 

Basis 

The basis for forming our opinion is as follows:  

 
Basis for the Opinion 

 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework 
and supporting processes. 

 

2. An assessment of the range of individual assurances arising from risk based internal audit 
assignments that have been reported throughout the period.  The assessment taken 
account of the relative materiality of systems reviewed and management’s progress in 
addressing control weaknesses identified.  

 

3. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations, and the 
extent to which they have been implemented. 

 

 

Overall Opinion 

Our overall opinion for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 is: 

 
Substantial Assurance can be given that there is a good system of internal control designed 
to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently.     

 
 

Commentary 

The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and together with the opinion 

should be read in its entirety. 

Our opinion covers the period 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020 inclusive, and is underpinned by 

the work conducted through the risk based internal audit plan.   

Assurance Framework 
The organisation’s Assurance Framework is structured to meet the NHS requirements, is 
visibly used by the Governing Body and clearly reflects the risks discussed by the Governing 
Body. 

 

Page 108 of 174
Page 328

Agenda Item 6



 

Conflicts of Interest 

As required by NHS England’s Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for 

CCGs (June 2017), an audit of conflicts of interest was completed following the prescribed 

framework issued by NHS England. The following compliance levels were assigned to each 

scope area: 

 

Scope Area Compliance Level RAG rating 

 
1. Governance Arrangements 
 

 
Fully Compliant 

 
 
 

2. Declarations of interests 
and gifts and hospitality 

 

Fully Compliant  

3. Register of interests, gifts 
and hospitality and 
procurement decisions 

 

Fully Compliant  

4. Decision making processes 
and contract monitoring 

Fully Compliant  

 
5. Reporting concerns and 

identifying and managing 
breaches / non compliance 

 

 
Fully Compliant 

 

 
Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting Arrangements 

 

The Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting Internal Audit Framework for 

Delegated CCGs was issued in August 2018. NHSE require an internal audit of delegated 

CCGs primary medical care commissioning arrangements. The purpose of this is to provide 

information to CCGs that they are discharging NHSE’s statutory primary medical care functions 

effectively, and in turn to provide aggregate assurance to NHSE and facilitate NHSE’s 

engagement with CCGs to support improvement. 

 

The 2019/20 Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting reviews focused upon: 

1. Governance and provided Substantial Assurance 

2. Contract Oversight & Management Functions and provided Substantial Assurance 

(Assurance ratings provided as per the NHSE guidance). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109 of 174
Page 329

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Risk Based Reviews 
We issued 
 

4 high assurance opinions  Accounts Payable 

 Accounts Receivable 

 Treasury Management 

 Budgetary Control 

2 substantial assurance opinions:  General Ledger 

 Commissioning for Quality 

0 moderate assurance opinions N/A 
 

0 limited assurance opinions N/A 
 

0 no assurance opinions N/A 
 

1 briefing note reports (no overall opinion)   Data Security & Protection Toolkit 
 
We raised no critical or high risk recommendations in respect of the above assignments. 

 

Follow Up 

During the course of the year we have undertaken follow up reviews and can conclude that 

the organisation has made good progress with regards to the implementation of 

recommendations. We will continue to track and follow up outstanding actions. 

 

Wider organisation context 

This opinion is provided in the context that the Governing Body like other organisations across 

the NHS is facing a number of challenging issues and wider organisational factors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NHS SOUTH 

SEFTON CCG 

Financial Sustainability  
 The CCG faces challenging 

issues in respect of financial 
performance and continues to 
take action to review the financial 
position. 

 The successful delivery of cost 
savings is a key focus for the 

Governing Body.   

Annual Assessment 
 The CCG was rated as ‘Requires 

Improvement’ by NHS England in 
its 18/19 annual assessment of 
performance against key 
performance indicators. The 
19/20 annual assessment 
awaiting publication. 

Provider Performance  
 The CCG has continued to 

regularly report providers’ 
performance against a range of 
targets.  The CCG’s primary 
provider has been challenged in 
year to meet some key targets.   

Leadership 
 Senior management within the 

CCG has been subject to some 
change during 2019/20 with a 
new Interim Chief Nurse being 
appointed. 

Page 110 of 174
Page 330

Agenda Item 6



 

The CCG is part of the Cheshire & Merseyside Health and Care Partnership, working in 

partnership to deliver transformation across the region. 

 

In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of internal audit 

(as set out in your Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and professional standards.  I also 

confirm organisational independence of the audit activity and that this has been free from 

interference in respect of scoping, delivery and reporting. 

 

 

Steve Connor  
Managing Director, MIAA 
March 2020    
  

Page 111 of 174
Page 331

Agenda Item 6



 

Internal Audit Reports issued in 2019-2020 

Review Assurance 
Opinion  

Recommendations Raised 
 

  Critical High Medium Low Total 

Assurance Framework 
 

N/A - - - - - 

Conflicts of Interest 
 

N/A - - - - - 

Primary Medical Care 
C&C: Governance 

Substantial – 
per NHSE 

- - 1 2 3 

Primary Medical Care 
C&C: Oversight 

Substantial – 
per NHSE 

- - 2 1 3 

Accounts Payable High - - - - - 

Accounts Receivable High - - - - - 

Treasury Management High - - - - - 

Budgetary Control High - - - - - 

General Ledger Substantial - - 1 - 1 

Commissioning for 
Quality 

Substantial - - 3 1 4 

Data Security & 
Protection 

Substantial - - - - - 

 
TOTAL 

  
- 

 
- 

 
7 

 
4 

 
11 

  

Page 112 of 174
Page 332

Agenda Item 6



Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 

internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning group

who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. 

I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 

comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports. Our 

assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage

risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing Body, the 

Audit Committee, Joint Quality Committee and the Finance and Resources Committee. If 

appropriate a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of systems has 

been put in place. 

The Governing Body received the minutes of all committees including the Audit Committee, 

Joint Quality Committee, Finance and Resources Committee, and Joint QIPP and Financial 

Recovery Committee. The Joint Quality Committee approves relevant policies following review 

and assessment by the Corporate Governance Support Group and the Audit Committee

monitors action plans arising from internal audit reviews. 

Internal audit is a key component of internal control.  The Audit Committee approves the internal 

audit plan, and progress against this plan is reported to each meeting of the committee. The 

individual reviews carried out throughout the year assist the head of internal audit to form his 

opinion, which in turn feeds the assurance process. 

Conclusion 

No significant internal control issues have been identified. This is confirmed by the head of 

internal audit opinion and also by the internal reviews that have provided the CCG with high or 

substantial assurance on the arrangements in place.  The report of the head of internal audit is 

attached to this governance statement. 

Fiona Taylor 

Accountable officer 

18 June 2020 

Page 113 of 174
Page 333

Agenda Item 6



 

Remuneration report 
 

Introduction 

 

Section 234B and Schedule 7A of The Companies Act, as interpreted for the public sector 

in the General Accounting Manual, requires NHS bodies to prepare a Remuneration 

Report containing information about directors’ remuneration.   

 

In the NHS, the report is prepared in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body.  

‘Senior Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority or 

responsibility for directing or controlling major activities of the NHS body.  This means 

those who influence the decisions of the Clinical Commissioning Group as a whole, rather 

than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’  For the purposes of this 

report, this includes the CCG’s Governing Body members. 

 

Remuneration Committee 

 

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee are approved by the Governing 

Body and contained within the CCG Constitution. The Constitution also sets out 

membership of the Remuneration Committee and is available on the CCG website.    

 

The CCG Remuneration Committee membership is made up Governing Body members 

from NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport & Formby CCG.  The committee is a joint 

Remuneration Committee due to the shared management relationship between the two 

CCGs. 

 

Name Title  December 2019 March 2020 

NHS Southport & Formby CCG 

Helen Nichols Chair and Governing Body Lay 

Member 
   

Gill Brown Governing Body Lay Member  

(left CCG in Nov 2019) 
 × ×

Dil Daly Governing Body Lay Member 

(joined CCG in Dec 2019) 
   

Dr Kati Scholtz GP Clinical Director 
   

Dr Jeff Simmonds Secondary Care Doctor 
   

NHS South Sefton CCG 

Graham Morris Chair and Governing Body Lay 

Member (left CCG in Jun 2019) 
 × ×

Alan Sharples Chair and Governing Body Lay 

Member (joined CCG in Aug 2019) 
   

Graham Bayliss Governing Body Lay Member     

Dr Jeff Simmonds Secondary Care Doctor  


 

 

 

 

 

Page 114 of 174
Page 334

Agenda Item 6



 

Policy on remuneration of senior managers 
 

Since the creation of CCGs there has been no mandated guidance on a standardised 

approach to senior manager remuneration for Clinical Commissioning Groups and as such 

the CCG continues to use the report commissioned by the Hay Group to provide guidance 

on the appropriate level of remuneration for Governing Body members and senior 

executives. 
 

NHS England’s Guidance (Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where the senior 

manager also undertakes the Chief Officer role and Chief Finance Officers) continues to be 

used as a reference for the remuneration of the Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer roles 

within the CCG. 
 

Both NHS England and the Hay Group guidance reviewed the pay and employment 

conditions of other employees in order to determine the framework for senior manager’s 

remuneration. The terms and conditions of service for all NHS staff, except very senior 

managers (VSMs) are nationally agreed by the NHS Staff Council. These terms and 

conditions include, pay and allowances; terms of employment such as leave and hours of 

working; the process for ensuring effective employee relations; and regulations with regard 

to equality and diversity. 
 

The performance of all senior managers is measured and assessed using our personal 

development review process which is also extended to all employees throughout the 

organisation. 
 

Pensions 
 

NHS staff pensions are covered separately under the NHS rules on superannuation; 

`however, individuals who are employed by the NHS automatically become a member of the 

NHS Pension Scheme. Membership is voluntary and individuals can currently opt not to join 

and leave the scheme at any time. 

 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 

The scheme is an unfunded, i.e. a defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, 

General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, 

in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable 

NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 

cost to the clinical commissioning group is taken as equal to the contributions payable to 

the scheme for the accounting period. Further information with regard to pension benefits 

can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsba.nhs.uk/pensions. 

 

In respect of early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension 

liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional 

costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself 

to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.  

 

The accounting policy relating to pension costs is described in the Notes on pages 140 to 

173 of the Financial Statements and pension liabilities existing at 31 March 2020 are 

disclosed within the Statement of Financial Position under other payables. 

Page 115 of 174
Page 335

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Under the Pensions Act 2008, every employer in the UK must put certain staff into a 

pension scheme and contribute towards it.  This is known as ‘automatic enrolment’.  In 

addition to the NHS Pension Scheme detailed above, the CCG operates a National 

Employment Savings Trust (NEST) pension scheme as an alternative qualifying scheme.  

The CCG has worked with the outsourced payroll provider throughout 2019-20 to ensure 

compliance with all legal duties.   

 

A national issue has been identified whereby GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead roles 

have not been treated correctly for the purposes of pension.  These roles were considered to 

be non-pensionable however following contract review it has come to light that these roles 

should have been subject to contributions.  Current GP Governing Body and Clinical Lead 

roles now attract pension deductions.  The CCG is working with Business Advisors to resolve 

the historical impact of this issue. 

 

Employer pension contributions have increased from 14.38% to 20.68% for the 2019-20 

financial year.  CCGs are required to separately account for employer contributions paid on 

their behalf by NHS England on a gross basis. The contributions paid on behalf of NHS South 

Sefton CCG has been accounted for as notional funding for commissioners.  

  

Page 116 of 174
Page 336

Agenda Item 6



Policy on senior manager’s service contracts 

Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject to a six 

month notice period. Governing Body members, excluding Chief Officer, Chief Finance 

Officer and Chief Nurse, are Office Holders. 

All other members of staff are covered by Agenda for Change contracts of employment with

contractual entitlements in line with the national NHS Terms and Conditions of Service as

negotiated by the NHS Staff Council. 

Contracts are compliant with both UK and EU legislation and approved by the CCG’s 

Remuneration Committee. Any future amendments to these contracts or the remuneration

associated with them are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and recommended to

the Governing Body for approval on an annual basis.  Where required the Committee has

access to professional advice from the MLCSU HR team and CCG legal advisers, Hill 

Dickinson LLP. 

The CCG does not have any very senior managers paid in excess of £150,000 per annum. 

Senior manager remuneration subject to audit

The table below sets out the salaries and allowances we have paid, or that are payable to

our senior managers in 2019-2020: 

Name Title Salary

Expense 

payments 

(taxable)

Performance 

pay and 

bonuses

Long term 

performance pay 

and bonuses

All pension 

relates 

benefits

2019/20 2018/19

(Bands of 

£5,000)

(Rounded to the 

nearest £100)

£

(Bands of 

£5,000)
(Bands of £5,000)

(Bands of 

£2,500)

(Bands 

of 

£5,000)

(Bands 

of 

£5,000)

Taylor FL Chief Officer 65 - 70 2,300 - - 7.5 - 10 75 - 80 70 - 75

McDowell M

Chief Finance Officer / 

Deputy Chief Officer 50 - 55
2,300 - - 7.5 - 10 60 - 65 60 - 65

Fagan DC*** Chief Nurse 5 - 10 - - - 0 - 2.5 5 - 10 55 - 60

Lunt J*** Interim Chief Nurse 15 - 20 - - - 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 0 - 0

Mimnagh A* Chair 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 10 - 15

Gillespie C

Chair & GP Clinical 

Director 30 - 35
- - - - 

30  -35 20 - 25

Wray J**

Clinical Vice Chair & GP 

Clinical Director 45 - 50
- - - - 

45 - 50 45 - 50

Sinha R* GP Clinical Director 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 15 - 20

Chamberlain PJ** GP Clinical Director 50 - 55 - - - - 50 - 55 50 - 55

Sapre S GP Clinical Director 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 15 - 20

Halstead G** GP Clinical Director 35 - 40 - - - - 35 - 40 30 - 35

Simmonds J Secondary Care Doctor 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15 10 - 15

Morris GL

Deputy Chair & Lay 

member - Governance 0 - 5
- - - - 

0 - 5 10 - 15

Sharples A

Deputy Chair & Lay 

member - Governance 5 - 10
- - - - 

5 - 10 0 - 0

Bayliss G

Lay member - 

Engagement and 

Patient Exerience 5 - 10

- - - - 

5 - 10 5 - 10

Creevy L Practice Manager 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 0 - 5

Page 117 of 174
Page 337

Agenda Item 6



*These members ceased tenure and have been included for reference to prior year figures.

** Total paid in 2018/19 and 2019/20 includes payments for additional clinical roles and 

duties performed by members.  

*** The Chief Nurse vacated post on 13 May 2019.  The Interim Chief Nurse was appointed 

on 1 October 2019  

Payments reflect the role in carrying out Governing Body duties. In addition, payments were 

made to the individuals highlighted to reflect the additional clinical roles and duties performed by 

GP Governing Body members.   

We have a joint management arrangement with neighbouring NHS Southport & Formby CCG. 

The chief officer (Fiona Taylor) and chief finance officer (Martin McDowell) receive

remuneration for undertaking these roles for both CCGs. Their total banded remuneration from 

these roles is: 

 Fiona Taylor £130,000 to £135,000 and £17,500 to £20,000 all pension related benefits

 Martin McDowell £105,000 to £110,000 and £15,000 to £17,500 all pension

related benefits

The joint management arrangement with NHS Southport and Formby CCG is also in 

operation for the chief nurse post.  During the year the chief nurse (Debbie Fagan) was 

seconded to Programme Director Unplanned and Emergency Care at Southport & 

Ormskirk NHS Trust and therefore her banded remuneration for her time in post is: 

 Debbie Fagan £15,000 to £20,000 and £0 to £2,500 all pension related

benefits

The chief nurse position was taken up on an interim basis by Jane Lunt, chief nurse from 

NHS Liverpool CCG, from 1 October 2019. 

The total remuneration of the chief officer and chief finance officer includes a 20% supplement 

on their basic salary paid in accordance with NHS England guidance and agreed by our 

Remuneration Committee to recognise the joint roles that they undertake, as officers covering 

two CCGs. They hold the same positions with NHS Southport and Formby CCG. 

Page 118 of 174
Page 338

Agenda Item 6



Pension benefits subject to audit

Name Title 

Real increase 
in pension at 
age 60 

Real increase 
in pension
lump sum at 
age 60 

Total accrued 
pension at age 60 at 
31 March 2020 

Lump sum at 
age 60 
related to
accrued
pension at 31 
March 2020 

Cash
equivalent 
transfer value
at 1 April 2019 

Cash
equivalent 
transfer value
at 1 April 
2020 

Real increase 
in cash 
equivalent 
transfer value 

Employers 
contribution to
partnership 
pension 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) (bands of £5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Taylor FL Chief Officer  0-2.5 -    60-65  175-180 1,321 1,408 55 -   

McDowell M 
Chief Finance Officer / 
Deputy Chief Officer  0-2.5 -    35-40  80-85 597 649 37 -   

Fagan DC Chief Nurse*  0-2.5  0-2.5  40-45  95-100 663 703 6 -   

Lunt J Interim Chief Nurse**  0-2.5 -    60-65 110-115 1,048 1,093 10 -   

*Seconded to Programme Director Unplanned and Emergency Care at Southport & Ormskirk NHS Trust on 13 May 2019

**In post from 1 October 2019

The information in the table above for our chief officer (Fiona Taylor), chief finance officer (Martin McDowell) and chief nurse (Debbie

Fagan) relates to their total pension benefits arising from their joint management roles in NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport & 

Formby CCG.   

The information in the table above for interim chief nurse (Jane Lunt) relates to her total pension benefits arising from her joint

management roles in NHS Liverpool CCG, NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport and Formby CCG. 

Certain members do not receive pensionable remuneration therefore there will be no entries in respect of pensions for certain members. 

In April 2015 there were reforms to public service pension schemes (firefighters, judges, member of the armed forces, NHS staff, teachers and
civil servants).  This moved employees from final salary schemes to career average schemes with retirement age equal to state pension age.   

For the NHS, this meant the introduction of the 2015 scheme with protected members remaining in their existing section of the 1995/ 2008 
scheme.  The Court of Appeal ruled on the 20th December 2018 that this protection amounts to direct unlawful discrimination on age grounds.  
This judgement is referred to as the McCloud judgement   Pension benefits and related cash equivalent transfer values do not allow for a potential 
adjustment arising from the McCloud judgement.   

Page 119 of 174

P
age 339

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 

valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 

beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.  

 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 

chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown 

relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 

membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which 

disclosure applies.  

 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 

another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 

scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 

of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 

Faculty of Actuaries. 
 

Real increase in CETV 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including 

the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement). 

 

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office subject to audit 

During 2019-2020 the CCG has not made any payments for loss of office. 

 

Payments to past members subject to audit 

During 2019-2020 the CCG has not made any payments to any past senior managers. 
 

Pay multiples subject to audit 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 

 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member of the Governing Body in NHS 
South Sefton CCG in the financial year 2019-2020 was £62,500 (2018-2019: £62,500). 

 
This was 2.97 times (2018-2019: 3.54) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£21,039 (2018-2019: £17,648). 

 
In 2019-2020, no employees (2018-2019: 0) received remuneration in excess of the highest 
paid member of the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £0 to £5,000 (2018-2019: 
£0 to £5,000) to £60,000 to £65,0000 (2018-2019: £60,000 to £65,000). 

 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefits 

Page 120 of 174
Page 340

Agenda Item 6



 

 

in kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the 
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions 

 
The pay multiple calculation has been amended to reflect the overall charge to the 

organisation rather than the shared cost with NHS Southport & Formby CCG due to the joint 

management arrangements in place; this is in line with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-

2020.

Page 121 of 174
Page 341

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Staff report 
 
Our staff and members are our greatest asset. To ensure we remain to be an effective 

and innovative organisation into the future, we must continually support our members and 

staff to grow and develop their knowledge and skills in line with the latest developments in 

healthcare and technologies.  Our refreshed organisational development plan highlights 

five priority areas for actions that we have been progressing over the last twelve months. 

These are:- 

 

1. Integrated care in localities 
 

2. Commissioning capacity and capability 
 

3. Programme management approach for delivery of QIPP and transformation 
 

4. System leadership, team and talent management 
 

5. Public engagement and partnership working for transformation 
 

Here are some examples of how we have developed this work to support our 
membership and workforce: 

 

Our Governing Body 
 
Our Governing Body participates in a development session every other month which 

provides an opportunity for reflection on national and local developments to inform our 

strategy and how it is delivered. Governing Body members have also been able to access 

a range of personal development opportunities, with some members participating in 

national development programmes or network events with other CCGs. 
 

Our members 
 
Our member practices are supported to carry out their commissioning responsibilities in a 

number of different ways. 
 
 Continuing professional development sessions are regularly organised for 

clinical staff and these are called Protected Learning Time (PLT) events. The 

CCG also supports monthly “in-house” sessions, which enables all GP 

practices to hold individual educational and practice training events. 

 Regular meetings of local groups of practices in ‘localities’ enable key issues 

relating to local services to be raised and discussed, so that the Governing 

Body and lead commissioners are kept informed in order to influence 

commissioning decisions. 

 Our nurse facilitators support the development and access to education, 

training and mentoring for practice nurses and healthcare assistants and the 

CCG became one of the first in the county to host student nurse placements 

 We hold quarterly membership meetings where practices come together to 

discuss wider CCG work and initiatives to improve patient care 

 A weekly e-bulletin provides members with updates on CCG work, along 

with relevant national publications and development opportunities 

Page 122 of 174
Page 342

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 An intranet site provides a wide range of information designed to support our 

members, which we are continuing to update  regularly based on member’s 

feedback 

 

Staff numbers and costs subject to audit 

 

At the end of March 2020 we employed 148 people (68 whole time equivalents) to help 

us carry out our work. This includes commissioning and medicines management 

professionals, doctors, nurses and administration and support staff. The majority of our 

staff work jointly with NHS Southport & Formby CCG through our shared management 

team arrangements.  

 

Permanent 
Employees 

                                            £’000 

    Other  
Employees 
    £’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Salaries & Wages          2,635              352    2,987 

Social Security 
Costs 

            606 -        606 

Employer  
Contributions to 
NHS Pension 
Scheme 

           1,027 - 1,027 

Other Pension 
Costs 

   1 -       1 

Apprenticeship 
Levy 

 15 -               15 

Total            4,284            352   4,636 

 
Permanent 

 
    Other  
 

Total 
 

Administration and estates staff 42 4 46 

Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting staff 

  3 -   3 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical 
staff 

19              -          19 

Total                 64        4        68 

 

Staff composition 
 

Governing 
Body 

Very Senior 
Managers 

Other 
employees 

Total 

Male   8 1 37 48 

Female   3 1 98  100 

Total                    11 2           135        148 
 

Page 123 of 174
Page 343

Agenda Item 6



 

 

There are two very senior managers (according to definition within the Group 

Accounting Manual) who were included in the membership of the CCG Governing Body. 

Our staff also continues to access a broad range of development programmes relevant 

to their roles to assist them in their day-to-day work: 
 

 We are committed to being a fair and equal employer and our workplace policies 

are in line with all relevant equality, diversity and human rights legislation to 

ensure none of our staff are disadvantaged by our working, training or recruiting 

processes.  More information on equality and diversity can be found on page 65. 

 We meet regularly to discuss business and performance, and to share ideas and 

innovation. During 2019-2020, we once again held our annual CCG Away Day 

which encompassed a staff awards ceremony, providing a great opportunity to 

celebrate some great individual and team achievements. 

 We ensure our staff have the resources and development opportunities to help 

them carry out their day to day work, including support to complete essential 

core training requirements, holding annual personal development reviews, 

promoting and providing staff support and occupational health services focusing 

on health and wellbeing, as well as ensuring easy access to information through 

our intranet. 

 Following a successful grant application to the North West Leadership Academy 

we have begun to refresh our approach to personal development planning, 

ensuring staff know how to lead an excellent development conversation and can 

facilitate access to a range of flexible opportunities to help staff develop. 

 We have launched a new dedicated monthly e-bulletin as a result of staff 

views gained through a review of our existing communications channels 

 In 2019-2020 we participated in the national NHS Staff Survey, which reported 

very pleasing results with the vast majority of responses demonstrating higher 

scores that the national average. Lessons learned continue to inform our 

organisational development planning. 
 

Sickness absence rates 
 

Rates of sickness absence in our organisation are low. Our annual rolling sickness 

absence at the end of February 2020, the latest available data, was 2.10%.  We have 

policies in place that set out how we manage and support staff through periods of illness 

or other types of leave. 

 
Disabled employees 

 
We ensure our disabled staff are treated equally, without discrimination and shown 

due regard. More information can be found on page 67. 
 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 
 
Under regulations that came into force on 1 April 2017, certain public sector organisations 
are required to report information in relation to Trade Union activities and the cost of any 
facility time in connection with these activities. 
 
The CCG had no relevant union officials during the year ended 31 March 2020 and 
consequently the CCG can confirm the following: 

Page 124 of 174
Page 344

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 There were no employees who were relevant union officials 

 The percentage time spent on facility time was nil 

 The percentage of the paybill spent on facility time was nil 

 No hours were spent on paid Trade Union activities by relevant officials in the 
period 

 
Staff Partnership Forum 

 
We acknowledge that the effective and productive conduct of employee relations 

benefits significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an 

active role in partnership working. In support of this, we have a recognition agreement 

with trade unions and staff side representatives and actively participate in the Cheshire 

& Merseyside Staff Partnership Forum which aims to identify and facilitate the 

workforce and employment aspects of the NHS locally in developing arrangements to 

implement required changes which may affect the workforce. The Staff Partnership 

Forum is the main body for actively engaging, consulting and negotiating with key staff 

side stakeholders.  

 

The forum is authorised to agree, revise and review policies and procedures which 

may relate to changes in employment legislation and regulation and the terms and 

conditions of employment affecting our staff covered by the national Agenda for 

Change Terms and Conditions.  

 

Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum during this period were 

subsequently ratified by the Finance & Resource Committee or Quality Committee 

which are both sub- committees of the Governing Body. 

 

Expenditure on consultancy 
 

During 2019-2020 the CCG spent £541k on consultancy services.  The majority of 

this was incurred on consultancy services to develop the CCG’s Transformation 

Plan. 

 
  

Page 125 of 174
Page 345

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 

 

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that 

last longer than six months:  
 

The number that have existed: Number 

 

 For less than one year at the time of reporting - 

 For between one and two years at the time of reporting - 

 For between two and three years at the time of reporting - 

 For between three and four years at the time of reporting - 

 For four or more years at the time of reporting 1 

 
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020 

 
1 

 
 

All existing off payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to 

a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is 

paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 
 
 
 

New off-payroll engagements 

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more 

than £245 per day and that last longer than six months: 

Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 

2 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the clinical 
commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and 
National Insurance obligations 

- 

 

 Assessed as caught by IR35 - 

 Assessed as not caught by IR35 2 

 Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the 

 Departmental payroll 

- 

 Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes  

 during the year 

    - 

 Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the 

 consistency review 

- 

 
  

Page 126 of 174
Page 346

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with significant 

financial responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020: 

Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 
deemed “board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility”, during the financial year.  This figure should include both off-
payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

14 

 
  

Page 127 of 174
Page 347

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments subject to audit 
 

Exit Packages  

Exit package 

cost band (inc. 

any special 

payment 

element 

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 

compulsory 

redundancies 

 

Number of 

other 

departures 

agreed 

Cost of other 

departures 

agreed 

 

Total number 

of exit 

packages 

Total cost of exit 

packages 

 

 

Number of 

departures 

where special 

payments have 

been made 

Cost of special 

payment element 

included in exit 

packages 

 

 Number £ Number £ Number £ Number £ 

         

Less than 
£10,000 

- - - - - - - - 

£10,000 - £25,000 - - - - - - - - 

£25,001 - £50,000 - - - - - - - - 

£50,001 - 
£100,000 

- - - - - - - - 

£100,001 - 
£150,000 

- - - - - - - - 

£150,001 –
£200,000 

- - - - - - - - 

>£200,000 - - - - - - - - 

TOTALS - - - - - - - - 

There were no redundancy or exit costs for NHS South Sefton CCG during 2019-2020 

Page 128 of 174

P
age 348

A
genda Item

 6



Analysis of Other Departures 

Agreements Total Value of agreements 

Number £’000 

Voluntary redundancies including early 
retirement contractual costs 

- - 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) 
contractual costs 

- - 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the 
service contractual costs 

- - 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice - - 

Exit payments following Employment 
Tribunals or court orders 

- - 

Non-contractual payments requiring 
HMT approval** 

- - 

TOTAL - - 

There were no costs of other departures for NHS South Sefton CCG during 2019-2020 

Fiona Taylor 

Accountable Officer 

18 June 2020 

Page 129 of 174
Page 349

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Parliamentary accountability and audit report 

NHS South Sefton CCG is not required to produce a parliamentary accountability and audit 

report.  Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts and 

fees and charges are included as notes in the financial statements of this report on page 

136.  An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 131. 

  

Page 130 of 174
Page 350

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS 

South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (the 

‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net 

Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 

Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group 

Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its 

expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of 

Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 

2012. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of 

the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit  

Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant 

uncertainties, including those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic 

uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of 

estimates made by the Accountable Officer and the related disclosures and the appropriateness of 

the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of these depend on 

assessments of the future economic environment and the CCG’s future operational arrangements. 

Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and 

at the date of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full 

range of possible outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide 

approach in response to these uncertainties when assessing the CCG’s future operational 

arrangements. However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible 

future implications for an entity associated with these particular events. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require 

us to report to you where: 

Page 131 of 174
Page 351

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of 

the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the 

going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when 

the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set 

out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the 

CCG’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks 

associated with the CCG’s operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic 

uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. We analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s 

financial resources or ability to continue operations over the period of at least twelve months from the 

date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. In accordance with the above, we have 

nothing to report in these respects.  

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in 

outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the 

absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG 

will continue in operation. 

Other information 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 

the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 

required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 

material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that 

fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf of the 

Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the 

Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board 

or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not 

required to consider whether the Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks 

are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.       

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion:  

 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 

Page 132 of 174
Page 352

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the 

requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012;  and 

 

 based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our 

knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information 

published together with the financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Qualified opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion on 

regularity section of our report, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the 

financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 

transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Basis for qualified opinion on regularity 

The CCG reported expenditure of £295.9 million against income of £287.0 million and a deficit of £8.9 

million in its financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2020. The CCG thereby breached two 

of its duties under the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraphs 223H and 223I 

of section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to ensure that annual expenditure does not 

exceed income and revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified by direction of the 

NHS Commissioning Board, otherwise known as NHS England. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG,  or an officer of the 

CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body 

incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action 

which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; 

or 

 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 27th May 2020 we referred two 

matters to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in 

relation to NHS South Sefton CCG’s breach of its revenue resource limit and its annual expenditure 

exceeding income for the year ending 31 March 2020.  

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the 

financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities set out on pages 84 

to 85, the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the 

form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and 

fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national 

Page 133 of 174
Page 353

Agenda Item 6



 

 

body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector 

entity. 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the 

financial statements. 

The Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are 

responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 

forms part of our auditor’s report. 

We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the 

financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Qualified conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General 

in April 2020, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified conclusion 

section of our report, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS South Sefton CCG put in 

place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

for the year ended 31 March 2020. 

Basis for qualified conclusion 

Our review of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources identified the following matter: 

During the year, the CCG's financial position deteriorated unexpectedly, and it was unable to recover 

the position by the year-end, incurring a deficit of £8.9 million. The main reason for the deterioration in 

the financial position was that the CCG planned to make savings of £14 million for the year but was 

only able to deliver £4.9 million of these savings. The CCG had only identified £4.1 million of savings 

plans at the start of the financial year and was unable to make the further savings required for it to 

deliver its planned surplus of £1 million.  

This matter identifies weaknesses in the CCG's arrangements for setting a sustainable budget with 

sufficient capacity to absorb emerging cost pressures. This matter is evidence of weaknesses in 

proper arrangements for sustainable resource deployment in planning finances effectively to support 

the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory functions.  

 

 

Page 134 of 174
Page 354

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 
resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been 
able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to 
whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 
taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that 
necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the 
CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by exception where we are not 
satisfied.    
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS South Sefton Clinical 
Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in 
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the 
members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

 
Joanne Brown  

 
Joanne Brown, Key Audit Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 
Glasgow 
24 June 2020 
 

 

 

  

Page 135 of 174
Page 355

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended     

31 March 2020         

          

    2019-20   2018-19 

  Note £'000   £'000 

          

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (2,872)   (4,542) 

Other operating income 2 -   - 

Total operating income   (2,872)   (4,542) 

          

Staff costs 4 4,636   3,375 

Purchase of goods and services 5 289,703   251,590 

Depreciation and impairment charges 5 40   39 

Provision expense 5 -   (200) 

Other Operating Expenditure 5 239   255 

Total operating expenditure   294,618   255,058 

          

Net Operating Expenditure   291,747   250,516 

          

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year   291,747   250,516 

 

  

Page 136 of 174
Page 356

Agenda Item 6



Statement of Financial Position as at 

31 March 2020 

2019-20 2018-19 

Note £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets: 

Property, plant and equipment 8 76 116 

Total non-current assets 76 116 

 Current assets: 
 Trade and other receivables 9 3,069 3,709 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 16 136 

Total current assets 3,085 3,845 

 Total assets 3,161 3,961 

   Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 11 (16,595) (14,656) 
Total current liabilities (16,595) (14,656) 

Assets less Liabilities (13,434) (10,694) 

   Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity 

General fund (13,434) (10,694) 

Total taxpayers' equity: (13,434) (10,694) 

The notes on pages 141 to 173 form part of this statement. 

The financial statements on pages 136 to 140 were approved by the Governing Body on 18 

June 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

Fiona Taylor 

Chief Accountable Officer 

18 June 2020 

Page 137 of 174
Page 357

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 
     31 March 2020 

        

  

General 
fund 

 

Revaluation 
reserve 

 

Other 
reserves 

 

Total 
reserves 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20 
        

         Balance at 01 April 2019 
 

(10,694) 
 

                 -    
 

             -    
 

(10,694) 

Transfer between reserves in respect of 
assets transferred from closed NHS bodies 

 
                -    

 
                 -    

 
             -    

 
                -    

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group balance at 31 March 2019 

 
(10,694) 

 
                 -    

 
             -    

 
(10,694) 

         Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20 

        Net operating expenditure for the financial 
year 

 
(291,747) 

     
(291,747) 

         Net Recognised NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year 

 
(291,747) 

 
                 -    

 
             -    

 
(291,747) 

Net funding 
 

289,007 
 

                 -    
 

             -    
 

289,007 

Balance at 31 March 2020 
 

(13,434) 
 

                 -    
 

             -    
 

(13,434) 

 

  

Page 138 of 174

P
age 358

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

  

General 
fund 

 

Revaluation 
reserve 

 

Other 
reserves 

 

Total 
reserves 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 
        

         Balance at 01 April 2018 
 

(11,942) 
 

                 -    
 

             -    
 

(11,942) 
Transfer of assets and liabilities from 
closed NHS bodies 

 
                -    

 
                 -    

 
             -    

 
                -    

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group balance at 31 March 2019 

 
(11,942) 

 
                 -    

 
             -    

 
(11,942) 

         Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 

        Net operating costs for the financial year 
 

(250,516) 
     

(250,516) 

         
Net Recognised NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group Expenditure for 
the Financial  Year 

 
(250,516) 

 
                 -    

 
             -    

 
(250,516) 

Net funding 
 

251,764 
 

                 -    
 

             -    
 

251,764 

Balance at 31 March 2019 
 

(10,694) 
 

                 -    
 

             -    
 

(10,694) 

  

Page 139 of 174

P
age 359

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 
  

  
 31 March 2020 

  
  

 

  
2019-20   2018-19 

 
Note £'000   £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
 

      

Net operating expenditure for the financial year 
 

(291,747)   (250,516) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5 40   39 

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 640   (1,771) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 1,939   755 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12                 -      (200) 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities 
 

(289,128)   (251,693) 

  
      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 

      

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 
 

                -      (40) 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 
 

                -      (40) 

  
      

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing 
 

(289,128)   (251,733) 

  
      

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
 

      

Grant in Aid Funding Received 
 

289,007   251,764 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 
 

289,007   251,764 

  
      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 (120)   31 

  
      

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 
Financial Year 

 
136   105 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash 
and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies 

 
                -                      -    

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank 
overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 

 
16   136 

 

The notes on pages 141 to 173 form part of this statement. 

  

Page 140 of 174
Page 360

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

1 Accounting Policies 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups 

shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the 

Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by 

the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group 

Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they 

are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM 

Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 

Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is 

judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning 

group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies 

adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied 

consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis despite the issue of a report 

to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 

provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 

provision for that service in published documents 

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 

services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) 

in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial 

statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on 

the going concern basis. 

Covid-19 is a material uncertainty however in the case of the CCG, the Chancellor’s 

statement in the Budget 2020 provided confirmation of NHS funding throughout this 

pandemic.  Therefore Covid-19 does not affect the CCG as a going concern. 

1.2  Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 

account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 

and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Pooled Budgets 

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Sefton 

Metropolitan Borough Council in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the 

arrangement, funds are pooled for: 

 Self-Care, Wellbeing and Prevention 

Page 141 of 174
Page 361

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Integrate Care at locality level building on Virtual Ward and Care Closer to Home 

initiatives 

 Intermediate Care and Re-ablement 

The pool is hosted by Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council.  The clinical commissioning 

group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 

activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement 

1.4 Operating Segments 

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in 

line with management information used within the clinical commissioning group. 

1.5  Revenue 

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have 

been employed. These are as follows; 

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not 

disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has 

an original expected duration of one year or less, 

• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where 

revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph 

B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with 

value of the performance completed to date. 

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) 

of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the 

aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application. 

The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This 

is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which 

it is received. 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations 

are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer and is measured at the 

amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation. 

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the 

following year, that income is deferred. 

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.  

The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds 

from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with 

IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an 

accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training 

expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 

 

 

 

Page 142 of 174
Page 362

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.6 Employee Benefits 

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the 

apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 

employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised 

in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave 

into the following period. 

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. 

These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 

Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England 

and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 

to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes 

are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical 

commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 

payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are 

not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged 

to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, 

regardless of the method of payment. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting 

valuation every year. 

1.7 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 

services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 

payable. 

1.8 Grants Payable 

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant 

recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning group recognises the expenditure in 

the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

1.9 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.9.1 Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be 

supplied to the clinical commissioning group; 

Page 143 of 174
Page 363

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 

 Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually 

have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, 

they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have 

simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

 Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward 

or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 

significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 

depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.9.2 Measurement 

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly 

attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at 

their current value in existing use.  Assets that were most recently held for their service 

potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions 

preventing access to the market at the reporting date. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not 

materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. 

Current values in existing use are determined as follows: 

 Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and, 

 Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost. 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at 

cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, 

which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 

value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are 

held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have 

short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially 

different from current value in existing use. 

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it 

reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which 

case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A 

revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential 

is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is 

a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses 

that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and 

losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

Page 144 of 174
Page 364

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

1.9.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the 

directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to 

its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the 

item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

1.9.4 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated. 

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of 

property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, 

over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic 

benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period 

over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service 

potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be 

shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values 

are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective 

basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 

and the estimated useful life. 

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any 

indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current 

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss 

and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 

annually. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service 

potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent 

that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. 

Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to 

expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the 

asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the 

amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The 

reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease 

previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 

1.10 Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the 

inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are 

Page 145 of 174
Page 365

Agenda Item 6



 

 

apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 

a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 

recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a 

reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on 

notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months 

or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 

overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical 

commissioning group’s cash management. 

1.12 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical 

commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 

period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using 

the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 

those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: 

Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 

negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms. All general provisions are subject to 

four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the 

Statement of Financial Position date: 

 A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial 

Position date. 

 A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the 

Statement of Financial Position date. 

 A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the 

Statement of Financial Position date. 

 A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted 

expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position 

date. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 

that reimbursements will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured 

reliably. 

Page 146 of 174
Page 366

Agenda Item 6



 

 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has 

developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in 

those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or 

announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring 

provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those 

amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-

going activities of the entity. 

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs 

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning 

group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical 

negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is 

administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with 

clinical commissioning group. 

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the 

Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical 

commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, 

receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, 

and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses 

as and when they become due. 

1.15 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a 

present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be 

required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 

sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is 

remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will 

be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is 

disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are 

disclosed at their present value. 

1.16 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the 

financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 

have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have 

expired, or the asset has been transferred. 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

Page 147 of 174
Page 367

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Financial assets at amortised cost; 

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and; 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the 

financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

1.16.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose 

objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are 

solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other 

simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life 

of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

1.16.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within 

a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest.  

1.16.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not 

otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.  

This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling 

in the short term. 

1.16.4 Impairment 

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning 

group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial 

asset. 

The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in 

accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease 

receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For 

other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected 

credit losses (stage 1). 

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 

impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of 

England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by 

primary legislation.  The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss 

allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally, 

Page 148 of 174
Page 368

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts 

of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not 

recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), 

expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the 

asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is 

recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.  

1.17 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical 

commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument 

or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial 

liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has 

been paid or has expired. 

1.17.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

 The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative 

amortisation; and, 

 The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with 

IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

1.17.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, 

and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are 

treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, 

with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s 

surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability. 

1.17.3 Other Financial Liabilities 

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and Social Care, 

which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of 

the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.18 Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, 

in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 

capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged, or input VAT is 

recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 

Page 149 of 174
Page 369

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.19 Losses & Special Payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when 

it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items 

that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 

compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which 

govern the way that individual cases are handled. 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure 

on an accrual’s basis, including losses which would have been made good through 

insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with 

insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

1.20 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is 

required to make various judgements, estimates and assumptions.  These are regularly 

reviewed.  

1.20.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies 

There have been no significant judgements made by management in the process of applying 

the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies. 

1.20.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

There are no assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 

uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS 

Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These Standards are still subject to 

HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21. 

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement 

contains a lease and other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods 

beginning 1 April 2021.  The standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, 

recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the statement of financial position for most 

leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients explained below. 

For those recognised in the statement of financial position the standard also requires the 

remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances after the commencement of the 

lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and 

the accounting will be largely unchanged. 

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will 

apply this definition to new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the 

old standards of whether existing contracts contain a lease. 

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2021, the CCG will apply the standard retrospectively 

with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and 

expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term 

Page 150 of 174
Page 370

Agenda Item 6



 

 

of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will 

be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on transition at 

the trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The trust’s incremental borrowing rate will be a rate 

defined by HM Treasury. Currently this rate is 1.27% but this may change between now and 

adoption of the standard. The related right of use asset will be measured equal to the lease 

liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments.  No adjustments will be made 

on 1 April 2021 for existing finance leases. 

For leases commencing in 2021/22, the CCG will not recognise a right of use asset or lease 

liability for short term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value 

assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a basis 

consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term. 

HM Treasury revised the implementation date for IFRS 16 in the UK public sector to 1 April 

2021 on 19 March 2020. Due to the need to reassess lease calculations, together with 

uncertainty on expected leasing activity from April 2021 and beyond, a quantification of the 

expected impact of applying the standard in 2021/22 is currently impracticable. However, the 

CCG does expect this standard to have a material impact on non-current assets, liabilities 

and depreciation.  

Page 151 of 174
Page 371

Agenda Item 6



 

 

2. Other Operating Revenue         

      2019-20   2018-19 

      Total   Total 

      £'000   £'000 

            

  Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)         

  Education, training and research   7   20 

  Non-patient care services to other bodies   2,033   4,168 

  Prescription fees and charges   146   264 

  Other Contract income   687   91 

  Total Income from sale of goods and services   2,872   4,542 

            

            

  Total Operating Income   2,872   4,542 

 

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn 

down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund. 

3.  Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts) 

                    
     

                         

  

    
Education, 

training and 
research 

  

Non-patient 
care 

services to 
other 

bodies 

  
Prescription 

fees and 
charges 

  
Other 

Contract 
income 

     

      £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 
     

  Source of Revenue               
     

  NHS    -   2,033   -   - 
     

  Non NHS   7   -   146   687 
     

  Total   7   2,033   146   687 
     

                         
                         

  

    
Education, 

training and 
research 

  

Non-patient 
care 

services to 
other 

bodies 

  
Prescription 

fees and 
charges 

  
Other 

Contract 
income 

     

      £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 
     

  
Timing of 
Revenue 

                
     

  Point in time   7   2,033   146   687 
     

  Over time   -   -   -   - 
     

  Total   7   2,033   146   687 
     

 

Page 152 of 174
Page 372

Agenda Item 6



 

 

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers       
  

 
      

  4.1 Employee benefits Total 
 

2019-20 

 

Permanent 
Employees   Other 

 
Total 

 
£'000   £'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits       
  Salaries and wages 2,635   352   2,987 

Social security costs 606   -   606 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,027   -   1,027 

Other pension costs 1   -   1 

Apprenticeship Levy 15   -   15 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,284   352   4,636 

 
      

  Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits  -   -   - 

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 4,284   352   4,636 

 
      

  Less: Employee costs capitalised -   -   - 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised 
costs 4,284   352   4,636 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 153 of 174

P
age 373

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

 
Total 

 
2018-19 

 

Permanent 
Employees   Other 

 
Total 

 
£'000   £'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits       
  Salaries and wages 2,104   45   2,149 

Social security costs 550   -   550 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 659   -   659 

Other pension costs 1   -   1 

Apprenticeship Levy 16   -   16 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 3,330   45   3,375 

 
      

  Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits 
(note 4.1.2) -   -   - 

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 3,330   45   3,375 

 
      

  Less: Employee costs capitalised -   -   - 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised 
costs 3,330   45   3,375 

 

Please see page 123 of the annual report for further information on staff costs 

 

 

 

Page 154 of 174

P
age 374

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

4.2 Average number of people 
employed                       

  
2019-20   2018-19 

  

Permanently 
employed   Other   Total   

Permanently 
employed   Other   Total 

  
Number   Number   Number   Number   Number   Number 

  
                      

Total 
 

64.00   4.00   68.00   63.00   5.00   68.00 

  
                      

Of the above: 
 

                      
Number of whole time equivalent 
people engaged on capital 
projects 

 
-   -   -   -   -   - 

 

Please see page 122 of the annual report for further information on staff costs 

4.3 Exit packages agreed in financial year 

There have been no exit packages in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

  

Page 155 of 174

P
age 375

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

4.4 Pension Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 

Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the 

NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 

Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England 

and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 

to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution 

schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken 

as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting 

valuation every year. 

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st 

April 2019. For 2019/20, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the former rate 

with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full cost and 

related funding has been recognised in these accounts. 

4.4.1 Accounting Valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the 

Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an 

actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing 

suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability 

as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018 updated to 31 March 

2019 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial 

assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the 

discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 

scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These 

accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies 

can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due 

under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend 

contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 

completed for the year ending 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 

contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have 

recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase 

to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.   

Page 156 of 174
Page 376

Agenda Item 6



 

 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the 

employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of 

Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation 

process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

  

Page 157 of 174
Page 377

Agenda Item 6



 

 

5. Operating expenses         

    2019-20   2018-19 

    Total   Total 

    £'000   £'000 

          

Purchase of goods and services         

Services from other CCGs and NHS England   1,615   842 

Services from foundation trusts   169,851   157,574 

Services from other NHS trusts   22,237   26,395 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies   38,942   30,320 

Prescribing costs   28,088   27,494 

General Ophthalmic services   34   17 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS*   22,852   3,254 

Supplies and services – clinical   519   451 

Supplies and services – general   1,753   765 

Consultancy services   518   239 

Establishment   2,422   3,341 

Premises   430   385 

Audit fees**   48   46 

Other non statutory audit expenditure         

·          Internal audit services***   15   24 

·          Other services   -   10 

Other professional fees   308   389 

Education, training and conferences   71   44 

 Total Purchase of goods and services   289,703   251,590 

          

Depreciation and impairment charges         

Depreciation   40   39 

Total Depreciation and impairment charges   40   39 

          

Provision expense         

Provisions   -   (200) 

Total Provision expense   -   (200) 

          

Other Operating Expenditure         

Chair and Non Executive Members   154   172 

Expected credit loss on other financial assets 
(stage 1 and 2 only)   -   (2) 

Other expenditure   85   85 

Total Other Operating Expenditure   239   255 

          

Total operating expenditure   289,982   251,683 

 

*With effect from 1 April 2019, NHS England has delegated co-commissioning responsibility 

for primary care medical services to the Clinical Commissioning Group.  This has resulted in 

an increase in the CCG allocation. 

Page 158 of 174
Page 378

Agenda Item 6



 

 

**In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration 

and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a CCG contract with its 

auditors provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability, the principal terms of this limitation 

must be disclosed. The contract for the provision of external audit services is held by Grant 

Thornton UK LLP. This limitation has been confirmed as £2 million. The external audit fees 

include Value Added Tax (VAT).  

***Internal audit services during the year were provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency and 

hosted by The Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust.  This 

transferred to Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust following the Royal 

Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust merger with Aintree University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

  

Page 159 of 174
Page 379

Agenda Item 6



 

 

6. Better Payment Practice Code 
       

        Measure of compliance 2019-20 
 

2019-20 
 

2018-19 
 

2018-19 

 
Number 

 
£'000 

 
Number 

 
£'000 

Non-NHS Payables               
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in 
the Year 

       
6,461    

    
63,657    

     
4,514    

    
39,886  

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid 
within target 

       
6,268    

    
61,789    

     
4,305  

 

    
38,594  

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade 
invoices paid within target 97.01%   97.07%   95.37% 

 
96.76% 

                

NHS Payables               
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the 
Year 

       
2,115    

  
198,694    

     
2,209    

  
187,827  

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within 
target 

       
2,068    

  
198,207    

     
2,147    

  
186,098  

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices 
paid within target 97.78%   99.75%   97.19%   99.08% 

 

The Better Payment Practice Code required the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim to pay 

all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of the receipt of a valid invoice, whichever 

is later.  The Better Payment Practice Code sets out target compliance of 95%. 

  

Page 160 of 174
Page 380

Agenda Item 6



 

 

7. Operating Leases 
                

                 7.1 As lessee 
                

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 
     

2019-20 
       

2018-19 

  
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Payments recognised as an expense                             

Minimum lease payments   -   138   -   138   -   299   2   301 

Contingent rents   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Sub-lease payments   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Total   -   138   -   138   -   299   2   301 

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has arrangements in place with NHS Property Services and Community Health Partnerships Limited for use 

of property assets.  Although no formal contracts are in place the substance of the transactions involved convey the right of the Clinical 

Commissioning Group to use the property assets.  In accordance with IAS17 and the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 payments are 

required to be disclosed as operating lease payments.  All payments made are shown in note 7.1.1 above. 

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services and Community Health Partnerships Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, 

the rental charge for the remainder of the current leases have not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future minimum 

lease payments for these arrangements.  

Page 161 of 174

P
age 381

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

8. Property, plant and 
equipment 

      

2019-20 
 

Plant & 
machinery 

 

Information 
technology 

 
Total  

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 
2019 

 
74   212   286 

       Additions purchased 
 

-   -   - 

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020 
 

74   212   286 

  
        

 Depreciation 01 April 2019 
 

74   96   170 

  
        

 Charged during the year 
 

-   40   40 

Depreciation at 31 March 2020 
 

74   136   210 

  
        

 Net Book Value at 31 March 
2020 

 
-   76   76 

  
        

 Purchased 
 

-   76   76 

Donated 
 

-   -   - 

Government Granted 
 

-   -   - 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

-   76   76 

 

  

Page 162 of 174
Page 382

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 
2018-19 

 

Plant & 
machinery 

 

Information 
technology 

 
Total 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 
2018 

 

                
74    

               
172    

           
246  

Additions purchased 
 

                -      
                 

40    
             

40  

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019 
 

                
74    

               
212    

           
286  

       
Depreciation 01 April 2018 

 

                
74  

 

                 
57  

 

           
131  

       
Charged during the year 

 
                -    

 

                 
39  

 

             
39  

Depreciation at 31 March 2019 
 

                
74    

                 
96    

           
170  

       Net Book Value at 31 March 
2019 

 
                -      

               
116    

           
116  

       
Purchased 

 
                -    

 

               
116  

 

           
116  

Donated 
 

                -    
 

                  -    
 

             -    

Government Granted 
 

                -    
 

                  -    
 

             -    

Total at 31 March 2019 
 

                -                        -                   -    

 

 

8.1 Economic lives 
 

      

  

Minimum 
Life 

(years) 

  Maximum 
Life 

(Years) 
  

  

Plant & machinery 
 

-   4 

Information technology 
 

-   4 
 

  

Page 163 of 174
Page 383

Agenda Item 6



 

 

9.  Trade and other receivables   Current   Current 

    2019-20   2018-19 

    £'000   £'000 

          

NHS receivables: Revenue   1,296   2,040 

NHS accrued income   751   126 

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: 
Revenue   224   98 

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments   420   1,141 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income   325   225 

Expected credit loss allowance-receivables   (9)   (9) 

VAT   29   52 

Other receivables and accruals   32   36 

Total Trade & other receivables   3,069   3,709 

          

Included above:         

Prepaid pensions contributions   -   - 

 

There were no non-current receivables in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

There were no prepaid pension contributions included in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil)  

 

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired         

    2019-20   2019-20   2018-19   2018-19 

    
DHSC 
Group 
Bodies   

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies   

DHSC 
Group 
Bodies   

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies 

    £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

By up to three months   588   186   303   25 

By three to six months   22   8   60   1 

By more than six months   60   21   107   10 

Total   670   215   470   36 

 

  

Page 164 of 174
Page 384

Agenda Item 6



 

 

10. Cash and cash equivalents         

          

    2019-20   2018-19 

    £'000   £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2019   136   105 

Net change in year   (120)   31 

Balance at 31 March 2020   16   136 

          

Made up of:         

Cash with the Government Banking Service   16   136 

Cash with Commercial banks   -   - 

Cash in hand   -   - 

Current investments   -   - 

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of 
financial position   16   136 

          

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service   -   - 

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks   -   - 

Total bank overdrafts   -   - 

          

Balance at 31 March 2020   16   136 

          

Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning 
group, not included above   -   - 

 

  

Page 165 of 174
Page 385

Agenda Item 6



 

 

11. Trade and other payables 

  Current   Current 

  2019-20   2018-19 

    £'000   £'000 

          

NHS payables: Revenue   2,285   1,384 

NHS accruals   39   1,060 

NHS deferred income   1   - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue   4,560   4,431 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals   4,341   4,061 

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income   105   32 

Social security costs   96   83 

Tax   78   76 

Payments received on account   -   530 

Other payables and accruals   5,088   2,998 

Total Trade & Other Payables   16,595   14,656 

 

There were no non-current payables in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil)  

Page 166 of 174
Page 386

Agenda Item 6



 

 

12.  Provisions               

 
Current   

Non-
current   Current   

Non-
current 

 
2019-20   2019-20   2018-19   2018-19 

 
£'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

Pensions relating to former 
directors -   -   -   - 
Pensions relating to other staff -   -   -   - 
Restructuring -   -   -   - 
Redundancy -   -   -   - 
Agenda for change -   -   -   - 
Equal pay -   -   -   - 
Legal claims -   -   -   - 
Continuing care -   -   -   - 
Other -   -   -   - 

Total -   -   -   - 

 
              

Total current and non-current -       -     

 

 

13. Contingencies 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed the likelihood and impact of contingent 

assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2020.  The likelihood is assessed as remote and the 

impact would be not material. 

14. Clinical Negligence Costs 

The value of provisions carried in the books of the NHS Resolution in regard to CNST claims 

as at 31 March 2020 was nil. (2018-19: Nil) 

  

Page 167 of 174
Page 387

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 15. Commitments 
    

     15.1 Capital commitments 

    In 2019-20 the CCG had no capital commitments. (2018-19: £24k) 

16. Financial instruments          

16.1 Financial risk management    

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments 

have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its 

activities. 

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is 

not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial 

instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical 

of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical 

commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial 

assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being 

held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities. 

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 

parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical commissioning group standing financial 

instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review 

by the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors. 

16.1.1 Currency risk       

The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great 

majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS 

clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning 

group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

16.1.2 Interest rate risk    

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject 

to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line 

with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund 

rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low 

exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

16.1.3 Credit risk    

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes 

parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. 

The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from 

customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 

 

 

Page 168 of 174
Page 388

Agenda Item 6



 

 

16.1.4 Liquidity risk 

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource 

limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical 

commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS 

clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 

16.1.5 Financial Instruments         

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial 

instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a 

non-public sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-

financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and 

NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 

16.2 Financial assets 
 

          

  
          

  

Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost   

Equity 
Instruments 
designated 
at FVOCI   Total 

  
2019-20   2019-20   2019-20 

  
£'000   £'000   £'000 

  
          

Trade and other receivables with 
NHSE bodies 

 
1,939   

 
  1,939 

Trade and other receivables with other 
DHSC group bodies 

 
336   

 
  336 

Trade and other receivables with 
external bodies 

 
355   

 
  355 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

16       16 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

2,644   -   2,644 

  

Page 169 of 174
Page 389

Agenda Item 6



 

 

16.3 Financial liabilities 
 

          

  
          

  

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost   Other   Total 

  
2019-20   2019-20   2019-20 

  
£'000   £'000   £'000 

  
          

Trade and other payables with NHSE 
bodies 

 
299   

 
  299 

Trade and other payables with other 
DHSC group bodies 

 
2,651   

 
  2,651 

Trade and other payables with external 
bodies 

 
13,364   

 
  13,364 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

16,314   -   16,314 

 

17. Operating segments           

              

  

Gross 
expenditure 

Income 
Net 

expenditure 
Total 

assets 
Total 

liabilities 
Net 

assets 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Commissioning of 
Healthcare Services 294,618 (2,872) 291,747 3,161 (16,595) (13,434) 

Total 294,618 (2,872) 291,747 3,161 (16,595) (13,434) 

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segment: Commissioning of Healthcare 

Services.  All internally generated reports to the CCG Governing Body are based on one 

operating segment.  

Page 170 of 174
Page 390

Agenda Item 6



 

 

18. Related party transactions 
     

       Details of related party transactions with organisations are as follows: 
  

       

Related Party Name CCG Role 

Payment
s to 

Related 
Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

     £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Blundellsands Surgery Dr Craig Gillespie Chair and Clinical Director 1,781 328 - 24 

Westway Medical Centre Dr Peter Chamberlain  GP Clinical Director 1,273 11 1 - 

Concept House Surgery Dr Gina Halstead GP Clinical Director 1,003 5 - - 

S2S Health Ltd Dr Sunil Sapre GP Clinical Director 381 - - - 

Maghull Health Centre Dr Sunil Sapre GP Clinical Director 722 - - - 

 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had significant number of 

material transactions with entities which the Department is regarded as the parent.  For example: 

• NHS England (including commissioning support units); 

• NHS Foundation Trusts; 

• NHS Trusts; 

• NHS Litigation Authority, and 

• NHS Business Services Authority. 

In addition the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central 

and local government bodies, mainly Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council.  

Page 171 of 174

P
age 391

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

19. Events after the reporting period 

All health partners in the local health economy will need to collaborate to ensure long term 

financial sustainability at the same time as improving clinical services for our populations.  In 

the future, this may mean potential organisational reconfiguration and as at the 31 March 

2020 discussions are ongoing. 

Covid-19 was declared a pandemic on 12 March 2020 and the UK government made 

announcements about how the population should act as a result before the end of March 

2020.  The CCG has made an assessment of significant factors relating to 2019-20 and no 

material items have been identified. 

 

20. Losses and Special Payments 

20.1. Losses 

There were no losses in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

20.2 Special payments 

There were no special payments made in 2019-20 (2018-19: Nil) 

 

21. Pooled Budgets         

          

Better Care Fund         

          

The Clinical Commissioning Group share of the income and expenditure 
handled by the pooled budget in relation to the Better Care Fund in the 
financial year were: 

          

  2019-20   2018-19   

  £'000   £'000   

Income (14,709)   (14,377)   

Expenditure 14,709   14,377   

Total -   -   

 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) came into operation on 1 April 2015, with £3.46 billion of NHS 

England’s funding to CCGs ring-fenced for the establishment of the fund. To administer the 

fund, CCGs were required to establish joint arrangements with local authorities to operate a 

pooled budget to deliver more integrated health and social care. 

South Sefton CCG is party to a BCF pooled budget arrangement with Southport & Formby 

CCG and Sefton Council.  The income and expenditure referenced above, is analysed within 

note 5 Operating Expenses. 

 

Page 172 of 174
Page 392

Agenda Item 6



 

 

22. Financial performance targets               

                

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:         

                

  2019-20   2019-20   2018-19   2018-19 

  Target   Performance   Target   Performance 

Expenditure not to exceed income 
      

285,718            294,618    
     

256,058           255,058  

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions                 -                        -      

              
40                    40  

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

      
282,847            291,747    

     
251,516           250,516  

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions                 -                        -                     -                       -    

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions                 -                        -                     -                       -    

Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 

          
3,545                3,344    

         
3,263               2,862  

 

The CCG was set a control total of £1m surplus at the outset of the financial year by NHSE.  During the year, the CCG worked on a System 

wide Financial Recovery Plan, resulting in the CCG seeking a revision to its forecast out turn following the protocol set by NHS England.  This 

revision was agreed and subsequently met by the CCG.  At the end of the 2019-20 financial year, the CCG reported a £8.9m deficit.

Page 173 of 174

P
age 393

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

NHS South Sefton CCG 

Merton House, Stanley Road, Bootle, L20 3DL 0151 317 8456  

southsefton.ccg@nhs.net  

www.southseftonccg.nhs.uk  

On request this report can be provided in different formats, such as large print, audio 

or Braille versions and in other languages. 

Page 174 of 174
Page 394

Agenda Item 6



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

Date of Meeting: 09 September, 
2020 

Subject: Sefton Outbreak Plan

Report of: Director of Public 
Health 

Wards Affected: All. 

Cabinet Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

To present to the Health and Wellbeing Board the Sefton Outbreak Plan

All Local Authorities in England were asked by the Ministry of Housing, Local 
Government and Communities (MHCLG) to produce a COVID-19 
outbreak management plan by the end of June 2020. This plan was intended to 
explain how we will manage the spread of the COVID-19 to minimise the rate of 
infection and reduce the impact on our communities.

 The aims of a local outbreak management plan are to:

• Identify communities, places and settings at greater risk
• Monitor wider system performance, e.g. testing
• Communicate effectively and appropriately, including public engagement the 

remit of the Outbreak Management Stakeholder Board, and  
• Manage and interpret data and information associated with proactive 

surveillance and reactive outbreak management

Recommendation(s):

(1) The Board is asked to receive and note the report

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not Applicable

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 

Not applicable.

(B) Capital Costs

Page 395

Agenda Item 7



Not applicable

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:
The plan includes an overview of current COVID-19 legislation that applies to outbreak 
planning.
Equality Implications:

The report addressed issues related to inequalities and supporting BAME and other 
groups who may experience increased risk of clinical complications due to COVID-19.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Plan essential to protect vulnerable people and 
communities from COVID-19
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The plan addresses outbreaks in 
communities and supports resilience with respect to COVID-19
Commission, broker and provide core services:
Not applicable
Place – leadership and influencer:
Not applicable
Drivers of change and reform:
Not applicable
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Not applicable
Greater income for social investment: 
Not applicable
Cleaner Greener
Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6106/20) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4298/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Page 396

Agenda Item 7



(B) External Consultations 

No formal consultation process was required for this plan. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Not applicable -Report for information only.

Contact Officer: Charlotte Smith
Telephone Number:
Email Address: charlotte.smith@sefton.gov.uk

Background:

All Local Authorities in England were asked by the Ministry of Housing, Local 
Government and Communities (MHCLG) to produce a COVID-19 
outbreak management plan by the end of June 2020. This plan was intended to explain 
how we will manage the spread of the COVID-19 to minimise the rate of infection and 
reduce the impact on our communities.

 The aims of a local outbreak management plan are to:

• Identify communities, places and settings at greater risk
• Monitor wider system performance, e.g. testing
• Communicate effectively and appropriately, including public engagement the 

remit of the Outbreak Management Stakeholder Board, and  
• Manage and interpret data and information associated with proactive 

surveillance and reactive outbreak management

 As part of this response Local Authorities were also required to establish two new 
boards.  These were established in Sefton in July:

• Outbreak Management Stakeholder Board – to provide political ownership and 
public facing engagement and communication for outbreak response chaired 
by the Leader of Sefton Council.

• COVID- 19 Outbreak Management (Health Protection) Board – An operational 
group responsible for the development of local outbreak plans chaired by the 
Director of Public Health.

Overview:

In line with the MHCLG requirements and guidance, Sefton Council has led the 
development of the COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan.

This Plan contains the measures needed to identify and contain any coronavirus 
outbreaks and protect the health of people who live and work in Sefton, in a way that is 
safe, protects our health and care systems, and supports the recovery of our economy. 
The Plan also supports the nationwide Test and Trace process.

Page 397

Agenda Item 7



Key aims of the Plan include:
• Using local knowledge, experience and expertise to prevent, manage and 

eliminate the virus over time as part of the national Test and Trace 
programme.

• Setting out an approach to prevent Covid-19 outbreaks developing;
• Protecting public health by identifying the source should there be a COVID-19 

outbreak and implementing necessary measures to prevent any further 
spread;

• Outlining clear roles and responsibilities, response pathways and procedures 
should an outbreak occurs in Sefton;

• Making the most up to date and accurate information and advice available to 
local people.

• Learning lessons and sharing best practice to prevent and control future 
COVID-outbreaks.

Sefton COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan

The Sefton COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan is an iterative, working document 
which describes the actions and processes which will be used in Sefton to manage 
community outbreaks of COVID-19. The COVID-19 Outbreak Management Board, 
chaired by the Director of Public Health for Sefton, has oversight of the Sefton Outbreak 
Plan.

The plan describes how local partners including public health statutory functions, local 
authority, health partners and wider stakeholders will work together to respond to 
community COVID-19 outbreaks and incidents. The focus of the document is around the 
prevention of outbreaks, and the early recognition and containment of any community 
outbreaks in Sefton.

The Sefton COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan and supporting documents can be 
accessed through this link:

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-
plan.aspx

Appendices:

All papers can be accessed here:

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-
plan.aspx

Background Papers:

All papers can be accessed here:

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-
plan.aspx

Page 398

Agenda Item 7

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-plan.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-plan.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-plan.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-plan.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-plan.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/miscellaneous-pages/covid-19-outbreak-management-plan.aspx


Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 9 
September 2020

Subject: Children and Young Peoples Plan Update

Report of: Executive Director 
of Children's Social 
Care and Education

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Children’s, Schools and Safeguarding
Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The report follows the presentation of the final draft of the Children and Young Peoples 
plan at Decembers Health and Wellbeing Board. The plan is now published, and the 
paper introduces a Youth version, Animation and an overview of the work underway to 
embed the plan as the overarching vision for the delivery of services and the outcomes 
we as a system are working towards for our Children and Young People in Sefton. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) The Board receive and note the contents of the report  

(2) The Board offer governance to the method of delivery

(3) The Board agree to offer oversight to the process of ongoing delivery over the five
      year period. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The board is being asked to provide oversight in its capacity as the Children’s Trust for 
Sefton. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
There are no additional revenue costs associated with this report. 

(B) Capital CostsThere are no additional capital costs associated with this report.
 

Page 399

Agenda Item 9



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There are no additional resource implications identified by this report.

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. The Strategy is applicable to all Children and Young 
People in Sefton equally and analysis of protected characteristic of our existing cohort 
have been reviewed as part of the process.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: The plan aims to ensure every child and
young person in Sefton is Happy, Healthy and able to reach their full potential.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The plan aims to ensure every child and
young person in Sefton is Happy, Healthy and able to reach their full potential.

Commission, broker and provide core services: The Plan will inform an integrated
Children’s Commissioning Vision and influence all future Commissioning activity for
Children and Young People.

Place – leadership and influencer: The plan states 12 priorities that will shape all activity
in relation to Children and Young People in Sefton from 2020 – 2025.

Drivers of change and reform: The plan states 12 priorities that will shape all activity
in relation to Children and Young People in Sefton from 2020 – 2025.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable 

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable 

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6114/20.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4306/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Page 400

Agenda Item 9



External consultation undertaken in the development of the plan as detailed in the 
December 2019 paper on the 2020 – 2025 Children and Young Persons Plan. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Board meeting.

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882
Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

The final draft of the Sefton Children and Young Peoples plan can be found here: 
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/children,-young-people-and-
families.aspx#

1. Introduction

1.1 The Board will recall its approval in December 2019 of the final Draft of the 
Children and Young Peoples Plan for Sefton, covering 2020 – 2025. This plan 
and accompanying Commissioning Strategy went on to be approved by 
Cabinet on the 9th January 2020. 

1.2 The Children and Young People's Plan defines the vision and ambitions for
children and young people in Sefton. The document which sets out clearly 
what, collectively as a Children's Trust partnership area, needs to be achieved 
and how that will be done. It includes an outcome measure metric chapter that 
the plans progress will be measured against and identifies twelve local priority 
areas for improvement for 2020 - 2025.

1.3 The report will go on to update the board on activity since this and the 
proposed method of embedding. 

2. Embedding the 2020 – 2025 Children and Young Peoples Plan. 

2.1 The communication team at Sefton Council have produced an animation of the 
plan. It is envisaged this will support understanding and communication of the 
vision and will particularly support our schools when promotion will 
recommence in September. The animation is to be submitted to the Children 
and Young Peoples partnership board at its next meeting on the 16th 
September. The animation will be published on the website following the 
boards approval and a link will be sent to Health and Wellbeing Board 
members when available. 

Page 401

Agenda Item 9

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/children,-young-people-and-families.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/children,-young-people-and-families.aspx


2.2 Sefton CVS Young Persons lead worked closely with a cross section of young 
people in Sefton to produce a Youth Proof version of the plan. This is available 
at the link provided in the background papers section of this report. 

2.3 Alongside the plan a multi agency score card has been developed through the 
Children’s partnership board, this is an evolving tool to show progress against 
the 12 priorities and is reviewed by the Partnership on a quarterly basis with 
deep dive information submitted to the proceeding meetings. 

 
2.4 The delivery plan highlights the key enablers for the plans and the governance 

route. This highlights the areas where the greatest focus is needed. This will 
also be submitted to the Children and Young Peoples Partnership board for 
approval on the 16th September. It will be published following this, and a link 
shared with Health and Wellbeing Board members for their approval. 

2.5 Delivery of the plan is a key component of the Demand Management program 
and the Integrated commissioning work program, both programs receive 
updates on this and document progression through delivery of their respective 
areas. 

2.6 The emerging picture of need post COVID shows the importance of the 
priorities in the plan particularly around mental health. A review of the 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy is underway and will be submitted to 
the Board at its December’s meeting. 

2.7 A recent Health and Partnerships meeting called by the leader of the Council 
explored the importance of the plan to the system as a whole with Chief 
Executive and Senior representatives of all Sefton Health partners, Education 
and the Voluntary Sector committing to ensure the Children and Young 
Peoples Plan, Early Help Startegy and the Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board Annual report are submitted to their next available boards. 

2.8 There have been significant achievements made to deliver the plan since its 
implementation on the 1st April 2020; 

 Cabinet will be considering a report on 3rd September 20 regarding the 
recommissioning of Residential placements and foster framework 
delivered on a LCR footprint, the specification design was led by the 
Sefton commissioning team and delivers on priorities around local, 
consistent high quality care and support four looked after children and 
looks to bring the Fostering offer into a model that works together to 
give the best outcome to our children. 

 We have jointly recommissioned Kooth, the online counselling offer that 
has seen great success in its first year to support the mental health of 
our children and young people with ongoing funding commitment from  
both Local Authority and the CGG

 We have reviewed and redesigned our Integrated Commissioning 
model with dedicated work programs, a Children’s Integrated 
Commissioning group and commitment to a 5 year integrated 
recommissioning plan that will see Health, Social Care, Education, Early 

Page 402

Agenda Item 9



Help and Public Health services designed and delivered jointly to 
maximise the resource opportunities, streamline and improve services 
and achieve increased positive outcomes for our children and young 
people 

 We have a well-established Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
Group that has been developing a new Startegy for the borough. A 
2021 – 2026 Emotional Health and Wellbeing strategy will be brought to 
the Board in December. The Strategy brings together and details 
delivery to achieve improvements highlighted under the Joint Targeted 
Inspection which focussed on Children’s Mental Health Services, a 
response to the CQC Are we listening review and the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment for Sefton.
The group has also overseen the development off a Schools Toolkit of 
Mental Health and emotional wellbeing support tool that will be re - 
launched with schools for the new 2020/21 academic year 

 Delivering evidence-based interventions for mild to moderate mental 
health issues: 
Sefton has been successful in securing funding to deliver support to 
schools through newly established Mental Health Teams. The new 
teams will carry out interventions alongside established provision such 
as counselling, educational psychologists, and school nurses building 
on the menu of support already available and not replacing it. 

3. Conclusion 

The Children and Young Peoples plan offers clear direction to all in Sefton that 
work towards achieving the outcomes our Children and Young people need 
and the ambitions we hold for them. Its critical that the plan is recognised as 
the overarching vision and that progression against the Heard, Happy, Healthy 
and Achieving priorities is tangible over the course of the next 5 years. The 
Health and Wellbeing board is asked to offer over - arching governance and 
oversight to this process.

Page 403

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 9 
September 2020

Subject: SEND Continuous Improvement Plan Update

Report of: Executive Director 
of Children's Social 
Care and Education

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Adult Social Care (Chair of SEND Continuous
Improvement Board)
Cabinet Member Children, Schools and Safeguarding

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The report updates Health and Wellbeing Board members on the progress made against
the actions taken and progress made with regard to the SEND Continuous Improvement
Plan.

Recommendation(s):
Members  of the Health & Wellbeing Board are asked to 
(1) consider the progress  being made

(2) confirm that risk is being effectively managed

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Health & Wellbeing Board provides system leadership, keeps the Council’s Cabinet
informed of progress and if necessary, will escalate concerns.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

NA

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

Page 405

Agenda Item 10



(A) Revenue Costs

The CCGs have invested a recurring £35k in SENDIASS and a recurring £100K+ in 
Speech and Language Therapy. The CCGs have also seconded a senior nurse- Deputy 
Chief Nurse (SEND) to focus on the health aspects of the plan.  The CCGs have also 
seconded a senior nurse- Associate Chief Nurse (SEND) up to end September 2020, to 
focus on the health aspects of the plan.

The CCG’s in Sefton prioritised additional investment in the ASD / ADHD pathway.  

The Council has invested some additional temporary resources (£0.400m in 2020/21) 
into the SENDCIB team in order to deliver the changes required.

(B) Capital Costs
None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:

The Children and Families Act (2014) places a statutory duty on local authorities,
education providers, CCGs and other NHS organisations to provide support for children
and young people with SEN or disabilities aged 0-25. In doing these local authorities,
NHS England and their partner CCGs must make arrangements for agreeing the
education, health and social care provision reasonably required by local children and
young people with SEN or disabilities.

Equality Implications:  The equality implications will be assessed as the Improvement 
Plan progresses. The SEND Continuous Improvement Board will be kept informed of all 
equality implications, risks and mitigations.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:  The delivery of the Improvement Plan will ensure a
focused response on providing improved outcomes for the children and young people
with SEND and their families.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:  The delivery of the Improvement Plan
responding to the revisit and the subsequent activity will need to build the trust and
confidence of the community that the Council and its Health partners are delivering on
their commitments

Commission, broker and provide core services:  A key pillar of the Improvement Plan is
the development of a Joint Commissioning Strategy. Through this strategy our
ambition is to ensure adequate services that can respond when people need it most.
The Joint Commissioning Strategy for SEND has been developed in the context of the

Page 406

Agenda Item 10



Children and Young People’s Plan “My Sefton: heard, happy, healthy, achieving,’.

On 11th March 2020 the Health & Wellbeing Board agreed the SEND Commissioning
Action Plan which has continued to be delivered during the COVID 19 pandemic.

Place – leadership and influencer:  The Council will work with partners, in particular
commissioners and providers of Health Services, to work towards common goals in
relation to the delivery of the Improvement Plan. The Council has a key role in holding
the whole system to account on this matter and will ensure an evidence-based plan is
delivered against.

Drivers of change and reform:  The Council will work with partners, in particular Health,
to make change happen so as to improve outcomes for children and young people with
SEND.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6102/20) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4294/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Council has and will continue to engage with the CCG, other Health partners, the 
voluntary, community and faith sector and Sefton Parent Carer Forum on this matter.

The initial parent career survey closed on 18th December 2019. The feedback gathered 
has been analysed and shared with the SENDCIB and Overview and Scrutiny (Children’s
Services and Safeguarding) in January 2020. 

Engagement with Sefton Parent Carer Forum continues on a regular basis, with new 
opportunities such as the use of Microsoft Teams being used in light of the COVID 19 
pandemic.

In March 2020 many children and young people also took part in the Youth Conference.
Schools are represented within the governance of the Improvement Plan and updated
via the SEND Schools Forum.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Page 407

Agenda Item 10



Contact Officer: Jan McMahon
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4431
Email Address: jan.mcmahon@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

COVID-19 Guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-
guidance-on-vulnerable-children-and-young-people/coronavirus-covid-19-
guidanceonvulnerable-
children-and-young-people#children-with-education-health-and-careehcplans 

Coronavirus Act 2020 Modification of section 42 of the Children and Families Act 2014
(England) Notice 2020
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/882290/CV19_Act_modification_notice_SEND.pdf

House of Commons Education Committee (Special educational needs and disabilities)
issued its First Report of Session 2019–20 is available at
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201920/cmselect/cmeduc/20/20.pdf

Published version of the SEND Improvement Plan
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/sefton/fsd/files/sefton_send_improveme
nt_plan.pdf

Page 408

Agenda Item 10

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201920/cmselect/cmeduc/20/20.pdf


1. Introduction/Background

1.1 This report informs Health and Wellbeing Board members of the progress made 
and improvements planned in response to the Ofsted and Care Quality 
Commission in the joint local area special educational needs and/or disabilities 
(SEND) revisit that took place between 15th to 17th April 2019.  

1.2 Board members are aware that in response the partnership has developed and is
continuing to make good progress in delivering the agreed Improvement Plan. The 
SEND Continuous Improvement Board (SENDCIB) continue to receive support 
and challenge from the NHS England and DfE advisors.

2. Delivering the Improvement Plan

2.1 As previously reported the SENDCIB and its sub groups have continued to meet 
remotely to monitor progress made and agreed any remedial action during the 
COVID 19 pandemic and all partners in the Local Area continue to prioritise the 
delivery of the required improvement.

2.2 On 7th July 2020 the SENDCIB met and considered progress against the 
Improvement Plan.  Good progress continues to be made and the completion of 
Education, Health and Care Plans within the 20 week timescales has improved to 
60% completion (SEN2 data return) within the 20 week timescales, this was below 
10% a year ago.  The current timescale on plans is 70%.

2.3 At this meeting the SENDCIB considered progress regarding the implementation 
of National Institute for Health & Care Excellence (NICE) compliant assessment 
and diagnostic pathways for Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Attention 
Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) within Alder Hey Children’s NHS 
Foundation Trust.

The investment received from Sefton CCGs to support the implementation of a 
new ASD assessment and diagnostic pathway will enable 720 assessments to be 
completed within the agreed 30 week indicator on an annual basis. This figure will 
be monitored by Alder Hey and reported to Sefton CCGs. Flexibility has been built 
into the new ASD assessment and diagnostic pathway to take into account normal 
referral patterns and fluctuations so as to ensure children and young people are 
seen within the 30 week total pathway measurement.

The introduction of the Care Coordination role ensures oversight for each case 
and improved communication with families. The new pathway meets all national 
standards including DSM-5 diagnosis criteria and NICE guidance.

At the time of considering the progress made and due to the ongoing impact of 
Covid 19 all appointments with children and young people will be virtual with face 
to face appointments only being offered if clinically indicated. The ongoing impact 
of Covid 19 on the delivery of the new ASD assessment and diagnostic pathway 
will monitored monthly and escalated to Sefton CCGs should the ability to deliver 
on the agreed 30 week target be impacted.

Page 409

Agenda Item 10



At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, community services were required to 
rapidly change the way interventions were delivered to ensure the safety of staff 
and children and young people. In order to be able to continue to support children 
in the community, staff embraced digital ways of working and moved a significant 
amount of their interventions to be delivered via telephone or video. There are still 
aspects of services which cannot easily be delivered in this way and, capacity is 
not yet back to pre-Covid-19 levels which have impacted on waiting times, but the 
adoption of digital technologies across community based teams has been 
received well by children and their families. 

Feedback has been positive from families where virtual consultations have taken 
place. For those families where technology may not be available Alder Hey charity 
has supported appropriate equipment to be given to families for the duration of 
assessments and/or treatment.

2.4 At the beginning of this process it was agreed that the focus on reviews should be 
young people who are in transition and all resources have been committed to this 
area and improving EHCPs. Board members will recall from June’s update that 
the completion of reviews remained a risk, and that the remedial action being 
taken was supported by the DfE Advisor.  In July SENDCIB received a further 
update on  this and the actions planned that will deliver sustainable improvement.  
SENDCIB agreed the recruitment of two temporary caseworkers to support this 
work.  This recruitment is on track and with a planned start date of September 
2020.

2.5 July 2020 SENDCIB also agreed to invest in the redesign of the Local Offer which 
will be co-produced with parents.

2.6 Since the last Board update, and the move to phase 2 of the NHS response to 
COVID-19, there has been a significant increase in the levels of community 
therapy service provision by Alder Hey resulting in a positive reduction in average 
waiting times, in line with service COVID-19 recovery plans and the SEND 
Business Continuity Plan. Throughout this period services have continued to carry 
out local risk assessments and prioritise caseloads and new referrals in 
accordance with risk and needs of the child/young person. Whilst observing 
Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) measures, services have also continued to 
develop and innovate their digital and face to face working practices to facilitate 
an increase in the number of clinic appointments and improve how services are 
delivered. For example, to support an increase in face to face appointments, 
particularly for those services such as Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) 
which pose a heightened COVID-19 risk, Alder Hey is exploring the availability 
clear visors.

          The community therapy service waiting times for 18 - 25 age cohort are now 
reported through the SEND dashboard. Although this data is not yet specific to the 
SEND cohort, work is underway with the provider - Mersey Care - to disaggregate 
this information. There have been increases in the average number of referrals for 
all therapy disciplines in this age category, as general practice resumes to 
business as usual,  and there continues to be high  number of visits declined for 
housebound patients. Whilst this has had a negative impact on waiting times, 
notably for Speech and Language Therapy (SALT), the higher priority patients are 
being seen and triage is being completed in a timely fashion. The provider is 

Page 410

Agenda Item 10



providing assurances on how clinical care is being managed and developing plans 
to recover its position.

In response to the increasing demand for mental health services and the impact 
on waiting times, Alder Hey’s Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services ( 
CAMHS) is undertaking a collective recovery and restoration plan as part of the 
Cheshire & Merseyside out of Hospital Cell (Mental Health sub-cell) and has also 
developed its own service recovery plan which is currently being considered by 
the CCGs. This work will also take into account the national mandate for the 
establishment of a 24/7 Crisis Care Service, the redirection of resource to support 
this and the anticipated increase in referrals.

An integral consideration of all the service recovery plans, and one which has 
become an increasing area of focus, is the potential increase in referrals once 
children and young people return to school and as the full impact of the pandemic 
becomes evident. Whilst the impact of the return to school is yet to be realised, 
services have taken positive steps to factor in an anticipated increase in referrals 
and activity from September through to December 2020, specifically for SALT and 
CAMHS services. Over the coming months activity in these areas will be closely 
monitored through the CCGs contractual arrangements with the service providers 
and the SEND dashboard.

2.7 Since April 2019 we have been holding a young persons’ meeting on a 
Wednesday via Zoom. This has been hosted by  Sefton CVS Buddy Up group. 
The group also supported us to host a secondary school youth conference for 
young people with SEND which was held in July 2020.

2.8 It was agreed that the SEND parent and carer survey will be conducted annually, 
however, following the March SEND Continuous Improvement Board meeting it 
was suggested that the partnership would conduct a short follow-up survey in 
June 2020 as a way to test whether our improvements internally were having the 
desired impact on parents and carers and young people. Due to Covid-19 this has 
been put back to September. Questions for the short follow up survey have been 
coproduced with Sefton Parent Carer Forum (SPCF) representatives. The SPCF 
agreed that the survey will start on the 14th September 2020 and will be live for 
three weeks. The survey link will be shared by schools, SPCF social media 
forums and council& CCG forums.

2.9 Improvements made to date include 

 Casework Officers now share mobile phone numbers when they first 
contact families which has improved communication

 Parents and carers are now invited to joint outcome meetings 
 Access to Kooth has been extended up to the age of 25 proving more 

young people with access to on line support
 Recite Me software has been added to the Local Offer and Council website 

which has improved accessibility
 Understanding of the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) role has been 

shared more widely and a dedicated e-mail address means that families 
are now able to contact the DCO directly

Page 411

Agenda Item 10



 the implementation of a new appointment system at Alder Hey which is 
more user friendly and has led to fewer cancellations

 and improvements to the prescribing system at Alder Hey make it easier for 
families to re-order medications

3. Risk

3.1 Whilst every effort will be made to ensure that the required change will put solid 
foundations in place, the Local Area remains vulnerable to a range of issues that 
can impact upon its financial sustainability and which impact upon the decisions 
that each member of the system must make. These include pressures across the 
system nationally such as the impact of demand pressures and most significantly 
central government policy.

3.2 The System Leadership and Governance Sub Group, jointly chaired by the 
Council Chief Executive and the Chief Officer of the CCGs in Sefton, monitors risk 
on a regular basis and provide the risk log to the SENDCIB on a regularly. The 
SENDCIB will continue to monitor risks, putting in place mitigation where possible 
and escalating risks as required.

3.3 It is important to note that the SENDCIB has and will continue to meet virtually 
during the pandemic, as have all of the sub groups. The Local Area recognises 
the stress and concern that the COVID 19 pandemic has and continues to cause  
families and local services remain accessible to provide support. All partners have 
put business continuity plans in place and are working together to ensure that 
robust plans and effective communication is in place during this time of 
uncertainty. This work has included communications confirming that the local area 
are still available to support families.  Despite the enormous pressure across the 
local area, work to deliver the Improvement Plan has continued and required 
changes have happened at pace.

4. Conclusion

4.1 The Local Area continues to make good progress in delivering the Improvement 
Plan with partners responding to the challenges including the COVID 19 
pandemic. 

The Local Area recognises the significant challenges that continue to be faced by 
Sefton families of children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 
especially at this time. The system is confident that the actions being taken are 
having a demonstrable positive impact in 2020.

4.2 As previously reported in the main the Local Area is meeting action plan targets  
and commitments. In its visit in January 2020 the DfE asked that partnership 
improve pace and following the investment from the CCG and the additional staff 
now in place within the Council, all areas identified in DfE have now been 
actioned. The partnership has continued to prioritise SEND during the Covid 19 
pandemic by meeting remotely and continuing to focus our attention on this 
important area. The Local Area recognises the need to maintain focus, continuing 
to work at pace and achieve demonstrable positive impact and all joint sub groups 
and the SENDIB continue to meet remotely to maintain focus and oversight on the 

Page 412

Agenda Item 10



Improvement Plan objectives. The COVID 19 pandemic has meant that we deliver 
in different ways but the focus and the priority remain on delivering the 
improvements required.

4.3 All partners remain committed to delivering the required actions that will improve
the lives of Sefton’s children and young people with SEND, to enable them to 
reach their potential. The impact of COVID 19 on the Improvement Plan will 
continue to be assessed and partners are continuing to work together to minimise 
impact. 

Page 413

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Sub Group Summary
	5 Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board - Annual Report 2019/20
	Sefton LSCB Annual Report 2019-20 FINAL

	6 NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport and Formby CCG - Annual Reports 2019/20
	sfccg-annual-report-19-20
	SFCCG Annual Report 2019 2020 - FINAL - Signed

	ssccg-annual-report-19-20
	SSCCG Annual Report 2019 2020 - FINAL Signed


	7 Sefton Outbreak Plan
	9 Children and Young Peoples Plan Update
	10 SEND Continuous Improvement Plan Update

